
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

Democracy and Standards Committee 

A meeting of the Democracy and Standards Committee will be held at 
the The Jeffery Room, The Guildhall, Northampton on Thursday 30 

September 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 

 

Agenda 
  

1.  Apologies for Absence  

 

2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 

 

3.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 29th July 2021. 

 

4.  Chair's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chairman. 

 

5.  Review of the Constitution (Pages 9 - 300) 

 

6.  Carried Motions on Notice – Predecessor Councils (Pages 301 - 396) 

To consider the Motions from the previous sovereign Councils within West 
Northamptonshire area over the last six years, and then forwarded to the relevant 
Scrutiny Committee  

 

7.  Statistics - Code of Conduct Arrangements (Pages 397 - 402) 

The statistics regarding the number of complaints received and dealt with, in respect 
of the Code of Member Conduct 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



   

8.  Local Government Boundary review  

The Committee to appoint five members to the Task Panel 

 

9.  Urgent Business  

The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 

 

10.  Exclusion of Public and Press  

Exempt Items In respect of the following items the Chairman may move the resolution 
set out below, on the grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that 
exempt information (information regarded as private for the purposes of the Local 
Government Act 1972) would be disclosed to them: The Committee is requested to 
resolve: “That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that if 
the public were present it would be likely that exempt information under Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act of the descriptions against each item would be disclosed to 
them” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
22 September 2021 
 
 

Democracy and Standards Committee Members: 

Councillor Suresh Patel (Chair) 

 

Councillor Andrew Grant (Vice-Chair) 

 

Councillor Fiona Cole Councillor Daniel Cribbin 

Councillor Gareth Eales Councillor Jonathan Harris 

Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift Councillor Andrew Kilbride 

Councillor Laura Stevenson  
 
 

Information about this Agenda 

 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 Page 2

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start 
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Tracy Tiff & Marina Watkins via 
the following:  
 
Tel: 01604 837408 & 01327 302236 
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
One Angel Square 
Angel Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Democracy and Standards Committee 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Democracy and Standards Committee held at Council 
Chamber, The Guildhall, St Giles Street, Northampton, NN1 1DE on Thursday 29 
July 2021 at 6.00 pm. 
 
Present Councillor Suresh Patel (Chair) 

Councillor Andrew Grant (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Fiona Cole 

Councillor Gareth Eales 
Councillor Jonathan Harris 
Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift 
Councillor Andrew Kilbride 
Councillor Laura Stevenson 
 

Officers John Murphy, Solicitor 
Tracy Tiff, Deputy Democratic Services Manager 
Catherine Whitehead, Director of Legal and Democratic (Monitoring 
Officer) 
Geoff Wild, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Marina Watkins, Committee Officer 

 
1. Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Daniel Cribbin. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest  

 
None advised. 

 
3. Chairman's Announcements  

 

The Chair welcomed members to the first meeting of the new Committee and 
advised that Councillor Adam Brown would be contacting members with regards to 
his work on Localism. 
 
Motions agreed by the former Authorities had been collated and it was agreed that 
they be circulated to the Committee by email for discussion at the next meeting. 
 

4. Constitution Review  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Monitoring Officer regarding the 
review of the Constitution. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer outlined the report and added that the review of the 
Constitution would be subject to tight timescales. August was not the ideal time to 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Democracy and Standards Committee - 29 July 2021 
 

carry out a consultation exercise but time was of the essence, with the review 
requiring completion by the Council meeting in December. 
 
It was suggested that a cross party Task and Finish Panel of five members be set up 
to lead the review process. 
 
Councillor Jonathan Harris queried whether the timescale could be extended to allow 
for further consultation. Parish Councils should also be consulted on the review.  
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that the current Constitution was developed during 
transition and that it was always intended to be subject to review therefore if more 
time was provided for the review, it would be necessary to make further interim 
changes to enable effective governance in the interim. 
 
Councillor Fiona Cole considered that consultation was fundamental and queried 
whether a delay until January would be beneficial. 
 
The Deputy Chair considered the speed with which the Constitution was put together 
by the Shadow Authority was exceptional, but the document did need tweaking. 
Public engagement may be limited but was still important. There should not be too 
much of a delay. The Constitution was a living document that would evolve and 
change over time. 
 
The Committee agreed that public consultation was important but noted the tight 
timescale. The Monitoring Officer pointed out that there was currently no Council 
meeting in January, and the February meeting was for budget matters.  
 
Councillor Jonathan Harris was keen that the views of NCALC and Parish Councils 
were sought as they could be slightly different. The Deputy Monitoring Officer would 
arrange for the questionnaires to be placed on the Council’s Consultation Hub and 
would ask the Communication Team to raise awareness. 
 
A Task and Finish Panel was agreed with the following membership: Councillors 
Patel, Irving-Swift, Eales, Cole and Harris. 
 
Meetings would take place at 4pm on Monday 6th September and at 5pm on Monday 
13th September. 
 
The recommendations submitted in the report were agreed. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That: 
 
a)a Constitution Review Task and Finish Group be established to conduct a review of the 
Council’s Constitution and subsequently make recommendations to the Committee for 
onward recommendation to Cabinet and Full Council; 

Page 6



Democracy and Standards Committee - 29 July 2021 
 

b)Councillors Suresh Patel, Fiona Cole, Cecile Irving-Swift, Gareth Eales and Jonathan Harris 
be appointed to the Task and Finish Group in accordance with the recommended 
composition set out at paragraph 6.3; 
c)the draft Terms of Reference of the Constitution Review Task and Finish Group as set out 
in Appendix A be agreed; 
d)the proposal set out in Appendix B and the review principles set out in paragraph 6.5 be 
endorsed; 
e)a consultation programme for the Constitution review to be conducted via the Consultation 
Hub during August be approved; 
f)the anticipated timeframe for the review as set out at paragraph 6.8 be noted. 

 
 
 

5. Statistics - Code of Conduct Arrangements  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Democratic Services Manager 
regarding the Code of Conduct Arrangements Statistics.     
 
The Monitoring Officer outlined the report. 
Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift queried whether the complaints could be RAG rated in 
order to give some indication of the severity or otherwise. The Monitoring Officer 
advised that they could be classified under different sections of the Code. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Gareth Eales, the Monitoring Officer 
advised that all complaints were confidential unless upheld. In the interests of 
natural justice, no one would be told unless there was merit in the complaint. Should 
a complaint be investigated, then an Investigating Officer would be appointed. At 
this point the Member would be encouraged to advise their Group leader of the 
situation as there was the potential for press coverage. 
 
The recommendations submitted in the report were agreed. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That: 

 
a)the statistics in relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with, in respect of 
the Code of Member Conduct are noted; 

 
b)the Committee receives statistical data in relation to the number of complaints received 
and dealt with, in respect of the Code of Member Conduct, twice a year.  

 
 

6. Local Government Boundary Review  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Monitoring Officer regarding the Local 
Government Boundary Review. 
 
The Monitoring Officer outlined the report and highlighted that there were a number 
of wards across the County with a 10 or 20% population variance, which would 

Page 7



Democracy and Standards Committee - 29 July 2021 
 

trigger a boundary review. An initial meeting had been held with the Chief Executive 
of the Boundary Commission and the deadline for the draft submission was now 
August rather the April.  There were currently 93 Councillors on the Council and the 
first task would be to decide on the level of representation considered appropriate. 
The entire Review needed to be completed before 2024 in order to run the election 
on the new boundaries.  
 
A Task and Finish panel would be set up but would not need to meet immediately 
but it would be useful to identify members so that information could be shared with 
them. 
 
The Monitoring Officer explained that the review would be in two parts – the 
consultation on the current and proposed size of the Council, and then reviewing the 
boundaries. Each element was overseen by a different body. 
 
The recommendation submitted in the report were agreed. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That: 
 
a)a Local Government Boundary Review Task and Finish Group to prepare the necessary 
submissions in relation to Council Size and Ward Boundaries when required before 
consideration by the Committee and Full Council be established; 
b)Members of the Committee to the Task and Finish Group in accordance with the 
recommended composition set out be appointed; 
c)the draft Terms of Reference of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group as set out in 
Appendix B be agreed; 
d)the guidance for preparation of the submission on Council size and agrees to have regard 
to the guidance in relation to the preparation of the draft submission is noted.  

 
7. Urgent Business  

 
None advised. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 6.55 pm 
 
 

 Chair:   

   
 Date:  

Page 8



 

Item no: 
5 
  
 
  

 

 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
30 September 2021 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
Monitoring Officer  Catherine Whitehead  

 

Section 151 Officer  Martin Henry  
 

Other Director The Executive Leadership 
Team have been consulted on 
this report. 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Consultation responses 
 
Appendix B – Draft revised Constitution 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

1.1.1 Report the results of the consultation exercise held during August; 
1.1.2 Update the Committee on the work of the Task & Finish Group in its review of the 

Constitution; 
1.1.3 Recommend amendments to the Constitution; 
1.1.4 Advise on next stages in the process. 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 

Report Title 
 

Constitution Review 
 

Report Author Geoff Wild, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
geoff.wild@westnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:geoff.wild@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

2.1 At its meeting on 29 July 2021, the Committee: 
 

a) Established a Task & Finish Group to conduct a review of the Council’s Constitution and 
make proposals to the Committee for onward recommendation to Cabinet and Full 
Council; 

b) Approved a consultation programme for the Constitution review; 
c) Noted the anticipated timeframe for the review. 

 
2.2 A consultation exercise with elected members, NCALC and the general public was conducted 

during August. The responses to the consultation exercise, together with proposed amendments 
put forward by officers, were considered by the Task & Finish Group in two meetings during 
September. The outcome of those meetings was a revised Constitution showing (by way of 
tracked changes and marginal comments) the amendments proposed. 

 
2.3 Following consideration by the Committee, further consultation will take place with the Executive 

Leadership Team (ELT) and Cabinet during October and November, with any additional proposed 
amendments being reported to the Committee at its next meeting on 25 November 2021. 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 
 

a) Notes the responses to the consultation programme; 
b) Acknowledges the work of the Task & Finish Group; 
c) Endorses the proposed amendments to the Constitution; 
d) Recommends the revised Constitution to Cabinet for comment and further consideration. 
 

4. Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4.1 The reasons for the recommendations are as follows: 

 
a) A review of the Constitution by the Democracy and Standards Committee was agreed 

by Full Council on 20 May 2021 and Cabinet on 8 June 2021. 
b) Conducting a review of the Constitution helps to ensure that it is legally compliant, 

complete, supports effective and sound decision-making, and reflects the character, 
culture and priorities of the authority. 

 
5. Report Background 

 
5.1 At the Committee meeting on 29 July, the following was agreed: 
 

a) A Task & Finish Group be established comprising five members: 
i. Cllr Patel (Con) 

ii. Cllr Irving-Swift (Con) 
iii. Cllr Cole (Con) 
iv. Cllr Eales (Lab) 
v. Cllr Harris (LibDem) 

Page 10



 

b) A consultation exercise be conducted during August with all elected members, the chief 
executive of NCALC, together with parish councils and members of the public (via the 
Council’s consultation hub). 

c) The dates and times of the Task & Finish Group meetings to be as follows: 
i. 6 September at 4pm 

ii. 21 September at 4pm 
d) Members of the Task & Finish Group be supplied with a tracked change version of the 

revised Constitution together with a summary of consultation responses ahead of their 
first meeting. 

e) A draft report summarising the recommended changes and consultation responses be 
prepared by 23 September (copied to ELT and the Deputy Leader), ahead of the 
Democracy & Standards Committee meeting on 30 September. 

 
5.2 A draft consultation questionnaire was agreed by members of the Task & Finish Group and 

emailed to members on 2 August. The questionnaire was launched on the Council’s consultation 
hub on 3 August and remained open until midnight on 31 August. A tick box was included on the 
opening page for respondents to indicate their status (including one for Members to state that 
they were a councillor). 

 
5.3 In addition, the online survey was sent to: 

a) West Northants Residents Panel (comprising 500+ individuals) 
b) West Northants Consultation Registrar (comprising individuals and organisations who 

have registered to be informed about West Northants consultations).  
c) WNC councillors and Town and Parish councillors.  
d) The chief executive of the Northamptonshire County Association of Local Councils, for 

distribution to its members and for his personal response. 
 
5.4 In addition, officers in the Communications Team issued a news story for the press and social 

media to promote the consultation exercise. 
 
6. Issues and Choices 

 
6.1 The consultation questionnaire and survey responses were considered in detail by the Task & 

Finish Group and are attached in full at Appendix A1. There were 98 online responses plus 95 
other responses that were not submitted online, giving a total response for the survey of 193. 

 
6.2 Respondents included 19 WNC councillors, 65 parish councillors, 3 representatives of the local 

business community, 2 representatives of a public sector partner, 15 representatives of a 
voluntary or community organisation, NCALC and 7 council employees. 
 

6.3 A quantative summary of the responses is shown in the table below. The qualitative (free text 
responses) are shown in the body of the spreadsheet attached at Appendix A, together with a 
comprehensive analysis of the comments received. 
 

Question Agree Disagree Neither Agree 
nor Disagree 

                                                 
1 Please note that the attachment at Appendix A contains personal data of respondents and therefore should be handled in 
accordance with the Council’s policy on data information and compliance. 

Page 11

https://westnorthants.citizenspace.com/


 

1 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution provides 
guidance on how the Council provides leadership to the 
community in partnership with citizens, businesses and other 
organisations? 

46 (24%) 27 (14%) 34 (18%) 

2 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution supports the 
active involvement of citizens in the process of council decision 
making? 

36 (19%) 44 (23%) 26 (13%) 

3 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution is easy to 
understand and is up to date? 

26 (13%) 41 (21%) 39 (20%) 

4 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution helps councillors 
to represent their constituents more effectively? 

23 (12%) 40 (21%) 41 (21%) 

5 Do you think the Constitution enables decisions to be taken 
efficiently and effectively? 

Always – 3 (2%) 
Usually – 53 (27%) 
Rarely – 24 (12%) 
Never – 7 (4%) 

6 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution ensures that 
those responsible for decision-making are clearly identifiable to 
local citizens and that they explain the reasons for decisions? 

32 (17%) 41 (21%) 30 (16%) 

7 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution creates a 
powerful and effective means of holding decision makers to 
public account? 

24 (12%) 44 (23%) 33 (17%) 

8 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution ensures that 
proposals and decisions are effectively and fairly reviewed? 

20 (10%) 42 (22%) 36 (19%) 

9 Do you agree or disagree that the Constitution provides a means 
of improving the delivery of services to the community? 

21 (11%) 38 (20%) 38 (20%) 

 
6.4 In addition, a table of responses and proposed amendments was received from the Liberal 

Democrat Group on 31 August. This was also considered in detail by the Task & Finish Group 
and is attached at Appendix A. 
 

6.5 Over the course of its two meetings, the Task & Finish Group went through the whole of the 
Constitution, discussed several specific areas in detail, considered the consultation responses, 
endorsed a number of proposals for change and made several recommendations for 
amendment to the Constitution. The revised draft Constitution is attached at Appendix B, 
showing by way of tracked changes the proposed revisions and in marginal comments the 
issues still to be determined. 
 

6.6 Whilst many of the proposed amendments are administrative in nature or to comply with legal 
requirements, members’ attention is specifically drawn to the following proposed 
amendments: 
 
(a) Principles of Decision Making (page 7) 
(b) Opposition speeches, Member questions and motions on notice at Full Council meeting 

(pp.23, 31, 32) 
(c) Substitute members (p.42) 
(d) Planning Policy Committee draft terms of reference (page 74) 
(e) Public interest test for exempt agenda items (p.90) 
(f) Councillor Call for Action (p.106) 
(g) Sensitive interests (p.126) 
(h) Call-in of planning applications (p.157) Page 12



 

(i) Protocol for Speaking at Planning Committee (p.161) 
(j) Recording and publishing officer decisions (p.181) 

 
6.7 The timetable for the review is set out below, which balances the need to ensure that the 

Constitution is up to date and fit for purpose as soon as possible against the need to carry out a 
thorough and detailed review. The shaded sections have been completed.  
 

July 2021 29th – Democracy & Standards Committee establishes Task & Finish Group, approves 
Terms of Reference, endorses constitution review principles, and approves 
consultation programme. 

August 2021 1st-31st - Consultation on revisions to the Constitution in accordance with 
consultation programme agreed by the Democracy and Standards Committee. 

September 
2021 

6th-21st - Task & Finish Group reviews consultation responses and makes 
recommendations for amendments in conjunction with officers supporting the Task 
and Finish Group.  
30th - Democracy & Standards Committee reviews findings and confirms 
recommendations. 

October 
2021 

ELT inputs and reviews consultation responses and proposed amendments to the 
Constitution. 

November 
2021 

9th – Cabinet reviews and comments on proposed amendments to the Constitution. 
25th – Democracy & Standards Committee considers responses from ELT and 
Cabinet, and agrees report recommending changes to Constitution for approval at 
full Council. 

December 
2021 

2nd – Full Council gives formal approval of changes to the Constitution. 

 
7. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
7.1 Resources and Financial 

 
7.1.1 There are staffing implications in terms of the officer time required to support the Constitution 

review process. However, these requirements can be met with existing resources. 
 

7.1.2 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of the Constitution review process. 
 
7.2 Legal 

 
7.2.1 Under Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000, every local authority is under a duty to 

prepare and keep up to date its Constitution.  Section 9P requires the Constitution to contain: 
 

a) a copy of the authority's standing orders 
b) a copy of the authority's code of conduct  
c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct, and 
d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate. 

 
7.2.2 Regular review of the Constitution helps to ensure these legal requirements are met. 
 
7.3 Risk Page 13



 

 
7.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from this report. Conducting a Constitution review process 

helps to reduce any risks that could arise as a result of the Constitution not properly supporting 
decision making and delivery of Council services. 

 
7.4 Consultation 

 
7.4.1 The consultation implications arising from this report have been considered above. 
 
7.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
7.5.1 Not applicable to this report. 
 
7.6 Climate Impact 

 
7.6.1 No climate or environmental impacts have been identified as arising from this report. 
 
7.7 Community Impact 

 
7.7.1 There are no direct community impacts arising from this report. However, any specific 

community impacts that arise from amendments to the Constitution have been considered by 
the Task & Finish Group at the time recommendations for amendments were made. 
 

8. Background Papers 

 
8.1 Report to the Democracy & Standards Committee 29 July 2021. 
 

Page 14



 

Item no: 
5 
  
 
  

APPENDIX A 
Consultation Responses 

 
CONSULTATION HUB RESPONSES 
 

Constitution 

consultation responses (Aug21).xlsx
 

Constitution 

Consultation (detailed responses).docx
 

 
LIBERAL DEMOCRAT GROUP - CONSTITUTION FEEDBACK 
 

Section Reference Comments 

1 Summary and 
Explanation 

1.24 The council will establish a Climate Emergency Community Forum and may decide to establish other forums and 
boards 

 1.25 Council Officers operate impartially and must work with all councillors including those who are not members of the 
administration 

 1.13 This states Chair and Vice Chair will be selected at the AGM - then later in 4.7.5.2 it states that appointment of these 
role is for a maximum of 2 years - it needs to be clear that this means a maximum of 2 ‘terms’ rather than a tenure of 
2 years.  Wording needs to be clearer.  Also what is the procedure for the removal of a Chair or Vice Chair before 
the end of their tenure? 

2. Public 
Participation 

2.4 The overview and scrutiny committees must include a member or members of the public 

 2.6 note:  the link to the online viewing portal should appear in the constitution 

P
age 15



 

 2.14 15 minutes for public questions is not sufficient - this must be at least 30 minutes or hold public forums separate to 
the full council meeting 

 2.15 note:  the link to how access is made by members of the public should appear in the constitution 

 2.19 E should be : we will not be solely reliant on digital platforms to gather feedback 

3. Full Council 3.13 This states that the council deals with non-political matters as follows:  
elections/pensions/planning/licencing/staff/signing off accounts.  3.14 then says the majority of these decisions are 
decided by cabinet.  How can the cabinet take decisions on 1.  staff pensions which are negotiated nationally? 2.  
Elections - surely this is political.  3.  Signing off accounts - if this is the authority’s statutory accounts then surely this 
should be full council. 

 3.12 There will be a minimum of 5 Full Council Meetings per annum - one of which will be for budget setting. 

 3.2.1.1 All meetings should start at 6pm 

 10.3 The item should be worded accepted/referred/ deferred or withdrawn. Rejected should be struck from the wording 
and not be an option.  To reject a motion simply because time has overrun according to the constitution is 
undemocratic. 

 17.1 note:  the link to the petition scheme should appear in the constitution 

 19.2 15 minutes for members questions is not sufficient - this must be at least 30 minutes 

 24.2 Taken as read means that members of the public have no sight of the question nor what the response is.  This is 
uninformative for members of the public.  It is noted that questions and answers are available after the meeting but 
how do we ensure the public knows what is going on during the meeting? 

 28.2 This should be a period of 30 minutes at council meetings - written reports will be provided by portfolio holders which 
should be taken as read by members. The time allocation should be made available for members to ask portfolio 
holders questions without notice. 

 28.3 This should be a period of 30 minutes. 

 3.32 It also needs to specify Climate Emergency Plan - this is currently not listed. 

4. Committees 4.1 We should include a Climate Committee either sitting under Governance or Community as a local forum or board. 

 4.35 It needs to state clearly what the committee membership is for the planning committee, what the number of 
members are, what the quorum is and rules of appointment.  Should be a politically balanced membership not just 
executive. 

P
age 16



 

 General comments Clarification on substitutions 

 General comments Minimum attendance required by members for committees 

 4.6 Pensions Fund 
Committee 

Members 15 - quorum 5:  this seems a very low quorum for such a large investment. 
Use and appointment of external advisors seems to be delegated to the Investment Sub Committee.  Surely it is 
more appropriate for the Investment Sub Committee to make recommendations to the Pensions Fund Committee to 
approve the use of external advisors and management companies. 
Page 66: third bullet point:  which new ‘employers’ is it envisaged might want to join the fund?  Should this be 
‘employees’?  If it is employers, are we talking about companies securing contracts and gaining ‘Admitted Body 
Status’ to the pension scheme?  If so, why not say so?  Plus there is no definition of ‘employers’ in this regard. 

5. Executive 5.6.2 Numbering does 
not appear to be clear in 

this section 
Reference is made to 

‘paragraph’ and it will be 
clearer to say ‘section’ 

This section refers to information provided by Government Departments.  7.1 says that press and public can be 
excluded but it refers back to 6.2.  Procurement contract discussions have in the past excluded press and public but 
this surely does not comply with 6.2.  

 General comments Cabinet can approve capital schemes of less than £100k.  This seems a very high level of spend.  Why isn’t the full 
capital programme going to full council for approval?  Then Cabinet can just approve variations to the capital 
programme in relation to schemes up to £100k 

6. Joint 
Arrangements 

6.1.1 Terms of reference 
for joint committees 

Rules of the procedure for the joint committee para A it still shows as x members 

 6.2 Representation to be determined - this surely should have political balance 

7. Overview and 
Scrutiny 

General comments There are 3 scrutiny committees but only one has full political representation on it due to full political balance due to 
proportionality rules.  This means 2 committees are not fully representative.  This should be changed. 
Corporate Scrutiny has 17 members:  People Scrutiny has 15 members and Place Scrutiny has 15 members.  
Would argue that all scrutiny committees have 17 members to allow for political balance. 

 7.2.1 Co-optees - who has been co-opted? 

8. Councillors 8.1.2 Attendance needs to be clarified.  Effective needs to be clarified.   Simply being ‘present’ may be determined as not 
being effective. 

 8.1.5 Develop and maintain good working relations with leaders of all opposition groups’  should be added. 

 8.3.4.1 Clarification of declaration of non-pecuniary interests 

 8.5.1 The Cabinet is not a political group? 

P
age 17



 

 8.14.2 Clarification required - states call-in by 3 members.  Isn’t it actually just one member? 

 8.14.3 Amend ‘within 25 days in the beginning of the consultation period’ to include ‘within 25 days in the beginning of the 
consultation period, or any subsequent re-consultation period’.  Including re-consultations in the 25 day limit would 
give parish councils more time to request call-ins. 

 General comments Development under 10 dwellings - call in process?  Non material differences?  
 
All the following points should face further review - there is concern at parish/ town council level that the new protocol 
erodes local democracy.  It is especially concerning in smaller villages where a development of 9 dwellings can be 
considered to have considerable impact 
 

• Only a Ward Member may call-in a planning application 

• This must be done within 25 calendar days from the beginning of the consultation period 

• Where we re-consult on amended proposals, this does not trigger a new 25 days consultation period, for the 
purposes of call-in 

• A planning reason must be given to call-in an application 

• The Member who exercised the call-in is expected to attend the planning committee meeting, to explain their 
reasoning  

• Some application types are automatically referred to a planning committee:   

• Where the applicant is a relevant officer, or  

• an elected WNC Member 

• Where the application is ‘major ’(10 homes or more, or 1,000 square metres of commercial floorspace) 

• Where the decision would lead to a significant departure from the local plan 

• Applications deemed by the Executive Director to require a member decision Some application types cannot be 
referred to a planning committee, these are where a decision is a matter of fact and/or law, such as a lawful 
development certificate; or other things such as non-material amendments; and some time-limited things such as 
certain prior approval applications. 

 8.15 If a member is also a member of a parish council and votes on their planning committee, either for or against any 
application, should this be declared if they are a member of any area or strategic planning committee? 

 8 Scheme of Members allowances - check the numbering and also information needs to be inserted. 

9. Officers 9.1 Management Structure needs to be reviewed, updated and checked?  Should it have names in the roles at least to 
Assistant Director Level. 

 9.4.1 para C There is no mention of quality or environmental impact or sustainability.  These things should be explicit. P
age 18



 

 Procurement limits and 
levels in appendices 

Do these need reviewing and amending? 

 

P
age 19



 

Item no: 
5 
  
 
  

APPENDIX B 
Draft Revised Constitution 

 
To follow 

Page 20



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSTITUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by the Council 

2 December 2021 

  

Page 21



2 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Contents 
1.0 SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION ................................................................................................................. 4 

2.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ........................................................................................................................... 11 

3.0 FULL COUNCIL ......................................................................................................................................... 15 

3.1 Role ................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

3.2 Executive and Non-Executive Functions ....................................................................................................... 15 

3.3 Local Choice Functions ................................................................................................................................... 15 

3.4 Budget and Policy Framework ....................................................................................................................... 17 

3.5 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules ........................................................................................... 18 

3.6 Council Meeting Procedure Rules ................................................................................................................. 22 

3.7 Committee and Sub-Committee Meeting Procedure Rules ......................................................................... 39 

3.8 General Provisions ......................................................................................................................................... 41 

4.0 COMMITTEES .......................................................................................................................................... 44 

4.1 Committee Structure ................................................................................................................................. 44 

4.2 Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee..................................................................................... 46 

4.3 Taxi and General Licensing Committee ............................................................................................... 47 

4.4 Strategic Planning Committee ............................................................................................................... 48 

4.5 Local Area Planning Committees .......................................................................................................... 48 

4.6 Democracy and Standards Committee ................................................................................................ 49 

4.7 Audit and Governance Committee ........................................................................................................ 51 

4.8 Pensions Fund Committee ...................................................................................................................... 53 

4.9 Health and Wellbeing Board ................................................................................................................... 64 

4.10 Senior Appointments Committee .......................................................................................................... 68 

5.0 EXECUTIVE ............................................................................................................................................... 69 

5.1 The Role of the Cabinet ............................................................................................................................ 69 

5.2 Cabinet Arrangements ............................................................................................................................. 69 

5.3 Cabinet Procedure Rules ......................................................................................................................... 72 

5.4 Access to Information Procedure Rules .............................................................................................. 76 

6.0 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS .......................................................................................................................... 88 

6.1 West and North Shared Services Joint Committee .......................................................................... 88 

6.2 Rainsbrook Crematorium Joint Committee ........................................................................................ 90 

6.3 PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee .............................................................................................. 91 

6.4 Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel ............................................................................... 91 

6.5 Children’s Trust Joint Committee ......................................................................................................... 92 

7.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ..................................................................................................................... 99 

7.1 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements ................................................................................................. 99 

7.2 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules .......................................................................................... 100 

Page 22



3 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.0 COUNCILLORS ....................................................................................................................................... 110 

8.1 Roles of Councillors and Officer Holders ......................................................................................... 110 

8.2 Members’ Code of Conduct .................................................................................................................. 115 

8.3 Member Complaints Procedure ........................................................................................................... 125 

8.4 Member/Officer Protocol ........................................................................................................................ 136 

8.5 Planning Protocol .................................................................................................................................... 142 

8.6 Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees ............................................................................... 155 

8.7 Scheme of Members’ Allowances ....................................................................................................... 159 

9.0 OFFICERS ............................................................................................................................................... 163 

9.1 Management Structure ........................................................................................................................... 163 

9.2 Scheme of Delegation to Officers ....................................................................................................... 169 

9.3 List of Proper Officers ............................................................................................................................ 190 

9.4 Employee Code of Conduct .................................................................................................................. 205 

9.5 Staff Employment Procedure Rules.................................................................................................... 214 

9.6 Contract Procedure Rules ..................................................................................................................... 217 

9.7 Financial Procedure Rules .................................................................................................................... 239 

GLOSSARY ........................................................................................................................................................... 271 

 

  

Page 23



4 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.0 SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

General 

1.1 The West Northamptonshire Council has agreed this Constitution. The Constitution 
sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures 
which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to 
local people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a 
matter for the Council to choose. The Council must operate in accordance with its 
Constitution and the rules set out there. 

1.2 The Constitution is divided into different parts which set out the basic rules governing 
the Council’s business as well as some of the detailed rules. The Council has chosen 
to make decisions through a Leader and Cabinet and this is explained below. 

1.3 The Council’s current corporate objectives and priorities are set out in its Corporate 
Plan. This is available on the Council’s website together with the Council’s Values. 

1.4 The Constitution ensures that the Council’s decision-making and governance 
arrangements support the corporate aims, objectives and priorities effectively and 
efficiently.  It also ensures that the Council meets its legal duties.   

The Constitution and its content  

1.5 The Constitution is divided into nine parts: 

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation: provides an explanation of what the Council is 
and how it works.  

Part 2 – Public Participation: Explains how the public can get involved in Council 
decision making. 

Part 3 – Council: Explains what the Council is and how the full body of all elected 
Members meet together to make decisions. 

Part 4 – Committees: Sets out the role of each of the different committees of the 
Council and how they make decisions. 

Part 5 – Executive: Explains the role of the Executive which in West 
Northamptonshire is called the Leader and Cabinet. The members of Cabinet have 
portfolios which mean they have special areas of responsibility, but meet together to 
make decisions. 

Part 6 – Joint Arrangements: Sets out the joint arrangements that the Council has 
made to work in partnership with other councils and where decision making is shared 
by two or more councils. Sometimes this is because there is a shared service 
delivered on behalf of two or more councils. 

Page 24



5 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Part 7 – Overview and Scrutiny: Explains the arrangements the Council has put in 
place to ensure that decisions are scrutinised by other members of the Council not 
directly involved in the decision making. 

Part 8 – Councillors: Provides more details about how councillors operate as 
individuals and the measures in place to ensure that councillors maintain high 
standards of conduct. It also shows what payments are made to councillors. 

Part 9 – Officers: Explains the role of the Council’s staff, what the management 
structure of the Council is and which officers make decisions for the Council. It also 
explains the measures in place to ensure that officers making decisions maintain 
high standards of conduct and make decisions within a framework set by councillors. 

How the Council operates 

1.6 The Council is made up of 93 councillors (excluding vacancies) who are elected 
every four years. councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their 
electoral ward. The overriding duty of councillors is to the whole community of West 
Northamptonshire, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those 
who did not vote for them. 

1.7 All councillors meet together and this is called full Council. Meetings of the Council 
are normally open to the public. At these meetings, the councillors decide the 
Council’s overall policies and set the revenue budget and capital programme each 
year. The Council appoints the Executive Leader who in turn appoints councillors to 
the Cabinet. 

1.8 The Council also decides on the delegation of certain functions to the Cabinet and 
some committees and joint committees. The Council holds the Cabinet to account 
through the Overview and Scrutiny function, which also provides an opportunity for 
pre-decision involvement in decisions and policy development for the wider 
membership. 

1.9 In performing their various roles, councillors are supported by the officers who give 
advice and implement decisions. Some decisions are delegated to officers to ensure 
that the Council can act quickly and efficiently. Officers also ensure the Council acts 
within the law and uses resources efficiently and effectively. 

Roles of councillors  

1.10 Councillors will:  

a. collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out several strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

b. contribute to the good governance of the Council and actively encourage 
community participation and citizen involvement in decision making; 

c. effectively represent the interests of the communities and individual 
constituents in their own ward; 

d. respond to constituents' enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;  
e. participate in the governance and management of the Council; 

Page 25



6 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

f. maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics and observe the Code 
of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members and the other Codes and 
Protocols adopted by the Council and set out in Part 8 of this Constitution;  

g. share responsibility with officers of the Council to act as effective and caring 
corporate parents for looked after children; 

h. be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and  attend meetings of 
bodies to which they are appointed.  

1.11 Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members' 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 8.6 of this Constitution.  

The Chair of the Council  

1.12 The Chair is elected by the full Council at its Annual Meeting each year, which is 
usually held in May.  The Council also elects a Vice Chair, who acts as Chair when 
the Chair is not available. The Chair (and the Vice Chair) undertake civil and 
ceremonial roles on behalf of the Council and represent the Council at events.  

1.13 Although the Chair is an elected politician and is entitled to vote, they are expected 
to be impartial in the way they carry out the role.  

1.14 The Chair presides over meetings of the full Council to ensure that business is carried 
out effectively and has responsibilities for upholding and interpreting this 
Constitution.  Their ruling about this or as to any proceedings of the Council cannot 
be challenged at any meeting of the Council, although their interpretation must have 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution and must be reasonable.  Neither the 
Chair nor the Vice Chair can be the Leader or a member of the Cabinet.  

1.15 The Chair is responsible for, and must conduct themselves in accordance with the 
following: 

a. upholding and promoting the purposes of this Constitution and 
interpreting it with appropriate advice when necessary; 

b. presiding over meetings of the Full Council to ensure that business is 
carried out efficiently, effectively and fairly between the different political 
groups whilst preserving the rights of councillors and the interests of 
members of the public; 

c. ensuring that at Council meetings, matters of concern to local 
communities can be debated through the appropriate councillors; 

d. ensuring that councillors who are not on the Cabinet or who do not hold 
the Chairpersonship of a main Committee are able to hold those office 
holders to account; 

e. promoting public involvement in the Council’s affairs and acting as a 
contact between members of the public, organisations and the Council; 
and 

f. undertaking such other roles as may be placed upon the office from time 
to time by the Council. 

Council Business 

Page 26



7 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.16 At its Annual Meeting (usually in May) the Council will approve its planned calendar 
of business and schedule of meetings but nothing prevents changes being made to 
the calendar of business and schedule of meetings during the following 12 months.  

1.17 There are four types of Full Council meeting:  

a. Annual meetings – take place every year (generally in May) to appoint 
committees etc;  

b. Ordinary meetings – there are a minimum of five Ordinary meetings per 
year; 

c. Extraordinary meetings – meetings called for specific decisions; 
d. Special purpose meetings - e.g. for the appointment of honorary aldermen 

and alderwomen. 

Meetings are conducted in accordance with the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 3.2 
of this Constitution.  

1.18 There are some decisions that can only be taken by the full Council. The Council sets 
the Budget and the Policy Framework for the Council. All decisions must be taken 
within the Budget and in accordance with the policy set out and only Council can 
change them.  Details of these are in Part 3. 

1.19 The Council is responsible for electing (and can remove) the Leader who in turn will 
appoint a Deputy Leader and a Cabinet. The Council (mainly through the Overview 
and Scrutiny process and call-in of decisions) is ultimately responsible for holding the 
Cabinet to account. 

How decisions are made 

1.20 The Cabinet is the part of the Council responsible for most day-to-day decisions. The 
Cabinet is made up of a Leader appointed by the full Council and between two and 
nine other councillors appointed by the Leader.   

1.21 When Key Decisions (these are specific significant decisions defined in Part 5) are 
to be discussed or made, these are published in the Council’s Forward Plan and a 
public notice will be on the Council’s website. If these decisions are to be discussed 
at a meeting of the Cabinet, this will generally be open for the public to attend except 
where Confidential or Exempt Information (defined in Part 5) is being discussed. The 
Cabinet generally has to make decisions that are in line with the Council’s overall 
policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision that is not consistent with existing 
policies and budget, this must usually be referred to full Council to decide.  

Principles of Decision Making 

1.22 All council decisions will be made in the best interests of the communities of West 
Northamptonshire and in accordance with the following principles: 

(a) take into account all relevant considerations and ignore those which are 
irrelevant 

(b) compliance with finance, contract and all other procedure rules, statutory 

Page 27



8 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

requirements, guidance and codes of practice 

(c) compliance with the Budget and Policy Framework, including directorate and 
service budgets, business plans and any other policies, arrangements, 
procedures, rules, practices or protocols in force from time to time 

(d) due consultation and proper advice is taken and consideration of alternative 
options before decisions are reached 

(e) impartiality and an absence of bias, pre-determination or conflicts of interest 

(f) any interests are properly declared 

(g) reasons are given for decisions 

(h) decisions are properly recorded and published 

(i) decisions are proportionate to the desired outcome 

(j) assessing the impact on human rights, equality, diversity and sustainability 

(k) a presumption in favour of transparency and openness 

(l) clarity of aims and desired outcomes 

(m) records are kept of decisions taken and reasons are given for them  

(n) following best practice, securing best value and making the most efficient and 
effective use of resources 

1.23 The core objective is to ensure that decisions are made at the most appropriate level 
closest to the local or immediate point of service delivery, or at the level that is closest 
to those who will be affected by the decision in question. 

1.24 The Council has set out to achieve this by putting in place a system of delegation 
known as a ‘cascade of powers’. Under this system its operational powers have been 
delegated to the fullest extent and range possible through the hierarchy of the 
Cabinet, committees and the officer structure. Under this system, power follows 
responsibility so powers ultimately rest where they need to be so that the decisions 
that need to be taken to deliver the authority’s objectives can be taken at the most 
appropriate level. 

1.25 Officers tend to take the majority of operational day-to-day decisions because they 
operate at the point closest to service delivery. For this reason, the Council has 
decided that unless a power or function is specifically reserved by law or in this 
Constitution to the Council, the Cabinet or a committee, it stands delegated to officers 
to the fullest extent necessary to enable them to do everything that their role requires 
of them from time to time. 

1.26 Any ambiguity that may arise as to whether a decision-maker is authorised to take 
any particular decision is to be resolved by reference back up through the hierarchy 
of the ‘chain of cascade’, and legal advice should be sought if necessary. There 

Page 28



9 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

should, however, be a presumption against referring (or calling) decisions back up 
the chain unless it is absolutely necessary to do so.  

1.27 Individual decision-makers may nevertheless consider it would be prudent for a 
decision that would otherwise fall to be taken by them to instead be taken (or ratified) 
by: 

(a) in the case of an officer, by their manager or another officer with equivalent 
authority 

(b) in the case of a decision-maker under a bespoke delegation, by the person or 
body who made that delegation 

1.28 Individual decision-makers should also have particular regard as to whether a 
decision should be made in conjunction with any officer or member and the need to 
consult and take advice as appropriate. 

Overview and Scrutiny function – Part 7 

1.29 The Council operates an Overview and Scrutiny function that undertakes a number 
of roles including monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet, advising the Council on 
forthcoming decisions, and the development of policy. The function can call-in a 
decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented. This enables 
consideration as to whether the decision is appropriate and the function may 
recommend that the Cabinet reconsiders the decision. Further details of the call-in 
process are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 7.2.   

1.30 The Overview and Scrutiny function will develop a work programme as well as 
supporting policy development, providing pre-decision scrutiny where appropriate, 
holding decision-makers to account and exercising the formal call-in of executive 
decisions to review any concerns about the making of the decision. Further details 
are set out in Part 7. Overview and Scrutiny shall contribute to the work of the Cabinet 
and the Council as a whole by providing:   

a. robust arrangements for holding the Cabinet to account;  
b. effective scrutiny of cross-cutting issues and other public sector bodies;  
c. clearly defined arrangements and responsibility for scrutiny of strategic and 

other issues; and   
d. multi-agency scrutiny of local issues within communities.  

Community Forums and Boards – Part 4  

1.31 The Council may decide to establish Community Forums and Boards. These may be 
established to respond to a specific issue or on a regular basis to bring forward issues 
in a local area to the attention of the Council.  They can also be based around specific 
groups or issues across the whole local authority area. The informal nature of the 
forums allows participation from representatives of other local bodies such as parish 
councillors.  Community Forums do not have formal decision-making powers but they 
are able to make representations to the appropriate Committee, Councillor or officer.  

The Council’s staff – Part 9  

Page 29



10 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.32 The Council has employed staff working in many different ways to deliver services. 
Staff are referred to in this Constitution as officers. They give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of services, ensuring that they operate 
impartially and work with all elected members. The most senior of these is the Chief 
Executive who is also the Head of Paid Service. All officers are required to ensure 
that the Council operates within the law and in addition some officers have more 
specific duties of monitoring and ensuring that the Council acts within the law and 
uses its resources wisely. The Protocol which governs the relationships between 
officers and Members of the Council is in Part 8.4.  

Public Participation – Part 2  

1.33 Participation arrangements for members of the public, residents of the area, 
businesses, community organisations, visitors and the Council’s customers are set 
out in Part 2. Some of these are legal rights whilst others depend on the Council’s 
own processes. 

1.34 Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a parent 
of a school pupil, they have additional rights. These are not covered in this 
Constitution. 

  

Page 30



11 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 

2.1 In West Northamptonshire, residents, community organisations, businesses and 
visitors are able to get involved in the management of the area. The Council 
encourages and actively supports people getting involved. Our governance is 
designed to make it easy for people to give us their views to help influence decision 
making and the actions the Council takes. To encourage involvement this section 
has gathered together the key ways in which the public and others outside the 
Council can get involved.  

Councillors 

2.2 The area of West Northamptonshire Council is divided into 31 administrative areas, 
called wards. Each ward has three elected councillors who are elected every four 
years. There is more information about elections and how to register to vote on the 
Council’s website. Although they have responsibility for the whole of the Council 
area, councillors also have a particular responsibility to the residents of their ward.  
Details of who your local councillor is, and how to get in touch with them are available 
on the Council’s website. A councillor may also hold scheduled sessions where 
residents can meet them face to face to talk about issues and to get advice and ask 
their councillor to raise matters with the Council on their behalf.   

Cabinet 

2.3 The Cabinet consists of the Leader and Cabinet Members who are responsible for 
particular services and activities. You can check who the Cabinet Member is for a 
particular matter on the Council’s website. The Cabinet has developed a Forward 
Plan which is also published on the Council’s website. It indicates the most important 
decisions (known as Key Decisions) which the Cabinet will be taking in the future and 
when this is likely to be done, so that anyone can attend the public meetings 
considering those decisions. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

2.4 The Council has three Overview and Scrutiny committees which deal with separate 
parts of the Council’s work. These committees help the Council to develop new policy 
and act as a “critical friend” to hold decision makers to account. Overview and 
Scrutiny committees also carry out investigations and reviews, and welcome 
suggestions from residents and businesses as to areas they could investigate. 

Community Forums and Boards 

2.5 Community Forums and Boards may take place on specific topics and/or in local 
areas. They are not formal meetings and this gives them a more relaxed way of 
working. A Forum or Board can be made up of residents (including sections of 
residents such as young people), community and voluntary groups, public sector 
bodies and local businesses. 

Can I attend meetings? 

Page 31



12 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.6 Meetings of the Council, the Cabinet and the committees are open to the public. You 
can also usually watch them live through our website (West Northamptonshire 
Council - YouTube). 

2.7 There are some occasions when we need to discuss confidential details. We can 
only do this when there are legal reasons such as personal information being 
discussed, which means meetings have to go into private session. When this 
happens a formal decision is made to exclude the press and public from the meeting 
while these issues are discussed.   As soon as the item has been dealt with the public 
can return to the meeting unless there are other confidential items. If an agenda item 
is to be considered in private, this will be clearly marked on the agenda for the 
meeting. 

2.8 The dates and times of our meetings are published on our website and agendas are 
made available at least five days ahead of the meeting, so you can see what items 
will be discussed. 

Can I speak at meetings? 

2.9 You can speak at Council, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
Statements must be relevant to a matter that is on the agenda for the particular 
meeting.  

2.10 If you wish to make a statement, you must register to do so by 12 noon on the 
day of the meeting by contacting Democratic Services 
(democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk). You will normally be expected to 
attend the meeting to read out your statement. You will have a maximum of 3 minutes 
in which to make your statement, which will be taken into account during the 
subsequent debate on the matter.  

2.11 Up to three speakers are permitted to speak on any agenda item although this may 
be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

2.12 You can also put questions (up to a maximum of two) to the Chair of the Council, 
members of Cabinet and Chairs of committees. Questions are not generally read out 
because they are circulated prior to the meeting; but if they are, they must be no 
longer than 3 minutes. 

2.13 You will need to submit the question in writing which must be received by 10.00am, 
three clear working days before the meeting of the Council at which it is to be asked. 
Questions need to be framed so as to elicit information rather than make a statement.  

2.14 The total time allowed for questions is a maximum of 30 minutes, but there is a 
discretion of the Chair who, in exercising their discretion, will have regard to the 
business to be transacted at the meeting and the objective of ensuring that the 
meeting is managed efficiently. 

Petitions 

2.15 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way that 
people express their concerns about issues affecting communities within the West 
Northamptonshire area.  

Page 32

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDyc2cNcl19OvcGOCuZDTBQ?app=desktop
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDyc2cNcl19OvcGOCuZDTBQ?app=desktop


13 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.16 Details of the Council’s Petition Scheme can be found on the website or can be 
requested by post from Democratic Services, West Northamptonshire Council, One 
Angel Square, 4 Angel Street, Northampton, NN1 1ED. 

Budget and Policy Development 

2.17 The Council is particularly keen to encourage public participation in the preparation 
of the Council’s budget and in the development of policies so that our residents are 
able to directly influence the framework of decisions. When setting the Budget or 
agreeing policy we will consider options to ensure the maximum opportunity for 
contribution before a decision is finally made by all the councillors sitting in full 
Council. 

Public Consultation 

2.18 We try to consult as widely and as fairly as possible.  Sometimes, with matters such 
as planning and licensing applications, there are specific statutory consultation 
processes that the Council must follow.  Other than this, we will try to consult on 
important decisions as widely as possible and give feedback about the outcome of 
the consultations.  

2.19 We follow principles of good consultation (called Gunning Principles) when we 
consult. This means that we make sure: 

a. consultation is carried out at a stage when the Council has not made 
up its mind on any proposals; 

b. we give enough information and reasons for any proposals to enable 
you to understand their impact and respond; 

c. we give you enough time to consider our proposals and respond to 
them; and 

d. we will consider all responses to the consultation when finalising the 
decision. 

Wider Engagement 

2.20 The Council is keen to engage more generally with the public and in particular with 
those who are seeking British Citizenship and young people about citizenship and 
the role of Local Government in the structure of British Democracy. To do this we 
may run specific engagement sessions or support schools and others in the conduct 
of their own elections. Details of any sessions will be available on the Council and 
Democracy Section of our Website or you can contact Democratic Services to 
request specific involvement.  

Social Media 

2.21 You can also get updates from West Northamptonshire Council on social media and 
by following the Council’s social media. 

2.22 Many local councillors have their own social media accounts too. 

Page 33



14 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Community Rights 

2.23 The Localism Act 2011 introduced rights and powers for individuals and communities 
to take over public services, community assets and influence planning and 
development. 

2.24 The community rights are a set of powers that give local people a greater say over 
how their community develops. They give local people the chance to decide what is 
built and how their area should develop. Groups of people have the chance to deliver 
local services and develop them into community enterprises. More details can be 
found on the website or by contacting Democratic Services by email 
(democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk) or by post or in person (1 Angel 
Square, Angel St, Northampton NN1 1ED). 

2.25 There are five Community Rights: 

i. Community Right to Bid - allows communities and parish councils to nominate 
buildings or land for listing by the local authority as an ‘asset of community 
value’. If the asset comes up for sale, the community can ‘pause’ the sale and 
take up to six months to find the funding required to buy the asset. 

ii. Community Right to Build - gives communities the power to build new shops, 
housing or community facilities without going through the normal planning 
process. It gives local organisations the right to bring forward small-scale 
community-led developments. 

iii. Community Right to Challenge - gives local groups the opportunity to express 
their interest in taking over a local service where they think they can do it 
differently and better. 

iv. Community Right to Reclaim Land - allows communities to challenge councils 
and some other public bodies to release their unused and underused land so that 
it can brought back into use. 

v. Community Asset Transfer - the transfer of management and/or ownership of 
appropriate land or buildings from a public body to a community-based 
organisation, at less than market value, in order to promote social, economic or 
environmental well-being. 

  

Page 34

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


15 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3.0 FULL COUNCIL 

3.1 Role 

3.1.1 The full Council (or the Council) is the term for the assembly of all of the elected 
members who sit on the Council. There are 93 members on the West 
Northamptonshire Council and they make some decisions together, including:  

 Setting the Council’s budget;  

 Agreeing the overarching policy of the Council – called the Policy Framework;  

 Electing the Executive Leader;  

 Appointing the Council’s non-executive committees.  

3.2 Executive and Non-Executive Functions 

3.2.1 Decisions taken by the Council are divided by law into two types: Executive 
and Non-Executive. 

3.2.2 The law1 specifies which functions are the responsibility of the Council, which 
are the responsibility of the Executive (Cabinet), and which may (but need not) be the 
responsibility of the Executive (Local Choice functions). All other functions not specified 
are the responsibility of the Executive. 

3.2.3 The Council operates a Leader and Council form of Executive. References to 
‘the Executive’ means the Leader and Cabinet, with Executive decisions being taken by 
the Leader, Cabinet, Cabinet committees, Cabinet Members or officers under delegated 
authority in accordance with, and in order to implement, the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

3.2.4 Non-Executive functions are either reserved to the Council or delegated by 
the Council to committees, sub-committees, officers or another local authority. 

3.3 Local Choice Functions 

3.3.1 The law2 describes the decisions that are a matter of local choice. It is up to 
the Council to decide whether or not these functions should be the responsibility of the 
Executive. Having regard to government guidance, the Council has decided that Local 
Choice functions will be Executive or Non-Executive as set out in the table below: 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

1. Any function under a local 
Act other than a function 
specified or referred to in 
regulation 2 or Schedule 1.  

Executive The relevant member of 
the Executive Leadership 
Team and where this is 
not clear to be 

- 

                                                                 
1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and subsequent 

regulations giving effect to section 13 of the Local Government Act 2000 
2 Schedule 2 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

Page 35



16 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

determined by the Chief 
Executive 

2. Other than those reserved 
to a Non-Executive 
committee, the determination 
of appeals against any 
decision made by or on behalf 
of the authority.  

Executive The Leader in 
consultation with the 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 

- 

3. The appointment of review 
boards under regulations 
under section 34(4) 
(determination of claims and 
reviews) of the Social 
Security Act 1998  

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

4. The making of 
arrangements pursuant to 
section 67(1) of, and 
Schedule 18 to, the 1998 Act 
(reviews of exclusion of 
pupils). This is now s.51A of 
the Education Act 2002 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

5. The making of 
arrangements pursuant to 
section 94(1) and (4) of, and 
Schedule 24 to, the School 
Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 Act (admission 
appeals) 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

6. The making of 
arrangements pursuant to 
section 95(2) of, and 
Schedule 25 to, the School 
Standards and Framework 
Act1998 Act (children to 
whom section 87 applies: 
appeals by governing bodies) 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

7. Any function relating to 
contaminated land.  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

8. The discharge of any 
function relating to the control 
of pollution or the management 
of air quality  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

9. The service of an 
abatement notice in respect 
of a statutory nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

10. The passing of a 
resolution that Schedule 2 to 
the Noise and Statutory 

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

Page 36



17 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

Nuisance Act 1993 should 
apply in the authority's area  

11. The inspection of the 
authority's area to detect any 
statutory nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

12. The investigation of any 
complaint as to the existence 
of a statutory nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

13. The obtaining of 
information under section 330 
of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as to 
interests in land 

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

14. The making of 
agreements for the execution 
of highways works  

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

15. The obtaining of particulars 
of persons interested in land 
under section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 1976 

Executive Executive Director Place 
and Economy 

- 

16. The appointment of any 
individual -  
(a) to any office other than an 
office in which they are 
employed by the authority  
(b) to any body other than  
(i) the authority;  
(ii) a joint committee of two or 
more authorities; or  
(c) to any committee or sub-
committee of such a body 

Executive/Non-
Executive 

The Chief Executive 
where the appointment 
relates to Non-Executive 
functions. The Leader 
where the appointment 
relates to Executive 
powers. 

- 

17. The making of 
agreements with other local 
authorities for the placing of 
staff at the disposal of those 
other authorities 

Executive/Non-
Executive 

The Leader where the 
appointment relates to 
Executive powers. 
The Council where the 
appointment relates to 
Non-Executive functions. 

- 

 

3.4 Budget and Policy Framework 

The Council is responsible for setting the Budget and Policy Framework. This sets out the 
broad financial envelope and the Policy Framework for the individual decisions made by 
the Executive.  

1. Budget 

Page 37



18 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.1 The Budget is the identification and allocation of financial resources by the 
Council, including: 

a. Revenue expenditure 
b. Contingency and reserve funds 
c. Council Tax 
d. Borrowing requirements and limits 
e. Capital expenditure 
f. Medium Term Financial Plan 
g. Any limitations to, conditions on or rules governing the management of 

budgets, virement between budgets, treatment of underspends, windfall 
income or reserves contained within the Finance and Contract Procedure 
Rules 

2. Policy Framework 

2.1 The Council has agreed that the following list of plans and strategies relevant 
to its functions will sit within the Policy Framework, some of which are required 
by law3 to be decided by Full Council, usually on the recommendation of 
Cabinet: 

a. Children and Young People’s Plan 
b. Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
c. Plans, documents and alterations that together comprise the Local Plan 
d. Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
e. Local Transport Plan 
f. Youth Justice Plan 
g. The Corporate Plan  
h. Minerals and Waste Development Framework, comprising the following 

Local Development Documents:  

i. Minerals and Waste Core Strategy; 
ii. Locations for Minerals Development; 
iii. Locations for Waste Development; 
iv. Control and Management of (Minerals and Waste) Development; 
v. Development and Implementation Principles for Minerals and Waste 

Development (Supplementary Planning Document).  

3.5 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

1. The framework for Executive decisions 

1.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy 
Framework as set out in 3.3 above. Once the Budget and Policy Framework is in 

                                                                 
3 3 Regulation 4 and Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 
 

Page 38



19 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to take implementation decisions 
in accordance with it.  

2. Process for developing the Policy Framework 

2.1 The process by which the Budget and Policy Framework shall be developed is: 

a. The Cabinet will publicise by including in the Forward Plan a timetable for 
making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or 
budget that forms part of the Budget and Policy Framework, and its 
arrangements for consultation after publication of those initial proposals. The 
Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny committees will also be notified. The 
consultation period in each instance shall be not less than 8 weeks unless the 
Council agrees otherwise. 

b. If the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes to respond to the 
Cabinet through that consultation process, then it may do so. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may investigate, research or report in detail with 
policy recommendations before the end of the consultation period. The 
Cabinet will take any response from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee into 
account in drawing up firm proposals for submission to the Council, and its 
report to Council will reflect the comments made by consultees and the 
Cabinet’s response.  

c. Once the Cabinet has approved firm proposals, the Monitoring Officer will 
refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for decision.  

d. In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the Cabinet’s proposals. But if 
the Council has any objections to the Cabinet’s proposals, then before it 
amends, approves or adopts any plan, strategy or budget, it must inform the 
Leader of those objections and require the Cabinet to reconsider. The Cabinet 
may, within such reasonable period as the Monitoring Officer may determine 
(but which shall not be less than 5 working days), submit revised proposals or 
inform the Council of the Cabinet’s disagreement with the Council’s objections 
and the reasons for this. Once that period has expired, the Council in 
amending, approving or adopting any plan, strategy or budget, must take into 
account any revised proposals and the views of the Cabinet.  

e. In the case of budget proposals submitted to the Council after 8 February in 
any financial year and any budget proposals submitted following designation 
or nomination by the Secretary of State, then the Council may amend, approve 
or adopt the Cabinet’s proposals and need not require the Cabinet to 
reconsider.  

f. In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 
the extent of virement within the Budget and degree of in-year changes to the 
Policy Framework which may be undertaken by the Cabinet, in accordance 
with Rules 5 and 6 (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other changes to 
the Budget and Policy Framework are reserved to the Council.  

3. Decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

a. Subject to the provisions of Rule 5 (virement) the Cabinet, committees of the 
Cabinet and any officers, or joint arrangements discharging Executive 
functions may only take decisions which are in line with the Policy Framework. 

Page 39



20 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

If any of these bodies or persons wish to make a decision which is contrary to 
the Budget and Policy Framework, or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance 
with the Budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken 
by the Council, subject to Rule 4 (urgent decisions outside the Budget and 
Policy Framework) below.  

b. If the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or any officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Executive functions want to make such a decision, 
they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance 
Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would be contrary to the 
Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. 
If the advice of either of those officers is that the decision would not be in line 
with the existing budget and/or Policy Framework, then the decision must be 
referred by that body or person to the Council for decision, unless the decision 
is a matter of urgency - in which case the provisions in Rule 4 (urgent 
decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework) shall apply.  

4. Urgent decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

a. The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, specified officers acting under 
urgency provisions (see Part X Section Y), or joint arrangements discharging 
executive functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s 
Policy Framework or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the Budget 
approved by full Council if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the 
decision may only be taken:  

 if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and  

 if the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that 
the decision is a matter of urgency.  

b. The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council 
and the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consent to 
the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record 
of the decision. In the absence of the Chair of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the consent of the Chair of the Council, shall be obtained 
- and in the absence of both, the consent of the Vice Chair of the Council shall 
be obtained.  

c. Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next 
available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why 
the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.  

5. Virement 

The scheme of virement is set out in the Financial Procedure Rules in Part 9.7 below. 

6. In-year changes to Policy Framework 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the Council, 
and decisions by the Cabinet, or officers, or joint arrangements discharging executive 
functions must be in line with it. No changes to any policy and strategy which make up 

Page 40



21 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

the policy and budget framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except 
those changes:  

a. necessary to ensure compliance with the law, or ministerial direction; or  
b. in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which would normally 

be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the 
existing policy document is silent on the matter under consideration.  

7. Call-in of decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

a. Council can only consider call-in decisions or proposed decisions which relate to 
an executive decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or 
not wholly in accordance with the Budget. Where councillors are of the opinion 
that this is the case they shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer.  

b. In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, the Monitoring 
Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be to the Cabinet with 
a copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of whether the decision is 
delegated or not, the Cabinet must meet to decide what action to take in respect 
of the Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report and to 
prepare a report to Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a departure; and to the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a departure.  

c. If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, 
and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer is that 
the decision is or would be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Budget, councillors may, in accordance with the 
call-in procedure set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, refer the 
matter to Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the 
decision or its implementation until the Council has met and considered the 
matter. The Council shall meet within 10 working days of the request by members 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee unless the Executive Leader, or in their 
absence the Deputy Leader, agrees that the Council need not necessarily meet 
within the specified period. At the meeting it will receive a report of the decision 
or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance 
Officer.  

d. The Council may either:  

i. endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as falling 
within the existing budget and Policy Framework. In this case no further 
action is required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or  

ii. amend the Council’s financial regulations or policy concerned to 
encompass the decision or proposal of the body responsible for that 
executive function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In 
this case, no further action is required save that the decision of the 
Council be minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal way; 
or  

Page 41



22 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

iii. where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to 
the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the Budget, and does not amend the existing framework to 
accommodate it, require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in 
accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Finance Officer.  

 

3.6 Council Meeting Procedure Rules 

1. Full Council meetings 

Time and place of meetings 

1.1 All Full Council meetings shall start at 6.00pm or, where it is 
impracticable to hold the meeting at the usual time, such other time 
as the Chair or the Monitoring Officer shall direct. The place of the 
meeting will be notified on the agenda for the meeting. 

2. Annual Meeting of the Council 

Timing 

2.1  In a year when there is an Ordinary Election of Members, the 
Annual Meeting shall take place within 21 days from the retirement 
of the outgoing Members. In any other year, the Annual Meeting shall 
take place on such a day in the month of May or June as the Council 
may fix. 

Business 

2.2  At the Annual Meeting the Council will: 

a. Elect the Chair of the Council who will then preside; 
b. Appoint the Vice Chair of Council; 
c. Approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
d. Receive any declarations of interest from councillors; 
e. Receive any apologies for absence from councillors; 
f. Receive any announcements from the Chair; 
g. Elect the Executive Leader in any year in which the Leader’s term of office 

expires (for a four-year term), or if the office of Leader becomes vacant (for 
the remainder of the four-year term of councillors). The term of office of the 
Leader shall, subject to earlier removal, end on the day of the Annual Meeting 
following the ordinary election of councillors; 

h. Note the appointments to the role of Deputy Leader and to the Cabinet; 
i. Receive any announcements from the Leader; 
j. Appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards 

Committee, an Audit Committee and such other committees as required; 
k. Approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; 

Page 42



23 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

l. Approve the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the 
political balance rules; 

m. Delegate to the Monitoring Officer the power to appoint councillors to 
committees and sub-committees in accordance with the wishes of the Group 
Leaders except where appointments to those bodies is exercisable only by 
the Cabinet.  

3. Ordinary Meetings of the Council 

3.1  Ordinary meetings of the Council shall take place in accordance 
with a programme decided at the Council’s Annual Meeting. Ordinary 
meetings will: 

a. Elect a person to preside if both the Chair and the Vice Chair of the 
Council are not present; 

b. Approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
c. Receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
d. Receive any announcements from the Chair and Leader; 
e. Provide for 30 minutes in total to respond to any questions relating to 

West Northamptonshire Council from members of the public who are 
residents of, or working in West Northamptonshire;  

f. Provide 15 minutes for a Priority Opposition Motion to be notified by the 
Leader of the Opposition.    

g. Provide 45 minutes in total to receive written reports from Portfolio 
Holders and provide responses to questions from Members; 

h. Deal with any business adjourned from the last Council meeting; 
i. Receive a report from the Audit Committee, ordinarily in June and other 

than in a year of ordinary elections, detailing their activities during the 
past year and proposed work programme for the following year for 
approval by the Council; 

j. Consider motions; and 
k. Consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, 

including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the 
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 

4. Extraordinary Meetings 

Calling Extraordinary Meetings 

4.1  The Monitoring Officer may call, and those listed below may 
require the Monitoring Officer to call, extraordinary Council meetings 
in addition to ordinary meetings: 

a. the Council by resolution; 
b. the Chair of the Council;  
c. any five councillors with a signed request to the Chair of the Council; or 
d. the Executive Leader. 

Items of Business at Extraordinary Meetings 

Page 43



24 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.2  Only business specified in the summons may be transacted at 
an extraordinary meeting of the Council. 

Motion to remove the Leader 

4.3  A motion to remove the Leader from office may only be: 

a. made at an extraordinary meeting convened specifically for that purpose 
not less than 21 days from the submission of the motion; 

b. submitted in the form of a requisition signed by a majority of the Leading 
Group where that group holds a majority of seats on the Council. 

4.4  Where there is no majority on the Council, the requisition must be signed by 
not less than one third of the members of the Council with members from at 
least two political groups; and 

4.5  Where the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader 
is to be elected at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office. 

5. Budget meetings of the Council 

5.1  Budget meetings shall: 

a. appoint a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present; 
b. approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
c. receive any declarations of interest from councillors; 
d. receive announcements from the Chair; 
e. receive any statements from members of the public who are residents of, 

or working in, West Northamptonshire relating to an item of business on 
the public part of the agenda of that meeting;  

f. receive and consider the Council plan, budget and associated reports; and  
g. any other urgent business as agreed by the Chair.   

6. Chair and Vice Chair of the Council 

6.1  The Chair of the Council, or in their absence the Vice Chair (who will have the 
same powers and duties as the Chair), will preside at meetings of the Council. 
Where both the Chair and Vice Chair are absent, the Council will appoint 
another councillor, other than a member of the Cabinet, to chair the meeting, 
who will have the same powers and duties as the Chair. 

Out of Order 

6.2  The Chair may at any time rule out of order and reject any 
motion, amendment, statement, question, representation, answer or 
written statement which, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer: 

a. does not relate to a matter for which the Council has responsibility; 
b. is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, vexatious, unlawful or otherwise 

improper or irrelevant; 
c. requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

Page 44



25 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

d. names or identifies individual service users, members of staff or members 
of staff of partner agencies; or 

e. is otherwise contrary to the law or would place the Council at risk of 
litigation. 

7. Quorum 

7.1  The quorum of meetings of the Council will be one quarter 
(rounded up) of the total membership. During any meeting, if the 
Chair counts the number of councillors present and declares there is 
not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. 
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by 
the Chair. If the Chair does not fix a date, the remaining business will 
be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

8. What the Council can decide 

8.1  The Council can decide Non-Executive matters and those 
matters reserved to full Council.  The Council has no power to decide 
Executive matters.  The Council sets the Budget and Policy 
Framework within which Executive decisions are made. 

9. Order of business 

9.1  Business shall be dealt with in the order in which it is set out in 
the agenda unless the person presiding at the meeting of the Council 
decides otherwise. 

10. Extension of the meeting 

10.1  If the business of a Council meeting has not been concluded by 
10.30pm, the Chair will draw the attention of the meeting to the time 
and to this Rule. 

10.2  In the case of any motions or recommendations on the agenda 
that have not been dealt with by 10.30 pm the Chair will decide 
whether to end the meeting or to deal with the outstanding matters 
provided that those matters can reasonably be dealt with by 
10.45pm. 

10.3  Where the outstanding matters cannot be dealt with by that time, 
each item will be put to the vote without further debate and an 
unrecorded vote will be taken on whether the item should be 
accepted, referred, deferred or withdrawn. 

10.4 Any proposal to refer, defer or withdraw an item that has not yet been 
dealt with must be moved and seconded before any vote is taken in 
accordance with paragraph 10.3 above. If such a proposal is made, 
it shall be voted on without debate. 

11. Urgent business 

11.1  Business cannot be normally dealt with at a Council meeting 
unless it is included in the Summons. The Chair may allow business 

Page 45



26 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

which is not specified in the Summons to be dealt with if it is required 
by law to be dealt with by a certain date or is brought before the 
Council as a matter of urgency. 

12. Confirmation of minutes 

12.1  minutes of the last Council meeting shall be confirmed at the 
next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

12.2  Only matters relating to the accuracy of the minutes can be 
raised, which must be done by way of a motion which is proposed, 
seconded and voted upon. Where no issues are raised, or after the 
motion has been dealt with, the Chair shall initial each page and sign 
the minutes. 

13. Record of Executive Decisions 

13.1  The Record of Executive Decisions, as well as the reports 
prepared by the Executive for the Council will be submitted to the 
next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

13.2  These will be noted and received by a decision of the Council. 
13.3  Any question about the accuracy of any matter before the 

Council from the Executive must be considered and determined by 
the Executive. It is not a matter for the Council. The Leader is able 
to make changes on behalf of the Executive but may choose to do 
so only with the agreement of Cabinet. 

14. Matters for decision by the Council 

14.1  All matters for decision by the Council shall be included with the 
agenda, other than items of urgency under Rule 11 above. 

14.2  When the item is reached on the agenda, the Leader, the 
relevant Portfolio Holder, the Chair of the relevant Committee or 
another councillor will, where appropriate, move the 
recommendation or advice of the Cabinet or Committee, or 
endorsement of a Cabinet or a committee decision. Another 
councillor may second the motion and may reserve the right to speak 
until later in the debate. 

14.3  The Chair cannot ask the Council to agree to withdraw a 
recommendation of the Cabinet or a committee unless new and 
relevant information has become available after the decision of the 
body concerned. The information must be disclosed to the Council. 

15. Procedural Motions that may be moved without notice 

15.1  The following motions and amendments may be moved at a 
Council meeting without notice. 

a. appointment of a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is made; 
b. motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes of the Council, a 

committee or sub-committee; 

Page 46



27 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

c. that an item of business specified in the summons should have 
precedence; 

d. reference to the Council, a committee, sub-committee or the Cabinet; 
e. appointment of or appointment to committees, sub-committees or the 

Cabinet occasioned by an item mentioned in the summons to the 
meeting; 

f. receipt of Records of Executive Decisions; 
g. adoption of recommendations of the Cabinet, committees and Sub- 

committees and any consequent resolutions; 
h. that leave is given to withdraw a motion; 
i. that leave is given to alter a motion by the mover of that motion; 
j. receipt of reports of officers and any consequent resolutions; 
k. extending the time limit for speeches; 
l. amendment to reports of which notification has been included within the 

summons of the meeting but where the reports were circulated at a later 
date than the summons; 

m. that the Council proceeds to the next business; 
n. that the question be now put; 
o. that the debate be now adjourned; 
p. that the Council do now adjourn; 
q. authorising the sealing of documents; 
r. suspending Meeting Procedure Rules, in accordance with Procedure 

Rule 50; 
s. motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended) to exclude the press and public; 
t. that a councillor named under Procedure Rule 47 should not be heard 

further or should leave the meeting; and 
u. giving consent of the Council where consent of the Council is required by 

these Meeting Procedure Rules. 

16. Public participation at Council meetings 

16.1  The Council welcomes public participation from anyone who 
lives, works or studies in West Northamptonshire, or who has a direct 
connection to a service provided by the Council. Public participation 
can take the form of presenting petitions, making statements or 
asking questions. 

16.2  Questions may also be asked at Cabinet and shall be dealt with 
as set out in the Cabinet Meeting Procedure Rules. 

17. Petitions 

17.1  The Council has adopted a Petitions Scheme and details of this 
such as: the purpose of a petition, the eligibility criteria and relevant 
thresholds for making petitions, the procedure and review 
mechanisms can be found on the Council’s website. 

18. Statements 

Page 47



28 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

18.1  Up to three members of the public are permitted to speak for up 
to three minutes each on any agenda item although this may be 
extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

18.2  Those wishing to make a statement must register to do so at 
least 24 hours prior to the meeting by contacting Democratic 
Services by email (democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk) or 
by post or in person (1 Angel Square, Angel St, Northampton NN1 
1ED). 

18.3  Statements must be relevant to the powers and duties of the 
Council and be clear and concise. A statement may be ruled out of 
order in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 6.2. 

19. Public Questions 

19.1  At ordinary meetings of Full Council, questions can be asked by 
Members of the Public of the Chair of Council, members of Cabinet 
and Chair of committees.  

19.2  The total time set aside for such questions and answers will be 
limited to 30 minutes which can be extended at the Chair’s 
discretion. 

20. Notice of questions 

20.1  No person may submit more than two questions at any one 
meeting. 

20.2  No question may be sub-divided into more than two related 
parts. 

20.3  Questions must be delivered in writing or by email to Democratic 
Services no later than 10am, three clear working days before the 
meeting. The period of notice is to allow sufficient time for a response 
to be formulated. 

20.4  In exceptional circumstances and in cases of urgency, the Chair 
may allow questions without the full period of notice having been 
given where they are satisfied there is sufficient justification. In these 
circumstances, there is no guarantee that a full reply will be given at 
the meeting. 

20.5  Notice of each question must include the name and address of 
the questioner, (in respect of an organisation, the name of the 
organisation and the questioner’s position within the organisation) 
and to whom the question is to be put. 

21. Scope of questions 

21.1  The question must be relevant to the powers and duties of the 
Council and be clear, succinct and concise.  

21.2  A question will be rejected where it: 

a. has been ruled out of order in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph 6.2; 

b. is considered by the Chair to be inappropriate for the particular meeting. 

Page 48

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


29 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

21.3 The Chair’s ruling on rejection of a question will be final, following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

21.4  Where a question is rejected on the above grounds, the 
questioner shall be advised of the reasons for rejection. 

22. At the meeting 

22.1  Questions will be dealt with in order of receipt, subject to the 
Chair’s discretion to group together questions on the same or similar 
subject. 

22.2  Questions will be taken as read. However, if a questioner wishes 
to ask their question at the meeting, they will be given up to three 
minutes to ask the question.  

22.3  Subject to time constraints, questions which are submitted by 
the deadline will be answered at the meeting.  

22.4 Clear, concise and succinct written replies will be given to questions 
by the relevant Cabinet member or committee chair or their nominee, 
but shall not be the subject of any further debate. Where the reply 
cannot be given at the council meeting, a written answer will be 
provided to the questioner within five working days of the meeting. 

22.5  Any questions which cannot be dealt with during the time 
allocated for questions will be dealt with by a written response, sent 
to the questioner where possible within five working days of the 
meeting. A copy of the response will be provided to all Members. 

23. Supplementary questions 

23.1  For each question submitted, the questioner will be permitted to 
ask one supplementary question without notice which must be 
relevant to the original question or arise from the response given. 

23.2  The Chair may reject the supplementary question on the 
grounds listed in Rule 23.2 above (reasons for rejection). 

23.3  The person to whom the question has been put or another 
Member on their behalf, shall answer the supplementary question if 
they are able to do so at the time. If this is not possible, a written 
response will be provided to the questioner where possible within 
five working days of the meeting. 

24. Form of response 

24.1  A response may take the following forms: 

a. a direct oral answer; 
b. where the answer is contained within a publication of the Council or in any 

report or minutes by reference to those documents; 
c. a written reply. 

25. No debate on questions 

26.  Ordinarily, no debate shall be allowed on questions presented or responses 
given. In exceptional circumstances only, the Chair may allow discussion. No 

Page 49



30 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

decision can be made arising from a question other than to refer it to Full Council, 
Cabinet or a committee by way of a motion which shall be moved, seconded and 
voted on without discussion. 

27.  Opposition Priority Motion  

The Leader of the Opposition Political Group may move a single Priority 
Motion on notice (in accordance with Rule 28). Proposer (5 mins) Seconder 
(3 mins), Majority group response (5 mins).  Item will have a time limit of 15 
minutes.   

 

 

28. Questions relating to Portfolio Holder reports 

28.1 Cabinet Overviews will be circulated to all Members before the start 
of the meeting. 

28.2  A period of up to 45 minutes will be allowed at Council meetings 
during which Portfolio Holders will be able to give any update 
required on their report (with a time limit of 2 minutes) upon which 
Members will be able to ask the relevant portfolio holder questions 
without notice (with a time limit of 2 minutes per speaker). Each 
Portfolio Holder will have a single opportunity to reply to all 
questions.   

28.3  In order to keep to the 45-minute limit and/or maintain fairness 
between Members, the Chair may limit the number of questions (or 
further questions) to be asked, either in total or by any one Member. 

29. Notices of Motion 

Procedure 

29.1  Notice of every motion (other than a motion which may be 
moved without notice under Procedure Rule 15) shall be given in 
writing, signed by the Member(s) giving the notice, and delivered at 
least seven clear days before the next meeting of the Council, to the 
Monitoring Officer by whom it shall be dated, in the order in which it 
is received.  

29.2 Motions that have been received and not ruled Out of Order will be 
shared with the leader of each political group (and/or their nominee) 
prior to the publication of the summons, where possible. 

29.3 The number of opposition motions on notice at any one meeting shall 
not exceed five , including the Priority Motion except where they 
relate to a report on the agenda; the number of opposition motions 
will be proportionate to the number of members of the opposition 
groups.  The number of majority group motions on notice at any one 
meeting will be restricted to onemotions shall be taken in the order 
of receipt of notice; and the consideration of motions shall not take 
longer than 60 minutes in total.   

Page 50



31 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Scope 

29.4  Motions must be about matters for which the Council has direct 
responsibility or influence.  

29.5 Motions must be capable of being passed as a formal resolution. 
29.6  The Chair, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, 

may rule a motion Out of Order under Rule 6.3,  
29.7 A motion will not be accepted if it is substantially the same as a 

question which has been put or an address made by some other 
person at the same meeting of the Council or at another meeting of 
the Council in the preceding six months. 

Motions to be set out in summons 

29.8  The summons for every ordinary meeting of the Council will set 
out all motions of which notice has been duly given, unless the 
Member giving the notice has intimated in writing, when giving it, that 
they proposed to move it at some later meeting, or has since 
withdrawn it. The motions will be listed in the summons in the order 
in which they have been received. 

Withdrawal of Motion which is before the Council 

29.9  Where a notice of motion is before the Council having been 
formally moved and seconded and the mover wishes subsequently 
to withdraw it, they may do so with the consent of the seconder. 

Motions not moved 

29.10 If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a councillor 
who gave notice of it or by some other councillor on their behalf it 
shall, unless postponed by consent of the Council, be treated as 
withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh notice. 

Deferment of a Notice of Motion 

29.11 Where a notice of motion has been moved and seconded, and 
referred for advice, the consideration of the motion may be deferred 
where the mover and seconder signify in writing their agreement to 
the deferral and the Chair of the Council indicates, in writing, their 
agreement on behalf of the Council.  The matter would then come to 
a subsequent meeting of the Council for report and decision. 

30. Rules of Debate 

30.1  The rules of debate to be followed at Council meetings are set 
out below.  

Motions and Amendments 

Page 51



32 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

30.2  No motion or amendment shall be discussed unless it has been 
proposed and seconded. Where required by the Chair, motions or 
amendments shall be put in writing and handed to the Chair before 
they are further discussed or put to the meeting. At meetings other 
than those of the full Council, the Chair of that meeting may, at their 
discretion, allow a motion or amendment to be put which is not in 
writing, provided that the Chair has concluded that the wording of the 
motion or amendment is understood by all members of the body 
concerned.  This requirement does not apply to motions which do 
not require notice.   

Seconder’s Speech 

30.3  When seconding a motion or amendment, a councillor may 
advise the Chair that they will reserve their right to speak until a later 
period in the debate. 

Only one councillor to stand at a time 

30.4  When speaking at a Council meeting a councillor shall if possible 
stand and address the Chair. While a councillor is speaking the other 
councillors will remain seated, unless rising, if possible, on a point of 
order or in personal explanation. 

Content and length of speeches 

30.5  A councillor will confine their speech to the question under 
discussion, a personal explanation or a point of order. The speech 
of the mover of a motion shall not exceed five minutes and all other 
speeches shall not exceed three minutes. 

When a councillor may speak again 

30.6  At a Council meeting a councillor who has spoken on any motion 
shall not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, except: 

a. to speak once on an amendment moved by another councillor; 
b. if the motion has been amended since they last spoke, to move a further 

amendment; 
c. if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another councillor, 

to speak on the main issue, whether or not the amendment on which they 
spoke was carried; 

d. in exercise of a right of reply under these rules; 
e. on a point of order referring to a specific Procedure Rule (which must be 

cited on rising); 
f. by way of personal explanation; or 
g. to move one of the motions specified as being able to be moved without 

notice, when the procedure for moving a motion without notice must be 
followed. 

Page 52



33 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

30.7  At committees or sub-committees, councillors may, at the 
discretion of the Chair, speak more than once. 

Amendments 

30.8 An amendment to a motion must:  

a. be relevant to the motion;  
b. add and/or delete a word or words;  
c. not introduce a new topic;  
d. not negate the motion;  
e. be worded so that, if it is agreed by the council, it can be passed as a 

valid resolution. 

30.9 The Chair, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, may rule an 
amendment Out of Order under Rule 6.3. An amendment will not be accepted 
if it is substantially the same as a motion or amendment which has already 
been submitted to the same meeting of the Council. 

Notice of Amendments 

30.10 A councillor who wishes to propose an amendment to a report 
included with the summons or a motion submitted on the summons 
shall be required to submit the amendment in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer not less than 48 hours before the start of the 
meeting. Amendments to reports included within the summons of the 
meeting may be moved without notice. 

Number of Amendments 

30.11 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time. No 
further amendment shall be moved until the amendment under 
discussion has been disposed of. 

Status of Amendments 

30.12 If an amendment is lost, another amendment may be moved on the 
original motion. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended 
shall take the place of the original motion and shall become the 
motion upon which any further amendment may be moved. 

Alterations to Motions or Amendments 

30.13 A councillor may alter a motion or amendment of which they have 
given notice and may also, with the consent of the seconder, alter a 
motion or amendment which they have moved. In both cases, the 
consent of the meeting is required. There should be no discussion 
on whether consent should or should not be given. 

Withdrawal of Motion 

Page 53



34 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

30.14 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover provided 
the seconder and the meeting, without discussion, agree. Once the 
mover has asked for permission to withdraw, there should be no 
further discussion, unless the meeting refuses to agree to the 
request. 

Right of Reply 

30.15 The mover of the motion shall have a right to reply at the close of the 
debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. If an 
amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion shall have a 
right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment but shall 
not otherwise speak on it. The mover of the amendment shall have 
no right of reply to the debate on their amendment.   

Motions which may be moved during debate 

30.16 When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved 
except the following: 

a. To amend the motion (subject to Rule 30.8); 
b. To adjourn the meeting; 
c. To adjourn the debate; 
d. To proceed to the next business; 
e. To suspend Procedure Rules; 
f. To refer a matter to the Council, Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee 

for consideration or reconsideration; 
g. That the question be now put; 
h. That a councillor be not further heard; 
i. By the Chair under Procedure Rule 46 that a councillor do leave the 

meeting; 
j. A motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended) to exclude the public. 

Closure Motions 

30.17 A councillor may move, without comment, at the conclusion of a 
speech of another councillor, “That the Council proceed to the next 
business”, “That the question be now put”, “That the debate be now 
adjourned”, or “That the Council do now adjourn”. When one of these 
Motions has been seconded the Chair shall proceed as follows: 

a. On a motion to proceed to next business - unless in their opinion the 
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, they shall 
first give the mover of the original motion the right of reply, and then put 
to the vote the motion to proceed to next business; 

b. On a motion that the question be now put - unless in their opinion the 
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, they shall 
put to the vote the motion that the question be now put and, if it is passed, 

Page 54



35 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

give the mover of the original motion the right of reply before putting the 
motion to the vote; 

c. On a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting - if in their opinion the 
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed on that 
occasion they shall put the adjournment motion to the vote without giving 
the mover of the original motion the right of reply on that occasion. 

Points of Order 

30.18 A councillor may rise (or where necessary, instead raise their hand) 
on a point of order or in personal explanation and shall be entitled to 
be heard immediately. A point of order shall relate only to an alleged 
breach of a Procedure Rule or statutory provision and the councillor 
shall specify the Procedure Rule or statutory provision and the way 
in which they consider it has been breached. A personal explanation 
shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by them 
which may appear to have been misunderstood or misquoted in the 
current debate. 

Ruling of Chair on a Point of Order/Personal Explanation 

30.19 The ruling of the Chair of the meeting on a point of order or on the 
admissibility of a personal explanation shall not be open to 
discussion and shall be final. The Chair shall consult on any question 
of interpretation with the Monitoring Officer or their designated 
nominee prior to making a ruling. 

Respect for the Chair 

30.20 At the Council meeting whenever the Chair rises during a debate a 
councillor then standing shall sit down and the Council shall be silent. 

31. Rules of Debate at Budget meetings 

31.1 The following rules of debate apply to Budget meetings as defined 
in Rule 5 above. 

Order, Content and Length of Speeches 

31.2  At a budget meeting of the Council, the following rules shall 
apply to debate on the annual budget. 

31.3  The exact length of speeches for each proposer and 
management of the debate is at the discretion of the Chair and will 
be announced before the start of the meeting. 

a. The Chair will call the Executive Leader, or their nominee, to propose the 
Budget. The proposer will move the Budget. The seconder will have up to 
three minutes to second the Budget. 

b. Once the Budget has been seconded, the Chair will call the other group 
leaders, or their nominees, to speak. Each will be called in order of 

Page 55



36 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

precedence according to the number of councillors in each group. Where 
two groups have the same number of members, the Chair shall exercise 
their discretion. 

c. The Leader of the principal opposition group, or their nominee, may make 
a statement or propose an alternative budget or amendment. If an 
alternative budget or amendment has been proposed, the seconder will 
have up to three minutes to speak. 

d. The Leaders of each of the minor opposition groups, or their nominees, 
may make a statement or propose an alternative budget or amendment. If 
an alternative budget or amendment has been proposed, the seconder will 
have up to three minutes to speak. 

e. If an opposition group proposes an alternative budget or amendment, then 
after each amendment has been seconded it shall be debated. The normal 
rules of debate shall apply. The proposer of the amendment has a right of 
reply. The proposer of the Administration’s budget also has a right of reply 
prior to the vote. Each alternative budget or amendment will be debated 
and voted in the order they were proposed. Each vote must be a recorded 
vote. 

f. After each opposition group alternative budget or amendment has been 
voted on, the debate will return to the substantive motion - the 
Administration’s Budget - which may or may not have been amended. 

g. Prior to the debate on the substantive motion, the mover of the 
Administration’s budget shall be permitted to propose an amendment that 
is minor in nature. A minor amendment is an amendment with a financial 
impact equal to or below the key decision threshold. The normal rules of 
debate shall apply to the debate on a minor amendment. The normal 
deadlines for the submission of such an amendment shall not apply. The 
mover of the Administration’s budget has a right of reply prior to the vote. 
The vote must be a recorded vote. 

h. Once the vote has been taken on a minor amendment, or if no such 
amendment has been proposed, the debate on the substantive motion will 
take place. All members of the Council are allowed to contribute to the 
debate, except the mover or seconder of original motion (unless the 
seconder has reserved their right to speak). 

i. No further amendments are allowed at this stage by any of the members 
of the Council. 

j. After the debate on the substantive motion, the mover of the 
Administration’s budget has a right of reply (up to 5 minutes). A recorded 
vote must then be taken on the substantive budget (which may have been 
amended) and the debate is concluded. 

Alternative Budgets and Amendments to the Budget 

31.4 In order to be approved, all alternative Budget proposals that any 
political group or member wishes to be considered must be provided 
in final form, following prior consultation and written approval of the 
Chief Finance Officer, five clear working days in advance of the 
Budget meeting.  

31.5 Any submissions not received within five clear working days of the 
Budget council meeting will not be allowed.  

Page 56



37 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

31.6 Any submissions not prepared in a form acceptable to the Chief 
Finance Officer as being capable of being adopted by the council as 
a lawful budget will not be allowed. The text of all alternative 
budgets or proposed amendments to the Budget must also be 
submitted to the Monitoring Officer by 5pm, five clear working days 
before the meeting. The Monitoring Officer shall comply with the 
wishes of the Leader of the relevant political group in determining 
when to make the documents available to other councillors, the 
press and public, subject to this being no later than the start of the 
meeting at which the Budget is to be discussed. 

31.7  Alternative budgets or proposed amendments to the Budget will 
be considered in the order set out above. Only one alternative 
budget or proposed amendments to the Budget may be moved and 
discussed at any one time unless the Chair decides otherwise. 

31.8  No further amendment may be moved until the alternative 
budget or amendment to the Budget under discussion has been 
dealt with. 

31.9  If an alternative budget or proposed amendments to the Budget 
are carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 
motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments which have already been notified are moved. 

32. Rescission of earlier resolution 

32.1  At a meeting of the Council, no motion or amendment shall be 
moved to rescind any resolution of the Council which was passed 
within the preceding six months or which is to the same effect as one 
which has been rejected within that period. 

32.2  Such a motion may be moved if: 

a. it is recommended by the Cabinet or a committee; or 
b. notice of such motion has been given under Rule 29 and signed by at least 

one third of the total number of councillors (31) who include members from 
more than one political group. 

33. Voting 

33.1  Each Councillor has one vote. 
33.2  Voting will be by a show of hands or, where practical and the 

means are available to those present, by suitable electronic means. 
33.3  When a councillor asks for a recorded vote to be taken, and 10 

members of the Council (or one quarter of a committee) stand in their 
places to support the request, the vote will be recorded to show 
whether each Councillor voted for or against the motion or abstained.  
If necessary, a councillor may raise their hand instead of standing in 
order to indicate their support for a request for a recorded vote.   

33.4  A recorded vote will not be taken if the vote has already begun 
to be taken by a show of hands. 

33.5  A councillor may require, after a vote is completed, that the 
minutes of the meeting record how they voted or abstained. 

Page 57



38 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

33.6  A councillor may, immediately after the item of business is voted 
upon, request that a lost motion or amendment be recorded in the 
minutes. 

33.7  Where there are equal votes cast for a motion or amendment 
the Chair or the person presiding may exercise a second or casting 
vote. 

34. Offices and Appointments 

34.1  If on a vote no person receives more than half of the votes cast, 
the name of the person with the least number of votes will be 
withdrawn. Further votes will be held until one person receives a 
clear majority. 

35. Election of Chair of committees and sub-committees 

35.1  The Chair of every committee and sub-committee excluding the 
Cabinet will be elected at the annual meeting of the Council where 
possible.  

35.2  The councillor elected to each office must be a member of the 
relevant committee or sub-committee. 

35.3  Where a vacancy occurs in any office, an election will be held at 
the next ordinary meeting of the committee or sub-committee 
concerned. 

35.4  Unless the Council decides otherwise, the election will be 
conducted by a show of hands and may relate to a number of offices.  

36. Urgent business – Non-Executive Matters 

36.1  An item of urgent business which has to be decided before the 
next meeting of the Council and which does not fall within the 
Executive’s functions and responsibility can be determined by the 
Head of Paid Service, subject to the procedure set out below. 

36.2  Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, 
the Head of Paid Service may take the necessary action, provided 
that they have first consulted the relevant Chair (or Vice Chair if the 
Chair is not available). 

36.3  A copy of the consultation document shall be sent to the 
appropriate Cabinet Member, the Chair of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the group leaders and the councillors for the 
area concerned, if the matter particularly affects one or more 
electoral areas. 

36.4  Any such action shall be recorded in writing, consideration being 
given after consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer. 

36.5  The Monitoring Officer shall supply details of any decision or 
action taken by the Head of Paid Service under these provisions to 
the next meeting of the committee or sub-committee that would have 
taken the decision if it had not been urgent. 

36.6  A report of any action under this Procedure Rule shall be made 
available by electronic means to all councillors. 

Page 58



39 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

3.7 Committee and Sub-Committee Meeting Procedure Rules 

1. Programme of meetings 

1.1  Meetings of committees and sub-committees will be set out in the calendar of 
meetings approved by the Council under Rule 1.16 above. Alterations to the 
date, time and/or venue for meetings, as well as the inclusion of additional 
meetings, shall only be where it is impracticable to hold the meeting at the 
usual time and shall be matters for the Chair of each committee to determine 
as set out in Rule 1.2 below. 

1.2  When it is necessary to alter the date, time and/or venue of a meeting, or to 
arrange a special meeting, the Monitoring Officer will consult the Chair of the 
relevant committee or sub-committee before any action is taken. The Chair of 
the committee or sub-committee will then determine the matter. 

2. Chairing 

2.1  Where a Chair and Vice Chair are absent from a meeting of the relevant body, 
a Chair will be appointed from those members of the body present, provided 
the meeting is quorate and subject to any restrictions on the eligibility of 
Executive members for appointment. 

2.2 In committee or sub-committee meetings, whenever the Chair rises from their 
seat, the councillors should remain in their seats and the committee or sub-
committee shall be silent. 

3. Quorum at committees and sub-committees 

3.1  No item of business will be transacted at a meeting of a committee or sub-
committee unless there is at least one quarter of the members of the body 
present which will in each case be rounded up.  

3.2 Any variants to Rule 39.1 will be set out in the Committee or sub-committees 
terms of reference. 

3.3 In the case of the Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee and its sub-
committees these Rules are subject to and applied as stated in the Licensing 
Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

4. Minutes of committees and sub-committees 

4.1  The minutes of a committee or sub-committee must be confirmed at its next 
meeting. 

4.2  Only matters relating to the accuracy of the minutes can be raised. Where 
accuracy is questioned, this must be by a motion which is proposed, seconded 
and voted upon. 

4.3  Where no issues of accuracy are raised, or after any motion has been dealt 
with, the Chair shall sign the minutes. 

4.4  The minutes of any sub-committee must be submitted to the next suitable 
meeting of the parent committee by the sub-committee Chair. 

4.5  Members may ask a question or comment on any minute. The Chair of the 
sub-committee will then reply. There will be no debate on any question or 
comment raised under this procedure and no further motions can be moved. 

Page 59



40 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.6  Where a Member has a question or comment on an exempt, private or 
confidential Minute, the question or comment must be given in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer at least one hour before the start of the meeting. 

4.7  Any question about the accuracy of any minute of a body must be considered 
and determined by that body at its next suitable meeting. 

5. Requests by Members for items of business to be included on agendas of a 
committee or sub-committee 

5.1  This Rule sets out details of the process by which a councillor can ask for an 
item of business to be included on the agenda of a committee or sub-
committee meeting. 

5.2  This Rule does not apply to special meetings of committees and sub-
committees or to the Cabinet. 

5.3  A councillor may, by notice given to the Monitoring Officer no later than ten 
clear working days before the appropriate meeting, request that an item of 
business be included on the agenda of a committee or sub-committee. 

5.4  A councillor may not give notice of more than one item of business for any one 
meeting. The notice shall state the nature of the business and shall include 
the name of that councillor. A notice may be submitted electronically provided 
the notice has been originated by that councillor. 

5.5  This procedure shall not apply where the item of business, if agreed, would 
have the effect of rescinding or amending any resolution passed by a 
committee or sub-committee of the Council within the preceding 6 months. 

5.6  Items arising from such notices shall appear on the agenda after the ordinary 
public or private agenda items. 

5.7  A member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a statutory right to 
have an item, within the remit of that particular body, included on the agenda 
and discussed at the next meeting of that body. The restrictions in Rule 41.4 
above on the number of items shall not apply to items submitted under this 
paragraph. 

6. Committee and Sub-Committee Agendas - Urgent items of business 

6.1  Generally, business will only be transacted at meetings of committees and 
sub-committees which appears on the agenda and which has been available 
for public inspection at least five clear working days before the meeting or, 
where the meeting is convened at short notice, from the time the meeting is 
convened. 

6.2  The Chair of the committee or sub-committee may agree to deal with an item 
of business at the meeting if, in their opinion, the matter is urgent given the 
circumstances requiring a decision. The Chair’s ruling and the reasons for 
urgency will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

7. Attendance of councillors at committees and sub-committees of which they 
are not members 

7.1  Notwithstanding their rights as a member of the public, a councillor may attend 
any meeting of a committee or sub-committee to which they have not been 
appointed, for the purposes of performing their duties as a councillor, including 
when exempt or private and confidential business is transacted. 

Page 60



41 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

7.2  A councillor will be given, when they arrive at the meeting a copy of the agenda 
and relevant papers, subject to any restrictions imposed under the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

7.3  The councillor has no right to vote but may speak with the consent of the Chair 
of the meeting. 

8. Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees 

8.1  In applying these Rules to Overview and Scrutiny committees and sub-
committees, regard shall be had to the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules which are contained in Part 7 of this Constitution. 

3.8 General Provisions 

1. Records of attendance 

1.1  The Monitoring Officer will keep a record of Members attending any meeting 
of the Council, the Cabinet, and any committee or sub-committee. 

2. Disclosure of confidential/exempt matters 

2.1  No Councillor shall disclose to any person the whole or any part of the 
contents of any agenda or any matter arising during the proceedings, report 
or other document which is marked “confidential” or “not for publication” unless 
and until the document has been made available to the public or the press by 
or on behalf of the Council, the Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee.  

2.2 All councillors will familiarise themselves and not contravene the Access to 
Information Rules or the Members’ Code of Conduct set out within the 
Constitution.  

3. Substitute Members 

3.1 Political groups may nominate some or all their councillors to be substitutes 
for appointed members of committees, joint committees, sub-committees, 
working groups and panels (and the Monitoring Officer shall have authority to 
give effect to those nominations in accordance with this procedure rule), 
provided that in the case of the: 

(a) Regulatory committees and sub-committees, substitutes must have 
received suitable training 

(b) Scrutiny committees and Audit and Governance Committee, all 
councillors except Cabinet members are permitted to be substitutes 

3.2 Each political group shall notify the Monitoring Officer of its substitute 
members and, in respect of each substitute member, which committees, joint 
committees, sub-committees, working groups and panels they may serve on.  

3.3 Notice of substitution (or any cancellation) stating the name of the substitute 
must be given to Democratic Services before the commencement of the 
meeting concerned. Notification is for each meeting or until further notice. 

Page 61



42 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3.4 If the original appointed member arrives when the meeting is in progress, the 
substitution will remain effective and the original appointed member will not be 
allowed to participate in the decision making. It is not possible to substitute for 
part of a meeting only. 

3.5 The chair shall inform the meeting of any substitutions before the 
commencement of the meeting. 

3.6 Substitute members have all the powers and duties (including compliance with 
any mandatory training requirements) of any appointed member, but are not 
able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the appointed 
member. 

4. Disorderly conduct by Members 

4.1  If at a meeting any councillor, in the opinion of the person presiding, 
misconducts themselves in any way, the person presiding or any other 
councillor may move “That the councillor be not further heard”. The motion, if 
seconded, shall be put and determined without discussion. 

4.2  If the councillor continues the misconduct, the person presiding may either 
move “That the councillor do leave the meeting” (in which case the motion 
shall be put and determined without seconding or discussion); or adjourn the 
meeting. 

4.3  In the event of general disturbance at any meeting which, in the opinion of the 
person presiding, renders the due and orderly dispatch of business 
impossible, the person presiding will have the power to adjourn the meeting. 

5. Disturbance by members of the public 

5.1  If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the person 
presiding shall issue a warning to them. If they continue, the person presiding 
shall order their removal from the meeting.  

5.2 In cases of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the person presiding shall order that part to be cleared or if necessary 
adjourn the meeting.   

6. Variation and revocation of Procedure Rules 

6.1  Any motion to vary or revoke these Rules shall, when proposed and 
seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of 
the Council. 

7. Suspension of Procedure Rules 

7.1  These Procedure Rules may be suspended in respect of any business at a 
meeting of the Council, a committee or sub-committee where its suspension 
is moved except where this would be in contravention of statute. 

7.2  A motion to suspend Procedure Rules shall not be moved without notice 
unless there shall be present at least one-third of the Members of the Council 
or that committee or sub-committee respectively. 

8. Interpretation of Procedure Rules 

Page 62



43 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.1  The ruling of the person presiding as to the construction or application of any 
of these Procedure Rules, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not 
be challenged at any meeting. 

8.2  The person presiding, shall consult with the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee on any question of interpretation. 

9. Submission of Notices by Members – Electronic Means 

9.1  A councillor may communicate, by electronic means, any notice under any of 
the Council’s Procedural Rules to initiate any process or procedure provided 
it is clear that the notice has been originated by that Member.  

Page 63



44 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.0 COMMITTEES 
 

4.1 Committee Structure 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 64



45 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 65



46 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.2 Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee 

Members 15: Quorum 5. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

a. The Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee is responsible for determining 
licensing policy and applications across a wide range of local authority licensing 
functions in accordance with its role and functions set out below. 

b. Members shall not participate as members of the Alcohol and Gambling Licensing 
Committee or any of its sub-committees in relation to Licensing Act and Gambling 
Act matters until they have received appropriate training in respect of their 
functions on the committee or sub-committees. 

4.2.1 Role and Functions 

 To deal with all the licensing functions of the Council under the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 (except such functions as cannot be 
delegated).    

 For the avoidance of doubt, the Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee 
shall exercise an advisory role in relation to executive functions. 

 To approve licensing policy (except matters specifically reserved by statute 
to Council or the Cabinet). 

 The Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee has the power to appoint 
such sub-committees as may from time to time be necessary to discharge its 
duties.  

 sub-committees will have full delegated powers to determine contested 
applications and adjudicate over the review of licences.  

 Each sub-committee will comprise three Members drawn from the Alcohol 
and Gambling Licensing Committee. 

4.2.2 Sitting as a Sub-committee comprising 3 Members (drawn from the main 
Committee on an ad-hoc basis): 

 To hold hearings to determine licensing matters where such hearings are 
required by the Licensing Act 2003 (“the 2003 Act”) and associated 
regulations; 

 to determine applications for a provisional statement or the grant, variation, 
or transfer of a premises licence under the Gambling Act 2005 (“the 2005 
Act”) where a representation has been received or where the Executive 
Director of Place and Economy proposes that the power under Section 
169(1)(b) be exercised to exclude certain licence conditions; 

 to determine all matters in relation to the review of a premises licence under 
the 2005 Act; 

 to determine applications for club gaming and club machine permits under 
the 2005 Act where objections have been received and matters relating to 
the cancellation of club gaming and club machine permits or licensed 
premises gaming machine permits; and 

 to determine all matters relating to temporary or occasional use notices 
under the 2005 Act where objections have been received. 

Page 66



47 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.3 Taxi and General Licensing Committee 

Members 15: Quorum 5. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

a. The Taxi and General Licensing Committee is responsible for determining 
licensing policy and applications across a wide range of local authority 
licensing functions in accordance with its role and functions set out below. 

b. Members shall not participate as members of the Taxi and General Licensing 
Committee or any of its sub-committees until they have received appropriate 
training in respect of their functions on the Committee or sub-committees. 

4.3.1 Role and Functions 

a. To deal with all functions relating to licensing and registration as set out in 
Schedule 1 of the Functions Regulations. 

b. To deal with all functions relating to health and safety under any relevant 
statutory provision within the meaning of Part 1 of the Health and Safety at 
Work etc. Act 1974, to the extent that those functions are discharged 
otherwise than in the Council’s capacity as an employer.   

c. For the avoidance of doubt, the Taxi and General Licensing Committee shall 
exercise an advisory role in relation to executive functions, such as the fixing 
of fares for hackney carriages. 

d. To approve licensing policy (except matters specifically reserved by statute 
to Council or the Cabinet). 

e. The Taxi and General Licensing Committee has the power to appoint such 
sub-committees as may from time to time be necessary to discharge its 
duties.  

f. sub-committees will have full delegated powers to determine contested 
applications and adjudicate over the review of licences.  

g. Each sub-committee will comprise three Members drawn from the Taxi and 
General Licensing Committee. 

4.3.2 Sitting as a Sub-committee comprising 3 Members (drawn from the 
main Committee on a politically proportionate basis): 

a. To determine all matters relating to the grant, renewal or review of taxi 
licences (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicle driver and operator licences) where 
evidence exists as to whether the applicant is a fit and proper person and 
to suspend or revoke taxi licences in accordance with legislation; 

b. in cases where the Head of Service has on public safety grounds revoked 
with immediate effect a taxi licence, to determine an application for the 
grant of a new licence submitted by the driver/operator whose earlier 
licence was revoked; and 

c. to determine all matters relating to street trading consents where 
representation or objections have been received. 

Page 67



48 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.4 Strategic Planning Committee 

Members 13: Quorum 4. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

4.4.1 Members shall not participate as members of the Strategic Planning 
Committee until they have received appropriate training in respect of their functions on 
the committee 

4.4.2 Role and Functions 

a. Functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Part A of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities Functions and 
Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 including in relation to strategic 
applications meeting the thresholds set out in (i), (ii) and (iii) below 

i. Large-scale major developments defined (by the Government’s 
planning application statistical returns) as those of 200 houses (or 4 
hectares) or more; or 

ii. commercial developments of 10,000 square metres (or 2 hectares) or 
more; or 

iii. strategically important developments (as identified by the Assistant 
Director – Growth and Investment, following consultation with the Chair 
of the Local Planning Committee for the area in which the development 
is proposed). 

b. Applications called-in that cross the boundary of two local area committees. 
c. Any application where the Assistant Director – Growth and Investment considers 

it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having regard to the public 
representations received and consultee responses. 

d. There shall be no referral down of applications from Strategic Planning 
Committee to Local Area Planning committees. 

4.5 Local Area Planning Committees 

4.5.1 There are three Local Area Planning Committees in West Northamptonshire, 
which reflect the areas of the existing local plans for Daventry, South 
Northamptonshire and Northampton.  

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 11: Quorum 4. Not politically balanced. 

Daventry Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Not politically balanced. 

South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Not politically balanced. 

Page 68



49 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.5.2 The Local Area Planning Committees are not politically balanced as they fall 
within the political balance exemption for area committees; but should reflect the political 
make-up of the relevant area. The political make up of each area is determined by the 
wards which the committee serves. The members elected to those wards determine the 
political balance for the area and the committee. 

4.5.3 Members shall not participate as members of a Local Area Planning 
Committee until they have received appropriate training in respect of their functions on 
the committee. 

4.5.4 Functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Part A of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities Functions and Responsibilities 
(England) Regulations 2000 that do not fall within the responsibilities of the Strategic 
Planning Committee. 

4.5.5 To consider planning applications not within the remit of the Strategic Planning 
Committee and not delegated to officers except where the Assistant Director – Growth 
and Investment considers it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having 
considered public representations and consultee responses. These include: 

a. Major Developments below the limits set for the Strategic Planning 
Committee; 

b. Applications which do not meet the criteria for Major Development; 
c. Change of Use; 
d. Householder Developments; 
e. Consent to display advertisements under the Town and Country Planning 

(Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992 (as amended); 
f. Shop fronts; 
g. Listed Building Consents; 
h. Conservation Area Consents; 

4.5.6 There shall be no referral up of applications from the Local Area Planning 
committees to the Strategic Planning Committee 

4.5.7 The Assistant Director - Growth and Investment, after consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder, shall be responsible for determining whether an application 
falls within the remit of Strategic Planning Committee or the relevant Local Area Planning 
Committee. 

4.6 Democracy and Standards Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on political 
proportionality. 

4.6.1 The purpose of the Democracy and Standards Committee is: 

a. to have overall responsibility for the Council’s Constitution and decision making 
governance;  

b. to make necessary decisions in relation to Elections and to have responsibility for 
Community Governance and Boundary Reviews on behalf of the Council. 

Page 69



50 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

c. to oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct and the overall standards of 
conduct for Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and Town councillors 
of West Northamptonshire.   

The Committee will have the roles and functions set out below. 

4.6.2 In relation to the Democratic functions of the Committee 

a. Reviewing the Council’s Constitution and Decision Making Governance, i.e. the 
guidance and documents that support decision making, e.g. the Forward Plan 
guidance and the rules on officer records, and recommending any proposed 
changes to the Council; 

b. Conducting polling station reviews and other election functions which it is 
necessary for the Council to decide (but not the functions delegated directly by 
statute to the Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer); 

c. Preparing submissions on behalf of the Council to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England in relation to the governance of the area; 

d. Preparing submissions on behalf of the Council to the Parliamentary Boundary 
Commission for England.   

4.6.3 In relation to the Standards functions of the Committee 

a. Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils; 

b. Keeping the Member Code of Conduct and, where appropriate, the Planning 
Code of Conduct under review and make recommendations to Council on any 
amendment or revisions to the Codes; 

c. Advising, training or arranging training for Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council, Parish and Town Councils on matters relating to the Member Code of 
Conduct and the Planning Code of Conduct; 

d. Giving general guidance and advice to Members and Co-opted Members of the 
Council, Parish and Town Councils on Member’s interests and keeping under 
review the Registers of Members’ Interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer 
and the Register of Gifts and Hospitality; 

e. Granting dispensations to Members and co-opted Members from requirements 
relating to interests; 

f. Keeping the Council’s arrangements for dealing with standards complaints under 
review and making recommendations to Council on any amendment or revisions 
to the arrangements; 

g. Assessing and/or referring for investigation allegations of misconduct on the part 
of Members and co-opted Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils, if 
so requested by the Monitoring Officer; 

h. Determining allegations of misconduct on the part of Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils; 

i. To be a consultee in relation to the Council’s Officer Code of Conduct; 
j. Making recommendations to Council with regard to the appointment of 

Independent Persons; 
k. Overseeing the Council’s Protocol on Member/Officer Relations and making 

recommendations to Council on any amendment or revisions to the protocol; 

Page 70



51 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

l. Receiving an annual report from the Monitoring Officer detailing complaints 
received, complaints dealt with and resolutions achieved; 

m. Exercising all the Council’s functions, as specified in Regulation 2 of the Local 
Authority (Functions and Responsibility) (England) Regulations 2000 insofar as 
such functions are not the responsibility of the Cabinet, Council or any other 
committee of the Council. 

4.6.4 Hearings Sub-Committee 

3 Members (drawn from the Democracy and Standards Committee on a politically 
proportional basis). In addition, where the subject member is a parish/town councillor, 
another parish or town councillor who is not connected with the subject member will be 
co-opted as a non-voting member of the Sub-Committee. 

To determine, in accordance with the Council’s Arrangements for Dealing with 
Standards Complaints, complaints referred to the sub-committee following completion 
of an investigation into allegations of misconduct on the part of Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Council. 

4.7 Audit and Governance Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on political 
proportionality. 

Purpose: 

4.7.1 The purpose of the Audit and Governance Committee is to: 

a. Provide independent assurance as to the Council’s governance, risk 
management framework and associated control environment; 

b. Provide independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial 
performance and oversee the Council’s financial reporting process; 

c. Act as an advisory committee to the Council and the Cabinet on audit and 
governance issues. 

Terms of Reference: 

4.7.2 Audit: 

a. To consider the annual report of the internal audit service and to consider 
a summary of actual and proposed internal audit activity and the levels of 
assurance over the Council's corporate governance arrangements; 

b. To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
c. To consider and approve the Council's arrangements for the internal audit 

service;  
d. To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not 

implemented within a reasonable timescale;  
e. To consider any high priority recommendations contained in internal audit 

reports or 'limited assurance' audit reports;  

Page 71



52 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

f. To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the 
report to those charged with governance; 

g. To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor; 
h. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and ensure 

that it gives the Council good value for money; 
i. Through the Executive Director of Finance liaise with the Audit 

Commission over the appointment of the council’s external auditor; 
j. Through the Executive Director of Finance commission specific pieces of 

work from internal and external audit if there is a perceived need expressed 
by Committee members and sufficient funding available for such work.  

4.7.3 Corporate Governance: 

a. Maintain an overview of all aspects of the Council’s Constitution, including 
Finance Reservations in the Scheme of Delegation, contract procedure 
rules and financial regulations. Any proposed changes to the Constitution 
shall be referred to the Democracy & Standards Committee; 

b. Review any issue referred to it within these Terms of Reference by the 
Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer or any body of the Council; 

c. Monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 
corporate governance within the Council; 

d. Approve and monitor the Council’s ‘whistle-blowing’, anti-fraud and anti-
corruption policies; 

e. Review and make recommendations on the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement; 

f. Consider the Council’s corporate governance arrangements and make 
recommendations to ensure compliance best practice; 

g. Monitor the Council’s compliance with its own and other published 
standards and controls; 

h. Consider reports dealing with risk management across the organisation 
and those reports which identify key risks the Council faces, seeking 
assurance of appropriate management action; 

i. The Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee shall act as the Member 
Risk Champion; 

j. To have oversight the Council’s Performance Management Framework so 
far as it relates to the Corporate Governance Functions of the committee; 

k. Such other matters as required by law or guidance to be the proper remit 
of the Audit and Governance Committee; 

l. To receive annually statistical reports and details of complaints received 
and investigated through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 
which have resulted in payments or other benefits being provided by the 
Council in cases of maladministration; 

m. Receive on behalf of the Council reports issued by the Local Government 
Ombudsman into investigations that the Council’s actions have amounted 
to maladministration causing injustice. 

4.7.4 Financial Reporting: 

a. View the Council’s annual statement of accounts and specifically consider 
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed, and whether 

Page 72



53 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

there are any concerns arising from the financial statements, or the audit 
which should be brought to the attention of the Council; 

b. Consider reports of the external auditor to those in charge of governance 
on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 

4.8 Pensions Fund Committee 

1. The Pension Committee 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 
d. Membership breakdown 

2. The Investment Sub-Committee 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 
d. Membership breakdown 

3. The Joint Committee (of the ACCESS Asset Pool) 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 

4. The Local Pension Board 

 

1. The Pension Committee 

1.1 Role and Function 

To be responsible for the Council’s statutory function as administering authority under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations and associated legislation under Sections 
7, 12 and 24 of the Superannuation Act 1972. The Committee will be established under 
s.101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

The Pension Committee will be provided with full delegated powers to discharge the 
following functions on behalf of the Council to deal with all matters relating to the 
Northamptonshire Local Government Pension Scheme. 

1.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

Number of Members 13 

Chair and Vice Chair’s 
Term of Office 

Term of office will be one year. 

The appointment /removal of the Chair will be a function of 
the Council. The appointment of the Vice Chair shall be a 
function of the Pension Committee. 

Page 73



54 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.3 Terms of Reference 

a. To deal with all matters relating to the Northamptonshire Pension Fund Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 

b. Authority to set the Pension Fund’s objectives and determine and maintain 
appropriate strategies, policies and procedures with ongoing monitoring in the 
following areas: 

i. Funding Strategy – ongoing monitoring and management of the liabilities 
including ensuring appropriate funding plans are in place for all employers in 
the Fund. Overseeing the triennial valuation and interim valuations and 
working with the actuary in determining the appropriate level of employer 
contributions for each employer. 

ii. Investment Strategy – to determine the Fund’s investment objectives and to 
set and review the long term high level investment strategy to ensure these 
are aligned with the Fund’s specific liability profile and risk appetite  

iii. Administration Strategy – the administration of the Fund including collecting 
payments due, calculating and paying benefits, gathering from and providing 
information to scheme members and employers. 

iv. Communications Strategy – determining the methods of communications with 
the various stakeholders including scheme members and employers. 

v. Discretions – determining how the various administering authority discretions 
are operated for the Fund. 

vi. Risk Management Strategy – to include regular monitoring of the Fund’s key 
risks and agreeing how they are managed and/or mitigated. 

vii. Governance – other key governance documents concerning the management 
and administration of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund such as strategies, 
policies and procedures such as the Overpayments of Pension Policy and 
Reporting Breaches of the Law to the Pensions Regulator. 

c. Authority to approve and apply the policy on, and to take decisions relating to, 
employers joining and leaving the Fund and bulk transfers in and out of the Fund. 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Pension Committee will 
represent the Northamptonshire Pension Fund on the 
Joint Committee of the ACCESS pool. 

Substitute Members 
Permitted 

Designated substitutes only due to the skills and 
knowledge requirements 

Political balance rules 
apply 

Yes, within West Northamptonshire Council membership 

Restrictions on 
Membership 

None 

Quorum 5 

Number of ordinary 
meetings per Council 
year 

A minimum of 4  

Voting rights All representatives have equal voting rights 

Training requirements Members may not take part on the meetings of the 
Pension Committee unless they are committed to the skills 
and knowledge requirements set out by the Chair.  

Page 74



55 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

This includes which employers are entitled to join the Fund, any requirements relating 
to their entry, ongoing monitoring and the basis for leaving the Fund.  

d. Authority to consider and agree business plans at least annually and monitor 
progress against them.  

e. Authority to develop and maintain a skills and knowledge framework for all Pension 
Committee and Investment sub-committee members and for all officers of the Fund, 
including: 

i. Determining the Fund’s knowledge and skills framework; 
ii. Identifying training requirements; 
iii. Developing training plans; and 
iv. Monitoring attendance at training events. 

f. Authority to select, appoint, monitor and where necessary terminate advisers to the 
Fund not solely relating to investment matters. 

g. Authority to agree the Administering Authority responses to consultations on LGPS 
matters and other matters where they may impact on the Fund or its stakeholders. 

h. Authority to consider and determine where necessary, alternative investment 
strategies for participating employers. 

i. Authority to oversee the work of the Investment sub-committee and consider any 
matters put to them by the Investment sub-committee. 

j. Authority to set up sub-committees and task and finish groups including jointly with 
other LGPS Administering Authorities. 

k. Authority to review and amend the Strategic Investment policies on an appropriate 
regular basis, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer. 

l. Authority to manage any other strategic or key matters pertaining to the Fund not 
specifically listed above. 

m. Production of an annual report for consideration by the Council. 
n. Consider and review the financial accounts in advance of approval by the Audit 

Committee.  
o. In relation to pooled asset arrangements under the ACCESS Joint Committee: 

i. Providing a representative to sit on the Joint Committee to represent the 
interests of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund 

ii. Determining the requirements of the Administering Authority in relation to the 
provision of services by ACCESS to enable it to execute its investment 
strategy effectively. 

iii. Receiving and considering reports from the ACCESS Joint Committee in order 
to ensure that the Fund’s investor rights and views are represented 
appropriately. 

iv. Ensuring arrangements are in place to identify and manage the risks and costs 
associated with investment pooling. 

1.4 Membership breakdown of the Pension Committee 

Representing Number of 
Representatives 

Term of 
Office 

Method of Appointment 

West 
Northamptonshire 
Council (the 

7 4 years 
from 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

Page 75



56 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Representing Number of 
Representatives 

Term of 
Office 

Method of Appointment 

administering 
authority) 

Council 
election 

North 
Northamptonshire 
Council  

2 4 years Determined by North 
Northamptonshire Council 

All other employers 2 4 years Nominations to be determined by 
eligible employers. Details of the 
selection process to be 
determined by Chair. 

Active Scheme 
Members 

1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period of 6 
months or more, nominations will 
be requested from all eligible 
active members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Deferred and 
Pensioner Members 

1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period of 6 
months or more, nominations will 
be requested from all eligible 
active members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Total 13   

2. Investment Sub-Committee 

2.1 Role and Function 

The Investment sub-committee undertake the day to day management of the Fund’s 
investments through implementing the investment strategy, reviewing and monitoring the 
asset allocation and appointing and reviewing the performance of investment managers 
outside of the ACCESS asset pool. 

2.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

Number of Members 7 

Chair and Vice Chair’s Term of Office The Chair and Vice Chair of the Board 
shall also be the Chair and Vice Chair of 
the Investment sub-committee 

Substitute Members Permitted Designated substitutes only due to the 
skills and knowledge requirements 

Page 76



57 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Number of Members 7 

Political balance rules apply Yes, within West Northamptonshire  
membership 

Restrictions on Membership Representatives must be derived from the 
membership of the Pension Committee  

Quorum 4 

Number of ordinary meetings per Council 
year 

A minimum of 4  

Voting rights All representatives have equal voting rights 

Training requirements Members may not take part on the 
meetings of the Investment sub-committee 
unless they are committed to the skills and 
knowledge requirements set out by the 
Chair.  

2.3 Terms of Reference 

a. Authority to implement the Fund’s investment strategy including setting benchmarks 
and targets for the Fund’s investment managers and reviewing performance against 
those benchmarks. 

b. Authority to review and maintain the asset allocation of the Fund within parameters 
agreed with the Pension Committee. 

c. Authority to appoint and terminate investment managers to the Fund, including 
through divestment from holdings within the ACCESS asset pool, and to monitor the 
performance of investment managers leading to review and decisions on termination 
where necessary. 

d. Authority to appoint and monitor and where necessary terminate external advisors 
and service providers solely relating to investment matters, for example, the Fund 
Custodian, independent investment advisers, and investment consultants. 

e. Authority to monitor the risks inherent in the Fund’s investment strategy in relation to 
the Fund’s funding level. 

f. Authority to monitor and review: 

i. Legislative, financial and economic changes relating to investments and their 
potential impact on the Fund; 

ii. The investment management fees paid by the Fund and to implement any 
actions deemed necessary; 

iii. The transactions costs incurred by the Fund across its investment mandates 
and raise relevant issues and concerns with the investment providers as 
necessary; 

iv. The investment provider’s adoption of responsible investment considerations, 
including carbon benchmarking, corporate governance matters and a review 
of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code. 

g. Authority to receive reports from investment providers. 
h. Authority to undertake any task as delegated by the Pension Committee. 
i. Authority to refer any matter to the Pension Committee as they consider appropriate 

and to provide minutes and such other information as they may request from time to 
time. 

Page 77



58 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.4 Membership breakdown of the Investment sub-committee  

Representing Number of 
Representatives 

Term of 
Office 

Method of Appointment 

West 
Northamptonshire 
Council (the 
administering 
authority) 

4 4 years 
from 

Council 
election 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

North 
Northamptonshire 
Council 

1 4 years 
from 

Council 
election 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

All other employers 1 4 years Determined by non-West 
Northamptonshire Council 
employer representatives on the 
Committee. Details of process to 
be agreed by the Chair. 

Scheme Members 1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period of 6 
months or more, nominations will 
be requested from all eligible 
active members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Total 7   

3. The Joint Committee (of the ACCESS asset pool) 

3.1 Role and Function 

The Joint Committee is the formal decision making body within the ACCESS asset pool. 
The Joint Committee has been appointed by the 11 administering authorities under s102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, with delegated authority from the Full Council of each 
administering authority within the pool to be responsible for ongoing contract management 
and budget management in relation to the pooling of LGPS pension fund assets. The Joint 
Committee is supported by the officer Working Group and the ACCESS Support Unit. Each 
administering authority within the ACCESS asset pool has signed and is bound by the terms 
of an Inter-Authority Agreement.  

3.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

The Joint Committee consists of one elected councillor appointed by each Council. The 
member so appointed must, at the time of the appointment, be an elected councillor serving 
as a member of the Committee of a Council which discharges the duties the functions of 
that Council as Local Government Pension Scheme administering authority. 

Page 78



59 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Each Council may appoint a substitute. Any substitute must meet the eligibility requirements 
above. The substitute may attend any meeting of the Joint Committee or any of its sub-
committees in place of that authority’s principal member if notice that the substitute will 
attend is given to the Secretary of the Joint Committee by the Council concerned. 

The Joint Committee meet at least four times each year. 

The quorum of a meeting is at least 8 members who are entitled to attend and vote. 

Each elected Member has one vote. 

Kent County Council provides secretariat support to the Joint Committee and publishes 
electronic copies of agenda and unrestricted public items on their website.  

3.3 Terms of Reference (as detailed in the Inter-Authority Agreement). 

Part 1 – Operating the Pool and taking advice 

a. The Joint Committee (JC) shall consult with and consider the advice of the Section 
151 Officer Group (and, where requested, the Monitoring Officers and from 
appropriate professional advisers) in discharging its functions, recording, if 
appropriate, where such advice is not followed and the rationale for not doing so. It 
may decide to procure such professional advisers on such terms as it thinks fit. 
Accordingly, any procurement of advisers must comply with the constitution of the 
Council designated to undertake the procurement and that Council will enter into a 
contract with the appointed adviser on behalf of the Councils. 

b. The JC shall decide which functions shall be performed by the ACCESS Support Unit 
(ASU). 

c. The JC shall at all times have regards to the ACCESS Pool’s principles of governing 
and collaboration. 

Part 2 – Functions in relation to the Operator(s) 

a. Specifying Operator services – Deciding, in consultation with the Councils, the 
specification of Services and functions that each Operator will be required to deliver 
including the sub-funds and classes of investments required to enable each Council 
to execute its investment strategy. 

b. Procuring an Operator – Agreeing the method and process for the procurement and 
selection of one of more Operators. 

c. Appointing an Operator – Making a recommendation to the Councils as to the identity 
of each Operator and the terms upon which each Operator is to be appointed. 

d. Reviewing the Performance of an Operator – Keeping the performance of each 
Operator under review and making arrangements to ensure that the JC is provided 
with regular and sufficient reports from the ASU to enable it to do so including but not 
limited to: 

i. The performance of an Operator against its contractual requirements and any 
other performance measures such as the Service Level Agreement and Key 
Performance Indicators and officer recommendations on any remedial action;  

ii. Sub-fund investment performance; 

Page 79



60 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

iii. Investment and operational costs including the annual review of investment 
manager costs; 

iv. Performance against the strategic business plan agreed by the Councils. 

e. Managing the Operator(s) – the JC shall: 

i. Make recommendations to the Councils about the termination or extension of 
the Operator Agreement(s) 

ii. Make decisions about any other action to be taken to manage an Operator 
Agreement including the giving of any instruction or the making of any 
recommendation to the relevant Operator including but not restricted to 
recommendations on investment managers (with any regulatory constraints 
that may apply); and 

iii. Make recommendations to the Councils about appropriate arrangements to 
replace an Operator Agreement on its termination. 

Part 3 – Functions in relation to management of Pool Assets 

a. The joint committee shall make recommendations to the councils on the strategic 
plan for transition of assets that are to become Pool Assets. 

Part 4 – Functions Concerning Pool Aligned Assets 

a. The JC shall make recommendations to the Councils about Pool Aligned Assets in 
accordance with this Agreement or any other delegation to the JC by the Councils. 

b. Specifying services of Pool Aligned Assets Provider(s) – Deciding, in consultation 
with the Councils, the specification of Services which any Pool Aligned Assets 
Provider will be required to deliver including the sub-funds and classes of 
investments required to enable each Council to execute its investment strategy. 

c. Procuring a Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Agreeing the method of and process for 
the procurement and selection of one or more Pool Aligned Assets Providers. 

d. Appointing Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Making a recommendation to the Councils 
as to the identity of each Pool Aligned Assets Provider and the terms upon which 
each Pool Aligned Assets Provider is to be appointed.  

e. Reviewing the Performance of a Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Keeping the 
performance of each Pool Aligned Assets Provider under review and making 
arrangements to ensure that the JC is provided with regular and sufficient reports 
from the ASU to enable it do so including but not limited to: 

i. The performance of the Pool Aligned Assets Provider against its contractual 
requirements and any other performance measures such as any Service Level 
Agreement and Key Performance Indicators and office recommendations on 
any remedial action; 

ii. Investment performance of the Pool Aligned Assets Vehicle(s) or sub-funds, 
as appropriate; 

iii. Performance against the strategic business plan agreed by the Councils. 

Part 5 – Functions Concerning Business Planning and Budget 

Page 80



61 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. Having taken account of any advice from the Section 151 Officers Group (or, where 
relevant, recording the rationale for not following such advice), the JC shall: 

i. Make recommendations to the Councils about the annual strategic business 
plan for the Pool; 

ii. Determine the Budget necessary to implement that plan and meet the 
expenses of undertaking the Specified Functions (insofar as they will not be 
met by individual transaction costs paid by the Councils to the Operator) in 
accordance with Schedule 5 (Cost Sharing) of the Inter-Authority Agreement. 

iii. Keep the structure created by this agreement under review from time to time 
and make recommendations to the Councils about: 

 The future of the pool 
 Any changes in Inter-Authority Agreement 
 The respective merits of continuing to procure operator services by means 

of a third party or by creation of an operator owned by the Councils. 

Part 6 – Functions Concerning Communications 

a. The JC may agree a protocol for communications in respect of the Pool with third 
parties, including the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, other LGPS administering 
authorities, press and relevant Government departments. 

Part 7 – Review of this Agreement 

a. The JC is required to undertake a review of this agreement: 

i. To be completed 18 months before the expiry of each and every Operator 
Agreement, including as a result of the exercise of any option to terminate an 
Operator Agreement; 

ii. Whenever a Council gives notice of withdrawal under clause 12 (Withdrawal 
from Agreement) of the Inter-Authority Agreement; or 

iii. At such times as a Council may request under Clause 11 (Variation of 
Agreement) of the Inter-Authority Agreement. 

4. The Local Pension Board  

The administering authority (West Northamptonshire Council) as scheme manager under 
Section 4 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is required to establish a Local Pension 
Board in accordance with Section 5 of that Act and under Regulation 106 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended).  

The Board is independent of the Pension Committee and is not a committee constituted 
under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and therefore no general duties, 
responsibilities or powers assigned to this such committees, sub-committees or officers 
under the constitution, standing orders or scheme of delegation of the administering 
authority apply to the Board unless expressly stated.  

a. Role and Function  

Page 81



62 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The role of the Local Pension Board is to assist the administering authority (West 
Northamptonshire Council) in its role as scheme manager of the Northamptonshire Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This covers all aspects of governance and 
administration of the LGPS, including funding and investments. The Local Pension Board’s 
responsibilities are: 

 To assist the administering authority in securing compliance with: 

o the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013; 
o other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS; and  
o the requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the LGPS; and  

 To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS. 

b. Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

Representatives Number 
of seats 

Term of 
appointment 

Method of appointment 

Scheme 
Employers 

3 4 years One councillor representative determined 
by West Northamptonshire Council. 

One councillor representative determined 
by North Northamptonshire Council. 

One representative of any other Scheme 
Employer that participates in the 
Northamptonshire Pension Fund 
appointed via an open selection process.   

Scheme 
Members 

3 4 years Three representatives appointed via an 
open selection process. Any trade union 
members so appointed will represent 
Scheme Members. 

All Local Pension Board members shall have the right to vote in meetings. 

The Local Pension Board shall meet a minimum of four times a year. The date, hour and 
place of meetings shall be fixed by the Board. The Chair may call additional meetings if 
necessary. Quorum shall be four Local Pension Board members, provided that the employer 
and member sides are both represented.  

No business requiring a formal resolution shall be transacted at any meeting of the Local 
Pension Board unless the meeting is quorate. If it arises during the course of a meeting that 
a quorum is no longer present, the Chair shall either suspend business until a quorum is re-
established or declare the meeting at an end and arrange for the completion of the agenda 
at the next meeting or at a special meeting. Only previously designated substitutes are 
permitted to attend due to the skills and knowledge requirements of Local Pension Board 
representatives. 

Page 82



63 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Local Pension Board shall be elected by the Board at its 
annual meeting. The normal term of office for the Chair and Vice Chair of the Local Pension 
Board shall be one year, subject to earlier removal by vote of the Local Pension Board.  

Members may not be permitted to take part in meetings of the Local Pension Board unless 
they have complied with the training requirements as set out in the Public Services Pensions 
Act and in the CIPFA Skills and Knowledge requirements for Local Pension Board 
representatives. 

c. Terms of Reference 

The first core function of the Board is to assist the administering authority in securing 
compliance with the Regulations, any other legislation relating to the governance and 
administration of the Scheme, and requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in 
relation to the Scheme. Within this extent of this core function the Board may determine the 
areas it wishes to consider including but not restricted to: 

 Review regular compliance monitoring reports which shall include reports to and 
decisions made under the Regulations by the Committee. 

 Review management, administrative and governance processes and procedures in 
order to ensure they remain compliant with the Regulations, relevant legislation and in 
particular the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice. 

 Review the compliance of scheme employers with their duties under the Regulations 
and relevant legislation. 

 Assist with the development of and continually review such documentation as is required 
by the Regulations including the Governance Compliance Statement, Funding Strategy 
Statement and Investment Strategy Statement. 

 Assist with the development of and continually review scheme member and employer 
communications as required by the Regulations and relevant legislation. 

 Monitor complaints and performance on the administration and governance of the 
scheme. 

 Review the implementation of revised policies and procedures following changes to the 
Scheme. 

 Review the outcome of internal and external audit reports. 

 Review draft accounts and Fund annual report. 

 Review the compliance of particular cases, projects or process on request of the 
Committee. 

 Any other area within the statement of purpose (i.e. assisting the Administering 
Authority) the Board deems appropriate. 

The second core function of the Board is to ensure the effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Scheme. Within this extent of this core function the Board may 
determine the areas it wishes to consider including but not restricted to: 

 Assist with the development of improved customer services. 

 Monitor performance of administration governance and investments against key 
performance targets and indicators. 

 Monitor internal and external audit reports. 

 Review the risk register as it relates to the scheme manager function of the authority. 

Page 83



64 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 Assist with the development of improved management, administration and governance 
structures and policies. 

 Review the outcome of actuarial reporting and valuations. 

 Assist in the development and monitoring of process improvements on request of 
Committee. 

 Any other area to ensuring effective and efficient governance of the scheme the Board 
deems appropriate. 

 

4.9 Health and Wellbeing Board 

Terms of Reference 

4.9.1 Accountability 

4.9.1.1 The West Northamptonshire Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee 
of West Northamptonshire Council which: 

a. Is established in accordance with section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. 

b. Is treated as a committee of the Council under section 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

c. Will be subject to any amendment or replacement of regulation or guidance 
applicable to any legislation relevant to the functions, powers and duties of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards. 

4.9.2 Role 

4.9.2.1 The Board is a forum that enables leaders from across West Northamptonshire 
to secure better health and wellbeing outcomes for the local population, better 
quality of care for all patients and care users, better value for the taxpayer and 
reduce health inequalities by shaping the future of services through a more 
integrated approach to commissioning health and wellbeing related services. 

4.9.2.2 The Board aims to achieve this by: 

a. Providing a strategic lead for the local health and care system, and improving the 
commissioning of services across the NHS, local government and its partners. 

b. Initiating and encouraging the integrated delivery of health, social care and other 
services with health and wellbeing related responsibilities (such as housing, leisure, 
planning community activity). 

c. Holding the Integrated Care System to account through monitoring and assurance. 
d. Providing a forum to increase democratic legitimacy in health, along with public and 

joint accountability of NHS, public health, social care for adults and children, and 
other commissioned services that the Board agrees are directly linked to health and 
wellbeing.   

4.9.3 Responsibilities/duties 

Page 84



65 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.9.3.1 The statutory duties of the Board are: 

a. The preparation of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) which assess the 
current and future health and social care needs of the local population. 

b. The preparation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy (HWS). 
c. To encourage the integration of health and social care services, in particular 

providing appropriate advice, assistance or support for the purposes of integration of 
services under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

d. To encourage close working between commissioners of health-related services 
(such as housing and many other local government services) and commissioners of 
health and social care services. 

e. Overseeing the publication of the Directors of Public Health Annual Report. 
f. To endorse and oversee the successful implementation of local arrangements for the 

Better Care Fund (BCF), Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) and Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG). 

g. To review NHS Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Group and West 
Northamptonshire Council local commissioning plans to ensure they take due regard 
of the JHWS and the JSNA, writing formally to the local authority leadership or NHS 
England as appropriate, if in its opinion the plans do not. 

h. To advise the Care Quality Commission, NHS England, Trust Development Authority 
or NHS Improvement (as appropriate), where the Board has concerns about 
standards of service delivery or financial probity. 

i. Publication of a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.  
j. To undertake any additional responsibilities as delegated by the West 

Northamptonshire Council. 

4.9.4 Authority 

4.9.4.1 The Board may seek any information it requires from any employee of a 
constituent member organisation via a Member and all constituent members and 
Members are directed to co-operate with any reasonable request made by the 
Board. 

4.9.4.2 The Board may obtain independent professional advice and to secure the 
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this 
necessary. The costs, if any, of obtaining such third party advice shall be shared 
among the constituent organisations as agreed between them. 

4.9.4.3 The Board shall receive written and oral evidence from senior staff, and other 
partners, as appropriate. 

4.9.4.4 The Board shall seek to ensure there is an acceptable balance between the value 
of the information it receives and the time and other costs it takes to acquire and 
process it. 

4.9.5 Appointments 

4.9.5.1 The Chair of the Board will be recommended by the Leader of West 
Northamptonshire Council. The Chair can be an independent co-opted member. 
Vice Chairs will be appointed by the Board. 

4.9.5.2 The Chair and Vice Chairs’ term of office shall last for a maximum of two years, 
where they will be appointed or replaced as approved by Full Council. 

4.9.6 Membership 

Page 85



66 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.9.6.1 The following are statutory members of the Board as stipulated in section 194 of 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012: 

a. At least one elected member of the local authority nominated by the Leader 
of the local authority. 

b. The director of adult social services for the local authority. 
c. The director of children’s services for the local authority. 
d. The director of public health for the local authority. 
e. A representative of the Local Healthwatch organisation for the local authority. 
f. A representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group (a person may, 

with the agreement of the Health and Wellbeing Board, represent more than 
one clinical commissioning group on the Board). 

4.9.6.2 The Board may appoint additional persons to become members of the Board as 
it thinks appropriate. 

4.9.6.3 West Northamptonshire Council must consult the Board before appointing a non-
statutory member to the Board. 

4.9.6.4 Members of the Board shall each name a deputy who will have the authority to 
make decisions in the event that they are unable to attend a meeting. 

4.9.6.5 In the absence of the Chair then one of the Vice Chairs shall preside. If all are 
absent the Board shall appoint, from amongst its members, an Acting Chair for 
the meeting in question. 

4.9.6.6 Individuals may be listed under membership of the Board as Special Advisors by 
invitation for specific issues and expertise.  

4.9.7 Code of Conduct 

4.9.7.1 All members of the Board are covered by West Northamptonshire Council’s Code 
of Conduct and must adhere to that Code of Conduct when acting in the capacity 
of a Board member.  

4.9.7.2 Where any Board member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other 
Registerable Interest, which will require them to leave the meeting for the duration 
of discussion on that item, they must make this known at the commencement of 
the meeting. They may remain and address the board on the relevant matter but 
must leave the room prior to any debate, voting or decision-making process. 

4.9.8 Quorum 

4.9.8.1 A quorum for any meeting shall be one-quarter of the members of the Board 
including at least one elected Member, one officer and one representative from a 
Clinical Commissioning Group. No business requiring a decision shall take place 
where the meeting is not quorate, if this arises during a meeting the Chair must 
either suspend business until the meeting is again quorate or declare the meeting 
closed. 

4.9.9 Voting Arrangements 

4.9.9.1 Unless the Council decides otherwise, all full members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board have voting rights; only full Board members (or nominated 
deputies in their absence) shall sit at the Board room table, or join virtually so that 
the right to vote is obvious. 

Page 86



67 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.9.9.2 Decisions shall be made on the basis of a show of hands of a majority of voting 
members present. The Chair may exercise a second or casting vote. 

4.9.10 Meeting Frequency 

4.9.10.1 The Board shall meet on a quarterly basis. The date, hour and place of meetings 
shall be fixed by the Board. 

4.9.10.2 The Chair may convene an extraordinary meeting at short notice to consider 
matters of urgency. The notice must state the business to be transacted and no 
other business is to be transacted at the meeting.   

4.9.10.3 The Chair will be required to consider convening a special meeting of the Board 
if they are in receipt of a written requisition to do so signed by no less than three 
of the constituent members of the Board. Such requisition shall specify the 
business to be transacted and no other business shall be transacted as such 
meeting. The meeting, if convened by the Chair, must be held within seven days 
of the Chair’s receipt of the requisition. 

4.9.10.4 The Chair of the Board, or majority of those present at a Board meeting, may 
adjourn meetings of the Board at any time, to be reconvened at any other day, 
hour and place, as the Board decides. 

4.9.11 Sub-Groups 

4.9.11.1 The Board can establish sub-groups based on the Board’s priority areas which 
will be reviewed on an annual basis. The sub-groups will be informal officer 
groups, ensuring that the views of patients and service users are included. The 
sub-groups should provide an overview of work undertaken and any issues 
arising for discussion at Health and Wellbeing Board meetings to be considered 
by members. 

4.9.12 Visitors and Speakers 

4.9.12.1 As the Board is a public meeting, observers may attend and will be seated in a 
viewing area or observe via YouTube if the meetings are held virtually. 

4.9.12.2 Presenters who are not full Board Members may attend the meeting and should 
sit in the viewing area. They will be invited to address the floor by the Chair when 
their agenda item arrives. 

4.9.12.3 The public who wish to address the Board on matters listed on the agenda for a 
specific meeting may do so for a period of not exceeding 3 minutes at the 
commencement of that meeting, only with the agreement of the Chair, and 
provided they have given 48 hours’ written notice of the matter to be raised to the 
Chair and Board secretariat. 

4.9.13 Meeting Administration 

4.9.13.1 The Board secretariat shall give at least five clear working days’ notice in writing 
to each member for every ordinary meeting of the Board, to include any agenda 
of the business to be transacted at the meeting.  

4.9.13.2 Papers for each Board meeting will be sent out five clear working days in 
advance. Late papers will be sent out or tabled only in exceptional circumstances, 
and not without the prior consent of the Chair.  

Page 87



68 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4.9.13.3 The Board shall hold meetings, or parts of meetings, in private session when 
deemed appropriate in view of the nature of business to be discussed.  The Board 
must first pass a resolution for the exclusion of press and public. The following 
must be stated at this time: 

“In respect of the following items the Chair moves the resolution set out below, on 
the grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that exempt information 
(information regarded as private for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972) 
would be disclosed to them: The Committee is requested to resolve: That under 
Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that if the public were 
present it would be likely that exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Act of the descriptions against each item would be disclosed to them”. 

 

4.10 Senior Appointments Committee 

4.10.1 Membership 

4.10.1.1 Leader, Deputy Leader, Relevant Portfolio Holder, Leader of the Opposition, and 
three other councillors. The Committee is required to be politically balanced. 

4.10.2 Terms of Reference of the Senior Appointments Committee 

4.10.2.1 To recommend to the Council the appointment of the Chief Executive and where 
appropriate the dismissal of the Chief Executive in accordance with the Staff 
Employment Procedure Rules. 

4.10.2.2 To make appointments or dismissals as appropriate of the following roles: 

 Executive Director Finance 

 Director of Legal and Democratic (Monitoring Officer) 

 Director of Children’s Services 

 Director of Transformation 

 Executive Director Adults, Communities and Wellbeing  

 Executive Director Place and Economy 

 Executive Director Corporate Services 

 Assistant Chief Executive 

 Director of Public Health 

4.10.2.3 To undertake associated activities including the interview and dismissal 
processes generally for the roles outlined.  

  

Page 88



69 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.0 EXECUTIVE 

5.1 The Role of the Cabinet 

a. The Functions of a local authority are divided into two broad categories: Executive 
and non-Executive. The Council and its committees decide non-Executive 
matters and these are described in Parts 3 and 4 of the Constitution. All other 
decisions are made by the Executive.  

b. West Northamptonshire Council is operating a Leader and Cabinet model form of 
Executive Arrangements. This means that the Council will elect a Leader from 
among the members of the Council. The Executive will consist of the Leader and 
at least 2 other members and not more than 9 other members, one of whom must 
be appointed Deputy Leader.  

c. The function of determining Executive Portfolios sits with the Executive Leader 
and can be varied at the discretion of the Leader.   

d. The Chair and Vice Chair of the Council may not be members of the Executive. 
Further details are set out in the Cabinet Procedure Rules below.   

5.2 Cabinet Arrangements 

Cabinet Decisions 

5.2.1 The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are determined by the 
Leader. The Leader may provide for executive functions to be discharged by: 

a. the Leader; 
b. the Cabinet as a whole; 
c. a committee of the Cabinet; 
d. an individual member of the Cabinet; 
e. an officer; 
f. an Area committee; 
g. Joint Arrangements including the Community Networks; or 
h. another Local Authority. 

Delegation by the Leader 

5.2.2 At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader shall present to the Council their 
proposals for Cabinet delegations, to the extent that they have been formulated at 
that time. The Leader shall provide to the Monitoring Officer within ten working days 
of the Annual Meeting a written record of Cabinet delegations made by them for 
publication, together with notice of the Portfolios to be established. In discharging 
these responsibilities, the Leader shall have regard to the recommendations of the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive as to the scope and formation of the 
Portfolios. 

5.2.3 Any subsequent ‘in year’ amendments shall, as they occur, be notified by the Leader 
in writing within one working day to the Monitoring Officer who shall notify all 
Members in writing of the amendment and maintain a record of them. 

 

Page 89



70 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.2.4 The document presented by the Leader shall contain the following information about 
executive functions in relation to the coming year: 

a. the names, addresses and electoral divisions of the councillors appointed to the 
Cabinet by the Leader; 

b. the nature of the responsibilities attached to the Portfolios allocated to those 
appointed to the Cabinet; 

c. the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members individually, including 
details of the limitation(s) on their authority; 

d. the terms of reference and Constitution of such Cabinet committees as the Leader 
appoints and the names of Cabinet Members appointed to them; 

e. the nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to Area 
committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements and the names of those 
Cabinet Members appointed to any joint committee for the coming year; and 

f. the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of any limitation on 
that delegation, and the title of the officer to whom the delegation is made. This 
may simply be the endorsement of the Scheme of Delegation approved by 
Council. 

Cabinet Portfolios 

5.2.5 Cabinet portfolios showing details of portfolio holders and their ke areas of 
responsibility can be found on the Council’s website (Document West 
Northamptonshire Council Executive Portfolios - 2021 - West Northamptonshire 
Council (moderngov.co.uk) or by contacting Democratic Services. 

Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 

5.2.6 Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of the 
Cabinet is responsible for an executive function, they may delegate further to an area 
committee, joint arrangements or an officer. 

5.2.7 Unless the Leader directs otherwise, functions delegated to the Cabinet may be 
delegated further to a committee of the Cabinet or to an officer. 

5.2.8 Unless the Leader directs otherwise, functions delegated to a committee of the 
Cabinet may be delegated further to an officer. 

5.2.9 The delegation of Cabinet functions does not prevent the discharge of those 
functions by the person or body who made the delegation or a person or body with a 
higher right of delegation. 

The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive Functions 

5.2.10 Subject to paragraph 1.10 below, the Council’s Scheme of Delegation shall be 
subject to adoption by the Council and may only be amended by the Council, save 
for delegations relating to executive functions which may be varied by the Leader or 
in accordance with the authority delegated to the Monitoring Officer. It shall comprise 
the details required in Part 9.2 of the Constitution, the Scheme of Delegation to 

Page 90

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056


71 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

officers in this Constitution and such further delegations as are made in accordance 
with this Constitution or other powers available to the Council. 

5.2.11 If the Leader decides to delegate executive functions they may amend the Scheme 
of Delegation relating to executive functions accordingly at any time during the year.  
To do so, the Leader must give written notice to the Monitoring Officer and to the 
person, body or committee concerned. The notice must set out the extent of the 
amendment to the Scheme of Delegation and whether it entails the withdrawal of 
delegation from any person, body, committee or the Cabinet as a whole. The Leader 
shall confirm, through their announcements any changes at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council. 

5.2.12 Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a sub-committee, notice shall 
be deemed to be served on that committee when served on its Chair. 

Planning Policy Committee 

Purpose 

5.2.13 The purpose of the Committee is to exercise the Council’s executive functions in 
relation to the preparation and, where applicable, approval of planning policy and 
neighbourhood planning documents. 

Membership 

5.2.14 The members of the Committee represent as far as possible the political balance of 
the Council as a whole but this is not a counting committee for the purposes of 
establishing political balance. 

5.2.15 Membership shall consist of: 

(a) 5 Executive Members 
(b) 5 Non-Executive Members (2 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat, 2 Conservative) 

5.216 As this is an Executive committee only the Executive members have a vote, but the 
aim of the committee is to try to establish broad consensus about the development 
of planning policy. 

Terms of Reference 

5.2.17 The exercise of the Council’s functions, powers and duties (where not otherwise 
delegated to officers) in relation to the following: 

(a) To oversee the preparation of the West Northamptonshire Local Plan to ensure 
that it meets the ‘tests of soundness’ set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

(b) To consider and recommend the content of the Local Plan for consideration and 
formal approval by full Council for either public consultation (preferred options or 
pre-submission versions), submissions to the Secretary of State (to be examined 
by a Planning Inspector), or final adoption (following receipt of the Planning 
Inspector’s report). 

Page 91



72 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

(c) To prepare Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and other planning 
documents for public consultation and, where applicable, approve those 
documents for final adoption. 

(d) To approve the preparation, commissioning and subsequent publication of 
studies, surveys and other technical documents that form part of the evidence 
base needed to justify the content of the Local Plan, SPDs and other planning 
documents. 

(e) Approve the work programme required for the committee to undertake its 
functions effectively and in a timely manner. 

(f) Approve non-statutory planning policy and guidance to be considered by the 
Council, the Planning Committees, this committee and officers in the discharge 
of statutory planning functions, including avoiding detriment to local 
neighbourhoods (as long as they are not contrary to the National Planning Policy 
Framework). 

(g) To carry out the Executive functions of the Council in relation to the approval of 
planning documents and recommendation of planning documents by the 
Executive to Council. Matters reserved to full Council or Non-Executive approvals 
fall outside the remit of this committee. 

(h) To carry out the Executive functions of the Council in relation to Neighbourhood 
Planning in particular to  
i. taking decisions at key stages in the neighbourhood planning process 

within the time limits that apply; 
ii. providing advice or assistance to a parish council, neighbourhood forum or 

community organisation that is producing a neighbourhood plan or Order 
as required by paragraph 3 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Meeting Times 

5.2.18 The Committee will meet at 6pm 12 times per year. 

5.2.19 Items for Planning Policy Committee will appear on the Forward Plan and 
arrangements for the committee will comply with the Executive Procedure Rules set 
out in the Constitution. 

 

5.3 Cabinet Procedure Rules 

1 Meetings of the Cabinet 

1.1 The Cabinet will meet as indicated in the Council’s programme of meetings. The 
Cabinet or the Leader may agree to change the date or time of any programmed 
meeting subject to compliance with the requirements of Part 5.4 (Access to 
Information Procedure Rules) of this Constitution, to cancel a meeting where there is 
insufficient business to be transacted and/or to arrange additional meetings as it/they 
see fit. Locations of meetings will be published in the calendar of meetings. 

1.2 The Cabinet may meet in public or in private, subject to legal requirements and the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution. 

Page 92



73 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.3 The Leader will chair meetings of the Cabinet or in their absence, the Deputy Leader 
will chair. Where both the Leader and Deputy Leader are absent, the Members 
present, may appoint one member of the Cabinet to chair that meeting. 

1.4 All members of the Cabinet shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Cabinet.  

1.5 Attendance by other Members of the Council or the public shall be in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, by invitation under Rule 1.6 below, 
or as set out in Rules 4.1 to 4.2 below. 

1.6 The Cabinet may invite any person it considers appropriate, to its meetings to discuss 
matters of mutual interest or concern, or to advise.  Such persons may only be given 
access to confidential and/or exempt information on terms to be decided by the 
Monitoring Officer so as to ensure that the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
are observed. 

2 Quorum at meetings of the Cabinet  

2.1 No business shall be transacted where at any time during the meeting of the Cabinet, 
or a committee or sub-committee established by the Cabinet, there are fewer than 
one third of members of the Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet 
present.  

3 Taking of decisions by the Cabinet 

3.1 Cabinet decisions, including those taken under delegated powers, shall not take 
effect until they have been recorded in writing, as required under the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules, and shall not be implemented where the right of call-in 
has been exercised until the call-in process has been concluded. Records of Cabinet 
decisions must be confirmed at the next meeting. 

4 Members attending and speaking at Cabinet meetings 

4.1 The Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny committees shall be entitled to attend any 
formal public meeting of the Cabinet and to speak to any matter on the agenda for 
that meeting. 

4.2 Other Members of the Council may also speak at such meetings, subject to the rights 
of the Leader (or person presiding in their absence) to ensure that the business of 
the Cabinet is discharged efficiently and effectively. Those members shall be 
required to provide no less than 30 minutes’ prior notice of their wish to attend and 
speak.  

5 Business at Cabinet meetings 

5.1 The business to be transacted at meetings of the Cabinet will be set out in an agenda 
for the meeting in question, subject to any requirements or exemptions under the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

5.2 The agenda may be supported by additional papers prepared by officers or by or on 
behalf of other bodies, subject to requirements in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules and disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

Page 93



74 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.3 The Cabinet is obliged to consider matters referred to it by an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or by the Full Council. A standing item shall be placed on agendas of 
public meetings of the Cabinet for this purpose. 

5.4 The Access to Information Procedure Rules will apply to notice of meetings, agendas, 
and access to reports and background papers. Where matters are for decision, the 
agenda must stipulate those that are Key Decisions and those that are not, in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

5.5 The Cabinet will, at each formal meeting, confirm the record of decisions taken at its 
previous meeting as a correct record. 

5.6 The Monitoring Officer or their nominee shall be responsible for preparing and 
distributing the agenda for Cabinet meetings, attending meetings for the purpose of 
advising the Cabinet on matters relating to the application and interpretation of the 
constitution, and recording decisions as required under this Constitution.    

5.7 In taking decisions, the Cabinet must satisfy itself that it has before it adequate and 
appropriate advice from its service, legal and financial advisers who shall be present 
at any meeting where a decision is being taken and that advice is taken into 
consideration in determining the matter. Where there is any doubt about vires or 
probity then advice must be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer. 

5.8 Any member of the Cabinet may require the Monitoring Officer to place an item on 
the agenda for a stipulated meeting of the Cabinet. 

5.9 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any matters referred to the Cabinet by the 
Council or an Overview and Scrutiny committee are placed on the agenda for the 
next appropriate meeting of the Cabinet. 

5.10 Any Councillor may request the Leader to place an item on the agenda of a meeting 
of the Cabinet. The Leader shall have sole discretion as to whether or not to accede 
to such a request but shall consult the Monitoring Officer prior to making a decision. 
If such a request is granted, the Leader shall have sole discretion as to whether the 
councillor in question can speak to the item at the meeting in question. 

5.11 The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Section 151 Officer can 
include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. In pursuance 
of their statutory duties they can require that a special meeting of the Cabinet be 
convened. 

5.12 Business cannot be conducted at formal meetings of the Cabinet unless it is included 
on the agenda for the meeting. Where it is urgent, the requirements of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

5.13 The Cabinet will report to the Council as required under the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules on any matter which is classified as a Key Decision and is dealt 
with under special urgency procedures. 

5.14 Questions can be submitted by members of the public at meetings of the Cabinet in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 19. 

Page 94



75 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6 Voting at Cabinet meetings 

6.1 Voting at Cabinet meetings will be by a show of hands and any Member may require, 
immediately after the vote is taken, that the minutes of the meeting record how they 
voted or abstained. Where there are equal votes cast, the Leader or, in their absence, 
the person chairing may exercise a second or casting vote.  

6.2 Voting for any office or appointment, including any paid appointment, where more 
than one person is nominated shall be in accordance with Council Meeting Procedure 
Rule 34. 

7 Cabinet – committees and sub-committees 

7.1 The Cabinet may appoint such committees or sub-committees as it considers 
necessary and appropriate to assist in the discharge of its functions. In making such 
appointments, the Cabinet must specify the name of the Committee/sub-committee, 
its membership (including its Chair and, if appropriate, Vice Chair) and the terms of 
reference of the body. 

8 Motion under Council Meeting Procedure Rule 29 

8.1 A mover of a motion under Council Meeting Procedure Rule 29 which has been 
referred to the Cabinet for consideration may attend the meeting of the Cabinet when 
their motion is under consideration and explain the motion. The mover of the motion 
will be advised of the date and time of the meeting when the matter is to be 
considered and they will be sent an electronic copy of the relevant papers. 

9 Resolving disputes 

9.1 In the case of any dispute during the proceedings of the Cabinet, the relevant parts 
of this Constitution will apply and after considering the application of the relevant 
provisions, the person chairing the meeting will rule on the issue in question and their 
ruling will be final. 

10 Reserves/substitute members 

10.1 There shall be no reserve or substitute members of the Cabinet. 

11 Approval of urgent business 

11.1 Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the Head of Paid 
Service may take the necessary action, provided that they have first consulted the 
Leader (or Deputy Leader if they are not available). The decision taken shall be 
reported to the next public meeting of the Cabinet. 

12 Conflicts of interest 

12.1 Where the Leader or any Cabinet Member has a conflict of interest, they will follow 
the requirements of the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct in relation to such 
interests, including any restrictions on participating in the debate or voting upon the 
issue in question. 

Page 95



76 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

12.2 If all (or a majority) of the members of the Cabinet present have a conflict of interest, 
then consideration will be given to applying to the Monitoring Officer for a 
dispensation from the provisions of the Code. 

12.3 If the discharge of a Cabinet function has been delegated to another body or 
individual and a conflict of interest arises for that body or individual, then it will fall to 
the body or individual who delegated the matter to take the decision.  

 

5.4 Access to Information Procedure Rules 

A. Access to Information Procedure Rules 

1 General 

1.1 These rules apply to all public meetings of the Cabinet, Council, its committees and 
sub-committees, joint committees. 

1.2 In these Rules the word “meeting” means a meeting or meetings of any of these 
bodies unless specified otherwise. 

1.3 These rules do not affect any other specific rights to information contained elsewhere 
in this Constitution or the law. 

1.4 Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject to the exceptions 
contained in these Rules. 

1.5 Members of the press and public are also entitled to film, audio record and report on 
meetings of the Council, committees, Cabinet and Joint committees, except in 
circumstances where the press and public have been excluded as permitted by law.  
Any such filming, audio recording or reporting shall be in accordance with any 
guidelines published by the Council on its website or made available at the meeting. 

2 Notice of meetings 

2.1 The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice of any such meeting by 
publicising, including by electronic means, relevant details, unless Rule 13 (Special 
Urgency) has been applied. 

3 Agenda and supporting papers - rights of access 

3.1 Copies of the agenda and supporting papers will be made available on the Council’s 
website, for inspection by the public at least five clear working days before the 
meeting. Where an item is added to an agenda later, a supplementary agenda will 
be made available, with any supporting papers, to the public as soon as possible. 

3.2 The Council will supply on request copies of any agenda and reports which are open 
to public inspection, and if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, copies of any further 
documents supplied to councillors relating to that item. 

3.3 The Council may require any person to make a payment in advance covering postage 

Page 96



77 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

and costs connected to the supply of the papers in Rule 3.2 above. 

4 Access to decision records, minutes, agenda and supporting papers after 
a meeting 

4.1 The Council will make electronically available, for a period of six years from the date 
of the meeting: 

a. the minutes of the meeting where, under these rules or the Constitution minutes 
are required to be made, excluding any part of the minutes relating to the conduct 
of business when the public were not present or where exempt or confidential 
information would be disclosed; 

b. the records of decisions taken, together with reasons by the Cabinet excluding 
any part of the record relating to the conduct of business when the public were 
not present or where exempt or confidential information would be disclosed; 

c. where information relating to a decision is considered in private, a summary of 
the proceedings to provide a reasonably fair and coherent record, excluding any 
information which is of a confidential or exempt nature; and 

d. the agenda and supporting papers covering items which were considered when 
the public were entitled to be present. 

5 Background documents 

5.1 The officer, in whose name an item is to be submitted for decision, will set out in the 
agenda a list of the background documents which in their opinion: 

a. relate to the subject matter of the item in question; 

b. discloses any facts or matters on which the agenda item or an important part of 
it has been based; and  

c. has been relied upon to a material extent in preparing the agenda item. 

5.2 The requirements in Rule 5.1 above do not apply to or include any published works 
or any document in whole or in part which would disclose confidential or exempt 
information. 

5.3 Background documents which have been made available for public inspection will 
continue to be available for a period of four years from the date the decision is made. 

6 Definition of confidential and exempt information 

6.1 For the purposes of these Rules the definitions of confidential and exempt information 
are set out below. 

6.2 Confidential Information means information supplied or given to the Council by a 
government department on terms which forbid its disclosure to the public or is 
information which cannot be disclosed to the public due to a prohibition in any 
enactment or by Order of the Courts. 

Page 97



78 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6.3 Exempt Information is information falling within any of the categories set out in 
Appendix 1 subject to the conditions noted in that Appendix. 

7 Exclusion of the press and public from meetings  

Confidential information – requirement to exclude 

7.1 The press and public will be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the proceedings, that confidential 
information, as described in Rule 6.2 above will be disclosed. 

Exempt information – discretion to exclude 

7.2 In the case of exempt information, the press and public may be excluded from a 
meeting where Rule 6.3 and Appendix 1 applies. 

8 No public right of access to agenda papers 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer, where they consider it necessary, may refuse access by the 
public to any agenda or supporting papers which in their opinion relate to items during 
which, in accordance with Rule 7 above, the meeting is likely not to be open to the 
public. Any such papers will be clearly marked “Not for Publication” and will contain 
the category of information to be disclosed as set out in Appendix 1 to these Rules. 
Similar provisions apply to the disclosures of documents related to decisions of the 
Council, including the Cabinet. 

9 The Cabinet: application of these rules 

9.1 Rules 10 to 20 will apply to the Cabinet and any committees or sub-committees which 
it may establish from time to time. 

9.2 Where the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet meet to 
discuss a Key Decision, with an officer or officers present, within 28 days of the date 
according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then the Cabinet must 
comply with Rules 1 to 8 above unless Rule 12 (general exception) or 13 (special 
urgency) apply. This requirement does not apply where the sole purpose of the 
meeting is for officers to brief councillors. 

10 Definition of Key Decision and procedure before taking a Key Decision 

10.1 A Key Decision means an executive decision, which is likely: 

a.   to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings 
which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates; or 

b.   to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the Council. 

10.2 In deciding what amounts to 'significant' in relation to paragraph 10.1a above, a 
guidance threshold figure of £500,000 is suggested, but discretion should be used 
to determine whether the amount in question is significant with regard to the 

Page 98



79 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

particular budget area to which the decision relates.   

10.3 Subject to Rules 12 or 13, a Key Decision cannot be taken unless: 

a. a notice (“the Forward Plan”) has been published in connection with the matter 
in question and made available to the public at the main office(s) of the Council; 

b. at least 28 clear calendar days have elapsed since publication of the Forward 
Plan; and 

c. where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, including a 
committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet, public notice of the meeting has 
been given under Rule 2 above. 

11 The Forward Plan 

11.1 The Forward Plan will be prepared on behalf of the Leader on a monthly basis to 
cover a four-month period beginning with the first day of any month. The Forward 
Plan will be rolled forward and published each month to cover the four-month period 
beginning again with the new date of publication. There will be instances where it is 
impracticable to include an item in the Forward Plan. In this case Rule 12 or 13 below 
will apply. 

11.2 The Forward Plan will contain such matters as the Leader has reason to believe will 
be Key Decisions to be taken by the Leader, the Cabinet, a Portfolio Holder, a 
committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet or an Office Holder in the course of the 
discharge of a Cabinet function during the period covered by the Forward Plan. 

11.3 The Forward Plan will describe in respect of each matter the following particulars: 

a. that a key decision is to be made;  

b. the matter relating to the decision to be made; 

c. the name and title of the decision taker if an individual, or the name and details 
of the membership where the decision taker is a body; 

d. the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 

e. the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to consult 
before taking the decision; 

f. the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 

g. the steps any person might take to make representations to the Cabinet or 
decision taker about the matter before the decision is made, and the date by 
which those steps must be taken; 

h. a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in relation 
to the matter; 

i. the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

Page 99



80 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the Forward Plan 
is available; 

j. that other documents relevant to the matter may be submitted to the decision 
taker; and  

k. the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they become 
available. 

11.4 Where in relation to any matter where the public may be excluded from a public 
meeting under Rule 7, or documents relating to the decision need not be disclosed 
to the public, the Forward Plan must contain the particulars of the matter, but may 
not contain any confidential information, exempt information or particulars of the 
advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

12 General exception for Key Decisions 

12.1 If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the Forward 
Plan then, subject to Rule 13, the decision may still be taken if: 

a. the decision has to be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to comply with 
Rules 10.3 and 11; 

b. the Monitoring Officer has informed the Chair of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny committee, or if there is no such person, each member of the Committee 
in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made; 

c. the Monitoring Officer has made copies of that notice available to the public at the 
main office of the Council and published it on the Council’s website; and 

d. at least five clear working days have elapsed since the Monitoring Officer 
complied with their obligations under this paragraph. 

12.2 As soon as practicable after complying with Rule 12.1, the Monitoring Officer shall 
make available at the main office of the Council and publish on the Council’s website 
a notice setting out the reasons why compliance with Rules 10.3 and 11 is not 
possible. 

12.3 Where such a decision is taken by the Cabinet, it must be taken in public subject to 
any requirements relating to the disclosure of confidential or exempt information and 
the exclusion of the public. 

13 Special urgency for Key Decisions 

13.1 If by virtue of the date by which a key decision must be taken, the requirements of 
Rule 12 above cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision 
maker (if an individual) or the Chair of the body taking the decision, obtains the 
agreement of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee that the 
taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or if they are unable to act, then the agreement of 
the Chair of the Council, or in their absence the Vice Chair will suffice. 

Page 100



81 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

13.2 In addition to the requirement for the Chair to agree to the matter being dealt with as 
urgent business, the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be consulted, and may comment, on the subject matter of the decision 
itself. 

14 Report to Council 

14.1 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that a Key Decision has been 
taken which was not: 

a. included in the Forward Plan; or 

b. the subject of the general exception procedure under Rule 12 above; or 

c. the subject of an agreement with an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair, or 
the Chair/Vice Chair of the Council under Rule 13 above; 

the Committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within such 
reasonable time as the Committee specifies. 

14.2 In response to any requirement under Rule 14.1 above, the Cabinet will prepare a 
report for submission to the next available meeting of the Council. However, if the 
next meeting of the Council is within 7 days of the resolution of the Cabinet, then the 
report may be submitted to the subsequent meeting. The report to the Council will 
set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body taking the decision, and if 
the Cabinet is of the opinion that it was not a key decision, the reasons for that 
opinion. 

15 Record of decisions of the Cabinet 

15.1 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees or sub-committees, whether 
held in public or private, the Monitoring Officer or their nominee shall produce as soon 
as practicable a written statement of every decision taken at that meeting. The record 
will include: 

a. a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

b. a record of the reasons for the decision; 

c. details of any alternative options considered and rejected; 

d. a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is declared 
by any member of the decision-making body; and 

e. in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation granted 
by the Monitoring Officer. 

15.2 Where an executive decision is taken by an individual member that member shall, as 
soon as reasonably practicable, produce or instruct the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee to produce, a written statement of that decision including the matters stated 
in Rule 15.1 (a) to (c) and: 

Page 101



82 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. a record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member who was 
consulted by the member who made the decision and which relates to that 
decision; and 

b. in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation granted 
by the Monitoring Officer. 

16 Cabinet meetings relating to matters that are not Key Decisions 

16.1 Meetings of the Cabinet at which any decisions are to be taken shall be held in public, 
subject to the requirements of Paragraphs 7 and 8 above. 

17 Meeting of the Cabinet in private 

17.1 Where a meeting of the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the 
Cabinet, is to be held in private under these Rules, at least 28 clear days before the 
meeting, the Cabinet shall make available at the main office of the Council a notice 
of its intention to hold a meeting in private giving reasons as to why the meeting is to 
be held in private. 

17.2 At least five clear days before the meeting, the Cabinet must make available at the 
main office of the Council a further notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private 
containing: the reasons as to why the meeting is to be held in private; details of any 
representations received by the Cabinet about why the meeting should be open to 
the public; and a statement of the Cabinet’s response to any such representations. 

17.3 All members of the Cabinet shall be entitled to be given five clear working days’ notice 
of the meeting, unless the meeting is convened at shorter notice on urgency grounds. 

17.4 Copies of the notices required by Rules 17.1 and 17.3 shall be sent to the Chairs of 
the Overview and Scrutiny committees. 

17.5 Where the date by which a private meeting must be held makes compliance with 
Rules 17.1 and 17.2 impracticable, the meeting may only be held in private where 
the Cabinet has obtained agreement from: 

a. the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee; or 

b. if there is no such person, or if a Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny committee 
is unable to act, the Chair of the Council; or 

c. where there is no Chair of either an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or of the 
Council able to act, the Vice Chair of the Council; 

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

17.6 As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-making body has obtained 
agreement under Rule 17.5 it must make available at the Council’s main office and 
publish on the Council’s website a notice setting out why the meeting is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred. 

18 Attendance at private meetings of the Cabinet 

Page 102



83 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

18.1 Any member of the Cabinet may attend a private meeting of a committee or sub-
committee of the Cabinet whether they are members of that body unless the body 
determines otherwise. 

18.2 Any Cabinet member who is not a member of such a committee or sub-committee 
shall be entitled to speak with the consent of the person presiding but not to vote. 

19 Officer attendance at Cabinet meetings 

19.1 The Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer, or their 
nominees, are entitled to attend any meeting of the Cabinet. The Cabinet cannot 
meet unless the Monitoring Officer has been given reasonable notice that a meeting 
is to take place. This provision also applies to committees and sub-committees of the 
Cabinet. 

19.2 A private meeting of the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the 
Cabinet, may only take place in the presence of the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee, who shall have responsibility for recording and publicising any decisions. 

20 Key Decisions by Portfolio Holders 

20.1 Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report which they intend to 
take into account in making any Key Decision, then they will not make the decision 
until at least five clear working days after receipt of that report. 

20.2 On giving of such a report to a Portfolio Holder, the person who prepared the report 
will give a copy of it to the relevant Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as 
soon as reasonably practicable and make it publicly available at the same time. 

20.3 As soon as reasonably practicable after a Key Decision has been taken by a Portfolio 
Holder, a written record of the decision must be produced in accordance with Rule 
15.2 above.  

20.4 The provisions of Rules 4 and 5 will also apply to the making of decisions by Portfolio 
Holders. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential information or 
advice from a political assistant. 

21 Record of Executive and Non-Executive decisions taken by officers 

21.1 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision which is an 
Executive decision (i.e. the responsibility of the Cabinet) a written statement will be 
prepared including: 

a. a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

b. a record of the reasons for the decision; 

c. details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer when 
making the decision; 

d. a record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member who is 
consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; and 

Page 103



84 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

e. in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

21.2 Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 21.1 and any report considered by the 
officer and relevant to the decision will be available for public inspection at the main 
office of the Council and on the Council's website. 

21.3 Rules 21.1 to 21.2 will relate to decisions taken by officers in accordance with their 
powers and duties set out within the Scheme of Delegation or otherwise under an 
express delegation from the Cabinet, Council, its committees, sub-committees or any 
joint committee in which the Council is involved. Rules 21.1 to 21.2 shall not apply to 
day-to-day administrative or operational decisions taken by officers in connection 
with the discharge of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

21.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision under an 
express delegation from the Council, its committees, sub-committees or any Joint 
Committee in which the Council is involved, or under a general delegation from one 
of these bodies where the effect of the decision is to grant a permission or licence, 
affect the rights of an individual or award a contract or incur expenditure, which in 
either case materially affects the Council’s position, a written statement will be 
prepared including: 

a. a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

b. a record of the reasons for the decision; 

c. details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer when 
making the decision; and 

d. a record of the name of any councillor who has declared an interest (for 
decisions taken under an express delegation). 

21.5 Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 21.4 together with any background 
papers considered by the officer and relevant to the decision will be available for 
public inspection at the main office of the Council and on the Council's website. 

21.6 Rules 21.4 to 21.5 do not apply to: 

a. routine administrative and organisational decisions; 

b. decisions on operational matters such as day to day variations in services; 

c. decisions if the whole or part of the record contains confidential or exempt 
information; and 

d. decisions that are already required to be published by other legislation, provided 
the record published includes the date the decision was taken and the reasons 
for the decision. 

22 Access to documents – Overview and Scrutiny committees 

22.1 Subject to Rule 22.4 below, any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

Page 104



85 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the Leader 
and/or the Cabinet including its committees and sub-committees and which contains 
material relating to: 

a. any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Cabinet including 
any of its committees and sub-committees;  

b. any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet; or  

c. any executive decision taken by an officer in accordance with Part 9.2 of this 
Constitution. 

22.2 Where a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-
committees) requests a document which falls within Rule 22.1 the Leader must 
provide that document as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any case, no later 
than 10 clear working days after the Leader receives the request. 

22.3 Subject to Rule 22.4 the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committees is 
entitled to see papers in relation to private decisions of the Cabinet before the 
decision is made. 

22.4 Where the Leader so determines, a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will not be entitled to: 

a. any document that is in draft form; 

b. any such document or part of a document that contains exempt or confidential 
information, unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they are 
reviewing or scrutinising or any review contained in any programme of work of 
the Committee. 

22.5 The Leader must provide the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee with a 
written statement setting out the reasons for their decision. 

23 Additional rights of access for councillors 

23.1 All councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or 
under the control of the Leader and or the Cabinet including its committees or sub-
committees and contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a 
public meeting; any business previously transacted at a private meeting; any decision 
made by an individual member; or an executive decision by an officer unless in the 
opinion of the Monitoring Officer it contains exempt information falling within the 
categories of exempt information as set out in Appendix 1; or it contains the advice 
of a political advisor. 

23.2 All councillors will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available only 
in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Leader or the Cabinet 
including its committees and sub-committees which relates to any Key Decision 
unless Rule 23.1 above applies. 

23.3 In relation to public meetings, where a document is required to be available for 
inspection by all councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be available for at least 5 clear 

Page 105



86 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

working days before the meeting except where the meeting is convened at shorter 
notice or an item is added to an agenda at shorter notice, in which case the document 
must be available for inspection when the meeting is convened or the item is added 
to the agenda. 

23.4 In relation to private meetings, decisions made by an individual member or executive 
decisions made by an officer, where a document is required to be available for 
inspection by all councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be available within 24 hours of 
the meeting concluding, or where an executive decision is made by an individual 
member or an officer, within 24 hours of the decision being made. 

23.5 These rights of a councillor are additional to any other right they may have. 

 

Appendix 1 - Descriptions of Exempt Information 

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to any 
qualification): 

1) Information relating to any individual. 

2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

5) Information in respect of which a claim of legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  

a. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

b. to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

Qualifications 

Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information if it is required to be 
registered under: 

a. the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006); 

b. the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 

Page 106



87 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

c. the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 

d. the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; 

e. the Building Societies Act 1986; or 

f. the Charities Act 2011 

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the 
local planning authority may grant itself planning permission or permission in principle 
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

Information which falls within any of the paragraphs 1-7 above is Exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

There is no legal definition of ‘public interest’, but the following are relevant 

considerations in favour of disclosure: 

(a) The information would assist public understanding of an issue that is subject to 

current public debate. 

(b) Proper debate cannot take place without wide availability of all the relevant 

information. 

(c) The issue affects a wide range of individuals or companies. 

(d) Facts and analysis behind major policy decisions. 

(e) Allowing individuals to understand decisions made by public authorities 

affecting their lives and, in some cases, assisting individuals in challenging 

those decisions. 

(f) Accountability for proceeds of sale of assets in public ownership. 

(g) Openness and accountability for tender processes and prices. 

(h) Public interest in public bodies obtaining value for money. 

(i) Public health or public safety. 

(j) Damage to the environment. 

(k) Contingency plans in an emergency. 

(l) Promoting accountability and transparency for decisions taken by public 

authorities and the spending of public money. 

A practice of applying "Exempt" status to a report without reasons being set out and 

consideration of the public interest is not acceptable. 

 

  

Page 107



88 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6.0 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

6.1 West and North Shared Services Joint Committee 

Terms of Reference of the Joint Committee 

1. The Joint Committee’s role is to oversee the management of those services which are 

provided on a Northamptonshire-wide basis on behalf of North Northamptonshire and 

West Northamptonshire Councils to ensure effective delivery of such services and to 

provide strategic direction 

2. The Joint Committee is specifically responsible for: 

a. Developing and agreeing the strategy for each of the services. 

b. Approving the Service Plans for the specified functions including targets for 

service quality, performance and efficiency.  

c. Agreeing the responsibilities of each Council to deliver the Service Plans and 

agreed strategy, including any specific responsibilities of the Provider Council and 

that the responsibilities are documented within the Service Plans.  

d. Ensuring that the services are provided within the policy and budget set by the 

councils. 

e. Ensuring that the arrangements ensure that each Council’s statutory 

responsibilities are met. 

f. Reviewing the performance of the services and initiating additional/remedial 

action where appropriate.  

g. Ensuring that clear operational policies are in place and that these are complied 

with. 

h. Ensuring the provision of adequate funds and other resources to enable delivery. 

i. Agreeing the basis for apportioning cost between the two Councils and the 

amount to be apportioned. 

j. Ensuring that effective risk management arrangements are in place, that the 

services are subject to adequate and independent audit and that any audit 

recommendations are acted upon.  

k. Approving business cases for proposed changes and overseeing the progress of 

subsequent work. 

l. Ensuring that there are robust plans for any disaggregation of services and that 

there is a smooth transition to new service delivery arrangements.  

m. Resolving issues that are referred to the Joint Committee by relevant Chief 

Officers of the Service. 

n. Delegating functions of the Joint Committee to officers of either Council under 

s.101 Local Government Act 1972.  

o. Agreeing arrangements to place staff employed by one of the authorities at the 

disposal of the other authority to carry out the functions of the Joint Committee as 

described above under s.113 Local Government Act 1972.   

p. Take decisions in relation to the commissioning and procurement of services 

either hosted or under a lead authority arrangement from a third party.   

Page 108



89 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

q. Providing an Annual Report to each of the two Councils on the performance, 

finances and proposed service improvements including any arrangements for 

disaggregation.   

Procedure Rules of the Joint Committee 

a. Each council shall appoint three Members (being Executive members of that Council) 

as its nominated members of the Joint Committee. The Members appointed will have 

full voting rights. 

b. Each council may nominate one or more substitute Members to attend any meeting in 

place of an appointed Member subject to notification being given to the Monitoring 

Officer via the relevant Democratic Services before the start of the meeting. The Member 

appointed as a substitute shall have full voting rights.   

c. Each member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Code of Conduct of their 

Council when acting as a member of the Joint Committee.  

d. Each member of the Joint Committee shall serve on the Joint Committee for as long as 

they are appointed to the Joint Committee by the relevant Council but a Member shall 

cease to be a member of the Joint Committee if they cease to be a member of the 

Executive appointing them or if the relevant Council removes them from the Joint 

Committee.  

e. Meetings of the Joint Committee shall be carried out on a rotational basis in the North 

and West Council areas or by remote means where this is permitted by law.  

f. The Council hosting the first meeting shall appoint one of its nominated members as 

Chair and that member shall remain Chair until the first meeting taking place after the 

elapse of 6 months from the time of their appointment unless they cease to be a member 

of the Joint Committee. On the expiry of the first Chair’s term of office as Chair, the 

Council which did not appoint the first Chair shall appoint one of its nominated members 

as Chair for a period of 6 months from the time of their appointment. The same procedure 

shall be followed for the appointment of the Chair in subsequent years. 

g. The Council not appointing the Chair of the Joint Committee in any year shall appoint 

one of its nominated members as Vice Chair. 

h. Proposed key decisions of the Joint Committee will be published on the Forward Plan 

for each Council in accordance with their own Access to Information Rules. 

i. Requirements in relation to Overview and Scrutiny will be met in each case by the 

Overview and Scrutiny committees of the relevant Council.  The relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee will be the closest to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee for each 

Council.   

j. Meetings will be governed by the Executive Procedure Rules and the Access to 

Information Rules for each Council and where they differ by agreement between the 

Monitoring Officers of the two Councils as to which of the two sets of Rules will be 

applied.  

k. The Joint Committee shall normally meet once every two months (bi-monthly) unless 

otherwise determined by the Joint Committee. Cancellation of meetings shall be agreed 

by the Joint Committee or both Leaders. 

Page 109



90 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

l. Additional meetings can be called by Monitoring Officer for the Chair by providing at 

least five clear days’ notice to members of the Joint Committee, for the purposes of 

resolving urgent matters arising between the bi-monthly meetings. Additional meetings 

may be called if either Leader requests it.  

m. The Democratic Services for the Chair will send out the agenda, record minutes and 

arrange for the sign off of minutes in accordance with the procedure rules for the relevant 

Council.  

n. A meeting of the Joint Committee will require a quorum of at least two members from 

each Council.  

o. The rules of the Joint Committee will otherwise be the rules of the Council associated 

with the Chair for the time being, and where there is any conflict or uncertainty the 

relevant rules will be agreed between the Monitoring Officers for each of the Councils.  

p. Public speaking at the Joint Committee will be at the discretion of the Chair but in any 

event limited to one speaker for or against an item on the agenda for a maximum of two 

minutes.  

6.2 Rainsbrook Crematorium Joint Committee 

In February 2011, Daventry District Council agreed to establish a Joint Committee with 

Rugby Borough Council to create and operate a crematorium facility to meet the needs of 

both areas. Rainsbrook Crematorium based in Rugby is managed by the Rainsbrook 

Crematorium Joint Committee. Each council has a 50% share and appoints two elected 

members.  

A Collaboration Agreement (March 2013) provides for the delegation of functions 

(crematoria and ancillary services) to the Joint Committee. Daventry District Council were 

responsible for the construction of the crematorium. Rugby Borough Council are responsible 

for the operation of the crematorium. The Joint Committee provides oversight and exercises 

decision-making powers. 

Terms of Reference 

a. The committee shall comprise four members in total, two being nominated by each 

authority. All members of the Committee shall be Members of the authority by which they 

are nominated.  

b. The committee shall appoint its own Chair and Vice Chair subject to the rules that: 

(i) each year the Chair shall be drawn from members of the committee from one 

authority, and the following year from members of the committee from the other 

authority; and  

(ii) the Vice Chair shall be a member of the committee from the authority which is not 

currently providing the Chair.  

c. The quorum of the Committee shall be two members, being at least one from each 

authority.  

d. The Chair or in their absence the Vice Chair may exercise a second or casting vote.  

Page 110



91 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

e. The Committee shall exercise on behalf of the authorities the functions of providing 

crematoria and ancillary services under the Cremation Act 1902, section 2 of the Local 

Government Act 2000, the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 and all other powers 

enabling the provision and operation of crematoria and related services.  

f. The Committee shall arrange to discharge its responsibilities through officers of the 

authorities subject to the requirements that: 

(i) administration of the Committee shall be exercised through officers of Rugby 

Borough Council;  

(ii) creation of the crematorium shall be exercised through officers of Daventry 

District Council;  

(iii) practical operation of the crematorium shall be exercised through officers of 

Rugby Borough Council. 

6.3 PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee 

Representation: one Member from each Council 

Over 300 local authorities in England (outside London) and Wales who undertake civil traffic 

enforcement are members of the PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside 

London) Adjudication Joint Committee. Such authorities are required by statute to make 

provision for independent adjudication of traffic enforcement decisions.  

The PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee has been established to enable all councils 

having Civil Enforcement Area Orders to carry out civil enforcement of parking 

contraventions, in exercise of their functions under Section 81 of the Traffic Management 

Act 2004 and Regulations 16 and 17 of the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions 

(England) General Regulations 2007.  

The main function of the Joint Committee is to provide resources to support independent 

adjudicators and their staff, who together comprise the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. The 

relationship between the adjudicators and the Joint Committee is derived from and 

governed by the Traffic Management Act 2004 and, in the case of the Bus Lane Adjudication 

Service Joint Committee, the Transport Act 2000. 

Additional information 

Further details are available from the PATROL website: www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-

committee. 

6.4 Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel 

Representation:  5 Members of West Northamptonshire Council 
5 Members of North Northamptonshire Council 
3 independent co-opted lay members  

Page 111

file:///C:/Users/GWild/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9QASBAOR/www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-committee
file:///C:/Users/GWild/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9QASBAOR/www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-committee


92 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The Police, Fire and Crime Panel is responsible for carrying out the powers and duties of 

the of the Police and Crime Panel as provided for within the Police Reform & Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 and the Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner for Northamptonshire 

(Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2018. 

6.5 Children’s Trust Joint Committee 

Terms of Reference  

Purpose  

The West Northamptonshire and North Northamptonshire Councils have established a Joint 

Committee (known as “The Children’s Trust Joint Committee‟) pursuant to powers under 

the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000. 

The Joint Committee discharges functions on behalf of the two councils as follows and is 

convened as and when required, to:  

a. Exercise the functions on behalf of both Councils insofar as they relate to the joint 

ownership of, and commissioning of services from, the jointly owned local authority 

company ‘The Northamptonshire Children’s Trust’ (NCT) 

b. Exercise the functions of the Council’s in respect of the discharge of the functions 

and the delivery of the support services to NCT under the Support Services 

Agreement; 

c. Consider all matters arising in relation to the discharge of the functions, the delivery 

of the services and their financial position; 

d. Ensure the effective, efficient discharge of the functions and delivery of the services; 

e. Agree the responsibilities of each council required to support the discharge of the 

functions and the delivery of the services; 

f. Monitor and review the performance of discharge of the functions and the delivery of 

the services; 

g. Consider matters reported to the Joint Committee by the Joint Officer Boards and 

the Councils; 

h. Determine those disputes or differences arising between the councils in respect of 

the discharge of the functions and/or delivery of the services referred to the Joint 

Committee by the Joint Officer Boards; 

i. With the assistance, support and advice of the Joint Officer Boards and the councils, 

develop the strategies and plans for the longer-term discharge of the functions and 

the delivery of the services beyond the arrangements provided for in the Support 

Services Agreement.  

The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but part of its constituent authorities. 

Any legal commitment entered into pursuant to a decision of the Joint Committee must be 

made by either of the authorities which will be indemnified appropriately. 

Page 112



93 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

These terms of reference govern the conduct of meetings of the Joint Committee and 

except, where expressly stated otherwise, take precedence over the Constitutions of each 

council so far as they relate to the matters for which the Joint Committee is established. The 

Joint Committee may vary the terms of reference rules as it considers appropriate. 

Definitions 

Any reference to Access to Information legislation shall mean Part VA of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (as amended) and The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 

(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).” 

Functions 

The Joint Committee will discharge functions on behalf of both councils. 

Membership 

There are 6 elected members of the Joint Committee, 3 appointed from each council. 

Appointments are made in line with each council’s governance arrangements. The 

appointments should include the Leader of each council and a Member whose portfolio 

areas include responsibility for Children’s Services. 

Appointments will be made for a maximum period not extending beyond each Member’s 

remaining term of office as a councillor. 

As nominees of their respective councils, members of the Joint Committee are governed by 

the provisions of their own council’s codes and protocols including the Members’ Code of 

Conduct and the rules on disclosable pecuniary interests. 

Each council will utilise existing mechanisms for substitution as laid down in their own 

Procedure Rules. 

Chair 

Each council will appoint one Member as a Co-Chair each of whom, in rotation, presides 

over meetings of the Joint Committee. 

Meeting venues shall rotate between the councils’ main offices with the Co-Chair from the 

council which is hosting the meeting presiding over the meeting. Where the host Co-Chair 

is not present, the Joint Committee shall appoint an alternate Co-Chair from amongst its 

number to preside over the meeting.  

The Joint Committee may establish sub-committees to undertake elements of its work if 

required and subject to the approval of each council. 

Page 113



94 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Delegation to Officers 

The Joint Committee may delegate specific functions to officers of either of the councils. 

Any such delegation may be subject to the requirement for the officer to consult with or 

obtain the prior agreement of an officer (or officers) of the other council. It may also be 

subject to the requirement for the officer with delegated authority to consult with the Co-

Chairs of the Joint Committee before exercising their delegated authority. 

Administration 

Organisational and clerking support for the Joint Committee will be provided for by the host 

authority.  

Budget  

The Joint Committee will not have an allocated budget.  

Agenda Management  

All prospective items of business for the Joint Committee shall be agreed by the Joint Officer 

Board in accordance with the wider NCT agreements and governance and shall be confined 

to the matters set out in these terms of reference.  

To comply with Access to Information legislation in the publication of agendas including 

Forward Plan requirements, those functions delegated to the Joint Committee for 

determination and defined as key decisions must be included in the Forward Plan for the 

Joint Committee.  

Meetings  

The Joint Committee will meet as and when required for the purposes of fulfilling its function 

with regards dispute resolution.  

The quorum for a meeting of the Joint Committee shall be at least two members from each 

council.  

Access to meetings and papers of the Joint Committee by the press and public is subject 

to Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and Part 2 of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to information) (England) 

Regulations 2012.  

Notice of Meetings  

The host authority clerk of the Joint Committee will give notice to the public of the time and 

place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information requirements. At least 

Page 114



95 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

five clear working days in advance of a meeting the host authority clerk of the Joint 

Committee will publish the agenda via the website of the host authority and distribute a copy 

of the papers to all members of the Joint Committee. 

Member Participation  

Any Member of each council who is not a member of the Joint Committee may ask a 

question or address the Joint Committee with the consent of the Co-Chair of the meeting at 

which they wish to speak.  

Business to be Transacted 

Standing items for each meeting of the Joint Committee will include the following:  

a. Apologies for absence 

b. Declarations of Interest 

c. Minutes of the Last Meeting 

d. Substantive items for consideration 

The Co-Chair may vary the order of business and take urgent items as specified in the 

Access to Information Requirements at their discretion. An item of business may not be 

considered at a meeting unless: 

a. A copy of the agenda included the item (or a copy of the item) is open to inspection 

by the public for at least five clear days before the meeting; or 

b. Where the meeting is convened at shorter notice from the time the meeting is 

convened; or 

c. By reason of special circumstances which shall be specified in the minutes the Co-

Chair of the meeting (following consultation with the other Co-Chair) is of the opinion 

that the item should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency “Special 

Circumstances” justifying an item being considered as a matter of urgency will relate 

to both why the decision could not be made at a later meeting allowing the proper 

time for inspection of documents by the public as well as why the item or report could 

not have been available for inspection for five clear days before the meeting. 

Cancellation of Meetings  

If in the event a dispute is resolved prior to the meeting of the Joint Committee called to 

resolve the issue, after consultation with all three Co-chairs the meeting will be cancelled  

Rules of Debate 

Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Rules of Debate set out within the 

Committee Procedure Rules of West Northamptonshire Council.  

Page 115



96 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Request for Determination of Business  

Any member of the Joint Committee may request at any time that the Joint Committee move 

to vote upon the current item of consideration.  

Urgency Procedure  

Where all Co-Chairs of the Joint Committee are of a view that an urgent decision is required 

in respect of any matter within the Joint Committee’s terms of reference and it cannot wait 

until an Ordinary meeting of the Joint Committee has been called and notice been given 

under Paragraph 12 of this Schedule (Notice of Meetings), then arrangements will be made 

to call an urgent meeting of the Joint Committee.  

Voting  

With regards the Joint Committee’s function in the resolution of disputes under the conflict 

resolution mechanism, each elected member will be entitled to one vote.  

Where there is an equality of votes the Co-hair may exercise a second or casting vote. 

However, if the matter cannot be resolved between the councils then the dispute resolution 

procedure may be engaged.  

Minutes  

At the next suitable meeting of the Joint Committee, the Co-Chair presiding will move a 

motion that the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct record. The meeting 

may only consider the accuracy of the minutes. Once agreed, the Co-Chair presiding at the 

meeting will initial each page and sign the minutes.  

Exclusion of Public and Press  

Members of the public and press may only be excluded from a meeting of the Joint 

Committee either in accordance with the Access to Information requirements or in the event 

of disturbance.  

A motion may be moved at any time for the exclusion of the public from the whole or any 

part of the proceedings. The motion shall specify by reference to Section 100(A) Local 

Government Act 1972 the reason for the exclusion in relation to each item of business for 

which it is proposed that the public be excluded.  

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of 

business to be transacted, or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information 

would be disclosed.  

Page 116



97 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Co-Chair may 

adjourn the meeting for as long as they think is necessary.  

To comply with the Executive Arrangements (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 all 

background papers will be published as part of the Joint Committee agenda and be made 

available to the public via the website of each authority.  

Overview and Scrutiny  

Decisions of the Joint Committee will be Executive and subject to scrutiny and call-in. For 

any Joint Committee meeting, including decisions, the minutes will be published within two 

working days. On the publication of the minutes of a meeting of the Joint Committee, 5 clear 

days must elapse (not including the date of publication and weekend days and bank 

holidays) before decisions can be implemented.  

Decisions of the Joint Committee which are defined as executive decisions will be subject 

to the “call-in” arrangements operating in each Council as set out in its constitution. Where 

a decision is called in, arrangements will be made at the earliest opportunity for it to be 

heard.  

Joint Arrangements Between the Children’s Trust and West Northamptonshire Council (in 

accordance with the agreements made by Northamptonshire County Council prior to re-

organisation). These agreements are binding on the Council and cannot be altered other 

than as set out below. 

Nature of Decision  Council Executive Conditions 

In relation to the Northamptonshire 
Children’s Trust, to approve: 

a. The appointment and removal of 
the Chair and Chief Executive, or 
alterations to their terms of 
appointment; 

b. The appointment and removal of 
a Council Director to the Board 
of the Trust; 

c. Any changes to the membership 
of the Trust;  

d. Any changes to the Articles of 
Association;  

e. The voluntary winding up of the 
company (of the Trust) or its 
dissolution;  

f. Any changes to governance 
arrangements arising from the 
annual review thereof. 

X  In accordance with the 
limitations and consents 
required under the Articles 
of Association of the Trust 
and the Governance Side 
Agreement. 

Page 117



98 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

In relation to the Northamptonshire 
Children’s Trust, to annually 
approve the Business Plan and 
Interim Business Plan and any in 
year variation to these plans. 

 X In accordance with the 
limitations and consents 
required under the Articles 
of Association of the Trust 
and the Governance Side 
Agreement. 

In relation to the company of the 
Children’s Trust, to approve the 
entering into by the company (the 
Trust) for: any new third party 
contracts for the provision of services 
by the Company to third parties 
which are outside the scope of the 
Service Delivery Contract and/or the 
Business Plan or Interim Business 
Plan. 

 X a) In accordance with the 
limitations and 
consents required 
under the Articles of 
Association of the 
Trust and the 
Governance Side 
Agreement. 

b) Where the value 
exceeds £500,000. 

In relation to the company of the 
Children’s Trust, to approve the 
entering into by the company (the 
Trust):  

a. any borrowing, credit facility, or 
investment arrangements with 
third parties;  

b. any other contractual 
arrangement with the Council for 
the provision of other services to 
the Council;  

c. any proposal to form any legal 
entity or undertaking in which the 
Company would be a member, 
shareholder or hold any 
analogous position in any 
jurisdiction or acquiring shares in 
any other company;  

d. participating by the Company in 
any partnership or joint venture, 
amalgamation with another 
company or business 
undertaking; 

e. the Company giving any 
guarantee, suretyship or 
indemnity outside the ordinary 
course of its business to secure 
the liabilities of any person or 
assume the obligations of any 
person (other than the Company 
or a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company); 

 X In accordance with the 
limitations and consents 
required under the Articles 
of Association of the Trust 
and the Governance Side 
Agreement. 

In relation to (a) other 
than trade credit in the 
ordinary course of 
business.  

In relation to (b), and (d) 
only to the extent that any 
such arrangement falls 
outside the scope of the 
Service Delivery Contract 
and/or the Business Plan 
or Interim Business Plan. 

In relation to (h), except 
where the Council is the 
seller, lessor or licensor 
of the land in question.  

In relation to (l), where 
the amount is more than 
£100,000. 

Page 118



99 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

f. the selling or disposing of any 
part of the business (including 
assets) of the Company; 

g. dealing with any surpluses of the 
Company, other than those 
surpluses which are agreed, 
pursuant to the Business Plan or 
Service Delivery Contract, that 
may be retained by the 
Company;  

h. the Company acquiring, or 
agreeing to acquire, any freehold 
or leasehold interest in or licence 
over land;  

i. the Company creating any 
encumbrance over the whole or 
a significant part of its 
undertaking or assets; 

j. any changes to the company 
name, trading name or 
registered office of the Company 
or physically relocating the 
headquarters of the Company;   

k. the Company commencing, 
settling or defending any 
significant claim, proceedings or 
other litigation brought by or 
against it, except where they are 
a part of the Company's ordinary 
course of business and/or 
operations; and 

l. acquiring assets outside the 
scope of the Service Delivery 
Contract and/or the Business 
Plan or Interim Business Plan. 

7.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

7.1 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 

1 The Role of Overview and Scrutiny 

1.1 The Council operates an Overview and Scrutiny function that undertakes a number 
of roles including:  

a. monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet; 

b. advising the Council on forthcoming decisions;  

Page 119



100 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

c. the development and review of policy; and  

d. call-in of a decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet 
implemented.  

1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny function will develop a work plan as well as supporting 
policy development, providing pre-decision scrutiny where appropriate, holding 
decision-makers to account and exercising the formal call-in of executive decisions 
to review any concerns about the making of the decision.  

1.3 Further details are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in this 
Constitution. 

 

7.2 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees 

1.1 The Council will have 3 Overview and Scrutiny committees: 

a. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
b. People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
c. Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny committees will consult with other parts of the Council as 

appropriate, including the Cabinet, on the preparation of any work programme. 

1.3 The Overview and Scrutiny committees will take into account any views expressed 
following consultation under Rule 1.2 above in drawing-up any work programme. 
They should also take into account the resources, both officer and financial, available 
to support its proposals. 

1.4 A Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny Group, comprised of the Chairs and Vice 
Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny committees, shall be responsible for approving 
the work programmes prepared by the Overview and Scrutiny committees. 

1.5 Once any programme has been approved, a copy will be sent to all Members of the 
Council and all relevant officers. 

1.6 The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as it may 
consider it is possible to do so, to requests from the Council and the Cabinet, to 
review particular areas of Council activities. Where it does so, it will report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council in accordance with 
Rule 5 below. 

2 Co-optees 

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees shall be entitled to appoint non-councillors 
as voting or non-voting co-optees as required or permitted by relevant legislation. 

2.2 The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make provision for the 

Page 120



101 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

appointment of voting co-optees in order to assist in fulfilling its responsibilities under 
the National Health Service Act 2006. 

2.3 The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall appoint voting representatives 
in accordance with the Education Act 1996. These representatives have the right to 
vote on any question which relates to any education functions which are the 
responsibility of the Cabinet. Parent Governor Representatives will be appointed in 
accordance with the guidance published by the relevant government department. 

3 Agenda for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny committees 

3.1 Matters to be considered will be set out in an agenda, together with supporting 
papers. 

3.2 Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request, in 
writing, that an item be included on the agenda of their committee. Any such item 
shall appear on the agenda for the next meeting of the committee in question. The 
committee will decide how the item should be considered and whether or not it can 
be included in its work programme. 

3.3 Similarly, the Leader or an individual member of the Cabinet may give notice in writing 
requesting an item to appear on an agenda of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
relating to their areas of responsibility. The relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will decide how the item should be considered and whether or not it can 
be included in its work programme. 

3.4 Subject to Procedure Rule 41 of the Meeting Procedure Rules, any other councillor 
may give notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer, requesting an item to appear on 
an agenda of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The item shall be included after 
consulting the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4 Councillor Call for Action 

4.1 The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) enables any member of the council to bring 

matters of community concern (including crime and disorder issues) within their ward 

to the attention of the council via the Scrutiny process. It is intended to enhance the 

council’s Scrutiny arrangements and provide a formal mechanism to enable elected 

members to seek positive outcomes for the citizens they represent, provided all other 

means of resolution have been exhausted.  

4.2 A CCfA will be included on an Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda if the Chair 

is satisfied that:  

a. the member has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter via liaison with 

council officers and/or relevant partner agencies; and  

b. the issue of concern relates to the discharge of a council function (including where 

this is undertaken with partners and other service providers); and  

c. the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on all or part of the member’s 

ward; and  

d. The CCfA does not relate to:  

Page 121



102 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

i. individual complaints concerning personal grievances or commercial 

issues, for which the council’s complaints procedure should be followed;  

ii. matters that have a statutory appeals process, e.g. planning and licensing 

applications, council tax queries, housing benefits complaints, issues under 

dispute in a court of law, etc;  

iii. matters where there is a statutory right of review or appeal (not including 

the right to complain to the Ombudsman), e.g. a matter relating to a housing 

benefit appeal;  

iv. matters that are vexatious, discriminatory or unreasonable;  

v. matters of wider council policy, i.e. if an issue affects more than one ward it 

may be appropriate to refer it to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee for 

consideration of its wider strategic or policy implications, rather than 

focusing on one particular ward;  

vi. questioning Cabinet decisions that have been taken but not yet 

implemented, for which the call-In procedure may be used.  

 

4.3 Having considered a CCfA, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may take one or 

more of the following actions:  

a. ask for further information to be brought to a future meeting  

b. require the attendance of Cabinet members or senior officers to attend a future 

meeting to answer questions  

c. set up a Task and Finish Group to undertake an in-depth review  

d. make a report or recommendations to full Council, the Cabinet or partner agency 

and:  

i. publish that report  

ii. request full Council or Cabinet to consider and respond to the report, 

setting out what action it proposes to take and to publish its response  

iii. request a partner agency to have regard to the report when exercising its 

functions  

 

4.4 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to take any action then it will inform 

the member who raised the CCfA and provide them with a copy of any report or 

recommendations made in relation to the CCfA, together with any response received 

from full Council, the Cabinet or a partner agency.  

4.5 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides not to consider a CCfA or on 

consideration decides no further action is necessary, it will inform the member who 

raised the CCfA and explain the reasons why.  

5 Policy review and development 

5.1 Notwithstanding any policy review matters set out in the work programme of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in accordance with the procedure set out within 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, Overview and Scrutiny has a 
key role in policy and budget development.  

Page 122



103 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.2 The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider any matter referred to 
it by the Leader/Cabinet in accordance with those procedures and, having considered 
the matter, shall report to the Leader/Cabinet with comments and/or proposals. In the 
case of cross-cutting matters, the Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny Group may 
recommend a particular Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers such matters. 

6 Reports from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.1 Once recommendations have been formed, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may submit a formal report for consideration by the Cabinet (if the proposals relate 
to an executive function and are consistent with the existing budgetary and Policy 
Framework), or to the Council as appropriate (if the recommendation would require 
a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and Policy Framework). 

6.2 The Council or the Cabinet shall consider the report of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at the next available meeting. The Council or the Cabinet shall respond 
to that Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months (or following the next 
available meeting in the case of the Council) of it being submitted. 

7 Minority Reports 

7.1 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to 
the Cabinet then one minority report may be submitted to the Cabinet with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three 
voting members of the committee must support such a proposal. 

7.2  

7.3 Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  

7.3.1 At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing 
the Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may be unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the 
minority may wish to express a view different from that of the majority. In these 
circumstances, Members with a minority view may choose to submit a minority 
report.  

7.3.2 The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such 
an intention must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in 
the final report as part of the Committee’s resolutions. Where a committee has 
agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to produce a 
minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  

7.3.3 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the 
minutes, Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Member or Members 
to confirm submission dates. The minority report should be delivered to the 
Democratic Services within 5 working days after the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting.  

7.3.4 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by 
the Cabinet, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 

Page 123



104 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

7.3.5 The Monitoring Officer will determine if a minority report should be exempt from 
publication, in which case the usual procedures for the publication of exempt 
reports apply.  

7.3.6 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of 
the councillors who have proposed it and not Democratic Services. The report 
will include details of the councillors who have submitted the minority report, as 
well as its issues and any alternative recommendations. 

7.3.7 It is normally expected that an Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken 
into account all the relevant information available and as such a minority report 
will be based on the same evidence as a majority report.  

8 Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 

8.1 In addition to their rights as councillors, members of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee have the additional right of access to documents, and to notice of 
meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

9 Councillors and Officers giving account 

9.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function. As well as 
reviewing the documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role, it may require the Leader or 
any Portfolio Holder, to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their 
remit: 

a. any particular decision or series of decisions; 

b. the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 

c. their performance, 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

9.2 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee requires an officer to attend to answer 
questions or discuss issues, this will be agreed with the Monitoring Officer. 

9.3 Where it is agreed that an officer should appear to answer questions, their evidence 
should, as far as possible, be confined to questions of fact and explanation relating 
to policies and decisions. Officers may explain: - 

a. what the policies are; 

b. the justification and objectives of those policies as the Cabinet sees them; 

c. the extent to which those objectives have been met; and 

d. how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of policy measures 

Page 124



105 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

and the manner of their implementation. 

9.4 Officers may be asked to explain and justify advice they have given to the Cabinet 
prior to decisions being taken. They may also be asked to explain and justify 
decisions they have taken under delegated powers from the Cabinet. 

9.5 Officers should not be expected and should avoid being drawn into discussions of 
politically contentious matters and any officer input should be consistent with the 
requirements for political impartiality. 

9.6 The requirements of any protocols on Member/Officer relationships and the Code of 
Conduct must be adhered to where an officer is attending an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

9.7 Where any councillor or Officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee under this provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the 
Monitoring Officer, who will inform the councillor or Officer in writing giving at least 
ten clear working days’ notice of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the 
item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers 
are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will require the production of a report, then the 
councillor or Officer concerned will be given reasonable and sufficient notice to allow 
for its preparation. 

9.8 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the councillor or Officer is unable to attend on 
the required date, then the Committee shall, in consultation with the councillor or 
Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

10 Attendance by others 

10.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite individuals other than those referred 
to in Rules 8.1 and 8.2 to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 
questions. 

11 Call-in 

11.1 Call-in is the exercise of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s statutory power in 
section 21(3) of the Local Government Act 2000 to review an Executive decision that 
has been made but not yet implemented. Where a decision is called in and an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to refer it back to the Cabinet for 
reconsideration, it cannot be implemented until the call-in procedure is complete.  

11.2 Any decision of the Cabinet, an individual member of the Cabinet or a committee of 
the Cabinet, or a Key Decision made by an officer under authority delegated by the 
Cabinet, is subject to call-in. A decision may be called in only once. A 
recommendation by the Council may not be called in. 

11.3 The call-in procedure and the powers to refer a decision back for reconsideration 
may only be exercised by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, within the remit of 
their respective terms of reference.  

11.4 Call-in of decisions which may be contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework shall 

Page 125



106 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

be governed by the provisions of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
set out elsewhere within this Constitution. 

11.5 The Call-In Procedure 

11.5.1 Once made, an Executive decision shall be published, in the form of a decision 
note, within two working days at the Council’s main offices and on its public 
website. The decisions digest will be sent to all members of the Council within 
the same timescale. 

11.5.2 The decisions digest will bear the date on which it is published and will specify 
that the decision will be effective on the expiry of 5 clear working days after 
the publication of the decision and may then be implemented, unless called in 
under this provision within that 5 clear working day period. The deadline for a 
call-in request will be specified in the decisions digest. 

11.5.3 Requests for call-in may be made by the submission of a notice in accordance 
with paragraph 10.5.4 below. A request shall only be considered to be valid if 
it is signed by at least 7 members of the Council (5% of the total number of 
members) who are not members of the Cabinet. One of the requestors must 
identify themselves as the originator of the request and the request must 
specify the nature of the grounds relied upon. 

11.5.4 A call-in request must be in the form of a written notice submitted to the 
Monitoring Officer and received before the published deadline. Either one 
notice containing all required signatures or up to 7 separate e-mails (as 
appropriate) will be acceptable. 

11.5.5 The notice must set out (a) the resolution or resolutions that the member(s) 
wish to call-in; (b) the reasons why they wish the Overview and Scrutiny 
committee to consider referring it back to the Cabinet, with particular reference 
to the principles of decision making set out elsewhere within this Constitution 
and (c) the alternative course of action or recommendations that they wish to 
propose. 

11.5.6 The call-in request will be deemed valid unless either: 

a. The procedures set out in Procedure Rules 10.5.3 to 10.5.5 above have 
not been properly followed; 

b. A similar decision has been called in to the committee previously; 

c. The Executive decision has been recorded as urgent in accordance with 
Paragraph 11 below; or 

d. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, considers the call-in to be frivolous, 
vexatious or clearly outside the call-in provisions; 

in which case the Monitoring Officer may reject the call-in request. 

11.5.7 Before deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer may seek clarification of 

Page 126



107 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

the call-in request from the member(s) concerned. 

11.5.8 Upon deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer shall forthwith notify the 
member(s) concerned, the Executive Leader and relevant Cabinet Member, 
the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Head of Paid Service. 

11.6 Consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

11.6.1 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any valid call-in is reported to the next 
available meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or will 
convene a special meeting if so agreed by the Chair of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

11.6.2 The originator of the request for call-in will be expected to attend the meeting 
of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee to explain their reasons for 
the call-in and the alternative course of action or recommendations they wish 
to propose. 

11.6.3 Having considered the call-in and the reasons given, the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may either: - 

a. Refer it back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, 
normally in time for its next scheduled meeting, setting out in writing the 
nature of its concerns and any alternative recommendations; 

b. If it considers that the decision is outside the Council’s budget and Policy 
Framework, refer the matter to full Council after seeking the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules; or 

c. Decide to take no further action, in which case the original Executive 
decision will be effective immediately. 

11.7 Decisions Referred Back to the Decision-Maker 

11.7.1 If a decision is referred back to the original decision maker, that person or 
body shall then reconsider the matter, taking into account any concerns and 
recommendations of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and 
make a final decision, amending the decision or not, and give reasons for the 
decision. 

11.7.2 If a decision relates to an Executive function only the Cabinet can ultimately 
decide the matter, provided that it is in accordance with the Council’s budget 
and Policy Framework. 

12 Call-In and Urgency 

12.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken 
is urgent. A decision is urgent if: 

a. A call-in would prevent the Council reaching a decision that is required by 

Page 127



108 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

statute within a specified timescale; or 

b. Any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice 
the Council’s or the public’s interests and the reasons for urgency are reported 
to the decision-making body or person before the decision is taken. 

12.2 The decision note shall state whether the decision is an urgent one, and therefore 
not subject to call-in. 

12.3 The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree to the 
decision being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice 
Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consent shall be required. 
In the absence of that person, the Chair of the Council’s consent shall be required. 
In the absence of the Chair of the Council, the Vice Chair of the Council’s consent 
shall be required. 

12.4 Where the Cabinet has recorded a decision as urgent, the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee may retrospectively review actions arising from that decision but 
cannot delay its implementation.  

13 The Party Whip 

13.1 It is generally accepted that the Party Whip should be suspended in respect of 
Overview and Scrutiny matters. However, when considering any matter in respect of 
which a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a formal party 
whip, the councillor must declare the existence of the whip, and the nature of it before 
the commencement of the Committee’s deliberations on the matter. The declaration, 
and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting. 

14 Task and Finish Panels 

14.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint such task and finish panels as it 
considers appropriate to undertake specific tasks on its behalf. Whilst these will be 
on a task and finish basis in most cases, the Committee is not precluded from 
establishing such Panels on a more permanent basis subject to regular review. Task 
and finish panel members do not have to be members of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee but may not be members of the Cabinet. 

14.2 Where a committee establishes any Panel under Rule 14.1 above, it will set out the 
name of the Panel, its membership (including the Chair and, if appropriate, the Vice 
Chair) and the terms of reference including relevant dates for completion of the task 
or review. 

14.3 Any such Task and Finish Panel shall have the powers set out in Paragraph 8 above 
in relation to councillors and officers giving account. 

14.4 Any report prepared by a Task and Finish Panel shall be subject to review by the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to being submitted for consideration 
by Council or the Cabinet. 

15 Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

Page 128



109 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

15.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following business: 

a. record of the last meeting; 

b. consideration of any matter referred to the Committee by the Council or by the 
Cabinet; 

c. consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for advice in relation to 
call-in or a decision; 

d. responses of the Cabinet on reports of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
and 

e. the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

15.2 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a 
view to policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give 
evidence at its meetings, which are to be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

a. the investigation be conducted fairly, and all members of the Committee be given 
the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

b. those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; and 

c. the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis. 

15.3 Following any investigation or review, the relevant Committee shall prepare a report 
for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall, unless there 
are exceptional reasons, make its report and findings public. 

  

Page 129



110 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.0 COUNCILLORS 

8.1 Roles of Councillors and Officer Holders 

Part A  All councillors 

8.1.1 Responsibilities 

1. Be at the centre of community life: 

 Spend time out and about, learning about the communities that you represent, 

supporting your residents, working with local organisations (such as GPs, 

schools, police, local businesses and voluntary organisations) developing a 

shared understanding of local issues and ensuring that communities make the 

most of all the opportunities available to them. 

 Build good working relationships and earn the trust and respect of local 

partners, other members and council officers 

 Be an active member of local networks and partnerships, for example by 

acting as a school governor. 

 Communicate regularly with your community including communicating council 

policy and decisions. 

2. Contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, 
budgets, strategies and services. 

3. Represent effectively the whole community with a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them. 

4. Represent the Council on outside bodies as required. 

5. Participate constructively in the good governance of the Council. 

6. Fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of an elected Member of 
a local authority, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct, 
regulations, protocols and procedures, and participation in those decisions and 
activities reserved for the full Council. 

7. Share responsibility with officers of the council to act as effective and caring 
corporate parents for looked after children. 

8.1.2 Key Tasks 

1. Attend and participate effectively as a member of any committee to which the 

councillor is appointed. 

Page 130



111 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2. Participate in the activities of any outside body to which the councillor is appointed, 

providing two-way communication between the organisations, and reporting as 

required to the Council.  To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the 

Council’s policies and practices in relation to that body and of the community's needs 

and aspirations. 

3. Participate in the scrutiny or performance review of the services of the Authority 

including where the Council so decides, the scrutiny of policies and budget, and their 

effectiveness in achieving the strategic objectives of the Council. 

4. Participate in any advisory group to which the councillor is appointed, as convened 

by the Cabinet from time to time. 

5. Participate, as appropriate, in consultation with the community and with other 

organisations. 

6. Develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s services, management 

arrangements, organisation and activities, powers/duties, and constraints. 

7. Contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active 

encouragement to the community to participate in the governance of the West 

Northamptonshire area. 

8. Maintain professional working relationships with all Members and Officers. 

9. Identify and participate in opportunities for further development and training as a 

councillor and keep abreast of developments in national and local government. 

8.1.3 Additional Responsibilities and Tasks for Cabinet councillors 

These role profiles should be read in conjunction with the role profile for all councillors. 

Part B  Executive Leader 

8.1.4 Responsibilities 

1. Ensure efficient and effective services, where they are relevant to the needs of the 

community and the responsibility of the West Northamptonshire Council, in the short, 

medium and long term. 

2. Provide visible political leadership in relation to citizens, stakeholders and partners 

in the overall co-ordination of policies, strategies and service delivery affecting the 

locality. 

3. Lead the Cabinet in its work to develop the Policy Framework and budget and take 

overall political control of the Council within the agreed Policy Framework. 

Page 131



112 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4. Lead the development of local and regional strategic partnerships. 

5. Ensure the appropriate representation of the Council on key outside bodies. 

8.1.5 Key Tasks 

1. Provide leadership to the Council and its political administration, and lead the 

presentation of the recommendations, plans, policies and decisions of the Cabinet 

and the Council. 

2. Represent the Council’s political and strategic decision-making in the community and 

in discussions with regional, national and international organisations and others in 

order to pursue matters of interest to the Council and its communities and to keep 

the Council and the Cabinet informed accordingly. 

3. Appoint members of the Cabinet and allocate Cabinet portfolios.   

4. Develop and maintain good working relations and effective channels of 

communication with the Chair of each Scrutiny Committee  

5. Direct, manage and chair meetings of the Cabinet and to take responsibility, 

individually and/or collectively for any specific portfolio, including providing a political 

lead in proposing new policy, strategy, budget and service standards and reviews, 

as well as acting as spokesperson for the Council. 

6. Direct and manage the Chief Executive, and to meet regularly (with or without the 

Cabinet) with the Chief Executive and other relevant senior officers to consider and 

recommend action within approved policies and strategies. 

7. Consider the development and training needs of the Cabinet and members generally 

and arrange for training sessions or suitable briefings as appropriate. 

8. Receive and act as appropriate upon representations from councillors, the public, 

organisations and senior officers. 

Part C  All Cabinet councillors with Portfolio 

8.1.6 Responsibilities 

1. Take responsibility within the Cabinet on the basis of collective decision making and 

such individual delegation that may apply, for a portfolio of services or functions of 

the Council. 

2. Input into the Cabinet any information, intelligence or factors considered relevant to 

the issues under consideration by the Cabinet. 

Page 132



113 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3. Contribute actively through the portfolio and membership of the Cabinet to the 

formation, implementation, monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, budgets, 

strategies and services. 

8.1.7 Key Tasks 

1. Participate in the Cabinet and to implement agreed policies by taking responsibility 

individually and/or collectively for any portfolio allocated by the Executive Leader, 

including proposing new policy, strategy, programming, budget and service 

standards, and leading performance review. 

2. Develop a clear understanding and in depth knowledge of the respective portfolio, 

the scope and range of the relevant services for which they are responsible and an 

awareness of current agreed policies and budgetary implications in respect of those 

services. 

3. Consult and communicate with all members, council officers, key partners and the 

community as appropriate to ensure policies, strategies, budgets and decisions are 

well informed and that Council policies are widely understood and positively 

promoted. 

4. Ensure that the Council is briefed at the appropriate time on significant issues within 

the respective portfolio – i.e. those which have financial or other major resource 

implications or which will result in a change to established policy. 

5. Act as spokesperson for the Council and answer and account to the Council and the 

community on matters within the portfolio. 

6. Work closely with the Chief Executive, Director and other senior officers responsible 

for the services within the portfolio and the relevant Overview Committee Chair. 

7. Work with officers on the implementation of agreed plans, policies and programmes 

within the portfolio and inform the Cabinet of progress and performance. 

8. Participate in scrutiny or performance reviews of services as requested by a Scrutiny 

Committee. 

9. Represent the Council and the Cabinet in the community and elsewhere as required 

by the Leader. 

8.1.8 Additional Responsibilities and Tasks for Non-Cabinet councillors 

Part D  Chair of the Council 

8.1.9 Responsibilities 

Page 133



114 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1. Uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and to interpret the Constitution 

when necessary. 

2. Preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently 

and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community. 

3. Ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to 

the local community and the place at which members are able to hold the Cabinet to 

account. 

4. Promote public involvement in the Council's activities. 

5. Be the conscience of the Council, and act impartially. 

6. Attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and/or they determine 

appropriate and take precedence at formal occasions. 

7. Ensure that the dignity of the office and Council is maintained at all times. 

8.1.10  Key Tasks 

1. Chair all meetings of the full Council. 

2. Chair major consultation meetings organised by the Council, as appropriate. 

3. Set the standard of conduct to be expected from all councillors. 

4. Help represent the Council in the community and in discussions with regional, 

national and international organisations and others. 

5. Attend functions appropriate to the position of Chair of the Council. 

6. Act as host to visiting Royalty, civic dignitaries and other important visitors. 

7. Meet with relevant officers to ensure the receipt of appropriate advice to enable 

effective decisions. 

  

Page 134



115 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.2 Members’ Code of Conduct 

PART 1: THE CODE 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

The Members’ Code of Conduct is intended to promote high standards of behaviour 
amongst councillors of West Northamptonshire Council. 

The Code is underpinned by the following seven Nolan principles of public life, which should 
be adhered to when interpreting the meaning of the Code.  councillors should behave with: 

1. Selflessness – and act solely in terms of the public interest.  They should not act in 
order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends. 

2. Integrity – and should not place themselves under any financial or other obligation 
to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the 
performance of their official duties. 

3. Objectivity – in carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits; choices 
should be made on merit. 

4. Accountability – and are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public 
and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

5. Openness – and should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions 
that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information 
only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

6. Honesty – and declare any private interests relating to their public duties and to take 
steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

7. Leadership – and should promote and support these principles by leadership and 
example. 

 

SECTION 2: GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1. Introduction and Interpretation 

1.1 This Code applies to all councillors and co-opted members of West 

Northamptonshire Council. It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of 

this Code. 

1.2 In this Code: 

a) “the Council” refers to West Northamptonshire Council. 

Page 135



116 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

b) “Councillor" means any person being a Member of West Northamptonshire   

Council. 

c) “Meeting” means any meeting of: 

 the Council 

 the Cabinet 

 any of the Council’s or the Cabinet’s committees, sub-committees, joint 

committees, joint sub-committees, or area committees 

 any of the Council’s advisory groups and executive boards, working parties 

and panels. 

2. Scope 

2.1 This Code applies to you whenever you are acting in the capacity as a Member of 

the Council: not only when attending meetings.  For example, it will also include 

Members’ dealings with officers, Members’ dealings with the public, when Members 

represent the Council on outside bodies, any statements made by a Member on 

behalf of the Council, etc. 

3. General Obligations  

3.1 You must treat others with respect. 

3.2 You must not do anything which may cause the Council to fall foul of UK equalities 

legislation. 

3.3 You must not bully or intimidate any person or do anything which compromises the 

independence of those who work for the Council. 

3.4 For the purposes of this paragraph, bullying is defined as: “offensive, intimidating, 

malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that 

undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Examples of bullying include: 

 spreading malicious rumours, or insulting someone by word or behaviour. 

 copying communications that are critical about someone to others who do not 

need to know. 

 ridiculing or demeaning someone – picking on them or setting them up to fail. 

 exclusion or victimization. 

 unfair treatment. 

Page 136



117 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position. 

 unwelcome sexual advances – touching, standing too close, display of offensive 

materials, asking for sexual favours, making decisions on the basis of sexual 

advances being accepted or rejected. 

 making threats or comments about job security without foundation. 

 deliberately undermining a competent worker by overloading and constant 

criticism. 

 preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking promotion or training 

opportunities. 

3.5 You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or may be: 

 a complainant; 

 a witness; or 

 involved in the administration of this Code. 

3.6 You must not make trivial or malicious allegations against others. 

3.7 You must not do anything which compromises or may compromise the impartiality of 

those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 

3.8 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 

bringing your office or the Council into disrepute. 

3.9 You must not accept any gifts or hospitality that could be seen by the public as likely 

to influence your judgement in relation to any matter that you deal with in your official 

capacity. 

3.10 You must not pass on information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is 

of a confidential nature, unless: 

 you have the consent of a person authorised to give it 

 you are required by law to do so 

 the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 

advice, provided that they agree not to pass on the information to any other 

person; or  

 the disclosure is: 

Page 137



118 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

o reasonable and in the public interest; and  

o made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of 

the Council.  

3.11 You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which 

that person is entitled by law. 

3.12 You must not use or attempt to use your position as a councillor improperly to confer 

on, or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage. 

3.13 You must, when using, or authorising the use by others of, the resources of the 

Council: 

 act in accordance with the Council's reasonable requirements 

 ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 

(including party political purposes).  

3.14 You must have regard to any Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 

Government Act 1986.  

3.15 You must comply with any formal standards investigation into your conduct or the 

conduct of another councillor. 

3.16 You must, when reaching decisions on any matter, have regard to any relevant 

advice provided to you by: 

 the Council's Chief Finance Officer; or  

 the Council's Monitoring Officer 

3.17 You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 

requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the Council. 

 

SECTION 3: INTERESTS 

1. Registration of Interests 

1.1 Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by your Council or your election or 

appointment to office (where that is later) you must register with the Monitoring 

Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Appendix A (Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests) and Appendix B (Other Registerable Interests). 

1.2 You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days 

of becoming aware of any new interest in Appendix A or B, or of any change to a 

Page 138



119 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

1.3 The register of interests of all councillors is a public record and must be available 

online for members of the public to view. 

1.4 Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 and the Relevant Authorities 

(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, you must give the Monitoring 

Officer written notice of any pecuniary or other interests (and any changes), which 

apply to you or where it is an interest of your spouse or partner (a person with whom 

you are living as a husband and wife; or a person with whom you are living with as if 

you are civil partners) within 28 days of: 

a. election or appointment to office (if that is later); 

b. any change to the interests; 

c. disclosing an interest at a meeting (where not otherwise entered on the register); 

d. becoming aware of the interest when solely discharging a function of the authority 

as a member of the council’s Cabinet. 

1.5 It is a prosecutable offence to fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of your interests or 

knowingly/recklessly provide false or misleading information. 

2. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

2.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting in which you have an interest in Appendix A, you 

must declare the interest (unless it is sensitive - see section 5 below), not participate, 

or participate further, in any discussion or vote further on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless granted a dispensation. 

3. Other registerable interests 

3.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting in which you have an interest in Appendix B, you 

must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public 

are also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the 

matter unless you have been granted a dispensation. 

4. Non-registerable interests 

4.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and 

is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or your own wellbeing or is otherwise to your 

advantage or relates to a financial interest or wellbeing or is otherwise to the 

advantage of a relative, friend or close associate, you must disclose the interest and 

not vote on the matter unless granted a dispensation. You may speak on the matter 

only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.   

4.2 Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or a 

financial interest of a relative, friend, close associate or body covered by Appendix B 

Page 139



120 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

you must disclose the interest;  

4.3 Where the matter referred to in paragraph 4.2 affects the financial interest to a greater 

extent than if affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the area 

affected by the decision and a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts 

would believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest, you must not 

vote on the matter unless granted a dispensation. You may speak on the matter only 

if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. 

5. Sensitive Interests 

5.1 Where you consider (and the Council’s Monitoring Officer agrees) that the nature of 

a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, or other interest is such that disclosure of the details 

of the interest could lead to you or a person connected with you being subject to 

intimidation or violence, it is a “sensitive interest” for the purposes of the Code. The 

details of the sensitive interest do not need to be disclosed to a meeting, although 

the fact that you have a sensitive interest must be disclosed. 

5.2 In granting any dispensation, the overriding concern should be the safety and welfare 

of the councillor and their family. If the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that there is a 

genuine and well-founded threat of violence or intimidation to the councillor if their 

details were published by the Council, then such details should not be published. 

Receiving criticism or complaint may not amount to such and may be seen as simply 

part of the expected role of an elected politician. The Monitoring Officer will usually 

ask for evidence to substantiate the threat to hold on record. 

5.3 It should be noted that, even if a dispensation is granted, the Register shall still show 

the existence of an interest with an explanatory note saying that the details have 

been withheld under these provisions. 

6. Single Member Action 

6.1 If you are empowered to discharge functions of the Council acting alone (for example, 

as a member of the Cabinet), and: 

 have and are aware that you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter 

to be dealt with by you in that role, you must not take any action, or further action 

on the matter (except for the purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with by 

other means);   

 have and are aware that you have an interest in any matter dealt with by you in 

that role, which relates to an interest in Appendix B (‘Other Registerable Interest’), 

you must not take any action, or further action, on the matter (except for the 

purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with by other means);   

Page 140



121 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 the matter to be dealt with by you in that role relates to your own financial interest 

(and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or your own wellbeing or is otherwise 

to your advantage or relates to a financial interest or wellbeing or is otherwise to 

the advantage of a relative, friend or close associate, you must not take any action 

or further action on the matter (except for the purposes of enabling the matter to 

be dealt with by other means) and you must notify the Monitoring Officer; 

 the matter to be dealt with by you in that role affects your own financial interest or 

a financial interest of a relative, friend close associate or body covered by 

Appendix B, you must notify the Monitoring Officer before taking any action or 

further action, and if the Monitoring Officer determines that the matter affects the 

financial interest to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 

majority of inhabitants of the area affected by the decision and a reasonable 

member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 

view of the wider public interest, you must not take any action or further action.     

 

APPENDIX A – DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

1. Breaches of the rules relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests may lead to criminal 
sanctions being imposed. 

2. You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest if it is of a description specified in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State and either: 

2.1 it is an interest of yours, or 

2.2 it is an interest of: 

 your spouse or civil partner 

 a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 

 a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 

 and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

3. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are: 

INTEREST DESCRIPTION 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
by you for profit or gain.  

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the Council) made or provided within the relevant 
period in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a Member, or towards your election expenses. 

Page 141



122 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you 
have a beneficial interest) and the Council 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
Council. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the Council; and 

(b) either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 

(ii) where the share capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one 
class in which you have a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, 
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of a registered society within 
the meaning given by section 1(1) of the co-operative and community benefit Societies Act 
2014, other than a society registered as a credit union. 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 
receive income; 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 

Page 142



123 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

APPENDIX B - OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS 

1. Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which 

you are appointed or nominated by the Council; 

2. Any body- 

 exercising functions of a public nature; 

 directed to charitable purposes; or 

 one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a 

position of general control or management; 

3. Any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £10 which you have 

received by virtue of your office, or a series of gifts or hospitality, from the same source 

within any 12-month period which together are worth more than an estimated value of 

£10.   

  

Page 143



124 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

PART 2: GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY OFFERED TO COUNCILLORS 

1. General Principles 

1.1 Councillors should treat with caution any offer of a gift, favour or hospitality that is 

made to them. Whilst the person or organisation making the offer may be doing so 

entirely without expectation of gain, the public may see it differently if that person or 

organisation is doing business, or seeking to do business with the Council. councillors 

should ask themselves “Would I have been given this if I was not on the Council?” 

1.2 It is essential that any suggestion of improper influence should be avoided. When 

receiving offers of gifts and hospitality, councillors should be particularly sensitive as 

to their timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking. For example, 

hospitality must not be accepted knowingly from interested parties during the tendering 

period of a contract, or whilst an application for planning permission or some other 

kind of permission/decision is being considered by the Council. 

1.3 councillors may come into contact with individuals seeking to enhance the prospects 

of their business. Sometimes suppliers (or potential suppliers/tenderers for services) 

make approaches to councillors with a view to demonstrating a particular product or 

service. In order to avoid suspicion of unhealthy influence, councillors should ensure 

that such offers are advised to appropriate officers. 

1.4 As with all other aspects of this Code, councillors should be confident that whatever 

they do should be seen to be an example to the community of proper conduct and 

behaviour. 

2. Registering Gifts and Hospitality 

2.1 This Code of Conduct sets out the requirement for councillors to register the receipt of 

any gift or hospitality worth £10 or over that they receive in connection with their official 

duties as a councillor. If in doubt as to the value, the councillor should register the offer 

anyway. An accumulation of gifts from the same source over a short period that adds 

up to £10 or more should also be registered. The Member must register the gift or 

hospitality and its source by completing a written declaration within 28 days of 

receiving it. 

2.2 The Council will maintain a register of gifts and hospitality received by councillors 

where the value is £10 or more in value. The register is maintained by Democratic 

Services on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. Members should immediately notify 

Democratic Services of any such gifts or hospitality received and enter the relevant 

details in the register. The register will be made available to the public via the Council’s 

website. It will be updated at least quarterly. 

2.3 Councillors do not need to register gifts and hospitality that are not related to their role 

as a councillor.  

Page 144



125 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.3 Member Complaints Procedure 

1. Context 

1.1 These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that a Member of this 

Council has failed to comply with the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct, or in the 

case of a Parish or Town Councillor, that Parish or Town Council’s Code of Conduct, 

and sets out how the Council will deal with it. 

1.2 These Arrangements include the appointment of at least two Independent Persons, 

whose views must be sought by the Council before it takes a decision on an allegation 

which it has decided warrants investigation, and whose views can be sought by the 

Council at any other stage, or by a Member against whom an allegation has been 

made. 

2. The Code of Conduct 

2.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members, which is set out elsewhere 

within the constitution. 

3. Making a complaint 

3.1 If you wish to make a complaint, please write to: 

The Monitoring Officer 

West Northamptonshire Council 

One Angel Square 

Angel Street 

Northampton 

NN1 1ED 

 or e-mail the Monitoring Officer at: monitoringofficer.NCC@westnorthants.gov.uk  

3.2 The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the Council who has statutory 

responsibility for maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests and who is 

responsible for administering the process in respect of complaints of alleged Member 

misconduct. 

3.3 In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able to 

process your complaint, please use the complaint form, which is available on request 

or can be downloaded from the Council’s website, next to the Code of Conduct. 

3.4 You are required to provide us with your name and a contact address or email 

address, so that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you 

informed of its progress. If you want to keep your name and address confidential, 

please indicate this in the space provided on the complaint form, in which case we 

will not disclose your name and address to the Member against whom you make the 

Page 145

mailto:monitoringofficer.NCC@westnorthants.gov.uk


126 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

complaint, without your prior consent.  The Council does not normally investigate 

anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public interest in doing so. 

3.5 The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint as soon as 

possible after receiving it and will keep you informed of the progress of your 

complaint. 

4. Initial Assessment of Complaints Received 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer will review all complaints received by the Council and may 

consult with at least one of the Independent Persons (see section 13 below) at this 

stage.  In assessing the complaint, the Monitoring Officer will apply the following 

‘public interest’ test: 

‘CAN’ we investigate your complaint? 

 Is the person you are complaining about a councillor? 

 Did the conduct occur within the last six months? 

 Is the conduct something that is covered by the code? 

4.2 If a complaint has been made but does not fall within the scope or intent of these 

arrangements, the Monitoring Officer may still decide to take informal action in order 

to resolve the matter.   

4.3 If the Monitoring Officer determines the complaint can be investigated, the following 

test will be applied: 

‘SHOULD’ we investigate your complaint? 

 Is there evidence which supports the complaint? 

 Is the conduct something which it is possible to investigate? 

 Would an investigation be proportionate and in the public interest? 

4.4 If the Monitoring Officer determines the complaint should be investigated, they will 

then decide whether the complaint: 

a. warrants investigation or,  

b. may be suitable for alternative resolution without investigation, 

4.5 For the complaint to be admissible it must be in a legible format and relate to an 

existing Member of the Council. 

4.6 In determining whether or not the complaint should be referred for investigation or to 

Page 146



127 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

seek alternative resolution the Monitoring Officer and Independent Persons will have 

regard to a range of factors including the following: 

a. Whether there is sufficient information upon which to base a decision; 

b. How serious is the alleged complaint; 

c. Is the complaint politically motivated, vexatious or tit for tat; 

d. Did the action complained about occur recently or not; 

e. Do the allegations relate to actions occurring whilst the Member was acting in 

their official capacity or do they relate to their private life; 

f. Whether the matter is considered suitable for alternative resolution and whether 

either the Member concerned or the complainant is not prepared to accept this 

as a solution. 

4.7 The initial assessment of the complaint will be held as soon as possible after receipt 

of your complaint and you will be informed, in writing, of the outcome by the 

Monitoring Officer.  You will be informed on progress throughout the process.  

4.8 Unless exceptional circumstances exist that indicate otherwise, the Monitoring 

Officer will inform the Member concerned of the receipt and nature of the complaint 

and invite their comments. 

4.9 Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to come to a 

decision, they may come back to you for such information, and may request 

information from the Member against whom your complaint is directed.  

4.10 If, during the assessment of the initial complaint, it becomes clear that either the 

Monitoring Officer or the Independent Person have a conflict of interest in relation to 

the complaint, they will not play any further role in the assessment of the complaint. 

In order that the complaint can be assessed, steps will be taken to appoint a 

Monitoring Officer (or suitably qualified person) or an Independent Person from 

another authority to assess the complaint and take any further steps required under 

this procedure.  

5. Alternative Resolution 

5.1 In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint 

informally, without the need for a formal investigation. The Monitoring Officer must 

consult with an Independent Person about this course of action. Such informal 

resolution may involve the Member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable 

and offering an apology, or other remedial action by the Council. Where the Member 

or the Council makes a reasonable offer of informal resolution, but you are not willing 

to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer (and Independent Person) will take 

Page 147



128 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

account of this in deciding whether the complaint warrants a formal investigation. 

5.2 If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any 

person, the Monitoring Officer has the power to call-in the Police and other regulatory 

agencies. 

6. If the Complaint is referred for Investigation how is the investigation 

conducted? 

6.1 If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, they will 

appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer of the Council, an 

officer of another Council or an external investigator. The Monitoring Officer will agree 

an investigation plan with the Investigating Officer. The Investigating Officer will 

decide whether they need to meet or speak to you to understand the nature of your 

complaint.  If so, then you can explain your understanding of events and suggest 

what documents the Investigating Officer needs to see and who the Investigating 

Officer needs to interview.  The Monitoring Officer will consult with an Independent 

Person about the need for a formal investigation. 

6.2 The Investigating Officer would normally write to the Member against whom you have 

complained and provide them with a copy of your complaint.  The Member would be 

asked to provide their explanation of events. The Investigating Officer will identify 

what documents they need to see and who they need to interview.  In exceptional 

cases, where it is appropriate to keep your identity confidential, or disclosure of 

details of the complaint to the Member might prejudice the investigation, the 

Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers given to the 

Member, or delay notifying the Member until the investigation has progressed 

sufficiently. 

6.3 At the end of their investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report 

and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the Member 

concerned, to give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report 

which you disagree with or which you consider requires further consideration. 

6.4 Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on the 

draft report, the Investigating Officer will send it to the Monitoring Officer. 

7. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence 

of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

7.1 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the Independent Persons, review the 

Investigating Officer’s report and, if they are satisfied that the Investigating Officer’s 

report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the Member 

concerned, notifying you that no further action is required.  

8. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a 

Page 148



129 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with an Independent Person, review the 

Investigating Officer’s report and will then either send the matter for local hearing 

before the Hearings Sub-Committee made up of councillors from the Council’s 

Democracy and Standards Committee or seek an alternative resolution. 

8.2 Local Resolution 

The Monitoring Officer and Independent Person may consider that the matter can be 

resolved without the need for a hearing. Such resolution may include the Member 

accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, and/or other 

remedial action by the Council. If the Member complies with the suggested resolution, 

the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Democracy and Standards 

Committee for information, but will take no further action.  

8.3 Local Hearing 

If the Monitoring Officer and Independent Person consider that local resolution is not 

appropriate or it isn’t possible to achieve, the Monitoring Officer will report the 

Investigating Officer’s report to the Hearings Sub-Committee, which will conduct a 

local hearing in private to decide whether the Member has failed to comply with the 

Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the Member. 

In summary, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, requiring the 

Member to give their response to the Investigating Officer’s report. This is in order to 

identify what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be contentious at the hearing. 

The Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee may issue directions as to the manner in 

which the hearing will be conducted. At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will 

present their report, call such witnesses as they consider necessary and make 

representations to substantiate their conclusion that the Member has failed to comply 

with the Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as 

the complainant to attend and give evidence to the Hearings Sub-Committee.  

The Member will then have an opportunity to give their evidence, to call witnesses 

and to make representations to the Hearings Sub-Committee as to why they consider 

that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

The Hearings Sub-Committee, with the benefit of any advice from an Independent 

Person, may conclude that the Member did not fail to comply with the Code of 

Conduct and so dismiss the complaint. Alternatively, if the Hearings sub-committee 

finds that the Member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will 

inform the Member of this finding and the Hearings Sub-Committee will then consider 

what action, if any, the Hearings Sub-Committee should take as a result of the 

Member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  In doing this, the Hearings 

Page 149



130 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Sub-Committee will give the Member an opportunity to make representations to the 

Panel and will consult an Independent Person. 

If the Member wishes to make representations to the Panel and/or consult with an 

Independent Person the Hearing will adjourn, normally for one week, and reconvene 

to hear any representation or statement from the Member before either confirming or 

amending their decision.  If the Member does not wish to make representations to 

the Panel, or consult with an Independent Person, the decision of the Panel will stand 

as announced. 

9. What action can the Hearings Sub-Committee take where a Member has failed 

to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

9.1 The Council has delegated to the Hearings Sub-Committee such of its powers to take 

action in respect of individual members (including town and parish council members) 

as may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.  

9.2 If, following an investigation and hearing, it is established that a member has failed 

to comply with their council’s Member Code of Conduct, one or more of the following 

sanctions may be applied:  

a. Publish findings in respect of the member’s conduct;  

b. Report findings to the relevant council for information; 

c. Recommend to the relevant council that the member be issued with a formal 

censure or be reprimanded; 

d. Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 

members, recommend to the relevant Council or committees) that they be 

removed from any or all committees or sub-committees of the council;  

e. Where Executive arrangements exist, recommend to the Executive Leader 

that the member be removed from Cabinet, or removed from particular 

portfolio responsibilities;  

f. Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange or recommend training for the 

member;  

g. Instruct the Monitoring Officer to mediate between the complainant and the 

Member; 

h. Remove or recommend the removal of the member from any outside 

appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated by their 

council where the complaint relates to that appointment and for a specified 

period of time;  

Page 150



131 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

i. Withdraw or recommend withdrawal of facilities provided to the member by 

their council, such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access, 

which may have been abused or improperly used; 

j. Exclude or recommend the exclusion of the member from their council’s 

offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary 

for attending full Council, committee and sub-committee meetings.  

k. Recommend that the member concerned makes a formal written or oral 

apology to the full Council. 

9.3 There are no powers that allow the Council to suspend or disqualify a Member or to 

withdraw Members’ basic allowances. However, removing a Member from the 

Cabinet or other Committee may lead to a loss of a Special Responsibility Allowance 

that position was entitled to for the period of the suspension. 

10. What happens at the end of the hearing? 

10.1 At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings Sub-

Committee as to whether the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and 

as to any actions which the Hearings Sub-Committee resolves to take. 

10.2 As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and subject to any adjournment as set 

out in 8.3 above, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal decision notice in 

consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee and send a copy to you 

and to the Member. The decision notice will be made available for public inspection 

after 20 working days have elapsed from the date the decision notice was issued 

(provided there has not been a request for a review under paragraph 11 of these 

Arrangements) and the decision reported to the next convenient meetings of the 

Democracy and Standards Committee and of the Council. 

11. Appeals and Reviews 

11.1 There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the Member against a 

decision of the Monitoring Officer. 

11.2 However, a review of the decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee may be sought by 

you or the Member concerned in the following circumstances: 

a. where you or the Member concerned consider that the Local Hearing was not 

conducted in accordance with the process set out in these Arrangements or 

the principles of natural justice (see below); or 

b. where significant new evidence is available which has not been considered by 

the Hearings Sub-Committee. 

11.3 Any such request for a review should be made to the Monitoring Officer in writing (by 

Page 151



132 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

letter or e-mail) within 20 working days from the date the decision notice was issued 

to the parties and: 

a. if made pursuant to paragraph 11.2a above, must set out specifically how it is 

considered the Local Hearing was not conducted in accordance with the 

process set out in these Arrangements or the principles of natural justice; or 

b. if made pursuant to paragraph 11.2b above, must include copies of the new 

evidence or explain what the evidence is. 

11.4 The Monitoring Officer may reject the request for a review if after consultation with 

an Independent Person they conclude that substantive reasons have not been 

provided to support the request or the further evidence provided is insufficient to 

support a request for a review. Simply expressing disagreement with the Hearings 

Sub-Committee’s decision or repeating the original complaint will result in the request 

for review being rejected. If the request for review is rejected, you and the Member 

will be advised in writing of the reasons for rejection.   

11.5 If a request for a review is received (provided it is not rejected), the Monitoring Officer 

will notify the complainant and Member concerned and convene a meeting of the 

Review Panel. 

11.6 The Review Panel will review the Hearings Sub-Committee’s decision in private. The 

Review Panel will have the documentation considered by the Hearings Sub-

Committee and the decision notice of the Hearings Sub-Committee before it. It will 

not conduct a re-hearing. It will only consider the request for the review, (including 

any new evidence presented with the request for review) together with the 

complainant or subject Member’s response to the request for the review and 

response to any new evidence. The Review Panel will also have the discretion to re-

hear any of the original evidence if it considers this necessary 

11.7 The Review Panel will either: 

a. confirm the original decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee; or 

b. disagree with the original decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee and 

substitute its own decision (which may only be a decision that was open to the 

Hearings Sub-Committee). 

11.8 At the end of the review, the Chair of the Review Panel will explain the Review 

Panel’s reasons for its decision. Within 5 working days of the decision of the Review 

Panel, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal decision notice in consultation 

with the Chair of the Review Panel and send a copy to you and to the Member. The 

decision notice will be made available for public inspection and will be reported to the 

next convenient meeting of the Democracy and the Council. 

Page 152



133 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

11.9 Unless in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer in consultation with an Independent 

Person exceptional circumstances exist, the Review Panel must make a decision 

within two calendar months of the receipt of the request for a review. 

11.10 There is no right of appeal of the decision of the Review Panel which is final. 

11.11 If you feel that the Council has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may 

make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman or take your own legal 

advice as to options that might be open to you. 

12. What is the Hearings Sub-Committee? 

12.1 The Hearings Sub-Committee is a sub-committee of the Council’s Democracy and 

Standards Committee. It will comprise three members of the Democracy and 

Standards Committee. 

12.2 Independent Persons are invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Sub-

Committee and their views are sought and taken into consideration before the 

Hearings Sub-Committee takes any decision on whether the Member’s conduct 

constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be 

taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

13. What is the Review Panel? 

13.1 The Review Panel is a sub-committee of the Council’s Democracy and Standards 

Committee. It will comprise three members of the Democracy and Standards 

Committee who did not sit on the Hearings Sub-Committee, have not previously been 

involved in the matter concerned and who do not otherwise have any conflict of 

interest. 

13.2 Independent Persons are invited to attend all meetings of the Review Panel and their 

views are sought and taken into consideration before the Review Panel takes any 

decision on whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the 

Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to 

comply with the Code of Conduct. 

14. Who are the Independent Persons? 

14.1 The Council has five Independent Persons. 

14.2 A person cannot be “independent” if they: 

a. are, or have been within the past five years, a Member, co-opted Member or 

officer of the Council or of a parish council within the Council’s area; or 

b. are a relative or close friend of a person involved in making or determining the 

complaint.  For this purpose, “relative” means: 

Page 153



134 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

(i) the other person’s spouse or civil partner; 

(ii) living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners; 

(iii) a grandparent of the other person; 

(iv) a lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person; 

(v) a parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs (i) or (ii); 

(vi) the spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraph (iii), (iv) or (v); or 

(vii) living with a person within paragraph (iii), (iv) or (v) as husband and wife or as 

if they were civil partners. 

15. Being accompanied at a Local Hearing or Review Panel meeting 

15.1 Both the complainant and the Member complained about may choose to bring 

another person with them to the Local Hearing and any Review Panel meeting (if one 

takes place) to support (but not represent) them. It shall be a matter for the Chair of 

the Hearings Sub-Committee and the Chair of the Review Panel to issue directions 

as to the manner in which a supporting person may participate in the Local 

Hearing/Review Panel meeting, to ensure there is a balance between a party’s need 

to be supported and the need for the Hearings Sub-Committee and/Review Panel to 

conduct its business fairly and efficiently.     

16. Principles of Natural Justice 

16.1 For the avoidance of doubt, it is expressly stated that the procedures in these 

Arrangements must be conducted in accordance with the principles of natural justice.  

In summary, this means that each party has the right to a fair hearing, the right to 

make their case to an impartial person/group of people, and that the decision makers 

in this process act without bias or apparent bias, act impartially and do not create any 

procedural irregularities. 

17. Service 

17.1 Where it is necessary for any documentation to be sent to a member against whom 

an allegation of breach of the Code has been made, those documents may be sent 

by recorded delivery post to that member’s usual address and/or by e-mail to the e-

mail address notified to the Council. Any documents sent by such a method are 

deemed to be served for the purpose of these arrangements. 

18. Revision of these arrangements 

18.1 The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements and has 

delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee (and the Chair of the Review 

Page 154



135 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Panel in cases where there is a review), the right to depart from these arrangements 

where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective and 

fair consideration of any matter. 

  

Page 155



136 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.4 Member/Officer Protocol 

1. Introduction 

1.1 A good relationship between councillors and officers is characterised by mutual 

respect and trust and is essential to the successful working of the organisation. 

councillors and officers should speak to each other openly and honestly; they are 

indispensable to each other. Nothing in this Protocol is intended to change that 

relationship. 

1.2 The purpose of this Protocol is to help councillors and officers perform effectively by 

giving guidance on their respective roles and expectations and on their relationship 

with each other. It is intended to promote clarity and the smooth running of the Council, 

and ensure that impartial and objective advice is obtained. 

1.3 The Protocol also gives guidance on what to do on the rare occasions when things go 

wrong. Responsibility for the operation of this Protocol lies with the Chief Executive of 

the Council and the Monitoring Officer. 

1.4 The Protocol must be read and operated in the context of all relevant legislation, 

national and local Codes of Conduct, the Council’s Codes of Conduct and other 

supporting procedures such as the Complaints and Whistleblowing procedures, 

commissioning and procedure for confidential reporting. Breach of this protocol may 

also constitute a breach of the councillor, and the Employee, Codes of Conduct. 

2. Roles of councillors and Officers 

2.1 Councillors and officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to one 

another. Their responsibilities are distinct. councillors are responsible to the electorate 

and set policy and direction. They are elected to serve a term of office. Officers are 

employed by and responsible to the whole Council. An officer’s job is to give advice to 

the Council, and to carry out the Council’s work under the direction and control of the 

Council, the Cabinet, and relevant committees, etc. Mutual respect and co-operation 

between councillors and officers are essential to good local government. 

2.2 Councillors 

Councillors have the following main areas of responsibility: 

a. contributing to determining the policy of the Council and giving it leadership; 

b. monitoring and reviewing the performance of the Council in implementing that 

policy and delivering services; 

c. representing the Council in their local areas and externally; 

d. acting on behalf of their constituents.  

Page 156



137 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.3 All councillors must respect the impartiality of officers’ information and advice, must 

not ask them to undertake work of a party-political nature, or to do anything that would 

put them in difficulty in the event of a change in the political composition of the Council. 

2.4 Councillors must recognise that no officer should be expected to give political advice, 

and those that are in ‘politically restricted’ posts are specifically debarred from 

engaging in active political work. 

2.5 When dealing with Council business, councillors must be mindful of the provisions 

relating to interests in the councillor Code of Conduct and avoid involvement in matters 

that could be deemed to be breaches of these provisions. councillors should also be 

aware of legislative constraints on their behaviour. For example, they should not visit 

certain Council establishments without the appropriate checks having been 

completed.  

2.6 Members of the Cabinet and Committee Chairs 

2.7 Members of the Cabinet and Chairs and Vice Chairs of committees, Boards, Panels 

etc, have additional responsibilities and their relationships with officers whilst carrying 

out those roles may be different from, and more complex than those of councillors 

without those responsibilities. 

2.8 Officers 

2.9 An officer’s role is: 

a. to give advice and information to all councillors on an impartial basis, using their 

professional expertise and 

b. to implement the policies determined by the Council, provided the policies are 

within the law. 

2.10 In all advice, including reports, it is the responsibility of the officer to express their own 

advice in an objective and professional manner, and make recommendations based 

on this. An officer may report the views of individual councillors on an issue. If the 

councillor wishes to express a view contrary to the recommendation, they must not 

pressure the officer to make a recommendation contrary to the officer’s professional 

view. 

2.11 Certain officers e.g. Chief Executive of the Council, Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) have responsibilities in law over and above their 

obligations to the Council and to individual councillors. These obligations should be 

respected. These officers must not be obstructed in the discharge of these 

responsibilities, and/or be victimised for discharging these responsibilities. 

2.12 Officers who are professionally qualified may be bound to observe professional 

Page 157



138 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

standards in giving advice and councillors must respect this. Officers will also be bound 

by the limits of their authority in the Council. 

3. Expectations 

3.1 Councillors can expect from officers: 

a. A commitment to the Council as a whole, and not to any political group; 

b. A working partnership; 

c. An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 

d. Timely response to enquiries and complaints; 

e. Objective advice, not influenced by political views or preference, which does 

not compromise the political neutrality of officers; 

f. Regular, up to date information on matters that can reasonably be considered 

appropriate and relevant to their needs, having regard to any individual 

responsibilities that they have and positions that they hold; 

g. Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment; 

h. Respect, courtesy and dignified behaviour appropriate to the occasion; 

i. Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively; 

j. A high level of integrity and confidentiality, appropriate to the situation; 

k. Not to have officers’ personal issues raised with them outside the agreed 

procedures; 

l. That they will not attempt to influence improperly any councillor to advance 

officers’ personal interests, those of others, or influence improperly a decision; 

m. At all times compliance with the Code of Conduct for Officers; 

n. Support for the role of councillors as the local representatives of the Council, 

within any scheme of support for councillors, which may be approved by the 

Council. 

3.2 Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all 

the councillors representing the ward or wards affected should, as a matter of course, 

be invited to attend the meeting unless a lead Councillor has been agreed. Similarly, 

whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local issue, 

the ward councillors should be notified at the outset of the exercise. 

Page 158



139 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3.3 Correspondence between an individual councillor and an officer should not normally 

be copied by the officer to any other councillor without that councillor’s consent. 

Officers should not be copied into political group correspondence. 

3.4 Officers can expect from councillors: 

a. A working partnership; 

b. An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 

and of officer work/life balance; 

c. Leadership and direction; 

d. Respect, courtesy and dignified behaviour appropriate to the occasion;  

e. A high level of integrity and confidentiality, appropriate to the situation; 

f. Not to be subject to intimidation, harassment or bullying; 

g. Not to have councillors’ personal issues raised with them outside the agreed 

procedures; 

h. Not attempt to influence improperly any officer to advance their personal 

interests, or those of others, or influence improperly a decision; 

i. That councillors will at all times comply with the Council’s councillors Code of 

Conduct; 

j. That councillors will not comment adversely on the conduct or capability of an 

individual Council employee or officer at meetings held in public; 

k. The councillors will not ask for support other than to assist in carrying out their 

roles in the Council. 

4. Limitations on Behaviour 

4.1 The distinct roles of councillors and officers necessarily impose limitations upon 

behaviour. By way of illustration, and not as an exclusive list: 

a. Close personal relationships between councillors and officers can confuse 

these separate roles and get in the way of the proper discharge of the Council’s 

functions, not least in creating the perception in others that a particular 

councillor or officer may secure advantageous treatment for themselves, their 

group or otherwise. Where close personal relationships do exist, it is necessary 

to ensure that confidential knowledge is respected and not discussed 

inappropriately; 

Page 159



140 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

b. The need to maintain these separate roles means that there are limits to the 

matters on which officers should be expected to give advice. Officers are 

unlikely to be able to give advice on personal matters and should not give 

advice on party political matters; 

c. Relationships with particular individuals or party groups should not be such as 

to give cause for suspicion that an officer favours that councillor or group above 

others. The issue of officer attendance and advice to political groups is 

specifically covered below. 

5. Political Groups 

5.1 The operation of political groups is an integral feature of local government, and such 

political groups have an important part to play in the development of policy and the 

political management of the Council. It is in the interests of the Council to support the 

effective operation of political groups, but the operation of political groups can pose 

difficulties in terms of the impartiality of officers (note: the Cabinet is not a political 

group even if all members are from a single party). 

6. Officer Attendance 

6.1 Any political group may request the Statutory Officers, Executive Directors or Assistant 

Directors to attend a meeting of the group to advise on any particular matter relating 

to the Council. 

6.2 An officer may decline a request to attend if they are of the opinion that the particular 

issue is of such a political nature that it would be inappropriate to attend. 

6.3 Officers’ advice to political groups will be limited to a statement of material facts and 

identification of options and the merits and demerits of such options for the Council. 

Advice will not deal with any political implications of the matter or any option, and 

officers will not make any political recommendation to a political group. 

6.4 Where an officer attends a political group, the Chief Executive of the Council will advise 

all other groups that the officer has attended and the subject upon which they have 

advised and ensure that other groups are afforded the same opportunity. 

6.5 Where officers provide information and advice to a party group meeting in relation to 

a matter of Council business, this cannot act as a substitute for providing all necessary 

information and advice to the Cabinet, relevant committee or sub-committee where 

the matter in question is concerned. 

6.6 Officers will respect the confidentiality of any lawful matter, which they hear in the 

course of attending a political group meeting.  

8. When Things go Wrong 

Page 160



141 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

7.1 From time to time the relationship between councillors and officers may break down 

or become strained. If this is the case, issues will be dealt with informally where 

possible, or through conciliation by an appropriate senior manager or councillor.  

7.2 Procedure for officers 

Formal complaints against councillors must follow the Code of Conduct processes 

found elsewhere in the Constitution. Before an officer initiates a complaint under the 

Code of Conduct or the Whistleblowing Procedure, they should consider raising their 

concerns about the behaviour of a given councillor with the Monitoring Officer.  

7.3 Procedure for councillors 

a. In the event that a councillor remains dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour or 

performance of an officer, the matter should be raised with an appropriate 

Executive Director, usually one with authority over the officer concerned. Where 

the officer concerned is an Executive Director, the matter should be raised with 

the Chief Executive. Where the officer concerned is the Chief Executive, the 

matter should be raised with the Monitoring Officer. 

b. Prior to a councillor approaching the relevant Executive Director, the councillor 

should consider discussing the issue informally with the Leader or Deputy Leader 

or another appropriate Executive Director. 

c. If the matter cannot be resolved informally, it may be necessary to invoke the 

Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. 

  

Page 161



142 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.5 Planning Protocol 

1 Background and Scope 

1.1 This Planning Protocol should be read in conjunction with the terms of reference 

provided for the Strategic Planning Committee and the Local Area Planning 

committees. 

1.2 The Planning Protocol takes into account the ethical framework introduced by the 

Localism Act 2011, the National Planning Policy Framework and relevant planning 

practice guidance, and the Code of Conduct for Members adopted by West 

Northamptonshire Council. 

1.3 The aim of this Protocol is to ensure that: 

a. Planning decisions are made openly, impartially with sound judgement, and for 

justifiable planning reasons; and 

b. Throughout the planning process there are no grounds for suggesting that a decision 

has been biased, not impartial or not well founded in any way. 

1.4 The Planning Protocol applies to members of the Planning committees and officers.  

2 Introduction 

2.1 The Planning committees operate in a quasi-judicial manner. There is recourse 

through the courts and the Planning Inspectorate if a decision on a regulatory 

planning matter is not correctly made - with possible financial penalties for the 

Council. This places an important responsibility on those who serve on the Planning 

committees. 

2.2 The role of a Member on a Planning Committee involves balancing representing the 

needs and interests of the council area as a whole, with the need to maintain the 

ethic of impartial decision making on what can be highly controversial proposals. This 

Protocol has therefore been established to provide guidance for Members and 

officers in dealing with planning matters to avoid grounds for allegations of 

malpractice. 

2.3 All Members serving on a Planning Committee are required to abide by this Protocol.  

3. General Roles and Conduct 

3.1 The basis of the planning system is the consideration of private proposals against 

wider public interests, with often strongly opposing views. Whilst Members should 

take account of those views, they should not favour any person, company, group or 

locality; nor put themselves in a position where they appear to do so. Decisions 

Page 162



143 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

should clearly be based upon the development plan and material planning 

considerations. 

3.2 The role of Members at a Planning Committee is not to represent the views of their 

constituents, but to consider planning applications in the interests of the whole 

Council area. When voting on applications, Members may therefore decide to vote 

against the views expressed by their constituents. 

3.3 Members who do not feel that they can act in this way should consider whether they 

are best suited to serving on a Planning Committee. 

3.4 Members whose business or other interests bring them into frequent contact with the 

planning system should consider whether it is appropriate or practical to accept 

appointment to a Planning Committee: nor should other Members seek to appoint 

such a Member to a Planning Committee. 

3.5 The role of officers at Planning Committee is to advise the Members on professional 

matters, and to assist in the smooth running of the meeting.  

3.6 If Members have questions about a development proposal, they are encouraged to 

contact the case officer in advance. The officer will then provide advice and answer 

any questions about the report and the proposal, which will result in more efficient 

use of the Planning Committee’s time and more transparent decision making. 

4. Training 

4.1 No Member shall attend any meeting of a Planning Committee as a committee 

Member or a substitute for a committee Member unless they have undergone such 

mandatory training in planning procedures as the Council requires. 

4.2 Members should endeavour to attend any other specialised training or informal 

briefing sessions provided, to improve and keep up-to-date knowledge of planning 

law, regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans beyond 

the minimum referred to above. 

5. General Principles for Dealing with Planning Matters 

5.1 A Member should consider the interests of local residents and businesses as a whole 

and should not favour any individuals or groups. They should also act in the interests 

of the whole Council area. 

5.2 A Member shall not accept a nomination to serve on a Planning Committee unless 

they agree to abide by the terms of the Planning Protocol. 

5.3 Members (and officers) should not act as paid agents or consultants on planning 

matters within the jurisdiction of the Council as local planning authority. 

Page 163



144 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.4 Planning applications will be determined in a transparent, fair and open manner and 

Members should have regard only to the development plan and material planning 

considerations and should disregard all other factors. 

5.5 Members participating at meetings should ensure that they are present for the whole 

presentation by officers and subsequent debate on a particular matter. This is to 

ensure that they are able to hear all the relevant evidence and debate in relation to 

a proposal. In the event that a Member misses part of an item being discussed then 

they must not vote.  

5.6 Members should retain an open mind about planning matters until they are in 

possession of all the relevant information to be presented. 

5.7 Members should pay full regard to officers’ professional recommendations, relevant 

national/regional planning statements and guidance, and relevant Development Plan 

Policies.  

5.8 Members are recommended to be cautious of social contact with applicants and 

agents. 

5.9 Members should not disclose to a third party information submitted to them or a 

committee on a confidential basis. 

6. Determination of Planning Applications 

6.1 Members determining applications will take account of all the relevant information 

presented before reaching a decision and should not commit themselves to a final 

opinion before having done so.  

6.2 In considering the merits of planning applications Members should have regard only 

to relevant planning matters and should disregard all other factors and 

considerations. 

6.3 Members should pay full regard to the professional officer recommendation, relevant 

national/regional planning guidance and relevant Development Plan Policies.  

6.4 Members can always ask for clarification from officers. However, if there are issues 

which require factual clarification, preferably these should be directed to the case 

officer before the committee meeting, not at the meeting itself.  

6.5 Members will then debate the application, including giving an indication of how they 

intend to vote. 

6.6 After Members have debated the application, a vote will be taken. 

6.7 Whilst officers will provide professional advice and a recommendation on every 

application and matter considered, it is the responsibility of Members, acting in the 

Page 164



145 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

interests of the whole Council, to decide what weight to attach to the advice given 

and to the considerations of each individual application. In this way, Members may 

decide to apply different weight to certain issues and may reach a decision contrary 

to officer advice.   

6.8 If, in moving contrary to the advice and/or recommendation in an officer’s report, 

Members require further advice about the details of the motion, the meeting can be 

adjourned for a short time to allow Members and officers to draft the motion. This 

may include reasons for the decision that are relevant to the planning considerations 

on the application, and which are capable of being supported and substantiated 

should an appeal be lodged.  

6.9 Where Members propose to determine a planning matter contrary to officers’ advice, 

full and proper reasons based on material planning considerations must be given at 

decision time. 

6.10 Members may move that any vote should be recorded at any meeting of the Planning 

Committee. This means that a formal record is taken of how each individual Member 

voted (For, Against, or Abstain). 

7. Officer Reports to Committee 

7.1 Reports should be accurate and cover, among other things, the relevant planning 

matters of objections and the relevant planning matters raised by people who have 

been consulted in respect of an application. 

7.2 Relevant points will include a clear exposition of the site or related history, the 

relevant Development Plan Policies and all other relevant material planning 

considerations. 

7.3 Reports should include a clear written recommendation of action. 

7.4 Reports should list the topics that will be addressed by conditions and if possible also 

include draft Heads of Terms (where applicable) to a legal agreement, if the 

recommendation is to grant planning permission. 

7.5 Reports should contain a technical appraisal which clearly justifies the 

recommendation made by the officer. 

7.6 If the recommendation in the report is contrary to the provisions of the Local Plan, 

the material considerations which justify this must be clearly stated. 

7.7 Where an application is recommended for refusal the reasons will be set out in full in 

the officer’s report.  

8. Disclosable Pecuniary and Personal Interests 

Page 165



146 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.1 The Code of Conduct sets out requirements for Members on declaring personal and 

disclosable pecuniary interests and the consequences of having such interests. 

These must be followed scrupulously and Members should review their situation 

regularly. 

8.2 Members should avoid membership of the Planning committees if it entails, or would 

entail, frequent declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 

8.3 A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of a particular planning 

matter must declare it and take no part in the discussion or the determination of the 

proposal. The Member may in their personal capacity and if registered to speak make 

representations and answer questions prior to any debate on the matter but 

thereafter should leave the room while the item is considered and determined. The 

responsibility for this rests with each Member and they may wish to consult with the 

Monitoring Officer or legal advisor to the committee at the earliest opportunity if in 

any doubt. 

8.4 Ward Members who are also members of a Planning committee may participate in 

the committee debate on an application in their ward and subject to any disclosable 

pecuniary interest will normally be allowed to vote on the application.  

8.5 A Member who has a disclosable interest in a planning matter is still able to represent 

the interests of their Ward constituents at committee meetings in respect of that 

matter, subject to the Council’s rules on public participation at committees. 

Alternatively, the Member could advise constituents to address their representations 

to another ward Member or a Member of an adjacent ward who is not so affected. 

9. Pre‐determination and Predisposition 

9.1 Members of the Planning Committees need to take account of the general public’s 

expectation that a planning application will be processed and determined in a 

transparently open and fair manner, in which members taking the decision will take 

account of all the evidence presented before arriving at a decision, not take into 

account irrelevant evidence or representations and that to commit themselves one 

way or the other before hearing all the arguments and evidence makes them 

vulnerable to an accusation of partiality. A Member may voice their concerns publicly 

before a meeting but they should make it clear that they will not form a final opinion 

until they have considered all the information. 

9.2 Members must not prejudice their ability to participate in planning decisions at a 

Planning committee by making up their mind, or clearly appearing to have made up 

their mind (particularly in relation to an external interest or lobby group), on how they 

will vote on any planning matter prior to formal consideration of the matter at the 

relevant Planning committee and hearing the officer’s presentation and evidence and 

arguments on both sides. 

Page 166



147 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.3 Pre-determining a matter in this way and then taking part in the decision will put the 

Council at risk of a finding of maladministration and of legal proceedings on the 

grounds of there being a danger of bias or a failure to take into account all of the 

factors enabling the proposal to be considered on its merits. 

9.4 If a Member has made up their mind prior to the meeting, or have made public 

comments which indicate that they might have done, and is not able to reconsider 

their previously held view, then they will not be able to participate on the matter. 

9.5 Members who are members of a Planning committee and who in that capacity attend 

any ancillary meeting or committee/sub‐committee need to avoid any appearance of 

bias or of having predetermined their views before taking a decision on a planning 

application or on planning policies. Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 provides that 

a Member should not be regarded as having a closed mind simply because they 

previously did or said something that, directly or indirectly, indicated what view they 

might take in relation to any particular meeting, provided they remain open to listening 

to all the arguments and changing their mind in the light of all the information 

presented at a relevant meeting. A Member in this position will always be judged 

against an objective test of whether the reasonable onlooker with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, would consider that the Member was biased. 

9.6 Circumstances may also arise where a Member has had significant personal 

involvement with an applicant, agent or interested party, (whether or not in 

connection with the particular matter before the Planning Committee), which could 

lead an observer who knows the relevant facts to reasonably think the Member’s 

interest is so significant that it is likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the 

public interest. In these circumstances the Member should declare a disclosable 

interest, observe the Council’s rules on Public Participation at committees, and 

withdraw from the meeting. 

9.7 Members must be aware that they are likely to have pre-determined a matter where 

the Council is the landowner, developer or applicant and they have acted as, or could 

be perceived as being, a chief advocate for the proposal. 

9.8 For advice on predetermination and predisposition, Members should seek the advice 

of the Monitoring Officer. 

10. Lobbying of Councillors 

10.1 Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process. It is recognised that those affected 

by a proposal will often seek to influence the decision by an approach to their local 

Member or to members of a Planning Committee. However, such lobbying can lead 

to the impartiality and integrity of a member being called into question. The 

information provided by lobbyists may represent a selective and incomplete picture 

of the relevant considerations in respect of a planning matter. 

Page 167



148 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

10.2 Members of a Planning committee are free to listen to any point of view about a 

planning proposal. Even though they may agree with a particular view, members of 

a Planning committee should take care not to express an opinion which may be taken 

by the public as indicating that they or the authority had already made up their mind 

on the issue before they have been exposed to all the evidence and arguments.  In 

such situations, Members should restrict themselves to giving procedural advice, 

including suggesting to those who are lobbying, that they should speak or write to the 

relevant officer in order that their opinions can be included in the officer's report to 

the committee. If they do express an opinion, it should be made clear that the Member 

will only be in a position to take a final decision after having heard all the relevant 

evidence and arguments at committee. 

10.3 Members can raise with officers issues which have been raised by their constituents, 

It is always good practice that they make it clear that they can only make a final 

decision after hearing all the relevant arguments and taking into account all relevant 

material and planning considerations at Planning committees. 

10.4 If a member of a Planning committee responds to lobbying by deciding to go public 

in support of a particular outcome; or actively campaigns for it, they should make 

clear in their public comments and/or at committee when the decision is under 

consideration that the views expressed are/were provisional and they will come to a 

final view once they have weighed all the evidence and listened to all the arguments 

presented at the committee meeting. If a Member is of the view that they are unable 

to make an unbiased decision they should not participate in the decision. If they 

consider the public comments they have made mean the public perception is that 

they will be unable to make a decision without bias, they may in the interests of 

maintaining public confidence decide not to participate in a decision. 

10.5 If any Member, whether or not a committee member, speaks on behalf of a lobby 

group at the decision making committee, they must withdraw once they have spoken 

in order to counter any suggestion that their presence may have some influence on 

the said committee in making its final decision. 

10.6 If a Member requires advice about being lobbied, they should seek advice from the 

Monitoring Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before any meeting takes 

place at which they think the issue might arise. 

11. Political Influence 

11.1 Given that the point at which a decision on a planning application is made cannot 

occur before a Planning committee meeting, when all available information is to hand 

and has been duly considered, any political group meeting prior to the committee 

meeting should not be used to decide how Members should vote and political whips 

must not be used. 

Page 168



149 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

11.2 Members of the Planning committees should avoid organising support for or against 

a planning application and avoid lobbying other Members. Such actions can easily 

be misunderstood by parties to the application and by the general public. Where a 

member of a Planning committee wishes to act as a facilitator to a local group 

regarding a particular application, they should indicate that they will need to absent 

themselves from the vote on that particular application when it was being considered. 

12. Pre-application Discussions 

12.1 Discussions between a potential applicant and the Council prior to the submission of 

an application can be of considerable benefit to both parties. Such discussions 

should not, however, become or be seen to become, part of a lobbying process. Any 

such discussions should take place within clear guidelines. 

12.2 Where Members are involved in pre-application discussions, at least one officer 

should attend any meetings and a follow-up letter is advisable, particularly when 

documentary material has been left with the Council. A written note should be made 

of all meetings. 

12.3 All officers taking part in such discussions should make clear whether or not they are 

the decision-maker. 

12.4 Any advice that is given should not be partial, nor seen to be partial, by any party 

involved. It should always be made clear at the outset that the discussions will not 

bind a Council to making a particular decision and that any views expressed are 

personal and provisional. Advice and observations should be based on the adopted 

plan and material considerations. 

12.5 The following terms of engagement shall apply: 

 Presentations by applicants should be limited to the development proposal 

and a question and answer session on factual matters. The understanding 

must be that the engagement is in order to improve understanding. Where 

appropriate such meetings may take place on site and incorporate a site visit. 

Officers of appropriate seniority should attend presentations. 

 Members should maintain an impartial listening and questioning role and 

avoid expressing an opinion or giving advice beyond outlining the adopted 

local policies. Questions to clarify aspects of a proposal, or the expressions 

of policy concerns are legitimate as long as they do not develop into 

negotiations. It should be made clear at the outset of the meeting that 

discussions are not binding, and that views expressed are not part of the 

determination process. It should be made clear in introductory remarks that 

any statements should be categorised as 'without prejudice'. 

Page 169



150 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 If the applicant requests the views of the authority, these will be 

communicated subsequently and in writing by officers. In such 

communication, officers will make it clear that any views expressed prior to 

formal determination of an application are preliminary. 

 A written note of the proceedings should be kept - to include a record of 

officer attendance and follow up. 

 Follow up to the meeting should occur with a letter emphasising the 

informative nature of the meeting. 

 A note should also be taken of any potentially contentious telephone 

discussions in respect of an application. 

13. Site Visits 

13.1 When deciding whether a site visit is appropriate prior to the meeting at which the 

planning application is to be considered, all circumstances should be considered 

including whether: 

 Matters of judgement are involved on the context of the site such as the effect 

on landscape, impact on character, residential amenity, or highway 

considerations rather than purely on principle; 

 It is a finely balanced case; or 

 It is a contentious application where there are strong local views. 

13.2 Members are expected to register their request for a site inspection in connection 

with a particular application or proposal with the Assistant Director of Economic: 

Growth and Regeneration within 25 days of notification of receipt of a planning 

application. 

13.3 The site visits will normally be held once the officer report has been prepared and 

prior to the meeting of the Planning committee. 

13.4 Where visits are arranged, they must be undertaken in a consistent manner, and 

Members should not enter into any conversation with other people on site and must 

avoid any comment which could be construed as bias. 

13.5 Members should not carry out unaccompanied site inspections (other than for the 

purpose of seeing the site), contact landowners themselves or arrange to go onto 

sites without a Planning Officer present. Members need to exercise caution with 

regard to being lobbied on such site inspections. 

Page 170



151 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

13.6 The primary aim of a site visit is to enable Members to judge for themselves the likely 

impacts of the proposed development and appreciate the issues involved. All 

members of a Planning committee are encouraged to attend the site visits. 

13.7 Site visits should only be attended by Members and officers. No representations will 

be permitted during the site visit from parishes, members of the public, applicants or 

agents.  

13.8 Ward Members should be invited to attend all site visits and invited to attend the 

Planning committee meeting in respect of applications within or affecting their wards. 

13.9 Where a Member proposes deferral of a planning application at a Planning committee 

meeting in order that a site inspection may be carried out, the planning reason for 

conducting such an inspection should be clearly stated. 

13.10 Any of the Members responsible for calling an application into a Planning committee 

may wish to attend the site visit to explain why they called the application in to 

Planning committee. 

14. Call‐Ins 

14.1 Planning applications can be ‘called‐in’ to a Planning committee for determination. 

14.2 Applications can be called in by any Member of the Council. 

14.3 Call‐in requests must be submitted to the Assistant Director Economic Growth and 

Regeneration in writing within 25 working days from the beginning of the consultation 

period or within 10 working days from the beginning of any subsequent re-

consultation period. 

14.4 Call‐ins have to be based on valid and relevant planning grounds. Any issue relating 

to the propriety of the specified planning grounds will be determined by the Monitoring 

Officer. 

14.5 By making a call-in request, a Member is indicating that they consider the issues 

require debate by the Planning Committee. 

14.6 A Member who has called-in a planning application is expected to attend the Planning 

Committee meeting at which the application they referred is to be discussed, to 

address the Planning Committee and explain their views on the application and 

expand on their call-in reasons. 

14.7 The Member who has called-in an application is required to register to speak on the 

item in accordance with the Planning Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees. 

14.8 If a Member who has called-in an application does not register to speak on the item 

or having registered to speak is not present at the start of the Planning Committee 

Page 171



152 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

meeting at which the application is to be considered, then the item will be withdrawn 

from the agenda and determined by an officer in accordance with the Council’s 

scheme of delegations. 

15. Where a Member Represents Two Councils 

15.1 A Member is able to take part in the debate on a proposal by a consultee body (for 

example as a member of a parish council) provided: 

 The proposal does not substantially affect the wellbeing or financial standing 

of the consultee body; 

 The Member makes it clear to the consultee body that: 

o Their views are expressed on the limited information before them only; 

o They must reserve judgement and the independence to make up their 

own mind based on their overriding duty to the whole community and 

not just to the people in that area, ward or parish. 

15.2 Members will disclose the interest regarding their membership or role when the 

relevant Planning Committee comes to consider the proposal. 

15.3 Members may take the opportunity to exercise their separate speaking rights as a 

local Member.  

15.4 When exercising this right, they should: 

 Advise the committee that they wish to speak in this capacity in accordance 

with the Public Speaking Arrangements; 

 Remove themselves from the Member seating area for the duration of that 

item; and 

 Ensure that their actions are recorded. 

16. Conduct of Ward Members (non-members of the Planning Committee) 

16.1 Ward Members have an important role to play as representatives of their 

communities and to bring local information to the decision-making process. Ward 

Members may therefore become involved in discussions with officers about individual 

applications. However, they should remember that it is very easy to create the 

impression that they are using their position to influence the progress of the 

application. Any discussions with officers should be seen to be open and above 

board. Officers should make a note on the file of any such discussions. 

Page 172



153 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

16.2 Ward Members who are not members of a Planning committee can make 

representations on planning applications in their Ward and may attend meetings of a 

Planning committee and, with the Chair’s agreement, may address the committee on 

such applications in accordance with the rules on public speaking. 

16.3 Any representations or address should relate to the planning merits of a planning 

application. This will not apply if the Member is also a Parish/Town Councillor and 

the Parish/Town Council is the applicant. In that circumstance, if the Member wishes 

to address the committee directly, they should register to speak in their capacity as 

the applicant. 

16.4 When making representations on behalf of their constituents, Members should make 

it clear that it is their constituents’ views and not their own that are being expressed. 

Furthermore, any representations on behalf of constituents must be expressed in 

such a way that no individual or group feels that they have been unfairly represented. 

16.5 If a Ward Member speaks on behalf of a lobby group at the decision-making 

committee, they should withdraw from the meeting once any public or Ward Member 

speaking opportunities have been completed. 

16.6 A Member who has declared a prejudicial interest in a planning application, and is 

therefore unable to represent the interests of their Ward in respect of that application, 

should advise constituents to address their representations to another Member who 

is not so affected. 

16.7 Being a Member of another Council that has expressed a view on an application does 

not prevent a Planning Committee Member reaching the same or a different view 

when the application is considered on its merits by the Planning committee. However, 

the Member should approach the decision making process afresh and not express a 

final view in advance of the committee meeting or act as an advocate for another 

Council. To do so would give an appearance of bias. 

17. Development Proposals submitted by Councillors and Officers 

17.1 A Member who acts as an agent to people pursuing a planning matter or who has 

submitted, or intends to submit, or is closely connected with someone (e.g. a spouse, 

close relative or close social acquaintance) who has submitted, or intends to submit, 

a planning application should play no part in the decision making process for that 

proposal. This includes refraining from any form of lobbying of other Members. Nor 

should such a Member: 

 Use their position to gain access to officers to pursue their interest; or  

 Bring improper pressure to bear on officers. 

Page 173



154 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

17.2 They should preferably appoint an agent to act on their behalf in negotiations or 

discussions, particularly in respect of major or controversial developments. 

17.3 Members should notify the Assistant Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration 

and/or the Monitoring Officer of any application with which they are connected directly 

or indirectly before it is submitted to the Council. 

17.4 Where a Member or officer or their agent submits an application in a personal 

capacity (either as an individual or through a company, firm or body with which they 

are connected) it shall always be considered by the Planning Committee. The 

Monitoring Officer shall be notified of the application and confirm in the report to 

Committee that the application has been dealt with in accordance with this Protocol. 

17.5 A member of a Planning Committee contemplating making a planning application for 

development which is clearly contrary to approved planning policies should consider 

whether they should resign from the committee before submitting it. 

17.6 A Member who has received (or is closely connected with someone who has 

received) a planning permission should ensure that the terms of that planning 

permission are scrupulously observed, both in respect of compliance with the 

submitted documents and in respect of compliance with the conditions imposed. 

18. Planning Applications by the Council 

18.1 The Council itself requires planning permission to carry out or authorise certain types 

of development on land it owns. Where these are major applications, they will be 

determined by the relevant Planning Committee. Proposals for the Council’s own 

development will be treated with the same transparency and impartiality as those by 

private developers. 

19. Regular Review of Decisions 

19.1 Members should visit a sample of implemented planning permissions on a regular 

basis to assess the quality of the decisions made. Such a review should be 

undertaken at least annually. 

  

Page 174



155 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.6 Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees 

This Protocol details the rules on public speaking at the Strategic Planning 

Committee and each of the Council’s three Local Area Planning Committees. 

As an overarching, guiding principle, decisions should always be taken in a fair and 

transparent manner to ensure there are no grounds for suggesting that a planning decision 

has in any way been biased, partial, or not well founded. 

The separate Planning Protocol (see above) applies to Members at all times when they are 

involving themselves in the planning process. The Monitoring Officer can also provide 

guidance to Members in relation to conduct on planning matters, as necessary. 

1. Speaking at Planning Committee Meetings 

1.1 The following can speak at Planning Committee Meetings 

 The applicant or their agent. 

 Two persons who wish to object to two persons who wish to support an 
individual planning application, an enforcement recommendation or any other 
quasi-judicial matter on the Agenda. If there are several objectors/supporters, 
each group should organise a spokesperson to speak on their behalf. 

 Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee. (If Ward 
Councillors sit on the Planning Committee, they may nominate a substitute 
Councillor to speak).  

 Members of Parliament with the whole or part of their constituency within West 
Northamptonshire Council’s boundaries. 

 A representative of a Parish Council in whose area the application relates. 

1.2 Additional speakers may be allowed at the discretion of the Chair of the Committee.   

1.3 Arrangements for Speaking 

It is necessary to register with Democratic Services as soon as possible and in any 
event not later than midday on the last working day before the Committee. This 
applies to all speakers, including Ward Councillors.  Speakers are required to indicate 
whether they will be speaking against or in support of an application. 

Speakers may register by telephone, email or in writing using the following contact 
details:  

 Contact details for registration 

Planning 
Committee 

E-mail address Tel. no. Postal 
Address 

Daventry Local 
Area Planning 
Committee 

MemberSupport.ddc@westnorthants.gov
.uk 

01327 
302324
/ 

Democratic 
Services, 
Lodge Road, 

Page 175



156 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

302236 Daventry, 
Northants, 
NN11 4FP 

Northampton Local 
Area Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01604 
837722 

Democratic 
Services, 
One Angel 
Square, 
Angel Street, 
Northampton
, NN1 1ED, 
for the 
attention of 
The 
Democratic 
Services 
Officer, 
Planning 
Committee. 

South 
Northamptonshire 
Local Area 
Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01327 
322043 

Democratic 
Services, 
The Forum, 
Moat Lane, 
Towcester, 
NN12 6AD 

Strategic Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01327 
322195 

Democratic 
Services, 
The Forum, 
Moat Lane, 
Towcester, 
NN12 6AD 

Late representations will not be heard. If there are several objectors/supporters, each 
group should organise a spokesperson to speak on their behalf. In the absence of 
agreement, the Council will operate a “first come first served” policy. In the event that 
more than two people have already registered, a person wishing to make their views 
known to the Committee may contact their Ward Councillor to request that they put 
across their points. 

Where a member of the public has registered to speak but fails to attend the meeting, 
the Chair shall have discretion to reallocate that speaking place to another member 
of the public present who would otherwise have wished to speak. For the avoidance 
of doubt, such reallocation will be on a like-for-like basis, i.e. if the original registration 
was ‘for’, the reallocated place will also be ‘for’. 

If objectors intend to speak, the applicant will be contacted to ensure that they have 
the opportunity to reply. 

2. Procedure at the Meeting 

The discussion on applications will be in the following order: 

Page 176

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


157 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 The Chair of the Committee will announce the application 

 the [Head of Planning tbc] or their representative may present the item and 
will add any further information relevant to the application and report 

 Members of the public can then speak in the following order: 
o Objector 
o Parish or Town Council(s) 
o MP 
o Ward Councillor(s) 
o Supporter 
o Applicant/agent 

 A planning officer may summarise issues before the matter is debated by the 
Planning Committee Members and a vote taken.  

The Chair has discretion to permit questions from the Planning Committee Members 
to the various speakers, after the end of their allotted 3 minutes. 

A planning officer may summarise issues before the matter is debated by the 
Planning Committee Members and a vote taken.  

In the event of any dispute over these procedures or the protocol, the Chair’s decision 
is final. 

2.1 Time 

All speakers either in support or against the application or speaking on behalf of the 
applicant will be allowed a maximum of three minutes to address the Committee. 
Participants addressing the Committee will be advised when they have 60 seconds 
of their allotted three minutes remaining and will be expected to cease talking 
immediately on being advised that their three minutes is up. 

2.2 Notes 

 Any speakers who are not members of the Committee are only allowed to 
make statements. They may not ask questions of officers, the Committee or 
each other and must take no further part in the procedure once they have 
finished their address to the Committee. 

 Consideration of an application will not be delayed simply because someone 
who has registered to speak is unable to attend the meeting.  

 Addresses should only be about planning issues and should not refer to non-
planning issues, such as private property rights, moral issues, loss of views 
or effects on property values.  

 Fresh material may not be circulated to the councillors, which has not first 
been seen by Planning officers.  

 Speakers may speak about material planning considerations and relevant 
facts pertinent to any planning application submitted to the Council that they 
have made a written representation on, and which is on the agenda for 
determination at the Committee. Some examples of material planning 
considerations include: 

Page 177



158 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

o the environmental impact of the development 
o the impact of the development on the highway network 
o any policy in the Council’s Local Development Framework, or the 

relevant Local Plan for your area. 
o central and regional Government planning policy guidance, circulars, 

orders and statutory instruments 

 Issues that may be taken into account by the Committee include: 

o planning laws and previous decisions 
o noise, disturbance, smells 
o residential amenity 
o design, appearance and layout 
o impact on trees, listed buildings and conservation areas 
o public open space 

 Issues that will not be taken into account by the Committee include: 

o boundary disputes 
o private rights of way, private covenants or agreements 
o the applicant’s conduct, private affairs or how a business is run 
o the applicant’s motives (including profit) 
o the impact on property values 
o suspected further development 
o loss of views over other people’s land 
o land ownership 

 The circulation of plans, photographs, or other material at the Committee 
meeting will not be permitted. Any such documentation should be submitted 
to the [Head of Planning] marked for the attention of the relevant Planning 
Officer as part of the existing consultation arrangements. 

  

Page 178



159 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.7 Scheme of Members’ Allowances 

1. Allowances for the period 11 May 2021 to 31 March 2022 

Post Holder Amount 

Basic Allowance (All Members) £13,750 

Leader £34,375 

Deputy Leader £24,063 

Cabinet Members £20,625 

Lead Member for Children’s Services £22,825 

Chair of the Council £10,313 

Vice Chair of the Council £6,875 

Chair of Strategic Planning Committee £13,750 

Chair of Area Planning committees £13,750 

Chair of Planning Policy Committee * £nil 

Chair of Licensing Committee £13,750 

Chair of Audit Committee £13,750 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee £13,750 

Vice Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee  £2,750 

Chair of Pension Fund Committee  * £nil 

Chair of Senior Appointments Committee * £nil 

Chair of Democracy and Standards Committee £13,750 

Party Group Leaders:    

Leader of the Largest Opposition Group £11,000 

Leader of the second largest Opposition Group £5,500 

Leader of the third largest Opposition Group £2,750 

Leader of the fourth largest Opposition Group £1,375 

Co-Optees and Independent Persons: 

Page 179



160 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Co-opted members of the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee £500 

Co-opted members of the Northamptonshire Police and Crime Panel    £500 

Independent Persons to the Democracy and Standards Committee £500 

 *Cabinet members will be appointed to these roles. 

2. Limitations on Payment of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA):  

Members may not receive more than one SRA, and where a Member occupies 

multiple roles with an SRA they shall be entitled to receive the higher SRA from the 

roles they hold.  

3. Indexation 

Allowances shall be adjusted annually by an amount equivalent to the officers’ 

annual pay award. Adjustment to the Scheme of Allowances by indexation is limited 

to a maximum period of four years, however Members may request the 

Independent Remuneration Panel to review allowances at an earlier time.  

4. Other Allowances 

Members may make claims for the following expenditure when undertaking official 

Council business. The approved duties are the categories contained in the Local 

Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 shown in Part 5.  

4.1 Travelling  

4.1.1 Sustainable modes of transport are encouraged where possible. The use of a 

Member’s car, motorcycle or bicycle for approved duties (see Part 5 for list of 

approved duties) will be paid at the same rate as the officers, i.e. the rate published 

from time to time by HM Revenue and Customs: www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm.  

4.1.2 The agreed rates as at February 2021 are as follows, including electric and hybrid 

models:  

Cars and vans* 45p per mile  

Motor cycles* 24p per mile  

Bicycles (includes e-bikes) 20p per mile  

4.1.3  Public Transport  

 Train fares for approved duties to be paid at standard fare. Officers of the 

Council to book train fares for the Member. 

 Bus fares for approved duties to be paid on production of a receipt/ticket.  

Page 180

file:///D:/Users/Tracy%20Tiff/Documents/Tracy/Documents/IRP/www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm


161 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 Approved taxi fares to be paid on production of a receipt. Officers of the 

Council to book a taxi for the Member where possible. 

 Parking fees to be paid upon production of a receipt/ticket.  

4.2 Subsistence 

Subsistence 
Allowance 

Breakfast (more than 4 hours away before 11am).  

Lunch (business journeys entailing working away from normal 
place of work between 12 and 2pm).  

Dinner (can be claimed when required to work outside of usual 
rostered requirements and away from usual place of work after 
8.30pm). 

£6.00 

£8.00 

 

£12.00 

Overnight 
expenses 

Accommodation (if a member is required to stay overnight); 
overnight accommodation bookings to be made by officers of 
the Council. 

 

4.3  Dependent Carers’ Allowance  

4.3.1 The maximum rates at which dependent care may be claimed is:  

a. Where professional care is provided, an hourly rate of £20 per hour will be 

paid.  

b. Where care is provided by friends or relatives an hourly rate of £10 per 

hour will be paid. 

There is no upper limit for a claim. 

5. Forgoing Allowances and Part-Year Entitlements 

5.1 A councillor, co-opted member or independent person may elect to give up any part 

of their entitlement to an allowance under this scheme by notifying Democratic 

Services in writing. 

5.2 Where a Member ceases to be a member of West Northamptonshire Council, or 

ceases to occupy a role attracting an SRA, that the Member only receives pro-rata 

payment for the period that they are entitled to receive an allowance. The authority 

may require that such part of any allowance as relates to any such period be repaid 

to the authority where an overpayment is made.  

6. Approved Duties  

6.1 Members may make claims for travel, subsistence and dependant carers’ 

allowance when undertaking official Council business in line with the approved 

duties categories contained in the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 

(England) Regulations 2003 set out below:  

Page 181



162 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. the attendance at a meeting of the authority or of any committee or 

subcommittee of the authority, or of any other body to which the authority 

makes appointments or nominations, or of any committee or subcommittee 

of such a body;  

b. the attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by 

the authority, or a committee or sub-committee of the authority, or a joint 

committee of the authority and one or more local authority within the 

meaning of section 270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a 

subcommittee of such a joint committee provided that:  

(i)  where the authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a 

meeting to which members of at least two such groups have been 

invited, or 

(ii)  if the authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two 

members of the authority have been invited;  

c. the attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 

authority is a member; (d) the attendance at a meeting of the executive or a 

meeting of any of its committees, where the authority is operating executive 

arrangements;  

d. the performance of any duty in pursuance of any standing order made 

under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 requiring a member 

or members to be present while tender documents are opened;  

e. the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any 

function of the authority conferred by or under any enactment and 

empowering or requiring the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection 

of premises; 

f. the performance of any duty in connection with arrangements made by the 

authority for the attendance of pupils at any school approved for the 

purposes of section 342 (approval of non-maintained special schools) of 

the Education Act 1996, and  

g. the carrying out of any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of 

a class so approved, for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 

discharge of the functions of the authority or of any of its committees or 

sub-committees. The law prevents payment for:  

• Members' surgeries  

• Political activities  

• School Governor meetings (Section 58 of the Education (No. 2) Act 

1986)  

 

Page 182



9.0 OFFICERS 

9.1 Management Structure 
 

 

P
age 183



164 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

 
 

P
age 184



165 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

 

P
age 185



166 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

 

P
age 186



167 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

 

P
age 187



168 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 

 

P
age 188



 

169 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.2 Scheme of Delegation to Officers  

9.2.1 The Scheme:  

 Introduction  

 Member Consultation  

 Reservations  

 Restrictions  

 Permissions  

9.2.2 Areas of Responsibility  

9.2.3 Exceptions:  

 Contracts  

 Property  

 Financial  

 Staff and Employment 

 Legal and Planning  

9.2.4 Statutory Officer and Proper Officer Powers  

 

INTRODUCTIONS AND PERMISSIONS 

Introduction 

1. The West Northants Council has adopted vision and values supporting a Corporate Plan. 

To support the delivery of the Corporate Plan, managerial and operational decisions are 

taken, within a framework of democratic accountability, at the most appropriate level, 

which is usually the closest point of contact to the citizen. This scheme is to be interpreted 

widely to give effect to this overall purpose by empowering staff to carry out their functions 

and deliver the Council’s services within the Budget and Policy Framework set by the 

Council, and subject to the guidelines set by the Council, the Cabinet and the Council’s 

management team.  

Overall Limitations 

2. Any exercise of delegated powers is subject to the following overriding limitations.  

Member Consultation 

3. Officers set out in the scheme are expected to:  

Page 189



 

170 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. maintain a close liaison with the appropriate portfolio holder or in their absence 

the Leader;  

b. consult relevant portfolio holders when exercising temporary or project 

specific delegations; 

c. ensure the Ward Councillor(s) is/are consulted or advised of the exercise of 

any delegated powers that particularly affect their area ; and  

d. ensure that the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Executive Director of 

Finance (s151 Officer) and the Director of the Legal and Democratic 

(Monitoring Officer) are consulted and advised of any decisions as necessary.  

4. Portfolio holders for the relevant area should be consulted on the exercise of a delegated 

power in all cases where:  

a. there is likely to be opposition from members of the public;  

b. where there are political sensitivities;  

c. there is likely to be media (including social media) interest or  

d. expenditure is unusual for the Budget area.  

5. Before exercising any delegated power, officers must consider whether to consult with 

the relevant portfolio holder on the exercise of delegated powers or not to exercise 

delegated powers but to refer the matter to the relevant member or member body to 

decide.  

6. The Leader or any Cabinet Member may at any time, following consultation with the Chief 

Executive and relevant officer, require a particular issue or any aspect of delegated 

powers to be referred to the appropriate member body for a decision.  

7. This does not limit the general requirements set out elsewhere in the constitution to 

consult with relevant ward members, scrutiny chairs and interested groups in reaching 

decisions.  

Reservations 

8. The scheme does not delegate to officers: 

a. any matter reserved to full Council;  

b. any matter which by law may not be delegated to an officer;  

c. any Key Decision; or  

Page 190



 

171 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

d. any matter expressly withdrawn from delegation by the Council, committees, 

Leader or Cabinet. 

Restrictions 

9. Any exercise of delegated powers is subject to  

a. any statutory restrictions;  

b. the Budget and Policy Framework;  

c. any provision contained in this Constitution including the Procedure Rules;  

d. any financial limits set out in the revenue or capital budgets except as set out 

in the Financial Procedure Rules;  

e. any policy set by the Council or its committees, the Cabinet or the Chief 

Executive; and 

f. the Code of Conduct for Employees.  

Permissions 

10. This scheme delegates to the Assistant Chief Executive, Executive Directors and 

Directors all the powers and duties relevant to those areas of responsibility detailed within 

the areas of responsibility below that rest with the Council or which have been delegated 

or granted to the Council, subject to the limitations, restrictions, reservations and 

requirements for consultation set out above. This includes all powers and duties under 

all legislation present and future within those descriptions and all powers and duties 

incidental to that legislation including but not limited to:  

a. Powers in relation to staff  

Take any action in accordance with the Council’s agreed policies and procedures 

with respect to the recruitment, appointment, promotion, training, grading, 

discipline, determination of wages and salary scales, determination of 

allowances, determination and application of conditions of service, including but 

not limited to allocation of leave, honorariums, ill health retirement and 

determination of establishment except as detailed in the Staff and Employment 

Exceptions chart.  

b. Powers in relation to contracts and property  

Powers in relation to contracts and property agreements to negotiate, put out to 

tender, bid, submit tenders, vary, terminate, dispute, extend and renew and in 

relation to contracts to buy and sell and in relation to property to acquire, dispose 

Page 191



 

172 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

of, let and licence except as detailed in the Contracts and Property Exceptions 

Charts.  

c. Powers in relation to planning  

Powers to determine applications, grant permission, refuse permission, to 

publicise applications, to comment or make representations on applications, 

notifications and consultations, to raise objections, to require documentation and 

information, to take appropriate action on enforcement, to negotiate, complete, 

vary, discharge or amend planning obligations and agreements, process and 

determine all decisions relating to neighbourhood planning under the Localism 

Act 2011, other than as detailed in the Legal Exceptions Chart.   

d. Powers in relation to finance  

Powers to incur capital and revenue expenditure, to seek recovery of amounts 

owed, to exercise discretion in recovery, alter or waive repayment periods, or 

approve exemptions in relation to repayments, agree refunds, reduce or remit 

payments and waive fines, except as detailed in the Finance Exceptions Chart.  

e. Powers in relation to legal action  

Powers to authorise, appoint or nominate officers and to investigate, prosecute, 

enforce, lay informations, require individuals to disclose information, serve 

requisitions for information, publish information, apply to a court, sign notices, 

issue, serve, vary, revoke and publish notices, including fixed penalty notices and 

serve documents, make prohibition orders, suspend or vary a prohibition order, 

take emergency remedial action, carry out works in default, issue certificates, 

issue consents, issue and grant licenses and license applications, issue permits, 

refuse, vary or revoke licensing applications, issue temporary exemption notices, 

obtain, introduce, operate, amend, extend, vary and revoke orders, impose 

conditions, introduce and maintain registers, exercise powers of entry without 

force, apply for a warrant, make, vary or revoke and in relation to land relevant to 

service functions to note applications for licences, planning, consents and 

approvals, a declaration and grant, vary, revoke and attach conditions to 

consents, except as detailed in the Legal Exceptions Chart.  

The Chief Executive  

11. The Chief Executive may carry out the powers and duties of the Assistant Chief Executive 

and Executive Directors and Director of Legal and Democratic in their absence or in 

consultation with them and will also have the following additional powers:  

a. to carry out the powers and duties of any of the officers in their absence or in 

consultation with them;  

Page 192



 

173 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

b. to incur expenditure in the event of a civil emergency;  

c. in cases of emergency to take any decision which could be taken by the 

Council, the Cabinet or a committee, in consultation with the Leader; 

emergency to include cases which fall short of a declared emergency but are 

nevertheless situations in which there will be a risk of significant detriment to 

the wellbeing of residents if action is not taken.  

d. to alter the areas of responsibility of the Assistant Chief Executive, Executive 

Directors and Directors set out in the Areas of Responsibility section of this 

scheme;  

e. to make arrangements for the appointment of Chief Officer roles and to make 

appointments to Deputy Chief Officer roles. 

f. to agree the Human Resources Policies following relevant consultation.  

g. to make any changes necessary to the Employee Code of Conduct following 

relevant consultation.   

The Monitoring Officer  

12. The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to:  

a. grant dispensations to councillors in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 

with the power to refer any request for a dispensation back to the Democracy 

and Standards Committee.  

b. To make consequential amendments to the Constitution to give effect to a 

lawful decision; as a direct consequence of a change made outside the council 

e.g. a change in legislation and to correct an error or resolve an inconsistency.  

All such changes to be reported to Council.   

c. To Interpret the Constitution where the meaning is uncertain or there is a 

dispute about its meaning.   

The Section 151 Officer  

13. In addition to any powers delegated under section 2.10 above the Section 151 Officer 

has delegated authority to carry out those responsibilities set out as delegated to them in 

the Financial Procedure Regulations within this Constitution.  

Assistant Chief Executive and Executive Directors and Director 

14. The Assistant Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Directors may carry out the 

powers and duties of any direct reports within their area of responsibility in their absence 

or in consultation with them.  

Page 193



 

174 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Officer Delegation  

15. West Northamptonshire Council operates an ‘executive’ form of governance, under which 

most decisions are taken by a Leader and a small Executive or Cabinet of elected 

members. These members take decisions on executive functions. Other decisions - non-

executive decisions - are taken by full Council, committees and sub-committees. In both 

cases, decisions can be delegated to officers. The non-executive functions are listed in 

legislation, principally The Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities 

(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) and includes 

decisions by full Council and committees on planning, licensing, staffing, audit, member 

conduct and other miscellaneous matters. Anything not in the list is an executive function. 

16. Any delegation to an officer includes authority for any further delegation within the 

relevant Area of Responsibility. Officers shall devolve responsibilities for service delivery 

and management to those staff who represent the nearest practicable point of delivery to 

the service user.  

Recording and Publishing Officer Decisions 

17. This protocol establishes a system to document certain decisions taken by officers under 

delegated authority. 

Types of officer decisions 

18. An ‘Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function which 

is the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet and which has been delegated to officers. 

19. A ‘Non-Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function 

that is the responsibility of Full Council and its committees and which has been delegated 

to officers. 

20. The significance of decisions taken under delegated powers will vary, and officers 

authorised to make delegated decisions need to exercise judgment in determining 

whether decisions are significant enough to require formal recording and publishing. 

21. Although administrative and operational decisions are not required to be formally 

reported, they must be recorded within the service area so as to provide an audit trail. 

22. Key Decisions, Material Decisions, Significant Decisions and Urgent Decisions are 

defined below: 

23. Key Decisions are Executive decisions that are likely to:  

(a) result in expenditure or savings of £1million or more; or  

(b) have a significant effect on communities living or working in an area comprising 
two or more wards.  

Page 194



 

175 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

24. Material Decisions are Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 

administrative in nature) taken by officers under delegated powers by a specific resolution 

of the Cabinet/Cabinet Member or under the Scheme of Delegation: 

(a) That are contentious, controversial or politically sensitive; or 

(b) Where there is likely to be a strong public interest; or 

(c) Where there is significant variance in expenditure outside the agreed scope or 
budget for a project or issue; or 

(d) Raise new issues of policy 

25. Significant Decisions are Non-Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 

administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution 

of Full Council, a committee or under the Scheme of Delegation and having wide public 

impact/interest; where the effect of the decision: 

(a) is to grant a permission or licence 

(b) affects the legal rights of an individual 

(c) is to award a contract or incur expenditure which ‘materially’ affects the authority's 
financial position 

26. Urgent Decisions are decisions made in circumstances where: 

(a) a decision is required by statute or otherwise within a specified timescale; or 

(b) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would seriously prejudice 
the Council’s or the public’s interests; or 

(c) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would be likely to expose 
the Council, its members or the public to a significant level of risk, loss, damage or 
disadvantage 

27. The following types of officer decision must be formally recorded and published subject 

to the exceptions set out: 

Type of Officer Decision Exception Publication 

Key Decisions 

Executive decisions that are 

likely to result in spending 

or savings that are 

‘significant’: 

Officers are only to take 

Key Decisions under the 

urgency provisions. 

As soon as reasonably 

practicable after an officer 

has made a Key, Material 

or Significant decision, they 

must produce a written 

statement, available for 

Page 195



 

176 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

• in relation to the budget 

for the service or function in 

question or 

• in terms of the effect on 

communities living or 

working in two or more 

electoral divisions 

inspection at County Hall 

and published on the 

Council’s website, that 

includes details of: 

• the decision and the date 

it was made; 

• the reasons for it; 

• any alternative options 

considered and rejected; 

• any conflicts of interests 

declared by any Cabinet 

Member consulted by the 

officer and any 

dispensations granted by 

the Chief Executive in 

respect of any declared 

conflict; 

• the report considered by 

the decision-maker; 

• any background 

documents disclosing facts 

or matters on which the 

decision was based and 

which were relied on to a 

material extent in making 

the decision. 

The decision record must 

be kept for inspection for 6 

years and the background 

papers for 4 years. 

Material Decisions 

Executive decisions under 

powers delegated by a 

specific resolution of the 

Cabinet/Cabinet Member or 

under the Scheme of 

Delegation: 

• That are contentious, 

controversial or politically 

sensitive; or 

• Where there is likely to be 

a strong public interest; or 

• Where there is significant 

variance in expenditure 

outside the agreed scope or 

budget for a project or 

issue; or 

• That raise new issues of 

policy. 

Does not apply: 

(i) To routine operational, 

organisational or 

administrative decisions; 

(ii) Where the expenditure 

or saving has already been 

approved by Cabinet or 

Cabinet Member and the 

decision has been 

published; 

(iii) Confidential or Exempt 

Information; or 

(iv) Where the expenditure 

or saving is already 

recorded and published 

under separate statutory 

requirements. 

Significant Decisions 

Non-Executive decisions 

under powers delegated by 

a specific resolution of Full 

Council, a committee or 

under the Scheme of 

Delegation and having wide 

public impact/ interest; 

where the effect of the 

decision: 

Does not apply: 

(i) To routine operational, 

organisational or 

administrative decisions; 

(ii) Confidential or Exempt 

information; 

(iii) Where the date, details 

of and reasons for the 

decision are already 

Page 196



 

177 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

• is to grant a permission or 

licence 

• affects the legal rights of 

an individual 

• is to award a contract or 

incur expenditure which 

‘materially’ affects the 

authority's financial position 

required to be produced 

under a statutory 

requirement; 

(iv) If only the rights of an 

individual or business are 

affected, unless there is a 

wider public impact/ interest 

in the action. 

 

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY  

See Management Structure charts above for a detailed list of functions. Further details of 

the contents of each heading is in the list held by the Chief Executive, which they have 

authority to change and responsibility for keeping up to date. 

Chief Officer Main Functions and Areas of Responsibility 

Assistant Chief 
Executive  

 Communications and Engagement 

 Policy and Performance 

 Business Intelligence 

 Executive Support 

 Lord Lieutenant Support 

Executive Director 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing (DASS) 

 Commissioning and Performance 

 Adults Services 

 Safeguarding and Wellbeing 

 Housing and Communities 

 Public Health 

Director of Children’s 
Services (DCS) 

 Children’s Social Care 

 Education 

 Commissioning and Partnerships 

Executive Director of 
Corporate 

 Human Resources 

 Transformation 

 Customer and Corporate Services 

 Information Technology and Data Management 

 Legal and Democratic 

Executive Director 
Finance 

 Finance and Accountancy 

 Finance and Strategy 

 Audit and Risk 

 Revenues and Benefits 

 Procurement 

 Pensions 

Executive Director 
Place Economy and 
Environment 

 Regulatory Services 

 Highways and Waste 

 Assets and Environment 

 Growth, Climate & Regeneration 

Page 197



 

178 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

 Registration of Births, Marriages and Deaths 

 Coroners 

 Elections Administration 

 Legal and Democratic Services 

 Information Governance 

Director of Public 
Health 

 Public Health 

 Intelligence and Local Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships 

 Management & Commissioning 

 Wellbeing Advisors 

 Adults Learning 

Director of 
Transformation 

 Business Transformation 

 Strategic Partnerships 

 

EXCEPTIONS – CONTRACTING 
(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme) 
All contracts and procurement must be in accordance with the Contract Rules in 
Part 9.6 
*Contract value is over the whole contract and any extension provision not the 
annual spend 

Process Over the 
Regulations 
Threshold 

£100,000 to 
Regulations 
Threshold 

£25,000 - 
£100,000 

Over £5,000 
- £25,000  

Pre-Procurement 
Authorisation 

Officer and 

Procurement 

Team. 

PGG Group. 

Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Officer and 

the 

Procurement 

Team. 

Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision  

Officer. 

Executive 

Process if Key 

Decision. 

Officer. 

Executive 
Process if 
Key 
Decision.  

Advertising Head of 

Procurement 

through the 

Procurement 

Team 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

None None 

Procurement 
Process 

Head of 

Procurement 

through the 

Procurement 

Team must be 

consulted 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team must 
be consulted 

Officer  Officer  

Contract Execution Written 

contract 

signed/sealed. 

Terms 

approved by 

Written 

contract 

signed/ 

sealed. 

Terms 

Written 

contract signed 

by one (1) 

Chief Officer or 

Officer with 

Officer 

Contract 

terms issued 

via purchase 

order. 

Page 198



 

179 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Director of 

Legal and 

Democratic. 

approved by 

Director of 

Legal and 

Democratic. 

appropriate 

authority to 

enter into a 

Contract. 

Standard 
terms 
approved by 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic. 

Contract Register Officer or 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team if 
leading 
procurement.  

Officer or 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team if 
leading 
procurement. 

Officer Officer 

Framework 
Agreements or 
DPSs 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team.  
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

Waive Contract 
Procedure Rules 

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer. 

Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Chief Officer 
Approval. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

Emergencies Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer.  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer.  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer  
If Key Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Page 199



 

180 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Apply an exemption 
– use of negotiated 
procedure 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team and if 
Key Decision 
Cabinet 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team and if 
Key Decision 
Cabinet 

Officer on 
advice of Head 
of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team  

Notification of 
Award 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer Officer 

Contract Variations 
(material change) 

Not permitted.  
A new 
Procurement 
is required. 

Officer with 
the 
agreement of 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 

Officer with the 
agreement of 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 

Officer with 
the 
agreement of 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic  

Non recovery of 
liquidated 
damages/settlement 
of formal claims 

Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic  
and with the 
approval of 
s151 Officer. 

Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 
and with the 
approval of 
s151 Officer.  

Officer with the 
approval of 
s151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer.  

With the 
agreement of 
the Executive 
Director 

Extension of Fixed 
Term Contracts with 
option to extend 

In consultation 
with relevant 
Cabinet 
Member and 
with the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic.  

In 
consultation 
with relevant 
Cabinet 
Member and 
with the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic.  

In consultation 
with relevant 
Cabinet 
Member and 
with the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic.  

With the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic.   

Termination of 
Contract 

Termination 
prior to its 
expiry date 
without first 
obtaining 
advice from 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director of 

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic.   

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic.  

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

Page 200



 

181 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Legal and 
Democratic. 

Execution of 
Contracts 

 £1,000,000 or 
over shall be 
in writing 
sealed by 
affixing the 
Common 
Seal of the 
Council and 
attested by 
the Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

Over £250,000 
but less than 
£1,000,000 
shall be in 
writing and 
signed by the 
appropriate 
Chief Officer 
and the s.151 
Officer or their 
nominated 
representative. 

Up to 
£250,000 
shall be in 
writing 
signed by the 
Chief Officer. 

 

EXCEPTIONS PROPERTY 
(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme.)  NB The term 
Property/Land includes all interests in Land including (wayleaves, easements, 
buildings). Values relate to ‘the interest disposed of value’ not ‘the unrestricted value’ of 
the land). 

Process Officer Delegation Cabinet 
Approval 

Council 
Approval 

Secretary 
of State 
Approval 

Disposal and Acquisition of Land 

Asset Management 
Plan 

No Yes No No 

Acquisition over 
£500,000 

No Yes and a 
key decision 

Where it 
exceeds the 
Capital or 
Revenue 
Budget 

No 

Acquisition under 
£500,000 

Assistant Director 

Assets and 

Environment in 

consultation with the 

s151 Officer and 

Portfolio Holder   

Not unless 
required by 
the Portfolio 
Holder 

No No 

Disposal where the 

estimated value of 

the combined 

properties is over 

£500,000 

No Yes and a 

key decision 

No  No unless 

required by 

law  

Page 201



 

182 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Disposal at an 
undervalue 

No (unless already 
set out in agreed 
policy) 

Yes and a 
key decision 

No  No unless 
required by 
law 

Disposal of or 
allowing the 
occupation of or 
sharing the use of 
any property under 
£500,000 

Assistant Director 
Assets and 
Environment in 
consultation with 
s151 Officer over 
£100k.  

No No No 

Leases  Grant of leases up 
to 10 years or with 
discretion to break 
not exceeding 10 
years 

Grant of 
leases over 
10 years 

No No 

Non-Land Based 
Asset Disposal 

Yes in accordance 
with the Finance 
Procedure Rules  

No No No 

 

EXCEPTIONS FINANCE 
(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme.) 

Exception Over £500k Up to £500k Up to 
£100k 

Up to £25k Up to £1k 

Capital 
Expenditure 
outside the 
Capital 
Programme 

Council Cabinet CFO Cabinet Cabinet 

Unbudgeted 
Revenue 
Expenditure 

Council Cabinet CFO Budget 
Manager 

Budget 
Manager 

Virements Cabinet CFO in 
consultation 
with Cabinet 
Portfolio 

CFO CFO CFO 

Ex gratia 
payments 

N/A N/A N/A N/A CFO 

Write off 
debts 

Cabinet Cabinet Cabinet CFO CFO 

Negotiate 
and Approve 
Borrowing 
Limits 

Council Cabinet Cabinet Cabinet  Cabinet 

Submit bids 
for funding to 
the relevant 
body 

Executive 
Director in 
consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director in 
Consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director in 
Consultatio
n with CFO 

Executive 
Director in 
Consultatio
n with CFO 

Executive 
Director in 
Consultatio
n with CFO 

Page 202



 

183 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

To agree 
conditions 
and approve 
agreements 
in relation to 
grant funding 
to be 
received by 
the Council 

CFO CFO CFO CFO CFO 

Write off any 
surplus or 
deficiencies 
in respect of 
items of 
stock 

Cabinet CFO CFO CFO Budget 
Manager 

Negotiate 
leasing 
arrangement
s 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy in 
Consultatio
n with CFO 

Executive 
Director Place 
and Economy 
in 
Consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy in 
Consultatio
n with CFO 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy 

Invest any 
temporary 
surplus of 
monies until 
such monies 
are required 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Manageme
nt 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Manageme
nt 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Manageme
nt 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Manageme
nt 
Statement 

Effect 
necessary 
insurances 

CFO CFO CFO CFO CFO 

Settle 
insurance 
claims 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO and MO CFO and 
MO 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO 

To vary the 
scale of fees 
and charges 
within year 
to reflect 
market 
conditions 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager and 
CFO 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 

To set new 
fees and 
charges 
within year 

Council 
(except 
where 
delegated) 

Cabinet Cabinet CFO CFO 

 

EXCEPTIONS – STAFF AND EMPLOYMENT 

 Officer 
Delegation 

Statutory 
Cabinet 

Member 
Decision 

Council 
Decision 

Page 203



 

184 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Member 
Consultation 

NB This element of the scheme is dictated by 2 LGHA 1989 and the Standing 
Orders Regulations 

Appointment of 
Chief 
Executive 

No (cannot be 
carried out by 
officers.  

Yes, through 
the MO 

Yes must be 
made by Full 
Council 

On 
recommendation 
from Senior 
Appointments 
Committee 

Appointment of 
Chief Officers 
(Executive 
Directors) 

No (possible 
exception 
where there is 
change 
management 
and the 
appointment is 
internal) 

Yes, through 
the MO 

Senior 
Appointments 
Committee 

Only if required 
by Council 

Appointment of 
Deputy Chief 
Officers 
(Service 
Directors) 

Yes No No  No 

Appointment 
below Deputy 
Chief Officer 
(DCO) 

Yes Members 
cannot be 
involved in the 
appointments 
below DCO 

Members 
cannot be 
involved in the 
appointments 
below DCO 

Members cannot 
be involved in 
the 
appointments 
below DCO 

Dismissal of 
Chief 
Executive (as 
Head of Paid 
Service) 

Cannot be 
delegated to 
officers 

Yes An 
independent 
report must be 
prepared 
before a 
decision can 
be made 

Special Meeting 
of Council must 
be convened 

Dismissal of 
Statutory Chief 
Officers 

Cannot be 
delegated 
solely to 
officers 

No In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

Dismissal of 
non-Statutory 
Chief Officer 

Not delegated 
solely to 
officers 

No In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

Dismissal by 
way of 
redundancy or 
voluntary 
redundancy for 
Chief Officers  

No No In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

Dismissal of 
staff below 
Chief Officer  

Chief 
Executive for 
DCOs, and 

No No No 

Page 204



 

185 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Executive 
Directors 
below DCO 

Determine 
Appeals 
against final 
written 
warnings 
below DCO 

Relevant 
authorised 
managers.  

No No No 

Issue HR1 
notices in 
respect of 
potential 
redundancies 

Assistant 
Director HR 

No No No 

To carry out 
powers and 
duties under 
the Health and 
Safety at Work 
Act 

Chief 
Executive 

No No No 

Issue 
‘certificates of 
opinion’ as to 
whether or not 
the duties of a 
post fall within 
the criteria of 
political 
sensitivity 

Assistant 
Director HR  

No No No 

EXCEPTIONS - LEGAL 

In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme. 

Function Officer 

Determine all applications made under 
powers and duties of the local planning 
authority and planning legislation in 
relation to applications and enforcement  

Executive Director Place and Economy 
except where: 

a) The decision would lead to a 
significant departure from the local 
plan 

b) Where called in by at least 1 
member 

c) Major applications to develop the 
Council’s own land 

d) Applications by relevant officers 
employed by the Council 

Applications deemed by the Executive 
Director to require a member decision.  

Page 205



 

186 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Make applications to the Court of 
Protection for Receivership Orders in 
relation to clients lacking mental capacity 
to carry out their financial affairs  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing  

Apply to become an appointee in relation 
to clients lacking capacity to carry out their 
financial affairs  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing   

Carry out the health functions delegated to 
the Authority by an NHS body under 
arrangements between NHS bodies and 
local authorities pursuant to section 31 
Health Act 1999  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing   

Determine liability, demand payment, 
make arrangements for collection and take 
action for recovery of Council Tax and 
Non-Domestic Rates  

Executive Director of Finance 

Defend and/or settle all claims made 
against the Council up to £100,000  

Director Legal and Democratic 

Determine details required by conditions 
imposed on any permission.  

Executive Director of Place and Economy 

Determine minor amendments to approved 
plans where these do not materially alter 
the form of the approved development  

Executive Director of Place and Economy 

All powers and functions of the Authority in 
respect hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing matters  

Executive Director of Place and Economy, 
except where an applicant has relevant 
convictions/cautions or a current licence 
holder is similarly convicted/cautioned 
and/or where an applicant for, or the 
current holder of a Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire drivers licence has 
nine or more points on their DVLA driving 
licence 

All powers and functions in respect of the 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013.  

Executive Director of Place and Economy 

To approve Public Spaces Protection 
Orders (PSPOs), unless they are likely to 
be considered to be sensitive or significant.  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing  

To attest the seal of the Council (and to 
authorise any other Solicitor of the Council 
to attest the seal) and hold a book kept for 
the purpose that contains a consecutively 
numbered entry of every sealing initialled 
by the person who has attested the seal. 

Director of Legal and Democratic 

Under section 91 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to appoint by order persons to fill 
vacancies in the office of parish [or 
community] councillor.  

Director of Legal and Democratic 

Issue proceedings, prosecute, defend, 
conduct, withdraw, settle or appeal any 

Director Legal and Democratic 

Page 206



 

187 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

legal proceedings or process on behalf of 
the Council unless otherwise delegated. 

Institute criminal proceedings in respect of 
offences against any legislation (including 
byelaws) which the Council is allowed to 
enforce. 

Director Legal and Democratic 

Exercise the powers and functions of the 
local authority under the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002 or any variation or 
amendment thereof or regulations made 
thereunder.  

Director of Legal and Democratic.  

Authorise any officer of the Council to 
prosecute, or defend on its behalf, or to 
appear on its behalf in, proceedings before 
a Magistrates Court, in accordance with 
Section 223 of the Local Government Act 
1972  

Director Legal and Democratic 

Make orders or take any other steps in 
relation to any legislation when instructed 
by the officer with the relevant area of 
responsibility  

Director Legal and Democratic  

Appoint Education Appeal Panel members, 
in accordance with the provisions of the 
Education (Admission Appeals 
Arrangements) (England) (Regulations 
2002), as amended, such appointments to 
last for a period of three years then 
membership be re-assessed and re-
appointments made as appropriate  

Director Legal and Democratic  

Determining applications affecting the 
registers of commons and village greens 
(under the Commons Act 2006 and any 
subsequent legislation).  

Director of Legal and Democratic  

In the case of contested matters, or 
Matters which require oral representation 
or an inquiry, an Independent Inspector 
shall be appointed to determine the 
application.  

To carry out powers in relation to assets of 
community value under Part 5 Chapter 3 of 
the Localism Act 2011.  

Powers to determine whether an asset 
should be placed on the list – Executive 
Director of Place and Economy 

Powers to determine reviews – Director of 
Legal and Democratic 

 

EXCEPTIONS - PENSIONS 

(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme) 

Chief Finance Officer 

(Section 151 Officer) 

Management and administration of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme  

Page 207



 

188 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

(Further delegations to 

Head of Pensions can be 

found in the administering 

authority’s discretions or 

within individual policy or 

strategy documents 

published on the Pension 

Fund’s website as 

approved by the Pension 

Committee). 

Authority to maintain West Northamptonshire Council’s 

responsibility for the management and administration of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations with 

regard to overriding legislation and guidance including 

statutory guidance, including the exercise of the 

administering authority’s discretions.  

Membership of the ACCESS Asset Pool Section 151 

Officers Group 

In relation to the Joint Committee (JC), a s102 committee of 

the Local Government Act 1972, of the ACCESS Asset 

Pool, the Section151 Officer shall be bound by the terms of 

reference for the Section 151 Officer Group as detailed in 

the Inter-Authority Agreement: 

Part 1 – Governing Principles 

 The Section 151 Officers will co-operate to support the 

activities of the Pool in providing advice to or in 

consultation with the JC and they shall always act in line 

with the Governing Principle and Principles of 

Collaboration as set out in the Inter-Authority Agreement 

except to the extent that it is inconsistent with the 

discharge of their personal statutory duties. 

Part 2 - Functions in relation to the Pool 

 In response to decisions made by the JC, the Section 

151 Officers shall (in addition and without prejudice to 

their existing statutory responsibilities in relation to the 

proper administration of the financial affairs of their own 

Councils) ensure the appropriate resourcing, support, 

advice and facilitation to the JC including, without 

limitation, in the following ways: 

Discharging Section 151 Officer Functions 

o Staffing and Resourcing: in relation to the 

provision of staff and resources to assist the JC in 

the exercise of its functions under this Agreement. 

o Cost Sharing: in accordance with any local 

arrangements within their Councils, ensuring that 

their Councils’ share of costs is provided to the 

relevant parties, whether under the business plan, 

budget or otherwise under Schedule 5 from time 

to time. 

o Pool Aligned Assets: providing the JC, the ASU 

(ACCESS Support Unit) and any other relevant 

staff resources with such support as is reasonably 

Page 208



 

189 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

required to engage with Pool Aligned Assets 

Providers. 

Advising the Joint Committee 

o Budget and Business Planning: making 

recommendations to the JC on budget and 

business plan matters, following input from the 

ASU in accordance with Schedule 5 of the Inter-

Authority Agreement (Cost Sharing). 

o Reviewing and advising on budget variations 

throughout each financial year. 

o Risk and Performance: advising the JC on the 

identification of, and mitigation of any risk to the 

operation or success of the Pool. 

o Host Authority and Procurement Lead 

Authority Roles: making recommendations to 

the JC regarding the Host Authority and 

Procurement Lead Authority roles from time to 

time as necessary. 

o Amendments to the Inter-Authority 

Agreement: reviewing, in consultation with their 

respective Councils’ Monitoring Officers, any 

material changes to the Inter-Authority 

Agreement, in accordance with provisions of 

clause 11 of the Inter-Authority Agreement 

(Variation of Agreement).  

 

Page 209



 

190 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.3 List of Proper Officers 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPOINTMENTS  

PURPOSE OF APPOINTMENT PROPER OFFICER 

Any reference to the Clerk of a council which, by virtue of the 
Local Government Act 1972, is to be construed as a reference to 
the Proper Officer of the Council 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

Any reference to the Treasurer of a council which, by virtue of the 
Local Government Act 1972, is to be construed as reference to the 
Proper Officer of the Council 

Director of Finance 

PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1936 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

85(2) Serving a notice requiring action to deal with verminous 
people and things 

Director of Public 
Health 

REGISTRATION SERVICE ACT 1953 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

9(1) and (2) Appointment of interim superintendent registrars and 
registrars 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

13(2)(h) and 
3(b) 

Powers under the local scheme of organisation Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

20 Proper officer to be subject to regulations made by the 
Registrar General 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

 
AGRICULTURE ACT 1970 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

67(3) Appointment as Agricultural Analyst Assistant Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

   
LOCAL AUTHORITY SOCIAL SERVICES ACT 1970 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

6(A1) Director of Adult Social Services Executive 
Director: Adults, 
Communities and 
Wellbeing 

   
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1971 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
54(4) Appointment as clerk of the local planning authority Director of Legal 

and Democratic 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

Page 210



 

191 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

13 (3) Parish Trustee where no Parish Council Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

All 
appointments 
under 
sections 83, 
84, 86, 88(2), 
89(1)(b), 99 
and Sch.12, 
100A to F 

To witness and receive declarations of acceptance of 
office of Chair, Vice Chair or councillor, resignations of 
councillors, vacancy in office, convening meetings to 
declare a vacancy, receipt of notice from electors 
regarding a vacancy, to issue a summons for a council 
meeting, all matters concerning agenda, papers and 
reports and minutes of meetings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

115 (2) Person to whom all officers shall pay monies received 
by them and due to Council 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

137(a) Gives the Proper Officer power to require a voluntary 
organisation or similar body to supply information to 
them, where a local authority uses its powers under 
Section 137 to give financial assistant to that voluntary 
organisation or similar body above a relevant minimum 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

146(1)(a) Statutory declarations and issue any certificate in 
relation to securities on change of name of authority or 
change or area 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

151 To be responsible for the administration of the financial 
affairs of the Council 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

All 
appointments 
191, 204(3), 
210(6) and 
(7), 223, 
225(1), 
228(3), 
229(5), 233, 
234, 236(9)-
(10), 238, 
248(2), 
Sch.12 para 
4(2)(b) and 
4(3) and 
Sch.14 para 
25(7)  

Receipt of notices from Ordnance Survey in relation to 
boundaries, powers in respect of charities, authorising 
officers to attend court, receipt of documents to be 
deposited, certification of photographic copies, receipt 
of service, signing of notice order or other document 
required by law, certifying copies of byelaws and 
keeping the roll of freemen. Provisions in relation to 
summons for meetings and copy resolutions  

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29, Para 
4 

Undertake duties at council elections which, under the 
Representation of the People Acts, are required to be 
undertaken not by the Returning Officer but by the 
Proper Officer 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29 Pt.I 
Para.4(1)(b) 

Adaptation, modification and amendment of enactments Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29 Para 
41 

Proper Officer for Births, Marriages and Deaths Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 211



 

192 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

   
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1974 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

30(5) Provides that the Proper Officer must give public notice 
of the ombudsman’s reports 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
LOCAL ELECTIONS (PRINCIPAL AREA) RULES 
   

 Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Retention and public inspection of documents after an 
election 

Returning Officer 
(Chief Executive) 

   
LOCAL LAND CHARGES ACT 1975 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

3 Requires each registering authority to maintain a local 
land charges register. This duty falls on the local 
authority itself and not on the “Proper Officer” 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

19 The officer to act as Local Registrar as defined in 
Section 3  

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

   
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

16 Notices requiring details of interest in land Any Chief Officer 
of the Council 

41(1) The officer to certify copies of any resolution, order, 
report or minutes of proceedings of the Authority as 
evidence in any legal proceedings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
LOCAL AUTHORITIES CEMETERIES ORDER 1977   
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

10  To sign exclusive rights of burial Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

   
RENT ACT 1977 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Officer 
63 Appointment of rent officers under a scheme Assistant Director 

Housing and 
Communities 

Schedule 15, 
Part IV, para 7 

Certification of provision of suitable alternative 
accommodation 

Assistant Director 
Housing and 
Communities 

HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 

Page 212



 

193 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

59(1) Certify that extraordinary expenses have been incurred 
in maintaining the highway by reason of damage 
caused by excessive weight  

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

193 (1) Certify that additional expenses have been incurred in 
the execution of wider than normal street works 

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

205 (3)-(5)  Undertake duties as specified in the schedules in 
relation to private street works 

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

210(2) Certify amendments to estimated costs and provisional 
apportionment of costs under the private street works 
code  

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

211(1), 
212(4), 
216(2)-(3) 

Make final apportionment of costs as detailed in the 
schedules under the private street works code  

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

295(1) Issue notice requiring removal of materials from non - 
maintainable streets in which works are due to take 
place  

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

321 Authenticate notices and other documents Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

Sch.9 para 4 Sign plans showing proposed prescribed improvement 
or building lines 

Assistant Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

   
REPRESENTATION OF THE PEOPLE ACT 1983 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

8(1) and (2)(a) Appointment as Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive 

35(1) Appointment as Returning Officer Chief Executive 

67(7)(b) Receipt of notice of an election agent for local elections Returning Officer 

82 and 89 Receipt of election expense declarations and returns 
and the holding of those documents for public 
inspection 

 Returning Officer 

128 Provides that a copy of any petition questioning a local 
government election shall be sent to proper officer who 
shall publish it in the local authority area 

 Returning Officer 

131 Providing accommodation for holding election count Chief Executive 

   
BUILDING ACT 1984 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

   

61 Provides that the proper officer or any other authorised 
officer to be given free access to works or repairs to an 
underground drain 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy 

Page 213



 

194 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

78 To take action in relation to dangerous buildings and 
structures 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy 

93 Provides that notices and other documents under this 
Act may be signed by the Proper Officer or by an officer 
authorised by them in writing 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

   
PUBLIC HEALTH (CONTROL OF DISEASES) ACT 1984 AS AMENDED BY THE HEALTH 
AND SOCIAL CARE ACT 2008 AND THE MILK AND DAIRIES (GENERAL) 
REGULATIONS 1959 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

48 Preparation of certificate to Justice of Peace for removal 
of body to mortuary and for burial within a prescribed 
time or immediately 

Director of Public 
Health 

59 Authentication of documents Director of Public 
Health 

61-62 Right to enter premises to ascertain whether there has 
been a contravention of a provision of the 1984 Act or a 
Part 2A order made pursuant to the 1984 Act 

Director of Public 
Health 

 Requirement to appoint a suitably qualified person as 
the Council’s Medical Advisor on Environmental Health 
and Proper Officer for notifiable diseases 

Director of Public 
Health 

74 To act for such of the functions relating to notification, 
investigations, prevention and control of notifiable 
diseases and food poisoning. 

Director of Public 
Health 

   
WEIGHTS AND MEASURES ACT 1985 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

72(1)(a) Chief Inspector of Weights and Measures Assistant Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

   
LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT 1988 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

114, 115, 
115A and 
115B 

Responsibility for Chief Financial Officer Reports Executive Director 
of Finance 

116 Notification to auditor of date, time and place of meeting 
to consider Section 114 report and of decision of such 
meeting 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

139A Provision of information to the Secretary of State in 
relation to the exercise of their powers under this Act as 
and when required 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

Sch.4 (10)(1) 
Paragraphs 6 
– 8 (10)(1) 
Paragraph 9 

Where notice has to be served on the Council 
concerning: 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

Page 214



 

195 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 The acquisition of way leaves over Council-owned 
land  

  The felling and lopping of trees, etc 

Sch. 8, 36(8) 
Para 1, 36(8) 
Para 2 

Where applications have to be made for consent to 
construct generating stations on Council-owned land 
Where applications for consent have to be served on 
the local planning authority 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

   
PUBLIC HEALTH (INFECTIOUS DISEASES) REGULATIONS 1988 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
6 Reporting of infectious diseases to the Chief Medical 

Officer 
Director of Public 
Health 

8 Submission of weekly or quarterly returns to the 
Registrar General 

Director of Public 
Health 

10 Arrangements for immunisation and vaccination Director of Public 
Health 

Sch.3 and 4 Reporting and issuing notices to prevent the spread of 
infection 

Director of Public 
Health 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

2(4), 3A, 15 -
17 

Officer with whom the list of politically restricted posts 
shall be deposited; to grant exemptions from political 
restriction and matters relating to the establishment of 
political groups. Any responsibilities under the Local 
Government (committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

4 Designation as Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

5(1) Designation as Monitoring Officer Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

18 Receipt of notice in writing that a councillor wishes to 
forego any part of entitlement to an allowance 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

19(1) and (4) Receipt of notice of direct and indirect pecuniary 
interests 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

149 Discharging the functions in this section for dealing with 
stray dogs 

Assistant Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

5 Authorised officer to act in matters arising under the Act Assistant Director 
Regulatory 

Page 215



 

196 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Services 

27(1) Appointment of Public Analyst Assistant Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

49(3) Any document which a food authority are authorised or 
required by or under this Act to give, make or issue may 
be signed on behalf of the authority (a) by the proper 
officer of the authority as respects documents relating to 
matters within their province; or (b) by any officer of the 
authority authorised by them in wiring to sign documents 
of the particular kind, or, as the case may be, the 
particular document 

Assistant Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

   
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (COMMITTEES AND POLITICAL GROUPS) REGULATIONS 
1990 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

8(1), 8(5), 9(b), 
10, 13(1), 14, 
15 and 17 

Notifications to and by the Proper Officer 

Give effect to the wishes of political groups in making 
appointments of members to committees 

Director of 
Governance 

CIVIL EVIDENCE ACT 1995 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

9 To certify Council records for the purposes of admitting 
the document in evidence in civil proceedings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   

PARTY WALL ETC. ACT 1996 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 To select a third surveyor, if required, during a 
neighbour dispute about building projects 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (CONTRACTS) ACT 1997 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Certification of relevant powers to enter into contracts Executive Director 
of Finance 

   
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

12 To apply for the discharge or variation of a Child Safety 
Order 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

17 and 37 To have regard to effect of the exercise of any function 
on the need to prevent crime and disorder and offending 
by children and young persons 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

Page 216



 

197 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

   

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998, SECTION 115 
CRIME AND DISORDER (FORMULATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGY) 
REGULATIONS 2007/1830 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
4(3) Primary Designated Officer for information sharing Director of Legal 

and Democratic 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

3 Producing a written statement of Executive decisions 
made at meetings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

5 Making a copy of written statements of Executive 
decisions and associated reports available for 
inspection by the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

6 Making available for inspection a list of background 
papers 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

11(2) Exclusion of whole or part of any report to the Cabinet 
where meeting is likely not to be open to the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

11(7)(c) Provision to the press of other documents supplied to 
members of the Cabinet in connection with the item 
discussed 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

81 Establish and maintain a Register of Interests Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 SECTIONS 9G, 9GA AND 22  

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

7 Exclusion of whole or part of any reports to the Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member where they relate only to items during 
which the meeting is likely not to be open to the public 

Director of Legal 

and Democratic 

10 Inform the relevant Select Committee Chair or the 
committee members by notice in writing of decisions to be 
made, where it has been impracticable to comply with the 
publicity requirements (in the “Key Decisions Plan”) and 
make available for public inspection notices relating to this 

Director of Legal 

and Democratic 

12 Produce a written statement of Cabinet decisions made at 
meetings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

13 Produce a written statement of decisions made by 
individual Cabinet Members 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

14 Make a copy of written statements of Cabinet and Cabinet 
Member and officer executive decisions and associated 
reports available for inspection by the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 217



 

198 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

15 and 2 Make available for inspection a list of background 
papers 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

16(5) Determine whether certain documents contain exempt 
information 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

16(7) Determine whether certain documents contain advice 
provided by a political adviser or assistant 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

20 Determine whether documents contain confidential 
information, exempt information or the advice of a political 
adviser or assistant 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS AND DIRECTIONS) 
REGULATIONS 2000 
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

34 Publishing the verification number of local government 
electors for the purpose of petitions under the Local 
Government Act 2000 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 SECTION 30 
THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (PRESCRIPTION OF OFFICES, 
RANKS AND POSITION) ORDER 2000 
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

2 Authorise the carrying out of directed surveillance of the 
conduct of a covert human intelligence source 

Executive 
Directors, Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic, Chief 
Executive in 
accordance with 
Council’s RIPA 
policy 

21, 22, 27, 28 
and 29 

The Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000, SECTIONS 22(2)(B) AND 25(2) 
THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COMMUNICATIONS DATA) ORDER 
2010 THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT SURVEILLANCE 
AND PROPERTY INTERFERENCE: CODE OF PRACTICE) ORDER 2010 
THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE 
SOURCES: CODE OF PRACTICE) ORDER 2010 
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

- Designated Senior Responsible Officer for the use of 
surveillance and the acquisition and disclosure of 
communications data 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch. 2 Part 2 Grant authorisation or give notice to obtain or disclose 
communications data for the purpose of preventing or 
detecting crime or of preventing disorder  

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   

Page 218



 

199 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

36 Person to confirm or deny whether the disclosure of 
information is likely to prejudice the effective conduct of 
public affairs 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
ACCESS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE (MAPS IN DRAFT FORM) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 
2001 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
9-11 Authorised officer to receive deposit of reduced scale 

maps 
Executive Director 
Place and 
Economy 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (STANDING ORDERS) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2001 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

Sch.1 Part II 
paras 5 and 6 

Functions in relation to notifying Executive 
appointments, dismissals etc . 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   

MONEY LAUNDERING REGULATIONS 2003 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

7(1)(a) Nominated officer to receive disclosures of suspected 
money laundering 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

25 When the annual budget report is considered by Cabinet 
or by the County Council, the Chief Financial Officer 
must make a report on the robustness of the estimates 
made in determining the budget requirement and on the 
adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves 

Executive Director 
of Finance 

CHILDREN ACT 2004 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

18 To carry out the role of the proper officer function of 
Director of Children’s Services 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

   
THE HOUSING ACT 2004  
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

4(2) and 
249 

In relation to the inspection of premises and endorsing 
of a certificate of evidence. 

Assistant Director 
of Housing & 
Communities 

   

Page 219



 

200 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ACT 2004 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
17 Appointment as Traffic Manager to perform such tasks as 

the authority considers will assist it to perform its network 
management duty 

Executive Director 
Place and 
Economy 

MARRIAGES AND CIVIL PARTNERSHIPS (APPROVED PREMISES) REGULATIONS 
2005 (AS AMENDED) 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Proper Officer for the purposes of the Registration Act 
1953, the Marriage Act 1949 (as amended by the 
Marriage Act 1994), the Civil Partnership Act 2004, the 
Marriages and Civil Partnerships (Approved Premises) 
Regulations 2005 as amended and receive applications, 
set fees and offer discounts, where applicable 

Director Legal and 
Democratic 

NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE ACT 2006 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
73A Appointment as Director of Public Health Director of Public 

Health 

HEALTH ACT 2006 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

10(3) Duty of an enforcement authority to enforce, as respects 
the premises, places and vehicles in relation to which it 
has enforcement functions, the provisions of this 
Chapter (smoke free premises) and regulations made 
under it 

Assistant Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

10(5) In this Chapter, “authorised officer”, in relation to an 
enforcement authority, means any person (whether or 
not an officer of the authority) who is authorised by it in 
writing, either generally or specially, to act in maters 
arising under this Chapter 

Authorised 
Officers 

10(7) Refers to Schedule 2 which lists the powers of entry, 
etc. 

Assistant Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

10(9)(1)  An authorised officer of an enforcement authority (see 
section 10) who has reason to believe that a person has 
committed an offence under section 6(5) or 7(2) on 
premises, or in a place or vehicle, in relation to which 
the authorised officer has functions may give them a 
penalty notice in respect of the offence 

Authorised Officer 

   
SMOKE-FREE (PREMISES AND ENFORCEMENT) REGULATIONS 2006 
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

Page 220



 

201 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3 To carry out the functions of an enforcement authority 
under Regulation 3 

Assistant Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

   
LOCAL ELECTIONS (PARISHES AND COMMUNITIES) RULES 2006 
   

 Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Retention and public inspection of documents after an 
election 

Returning Officer 

THE LOCAL ELECTIONS (PRINCIPAL AREAS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) RULES 2006 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
Rule 50 
and Sch.2 

Receipt from Returning Officer of the names and persons 
elected to the Council 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

54 Registration officer for the retention and destruction of 
documents following an election 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

CRIME AND DISORDER (FORMULATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGY) 
REGULATIONS 2007/1830 
   

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

4(3) Nominated officer to facilitate the sharing of information 
under an information sharing protocol 

Assistant Director 
Housing and 
Communities 

   
LOCAL DEMOCRACY, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION ACT 2009 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

31 Statutory Scrutiny Officer Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

   
WORKING TOGETHER TO SAFEGUARD CHILDREN: A GUIDE TO INTER-AGENCY 
WORKING TO SAFEGUARD AND PROMOTE THE WELFARE OF CHILDREN (DFE 
GUIDANCE, MARCH 2010) 

 Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

- Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) Executive Director 
Adults 
Communities and 
Wellbeing 

- Caldicott Guardian Executive Director 
Adults 
Communities and 
Wellbeing 

THE HEALTH PROTECTION (NOTIFICATION) REGULATIONS 2010 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

Page 221



 

202 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2, 3 and 6 Receipt and disclosure of notification of suspected 
notifiable disease, infection or contamination in patients 
and dead persons 

Director of 
Public Health 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

29 Establish, maintain and publish a Register of Interests Director Legal 
and Democratic 

31 Receipt of notice of members’ disclosable pecuniary interests 
and entering such interests in the authority’s register 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

32 Consideration of whether a member’s interest is a sensitive 
interest 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

33(1) Receiving applications for dispensations Director Legal 
and 
Democratic 

33(2) Grant dispensations to members to speak only or to speak 
and vote on matters where they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.2, Pt1, 
Para.9FB 

Designation as Scrutiny Officer Executive 
Director 
Corporate 
Services 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS) REGULATIONS 2011 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

7, 8, 11 and 
13 

Various steps relating to petitions Director Legal 
and Democratic 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND ACCESS 
TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
2, 7, 10, 12, 
13-16, 20 

Functions relating to the recording and publication of 
information relating to Executive decisions, including 
exclusion of information from agenda and reports relating to 
private meeting matters 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

12-13 Grant dispensations in respect of conflicts of interest 
declared by an Executive member making a decision, or 
declared by an Executive member consulted by a member 
or officer taking such a decision 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

12-14 Recording of executive decisions and by individual 
members and making documents available for inspection by 
members of the public 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

NHS BODIES AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES (PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS, CARE 
TRUSTS, PUBLIC HEALTH AND LOCAL HEALTHWATCH) REGULATIONS 2012 

Page 222



 

203 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
22(4) Designated as Responsible Person for ensuring 

compliance with the regulations 
Executive 
Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

22(5) Designated as Complaints Manager for managing the 
procedures for handling complaints 

Executive 
Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ACT 2012 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Responsible person for ensuring that the Council 
complies with statutory requirements relating to 
complaints made to the Council about its public health 
functions and, where necessary, action is taken in light 
of the outcome of such complaints 
 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

73A(1)(a) The exercise by the authority of its functions under 
section 2B, 111 or 249 or Schedule 1 – health 
improvement duties to take steps to improve the health 
of the people in the area 
 

Director of Public 
Health 

73A(1)(b) The exercise by the authority of its functions by virtue of 
section 6C(1) or (3) – The exercise of the Secretary of 
State’s public health protection or health improvement 
functions that they delegate to local authorities, either 
by  arrangement or under regulations – these include 
services mandated by regulations 

Director of Public 
Health 

73A(1)( c) Anything done by the authority in pursuance or 
arrangements under section 7A – Any public health 
activity undertaken by the local authority under 
arrangements with the Secretary of State 

Director of Public 
Health 

73A(1)(d) The exercise by the authority of any of its functions that 
relate to planning for, or responding to, emergencies 
involving a risk to public health 

Director of Public 
Health 

73A(1)(e) The functions of the authority under section 325 of the 
Criminal Justice Act 2003 -  the local authority’s role in 
co-ordinating with the police, the probation service and 
the prison service to assess the risks posed by violent 
and sex offenders 

Director of Public 
Health 

73A(1)(f) Other public health functions that the Secretary of State 
may specific in regulations 

Director of Public 
Health 

   
COUNTER-TERRORISM AND SECURITY ACT 2015 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 The officer responsible for ensuring that the Council, in 
the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

Executive Director 
Adults, 

Page 223



 

204 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

need to prevent people vulnerable from being drawn 
into terrorism 

Communities and 
Wellbeing 

   
DATA PROTECTION ACT 2018 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

69, 70 and 
71 

The designated Data Protection Officer to discharge 
functions associated with the Data Protection Act 2018 

Data Protection 
Officer and 
Information 
Manager 

LANDLORD AND TENANTS ACTS 
   

 Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 To be the Proper Officer to serve and receive notices on 
behalf of the Council for the purposes of s.23 of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1927 and s.66 of the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1954 

Executive Director 
of Place and 
Economy  

   
OTHER MISCELLANEOUS PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS 
   

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

 Any other miscellaneous proper or statutory officer 
functions not otherwise delegated by the Authority 

Chief Executive or 
their nominee 

 
IN THE ABSENCE OF THE DESIGNATED PROPER OFFICER: 

 In the event of the Head of the Paid Service not being available to deal with matters 
for which they have been designated the proper officer, an Executive Director may 
be authorised by them to act as proper officer in their absence.  

 In the event of any other designated officer being unable to fulfil their duties as proper 
officer, their deputy may be authorised to undertake such duties.  

 Notwithstanding the above, a proper officer may at any time delegate or authorise 
other officers to perform the designated duties on their behalf.  

 
  

Page 224



 

205 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.4 Employee Code of Conduct 

Code of conduct 

The Council Code of Conduct sets out the general standards expected of all employees; 
these are in addition to any rules which apply in Service areas. The Code is not 
exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with other Council policies. 

It is your responsibility to read this Code and to make sure your conduct meets its 
provisions at all times.  

Some service areas will have their own service specific rules about behaviour, usually in 
relation to their service users. Employees must ensure that they understand the service 
specific rules, and discuss them with their line manager if they do not understand how 
they apply. 

1. What are the principles? 

The public have the right to expect the highest standards of integrity from our employees. 

Employees should: 

 always conduct themselves in a proper manner 

 not allow personal or private interests to influence their conduct 

 not do anything as an employee which they could not justify to the Council 

 tell management of any breach of standards or procedure without fear of 
recrimination. If appropriate employees should use the Whistleblowing policy 

 engage in any investigations about actual or potential breaches of this code 

If employees fail to follow this code they may be liable to disciplinary action which 
could lead to termination of employment. 

2. What are the rules about gifts and hospitality? 

There are no hard and fast rules about accepting hospitality or gifts offered on a personal 
basis.  However, employees should treat any offers with extreme caution. The person or 
organisation making the offer may be: 

 doing, or hoping to do, business with the Council; or 

 applying to the Council for some kind of decision 

In some cases, accepting the offer may constitute a criminal offence. 

Employees should seek permission before any offers of gifts or hospitality above the value 
of £25 are accepted. 

Page 225



 

206 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

It is important that such offers of a gift or hospitality are recorded, even where the employee 
or their line manager, has decided to decline the offer. As a public service there is a need 
to demonstrate impartiality and merit in remaining totally open about anything received and 
understand the perception of the general public regarding offers of gifts or hospitality.  
Please note that if there have been separate or previous offers from the same organisation 
or individual within the past three months which combined would total over £25.00 it is 
appropriate to declare the cumulative total.  

If employees have any doubts about whether to accept a gift below £25, they should talk 
to their line manager. Guidance is provided in the Gifts and Hospitality Form. Managers 
should maintain a record of gifts and hospitalities received by their staff. 

Hospitality or Gifts over the value of £25 should be declared through the Gifts and 
Hospitality form. 

3. What are the rules about use of Council facilities? 

Employees should only use Council premises, facilities or other resources for Council 
business, unless you have been given prior approval through your line manager.  This 
includes: 

 transport 

 stationery  

 secretarial services 

4. What are the rules about the use of Information Technology? 

Employees should use information technology in compliance with the Council’s relevant 
Use of IT Policy. In addition to this policy, employees should make sure they understand 
and comply with the Council’s guidance on Information Technology. 

5. What are the rules about confidential and private information? 

Employees may come into contact with confidential information during the course of their 
work and have a responsibility to maintain confidentiality and ensure their actions comply 
with the Data Protection Act and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

Confidential information includes, but is not limited to; any information regarding other 
employees, service users, financial information, information regarding business plans or 
other commercially sensitive information and any information or matter which relates to 
the affairs and/or services of the Council that should not be in the public domain. 

Employees must never:  

 disclose or share such information (oral, written or electronic) given in  

confidence 

or, information acquired during the course of their work to other people 
without a clear, legal basis for doing so e.g. safeguarding or crime 

Page 226

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Form.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Form.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Use%20of%20IT%20Policy.doc


 

207 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

prevention, and only when the identity of the individual requesting has been 
verified. 

 access or use any information obtained in the course of their employment for  

 personal gain or, to disadvantage or discredit the Council or anyone else. 

The Council has specific rules on data security, outlined in the relevant Information 
Security Policy which you need to read and familiarise yourself with.  You are required to 
comply with these rules when handling information. There are set procedures for releasing 
personal information and guidance for relevant Information Sharing.  It is essential that 
employees follow these procedures and must seek advice from their line manager if 
unsure before releasing information or personal data. 

6. What are the rules about financial conduct? 

Employees must ensure that they use funds and resources entrusted to them for the 
purpose intended, and in a responsible and lawful manner. They should seek to safeguard 
such funds and resources from abuse, theft or waste and should strive to ensure value for 
money for the Council, service users and any public or charitable funds.  

Employees should be aware that it is a serious criminal and disciplinary offence to 
corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or other advantage in return for doing 
(or not doing) anything, or showing favour (or disfavour) to any person or organisation. If 
an allegation of corrupt behaviour is made, this will be fully investigated.  

Any form of bribery, either direct or indirect, is prohibited. Allegations of bribery or 
wrongdoing can be reported confidentially through the Whistleblowing policy. See also the 
Anti-Fraud policy.  

Employees should manage the organisation’s finances in compliance with the Council’s 
financial procedure rules. This sets out individual financial responsibilities, and provides 
more information on the Whistleblowing and Anti-Fraud policy.  

7. What are the rules about declaring financial/personal interests in other 
organisations Which deal with the Council? 

Employees must declare any financial/personal interest that they or their partner have or 
may have in any contract or proposed contract with the Council or its partners, including 
any interest they may have in tendering for a contract from the Service Area/Group – this 
interest may be direct or indirect. 

Employees should also consider declaring non-financial interests.  For example, they may 
do voluntary work for an organisation in receipt of grant aid from the Council. 

An employee wishing to make a declaration should complete the Declaration of Conflict of 
Interest form providing as much detail as possible and submit this to their line manager. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

8. What are the rules about buying goods for personal use? 

Page 227

https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Documents/20171108-InformationSecurityPolicy%20v5.doc
https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Documents/20171108-InformationSecurityPolicy%20v5.doc
https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Pages/information-sharing.aspx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

208 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Employee should not use an official order, or the Council’s name to buy goods for their 
personal use. To do so could lead to prosecution under the Theft Act and disciplinary 
action being taken which could result in termination of employment. 

9. What are the rules about discount schemes offered to employees? 

Employees should take care before accepting discounts or special terms from someone: 

 who normally supplies the Council and,  

 who is not offering this discount to members of the public   

This does not apply if the supplier has an agreement with the Unions or the Council to 
supply goods or services on special terms.  If an employee has doubts as to how to 
proceed, they should refer to their line manager in the first instance who will then discuss 
with their Executive Director who may refer to Legal Services where necessary. 

10. What are the rules about equality issues? 

Employees must ensure that they follow the Council’s Equality, Inclusion and Diversity 
policies and conduct themselves in accordance with expected practice. 

Managers must ensure that employees are aware of these policies, expected practice and 
how this applies to the work that the employee undertakes. 

11. What are the rules about employees having other jobs? 

Some contracts specify that an employee cannot undertake other jobs without written 
permission or, there are service specific or other circumstances that would prevent 
undertaking other jobs. 

Where this does not apply, employees should make sure that any additional work they 
undertake does not: 

 relate to their duties as an employee 

 impact or affect the hours of work in their role with the Council and does not 
contravene any provisions under the Working Time Regulations or, their health and 
safety 

 impact on their duties and effectiveness 

 conflict with the interests of the Council (are they a competitor organisation, 
engaged in similar business or a customer of the Council.  Do they provide or 
receive goods or services from the Council and is there any contractual 
arrangement with the Council) 

 weaken public confidence in the Council 

If you have any doubt as to whether a conflict exists you should complete a Declaration of 
conflict of interest form and submit this to your line manager. 

Page 228

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

209 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

In order to sustain service delivery and core functions, employees may be asked to curtail 
any other private work they have been carrying out when the Critical Incident Policy is 
invoked. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration 

12. What are the rules about employee conduct outside work? 

Generally, what employees do outside work is their own concern.  However, they should 
avoid doing anything which might adversely affect the reputation of the Council, this 
includes comments on social media. 

Further information and guidance is provided in the Council’s relevant Use of IT Policy 
which covers Facebook, Social Media and use of mobile devices. 

13. What are the rules about political impartiality? 

Employees must be politically neutral when carrying out their work.  This does not affect 
their right to be a member of a political party, unless they work within a specified politically 
restricted post. 

Politically restricted posts fall into two categories -‘specified posts’, and ‘sensitive posts’. 
Specified posts include Tier 2 and above, and Political Assistants. Sensitive posts apply in 
Democratic Services and the Communications and Marketing team, based on their link to 
journalists and broadcasters. Further information and guidance is provided in the Council’s 
document Politically restricted posts. 

Employees can stand for election to local authorities, other than Northamptonshire County 
Council. They should complete a Declaration of conflict of interest form and submit this to 
their line manager to resolve any potential conflicts of interest and consideration of any 
requirements for time off.   

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

If an employee holds a politically restricted post, they can only be a member of a parish 
council. 

14. What are the rules about employment of people who are relatives, partners, 
or have a close relationship? 

Employees should not be involved in taking significant decisions where it involves a 
relative, partner or close friend.   

This includes: 

 recruitment or appointment 

 disciplinary situations 

 promotional opportunities 

 pay related adjustments 

Page 229

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Use%20of%20IT%20Policy.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Politically%20Restricted%20Posts.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

210 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Employees are expected to maintain professional relationships with colleagues. The 
general principle is that an outsider should not be able to detect any difference in the 
professional working relationship of people who have a close relationship to those who are 
not. 

15. What are the rules about how employees interact with customers? 

Employees should never allow any personal relationship with a customer to conflict with 
the duties of their employment, or the best interests of any customer or service user. They 
must never allow themselves to be compromised by, or take advantage of, their 
relationship with a customer.  

Some service areas will have their own service specific rules about behaviour in relation to 
their service users. This may be underpinned by professional Codes of Conduct or 
Guidance in relation to client group needs. Employees must ensure that they understand 
such service specific rules, and discuss them with their line manager if they do not 
understand how they apply. 

16. What are the rules about employees’ relationships with colleagues or Elected 
Members? 

Mutual respect and trust between employees and councillors is essential to the effective 
operation of the Council.  Any close personal familiarity can damage the relationship.  It 
can also prove embarrassing to other employees and therefore, such familiarity should be 
avoided. 

Any personal relationships that develop, which may conflict with the impartial performance 
of your duties, should be declared by completing a Declaration of conflict of interest form 
and submitting this to your line manager for consideration. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

17. What are the rules about media activities? 

If an employee is contacted by the media, they should not respond individually, as media 
inquiries need to be directed immediately to the communications team.  

Media includes any kind of published or broadcast material, including items published on 
the internet. Employees should contact the Communications Team for clarification if they 
are unsure about the rules regarding speaking to the media or sharing information 
externally. 

In addition, employees should be aware of relevant Guidance on Social Networking Sites 
and Personal Internet Presence. The aim of this Guidance is: 

 to protect the reputation of the Council and its employees from intended or 
unintended abuse via personal employee usage of social networking and personal 
internet sites, and: 

 ensure that employees are aware of the potential legal implications of material 
which could be considered abusive or defamatory. 

Page 230

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Social%20Media%20Guidance,%20Networking%20Sites%20and%20Personal%20Internet%20Presence%20NCC.pdf
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Social%20Media%20Guidance,%20Networking%20Sites%20and%20Personal%20Internet%20Presence%20NCC.pdf


 

211 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

18. What are the rules about smoking? 

In order to help support the health of our staff, deliver our services and maintain legal 
compliance the Council has a Smoke-free policy. For reputational and health reasons, 
smoking is prohibited within, or on Council controlled sites, including areas outside and 
around buildings where smokers should not be visible to the public and customers visiting 
council buildings, or be identifiable by their lanyards or ID badges. More information is 
provided in the relevant Smoke-free policy.  

19. What are the rules about clothing and appearance? 

Employees are expected to dress in a manner that is appropriate to the job role they 
undertake, and the environment in which they work. All employees are ambassadors for 
the organisation and therefore need to maintain a professional appearance, appropriate to 
their role.  There are a variety of settings and roles within the organisation; for some areas 
health and safety issues will determine what constitutes appropriate dress, therefore 
employees should refer to any service specific rules, including those on personal 
protective clothing where relevant.  

Managers are responsible for applying this in their specific setting; should an employee 
wear clothing that is inappropriate for the role they are undertaking, they can reasonably 
expect their manager to point this out to them. Managers can get support from the HR 
Advisory Team on what constitutes inappropriate clothing. 

20. What are my responsibilities as a line manager? 

As a line manager it is your responsibility to read this Code and to make sure you and 
your employees conduct meets its provision at all times.  You are responsible for: 

 making sure that your staff are aware of the Code of Conduct 

 abide by the Code and thereby set your staff an example 

 taking appropriate action if any member of staff fails to follow this Code  

 seeking the advice of your HR Advisor if you have any doubt about how to proceed 

 keeping a record of gifts or hospitability received by your staff 

 reviewing any Declaration of conflict of interest form (whether at recruitment stage 
or following employment), escalating to your Executive Director 

 advising the employee of the outcome and retaining the information  

It is also the line manager’s responsibility to review the information and ensure: 

 where circumstances have changed and no longer relevant for the role the employee 
is undertaking or their involvement has ceased - the form should no longer be 
retained 

Page 231



 

212 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 If the employee moves to another role or service area, the information should be 
reviewed to ensure no conflict exists and where this remains relevant it is transferred 
and retained within that new role/service area 

 If the line manager leaves or moves to another role or service area, the information 
must be provided to the new manager where this remains relevant   

For employees working in a social care setting – please also refer to the Adult Social Care 
and Healthcare Support Workers Code of Conduct – Skills for Care. 

21. Making a Declaration 

There are two instances in which a Declaration can be made; 

(i) New recruits – as part of the recruitment process and,  

(ii) Where a conflict or potential conflict has been identified by an existing employee 

Declarations will normally be made in circumstances of; 

- Financial/personal interests in other organisations which deal with the Council 

- Undertaking other jobs or engaging in other jobs or business 

- Political impartiality 

- Personal relationships 

Conflict identified by existing employee 

Where a conflict or potential conflict has been identified by an existing employee they 
should complete a Declaration of conflict of interest form and submit this to their line 
manager.  

The employee’s line manager will assess the contents of the form to ensure that sufficient 
information has been provided in order to determine whether the request is likely to be in 
conflict with or have a detrimental impact on the employee’s or the Council’s work.   

The line manager may seek to consult their HR Advisor as required and then refer to the 
Executive Director for consideration. In circumstances that relate to financial/personal 
interests in other organisations the Executive Director will refer this to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer. 

Declaration and levels of approval 

Employees Line Manager Executive Director (and Monitoring Officer if 
involves Financial/Personal interests) 

Assistant Director or 
Head of Service 

Line Manager Executive Director (and Monitoring Officer if 
involves Financial/Personal interests) 

Director/Executive 
appointment 

HR Assistant 
Director 

Monitoring Officer 

Page 232

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

213 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Failure to disclose a Conflict of Interest 

If you fail to inform the Council of a possible conflict of interest could result in disciplinary 
action being taken and your employment being terminated. 

22. Potential outcome of a Declaration 

Any outcome as a result of a declaration being made must be advised and discussed with 
the employee to ensure they understand any implications and agreed actions where 
necessary. 

Where it is found that the employees’ involvement or actions are deemed unacceptable to 
continue, the employee may be asked to withdraw from that interest or the responsibilities 
may need to be changed. 

 

Declaration of Conflict of Interest Form 

 

Subject Make a Declaration Responsibility 

Gifts & Hospitality Record on Gifts & 

Hospitality form 

Line Manager 

Council facilities No Line Manager 

Confidential & private 

information 

No Line Manager 

Financial/Personal 

interests 

Yes Line Manager, Executive 

Director and Monitoring 

Officer 

Buying Goods No Line Manager 

Discount Schemes No Line Manager 

Equality No Line Manager 

Other jobs Yes Line Manager, Executive 

Director 

Conduct outside work No Line Manager 

Political Impartiality Yes Line Manager, Executive 

Director 

Employment of relatives No Line Manager 

Personal relationships Yes Line Manager, Executive 

Director 

 
  

Page 233



 

214 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.5 Staff Employment Procedure Rules 

Staff Procedure Rules 

1. Recruitment and appointment 

1.1 The Council has drawn up procedures which include a requirement that any candidate 

for an appointment as an officer must state in writing whether they have any 

relationship with any councillor or officer of the Council; 

1.2 No candidate so related to a councillor or a senior officer will be appointed without the 

authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an officer nominated by the Chief Officer. 

1.3 The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the support of 

any councillor for any appointment with the Council. The content of this paragraph will 

be included in any recruitment information. 

1.4 No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment with the Council. 

2. Recruitment of Chief Executive and Chief Officers 

2.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Executive or a chief officer and it is not 

proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, 

the Council will: 

a. draw up a statement including the following: 

 the duties of the officer concerned; and 

 any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

b. make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it 

to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and 

c. make arrangements for a copy of the procedures mentioned in paragraph (1) to be 

sent to any person on request. 

3. Appointments and Dismissals 

3.1 In this paragraph – 

“the Committee” means the Senior Appointments Committee.  

“Chief Officers” means the  

 Executive Director Finance 

 Director of Legal and Democratic 

Page 234



 

215 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 Director of Transformation 

 Director of Children’s Services 

 Executive Director Adults, Communities and Wellbeing  

 Executive Director Place, and Economy 

 Executive Director Corporate Services 

 Director of Public Health 

“the Proper Officer” means the Monitoring Officer 

The Leader – means the Executive Leader  

3.2 The appointment and dismissal of the Chief Executive and Chief Officers is the 

responsibility of the Committee.   

Appointments 

3.3 At least one member of the Cabinet must be a member of the Committee. 

3.4 Where the Committee is proposing to appoint the Chief Executive, the Council must 

approve that appointment before the offer of appointment is made. 

3.5 The Committee shall not make an offer of appointment in relation to any of the Chief 

Officers until:  

a. The Committee has notified the Proper Officer of the name of the person to whom 

the Committee wishes to make the offer and any other particulars which the 

Committee considers are relevant to the appointment; 

b. The proper officer has notified every member of the Cabinet of the authority of: 

 The name of the person to whom the Committee wishes to make the offer; 

 Any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the Committee has 

notified to the proper officer; and 

 The period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made 

by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the proper officer; and 

c. Either: 

 The Leader has, within the period specified, notified the Proper Officer that 

neither they nor any other member of the Cabinet has any objection to the 

making of the offer; 

Page 235



 

216 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

 The Proper Officer has notified the Committee that no objection was received 

by them within that period from the Leader; or 

 The Proper Officer is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader 

within that period is not material or is not well founded. 

Dismissals 

d. The Council’s suite of HR procedures set out the procedures for managing 

Disciplinary; Capability; Health and Attendance; Redundancy and the expiry of Fixed 

Term Contract matters in compliance with The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 

(England) Regulations 2001 & Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2015 which set out some particular matters with relation to 

employment processes for Chief Officers.  

4. Director of Public Health 

4.1 The appointment of the Director of Public Health who is appointed in pursuance of 

section 73A(7) of the National Health Service Act 2006 (inserted by section 30 of the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012) is the responsibility of the Senior Appointments 

Committee, subject to the approval of the appointment by the Secretary of State for 

Health. 

4.2 The Senior Appointments Committee may terminate the appointment of the Director 

of Public Health having followed the relevant procedures and following prior 

consultation with the Secretary of State for Health. 

5. Other Officers 

5.1 Appointment and dismissal of officers below Chief Officer is the responsibility of the 

Chief Executive or their nominee and will not be undertaken by councillors.   

5.2 Councillors will not be involved in disciplinary action against any officer below Chief 

Officer except where such involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry 

into alleged misconduct.  

  

Page 236



 

217 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.6 Contract Procedure Rules 

Contents 

Part 1 – Introduction, Scope and Responsibilities .......................................... Page  

1. Introduction .................................................................................................. Page  

2. Basic Principles ............................................................................................ Page  

3. Advice and Guidance  .................................................................................. Page 

4. Responsibilities  ........................................................................................... Page 

5. Amendments to the Rules  ........................................................................... Page 

6. Exemptions to the Rules  ............................................................................. Page 

7. Exceptions for Care Placements  ................................................................. Page 

8. Requesting a waiver from these Rules ......................................................... Page 

9. Prevention of Corruption and Conflicts of Interest  ....................................... Page 

10. Recommended Reading  ............................................................................. Page 

Part 2 – Pre-Procurement................................................................................... Page  

1. Competition Requirements  .......................................................................... Page 

2. Steps Prior to Procurement .......................................................................... Page 

3. Pre-Tender Market Research and Consultation  .......................................... Page 

4. Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 ...................................................... Page 

5. Corporate Contracts and Corporate Frameworks  ....................................... Page 

6. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems ....................... Page 

7. Contracts Reserved for Social Enterprises and Mutuals  ............................. Page 

8. Consultants, Temporary Agency and/or External Subject Matter Experts .... Page  

9. Setting Up a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) ........................................ Page  

10. Electronic Auctions  ...................................................................................... Page 

11. Concession Contracts  ................................................................................. Page 

12. Purchases over the Regulation Threshold ................................................... Page 

Part 3 – Procurement Documents ..................................................................... Page  

1. Invitations to Tender and Quotations  .......................................................... Page 

2. Local Providers ............................................................................................ Page  

3. Advertising Requirements  ........................................................................... Page 

4. Submission of Tenders or Quotations  ......................................................... Page 

5. Late Tenders  ............................................................................................... Page 

6. Evaluation .................................................................................................... Page 

7. Clarification Procedures ............................................................................... Page 

8. Notification of Award  ................................................................................... Page 

9. Legal Challenge ........................................................................................... Page  

Part 4 –Contract Formalities .............................................................................. Page  

Page 237



 

218 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1. Principles Relevant to Contracts at all values .............................................. Page  

2. Execution of contracts  ................................................................................. Page 

3. Commencement of contracts ....................................................................... Page 

4. Social Impact Bonds (SIBS)  ........................................................................ Page 

5. Contract Register  ........................................................................................ Page 

6. Letters of Intent  ........................................................................................... Page 

7. Performance Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees  .............................. Page 

Part 5 – Contract Management .......................................................................... Page  

1. General Requirements ................................................................................. Page  

2. Contract Monitoring, Evaluation and Review ............................................... Page  

3. Variations ..................................................................................................... Page  

4. Assignments and Novations  ........................................................................ Page 

5. Termination of Contract ................................................................................ Page  

Appendix 1 – Definitions, Abbreviations and Glossary .................................. Page  

Appendix 2 – Summary of Procurement Thresholds ...................................... Page  

Appendix 3 – Waiver Process Flowchart .......................................................... Page  

 

  

Page 238



 

219 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Part 1 – Introduction, Scope and Responsibilities 

1. Introduction 

1.1. These Rules apply to all procurement activities (the purchase of goods, services and 

works) undertaken by the Council. They must be read in conjunction with any other 

relevant laws, regulations, policies and/or procedures.  

1.2. Anyone making procurement decisions on behalf of the Council must be familiar with 

these Rules.  

1.3. These Rules are required by law and failure to comply with them could lead to 

disciplinary action. Officers have a duty to report breaches of these Rules to their line 

manager and/or the Monitoring Officer. 

1.4. Any change to English law must be observed until these Rules are revised. If there is 

any conflict between these Rules and English law, the legislation shall take 

precedence. The Council also reserves the right to consider the application of 

intervening government guidance when making decisions about the application of 

these Rules. 

2. Basic Principles 

2.1. Whether or not a procurement is subject to the UK Procurement Regulations, it must 

be conducted in accordance with the Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA). 

This means all procurements must be carried out in a fair, open and transparent way. 

2.2. These Rules are designed to ensure that procurements: 

 Achieve Value for Money for public money spent; 

 Are consistent with the highest standards of integrity; 

 Ensure fairness and transparency; 

 Ensure that the Council complies with all legal requirements and established 

government and commercial codes of conduct; 

 Comply with the Council’s associated policies; 

 Manage the Council’s risk effectively; 

 Are proportionate in regard to value and risk; and 

 Ensure that Non-Commercial Considerations e.g. prior knowledge of contractors 

do not influence any contracting decision. 

Page 239



 

220 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3. Advice and Guidance 

3.1. It is a mandatory requirement that advice and guidance on all procurement activities 

equal to and above £100,000 must be sought, in the first instance, from the Purchasing 

Gateway Group (PGG). 

3.2. Notwithstanding 3.1 above, advice and guidance can be obtained from the PGG by 

any officer who wishes to participate in a procurement activity of any value. 

3.3. Advice on compliance with legislative requirements may be obtained from the Director 

of Legal and Democratic who will liaise with the Head of Procurement as necessary. 

4. Responsibilities 

4.1. Chief Officers 

a. Chief Officers are responsible for all procurement activity in their Directorates. 

They must ensure sufficient oversight and governance is in place to satisfy 

themselves of compliance with these Rules; 

b. Chief Officers must ensure that procurement activities are undertaken by 

authorised Officers who can demonstrate knowledge and understanding of 

these Rules and have the skills appropriate to the task. 

c. Chief Officers must ensure that: 

 staff within their Directorates are adequately trained and that their 

procurements are in compliance with these Rules; 

 they have in place and keep up to date a scheme of delegation that 

records in writing what action officers in their Directorates are 

authorised to take under these Rules; 

 there is full budgetary provision for the contract and that the sources 

of funding are fully detailed before awarding a contract; 

 Value for Money is achieved in all procurements within their 

Directorates; 

 They keep a register of contracts completed by signature (rather than 

by the Council’s Seal) within their Directorate and arrange for their 

safe keeping; and 

 They maintain records of all waivers or exemptions of these Rules. 

4.2. Officers 

Page 240



 

221 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. The officer responsible for the procurement must comply with these Rules, the 

Financial Regulations and UK or English Legislation (including any treaties 

incorporated into UK law); 

b. The officer is responsible for ensuring that agents acting on behalf of the 

Council to conduct procurement agree in writing that they will also comply with 

these Rules; 

c. Officers must keep records of all quotations, tender documentation and 

contracts, including those documents relating to unsuccessful bids and quotes 

in accordance with the relevant legislation and the Council’s policy on the 

retention of documents; 

d. Officers must ensure that the contracts for which they are responsible are 

effectively managed and monitored to ensure that they deliver the requirement 

as intended; 

e. When any employee of the Council or of an external service provider may be 

affected by a transfer arrangement, the officer must ensure that TUPE issues 

are considered and obtain advice from Director of Legal and Democratic before 

proceeding with any procurement; 

f. Where an officer has a potential conflict of interest with a supplier from whom a 

quotation/tender is being sought, the officer must declare this immediately to the 

Monitoring Officer. The officer may be required to withdraw from the 

procurement process; 

g. Any officer who fails to declare a conflict of interest may be subject to 

disciplinary proceedings and sanctions and risks being prosecuted under the 

Bribery Act 2010; and 

h. Officers must ensure that no contract commences without a purchase order 

being raised for the goods, services and/or works in accordance with the 

provisions detailed in the Financial Procedure Rules. 

5. Amendments to these Rules 

5.1. The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Head of Procurement shall have the 

power to make incidental amendments from time to time to these Rules, to ensure 

that they remain consistent with legislation, the Council’s organisational structure and 

generally with best practice. 

6. Exemptions to the Rules 

6.1. These Rules do not apply to the following transactions: 

Page 241



 

222 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

a. Any contracts entered through collaboration with another contracting authority 

and/or public body, where the person awarding the contract (the lead authority) 

can demonstrate the arrangements comply with the requirements for Value for 

Money and applicable legislation, including where relevant UK Procurement 

Regulations; 

b. Employment contracts; 

c. Land transactions to acquire or dispose of some interest in land, even if these 

also contain provisions relating to works, goods or services; 

d. Lending or borrowing of money; and 

e. For existing goods, services or works where there is no genuine satisfactory 

alternative available such as public utility infrastructure providers, e.g. gas 

mains, sewage and water supply. 

7. Exceptions for Care Placements 

7.1. Exceptions are granted for Adult Social Care and Children Care Placements when 

underpinned by the following tiered placing of contractual arrangements. This must 

be approved by the Chief Officer of the relevant Directorate: 

a. Tier 1: Placements from Block Contracts – when a supplier is procured with 

guaranteed service levels and pre-agreed prices; 

b. Tier 2: Placements made from a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) or 

Framework Agreement – must contain fixed or average rates. Tier 2 is utilised 

only when Tier 1 is unable to meet the required needs; or 

c. Tier 3: Spot Placements – may be awarded when the required needs cannot be 

met by Tier 1 or Tier 2 and if the placement is urgent, complex and unique to 

the receiver of the care. Tier 3 Placements must be reviewed by the Chief 

Officer and will form part of a quarterly report to the relevant Member detailing 

the following: 

 The nature, extent and value of spot contracts entered into in the 

previous quarter; 

 The specific rationale for utilising Rule 7.1; and 

 Append a summary of the previous instances where this Rule is 

used in the current financial year. 

8. Requesting A Waiver from these Rules 

Page 242



 

223 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

8.1. Subject to the UK Procurement Regulations and any other relevant legislation, an 

officer may seek a waiver where they are unable to comply with these Rules. 

8.2. Officers must follow the procedure for obtaining a waiver detailed in Appendix 3. 

8.3. A waiver will only be granted in exceptional or unavoidable circumstances, or where 

there is a clear Value for Money case. Lack of appropriate planning will not be 

considered as sufficient justification to be granted a waiver. 

8.4. In cases of emergency and where there is a significant risk of danger to life, or 

damage to property or a major impact on the Council or its service users, the 

Monitoring Officer, or their nominated deputy may choose to waive these Rules or 

any element of them. 

8.5. Where a waiver is to be used, the waiver must be formally completed and signed 

prior to entering into any contract for goods, services and/or works. 

9. Prevention of Corruption and Conflicts of Interest 

9.1. The officer responsible for the procurement must comply with the Council’s Code of 

Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or 

performance of any contract. 

9.2. Where Officers wish to report a potential instance of fraud or corruption, they must 

refer to the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy on the appropriate way to do so. 

9.3. Officers must have regard to and comply with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and 

Corruption Policy when undertaking a procurement exercise. 

9.4. Officers are advised that any inappropriate behaviour that is deemed contrary to the 

Bribery Act 2010 could result in dismissal and the matter may be reported to the 

police. 

10. Recommended Reading 

10.1. It is strongly recommended that Officers and Chief Officers read the following 

documents in conjunction with these Rules: 

a. Financial Procedure Rules; 

b. Procurement Best Practice Guide; 

c. The Council’s policies and processes relevant to the procurement; and 

d. Contract Register guidance, system instructions and protocol. 

 

Page 243



 

224 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Part 2 – Pre-Procurement 

1. Competition Requirements 

1.1. Officers must establish the Total Value of the procurement for the life of the contract, 

including any potential extension periods which may be awarded. 

1.2. Officers shall not sub-divide goods, services and/or works that could reasonably be 

treated as a single contract to avoid these Rules, thresholds, or any legal 

requirements.  For the avoidance of doubt sub-division is permitted provided the 

genuine reason for doing so is to secure Value for Money. 

1.3. Based on the Total Value, Quotations or Tenders must then be invited in line with the 

financial thresholds detailed in Appendix 2. 

2. Steps Prior to Procurement 

2.1. Where a procurement is required, the officer must establish: 

a. The contract term, this must not exceed four (4) years in total (including any 

optional extension period(s)) unless otherwise agreed by the Head of 

Procurement and Monitoring Officer in advance of the procurement 

commencing. 

b. The size, scope, term and specification of the goods, services and/or works 

required; 

c. the duration of the contract that will provide the most economically 

advantageous outcome for the Council. This decision must be made in advance 

of the procurement process and done in accordance with these Rules; 

d. That they have the appropriate authority to start the procurement activity under 

the scheme of delegation; 

e. That they have the relevant budget approval to cover the Total Value of the 

contract or it is reasonable to believe that such a budget will be available; and 

f. A project plan to allow sufficient time for Bidders to prepare and submit Tenders 

or Quotations to maximise the opportunity for Value for Money to be achieved. 

2.2. The officer must consult Finance, where the procurement is of an innovative nature 

or poses a new potential material risk to the Council to discuss the potential risks to 

ensure they are adequately mitigated. 

3. Pre-Tender Market Research and Consultation 

Page 244



 

225 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3.1. The officer responsible for the procurement may consult potential Suppliers in 

general terms about the nature, level and standard of the contract packaging and 

other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice any potential Bidder. 

3.2. The officer must not adopt any technical advice in the preparation of an Invitation to 

Tender or Quotations from anyone where this may prejudice the equal treatment of 

all potential Bidders or otherwise distort competition. 

3.3. Pre-tender consultation with service users on what is being procured is encouraged 

and is considered good practice to ensure the Specification correctly addresses what 

is required. 

3.4. When considering undertaking any of these activities, the officer must seek advice 

from the Procurement Team. 

4. Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

4.1. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires the Council to consider for 

service contracts above the Regulation Threshold at the pre-procurement stage: 

a. How the proposed procurement might improve the economic, social, and 

environmental well-being of the area; 

b. How the Council may act with a view to securing that improvement in 

conducting the process of the procurement; and 

c. Whether it should undertake any community consultation on the above. 

4.2 It may well also be appropriate to apply this approach to service contracts below the   

threshold and to procurements for goods and works. 

4.3 Officers must consult the Procurement Team for advice on specifying requirements 

under Social Value and how to evaluate this as a part of any bids received. 

5. Corporate Contracts and Corporate Frameworks 

5.1. The Council has a selection of Corporate Contracts, Frameworks and Dynamic 

Purchasing Systems (DPSs) created by the Procurement Team for goods, services 

and works where the prices and terms have been negotiated to achieve Value for 

Money for the Council as a whole. 

5.2. Before undertaking a procurement exercise, Officers must check if a Corporate 

Contract, Framework or DPS exists, and where they do, the officer must use the 

relevant Corporate Contract. 

Page 245



 

226 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

5.3. Where the officer is conducting a collaborative procurement, the Council’s sole 

financial value alone will be the amount the officer must use to determine the Key 

Decision threshold. 

6. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) 

6.1. Any officer intending on using an externally let Framework Agreement or DPS must 

ensure that they have approval from the Procurement Team before they call-off any 

goods, services and/or works from the framework. 

7. Contracts Reserved for Social Enterprises and Mutuals 

7.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team and Director of Legal and Democratic 

for advice where they are considering using this procedure. 

8. Consultants, Temporary Agency and/or External Subject Matter Experts 

8.1. Officers must follow the Council’s HR Consultancy policy published on the Council’s 

intranet when considering the appointment of consultants or External Subject Matter 

Experts to assist in the preparation of procurement documents and/or providing 

advice throughout the procurement process. The procurement of consultants and/or 

external subject matter experts must be conducted in accordance with the 

appropriate procurement rules, as determined by cost threshold. 

9. Setting up a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 

9.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team for support and advice if they intend to 

create a DPS. 

10. Electronic Auctions 

10.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team and Director of Legal and Democratic 

for support and advice if they intend to enter into an Electronic Auction. 

11. Concession Contracts 

11.1. The Council may wish to enter into contracts where the Supplier receives payment 

from a third party, or where the Supplier receives non-monetary benefits. Such 

contracts must be let in accordance with these Rules and where relevant the 

Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

11.2. Officers must contact Director of Legal and Democratic for advice if they intend to 

enter into such contracts. 

12. Purchases over the Regulation Threshold  

Page 246



 

227 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

12.1. All goods, services and/or works over the Regulation Threshold are covered by the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015. These Regulations govern the processes for 

advertising, timetabling and Supplier selection. 

12.2. The latest thresholds and regulations can be found at the following site   

https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx. 

12.3. Officers must consult with the Procurement Team and Director of Legal and 

Democratic before commencing the procurement or any soft market testing over the 

Regulation Threshold. 

12.4. The officer, in collaboration with the Procurement Team, shall decide the 

procurement process which is most appropriate (e.g. quotation or another compliant 

competitive model) where the procurement is identified as falling in the scope of the 

Light Touch Regime in the Public Contracts Regulations. 

 

Part 3 – Procurement Documents 

1. Invitations to Tender and Quotations 

1.1. All Invitations to Tender or Quote must: 

a. Clearly specify the goods, services or works that are required. The specification 

must describe the requirements in sufficient detail to ensure the submission of 

competitive bids which may easily be compared; 

b. Include evaluation methodology, such as the selection and award criteria which 

details the cost and quality split; 

c. Cleary and unambiguously specify the award procedure on which Tenders or 

Quotations will be evaluated, such as on the most economically advantageous 

tender; 

d. Attach or refer to a copy of the contract terms and conditions that will apply; 

e. Ensure that the same information is issued or made available to Bidders at the 

same time and on the same terms; and 

f. Any additional information or amendments must be provided to the Bidders on 

the same basis. 

1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the price/quality split may be constructed on any basis 

which unambiguously defines how Tenders or Quotes will be evaluated, including 

fixed prices with pure quality scores. 

Page 247

https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx


 

228 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2. Local Providers 

2.1. For requirements up to £100,000, the officer should wherever possible obtain at least 

one (1) quote from a Local provider. 

3. Advertising Requirements 

3.1. Under these Rules it is not mandatory for procurements valued below £100,000 to be 

advertised unless the officer decides that the procurement would benefit from this.  If 

the opportunity is advertised anywhere, it must also be advertised on Contracts 

Finder. 

3.2. Procurements over £100,000 must be advertised on Contracts Finder and any other 

relevant media portal. 

3.3. Procurements above the Regulation Threshold must be advertised in accordance 

with the UK Procurement Regulations.  

3.4. Contracts valued over £5,000 must be recorded on the Contract Register. 

4. Submission of Tenders or Quotations 

4.1. Bidders must be given sufficient time to prepare and submit a proper Tender or 

Quotation, consistent with the urgency and complexity of the contract requirements. 

5. Late Tenders 

5.1. Late Tenders or Tenders that are not submitted in accordance with these Rules will 

be disqualified unless approved by the Monitoring Officer. 

6. Evaluation 

6.1. Tenders and Quotations must be evaluated in accordance with the pre-determined 

evaluation criteria set out in the procurement documents. 

6.2. The evaluation must be carried out by a panel consisting of the officer and at least 

one (1) other officer of appropriate seniority, supported and moderated by the 

Procurement Team. 

6.3. If, despite all reasonable efforts having been made to obtain the required minimum 

number of responses, fewer respond to the Council’s requirement, then the 

procurement may progress with the Bidders who have provided a valid response. 

6.4. The officer must keep a record of the efforts made to obtain the minimum number of 

responses. 

6.5. The officer must retain the results of the Tender evaluation. 

Page 248



 

229 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6.6. Officers shall ensure the successful Bidder has any required insurance cover in 

place before performance of the contract begins, and shall further ensure, at 

appropriate intervals, that such cover is maintained by the Supplier throughout the 

contract period. 

7. Clarification Procedures 

7.1. Officers may ask Bidders for clarifications to any of the details submitted as part of 

their bid. However, such clarifications must not result in a significant change to the 

bid or related documentation. 

7.2. Prior to making any request for clarifications from a Bidder, the officer must discuss 

this with the Procurement Team, where the requirement is over £100,000. 

7.3. Full written records of all clarification decisions must be made and retained by the 

officer. These records must be provided to the Procurement Team, where the 

Procurement Team have led the procurement. 

8. Notification of Award 

8.1. Following contract award the officer must inform successful and unsuccessful 

Bidders simultaneously in writing whether or not their bid was successful.  If for some 

reason simultaneous notification is not possible, notice should be as close to 

simultaneous as possible.  

8.2. Where the value of the contract is over £25,000 the officer must also publish an 

award notice on Contracts Finder. 

8.3. Where a Tender is subject to the UK Procurement Regulations, the Procurement 

Team will adhere to the relevant Standstill Period, except in cases of urgency where 

it is judged that the risk of not adhering is sufficiently low.  

8.4. If a Bidder requests in writing, a further debrief in relation to the award, the lead 

Officer is responsible for providing the appropriate response. 

8.5. Any complaints from unsuccessful Bidders must be provided in writing to be 

considered. Officers must submit these to the Procurement Team for review. The 

Procurement Team must be notified immediately of any challenge to a procurement 

process, in order that appropriate action may be taken. 

9. Legal Challenge 

9.1. If there is a formal legal challenge to the award of a contract, then the officer must 

notify immediately their Chief Officer, Director of Legal and Democratic and the Head 

of Procurement. 

 

Page 249



 

230 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Part 4 – Contract Formalities 

1. Principles Relevant to Contracts at all Values 

1.1. Every contract must be in writing and must clearly state: 

a. The goods, services and/or works to be provided; 

b. The start and end date or the means by which these are to be ascertained; 

c. The agreed programme of delivery or the means by which this is to be 

ascertained; 

d. The price, ways the price may be varied and terms of payment; 

e. All other terms that are agreed, e.g. insurance; 

f. Exit procedures, for when the contract comes to its natural end; and 

g. Termination procedures for early termination of the contract including when the 

Supplier has not fulfilled its contractual obligations. 

2. Execution of Contracts 

2.1. Contracts let under the UK Procurement Regulations may only (subject to Part 3, 

paragraph 8.3) be signed/sealed after the standstill period has elapsed without any 

challenge being received. 

2.2. Contracts may only be executed by Officers with delegated powers as detailed below: 

a. Up to £250,000 shall be in writing signed by the Chief Officer. 

b. Over £250,000 but less than £1,000,000 shall be in writing and signed by the 

appropriate Chief Officer and the s151 Officer or their nominated representative.  

c. £1,000,000 or over shall be in writing sealed by affixing the Common Seal of the 

Council and attested by the Director of Legal and Democratic. 

2.3. If after acceptance of its Tender or Quotation, a Supplier fails, within a reasonable 

period of time and without reasonable justification, to sign or otherwise enter into a 

formal written contract, the Council shall reserve the right to withdraw the Supplier 

from the contract. This decision shall be made by the relevant Chief Officer in 

consultation with Director of Legal and Democratic. 

3. Commencement of Contracts 

3.1. Subject to paragraph 6.1, no supply of goods, services or works shall commence until 

all contract documents have been completed. 

Page 250



 

231 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4. Social Impact Bonds (SIBs) 

4.1. Details of Social Impact Bonds (SIBs) are available through the Executive Director of 

Finance and their team.  

5. Contract Register 

5.1. The Procurement Team will provide access to the Contract Register of current 

contracts and framework agreements. The Contract Register will be published on the 

Council’s website in accordance with Local Government Transparency Code 2015. 

5.2. The Procurement Team will enter any contracts they have led the procurement 

process for on the Contract Register, however, it is the officer’s responsibility to 

ensure these details are correct and updated with any changes and/or extensions. 

6. Letters of Intent 

6.1. Letters of Intent shall only be used in exceptional circumstances and where 

approved by the Chief Officer in consultation with Director of Legal and Democratic. 

7. Performance Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees 

7.1. Subject to paragraph 7.3, a performance bond or parent company guarantee shall be 

required: 

a. where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £500,000; and/or 

b. where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in advance of receiving 

the whole of the subject matter of the Contract; and/or 

c. where there is concern about the stability of the Supplier, regardless of value. 

7.2. Where a performance bond or parent company guarantee is required this must be 

clearly stated in the Invitation to Tender or Quotation and must be in place before the 

contract is completed by the Council. 

7.3. Where a bidder or bidders request not using either of these provisions in a 

procurement process, or the officer can justify the disadvantages of this requirement, 

they must agree this in writing with the Chief Officer and s.151 Officer. 

 

Part 5 – Contract Management 

1. General Requirements 

Page 251



 

232 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.1. During the contract period the officer must monitor the overall performance of the 

contract closely to ensure any issues of under-performance are addressed as soon 

as possible and that the contract remains in-budget. 

2. Contract Monitoring, Evaluation and Review 

2.1. The Procurement Team will provide a high-level contract governance function that 

can offer a helicopter view of the Councils’ contract management to ensure better 

strategic procurement delivery across the organisation. This is not a substitute for 

sound contract management and governance by the relevant Officer, but seeks to 

nurture, support and enhance that function. 

2.2. The Procurement Team must have sight of the final contract and everything that has 

been agreed between the officer and the Supplier. This may include but not be 

limited to: 

a. Service Level Agreements; and 

b. Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) and/or Key Milestones. 

2.3. Where the Supplier defaults on the Contract it shall be the duty of the officer to take 

appropriate action and, in the case of a significant default, to report any such action 

to the Chief Officer and Director of Legal and Democratic. 

2.4. Officers shall ensure that Suppliers maintain adequate insurance for the duration of 

the contract period and shall verify this at appropriate intervals throughout the term. 

3. Variations 

3.1. Where a variation means that the value of a contract would exceed the relevant 

Regulation Threshold, or where there is any material change to the contract, the 

contract must be treated as a new procurement under these Rules. 

3.2. A change will not be deemed material if the value of the modification is both below 

the Regulation Threshold and below 10% of the original contract value (15% for 

works) after any contract indexation. 

3.3. Officers must consult with the Director of Legal and Democratic if they intend to 

make variations to their contracts except where such variations are provided for in 

the terms of the contract, such as changes in quantities or adjustments to works. 

3.4. The officer will need to calculate how the Total Value of the contract will change as a 

result of any variation to determine the authority the officer needs to obtain.  Any 

option, extension periods and/or previous variations must be included in this 

calculation. 

Page 252



 

233 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

3.5. All variations must be kept with the officer’s signed copy of the contract and once 

agreed, all variations on contracts with a Total Value of £5,000 or more must be 

noted on the Contract Register. 

3.6. Officers must be satisfied that they have sufficient budget to cover any variation and 

that the variation will achieve Value for Money and be reasonable in all the relevant 

circumstances. 

4. Assignments and Novations 

4.1. Officers must contact Director of Legal and Democratic where it is proposed that an 

assignment or novation should take place. 

5. Termination of Contract 

5.1. Officers must consult with Director of Legal and Democratic if they are considering 

the early termination of their contracts.  

 

Appendix 1 – Definitions, Abbreviations and Glossary 

Term Definition 

Bidder A potential Supplier, vendor or organisation who responds to an 
invitation to Tender or Quote or any person who asks or is invited to 
submit a Quotation or Tender.  

Chief Officer An officer(s) as defined in the Constitution. 

Contract Register A register managed by the Procurement Team that stores details of 
the Council’s Contracts such as duration and expiry dates. The 
register is published on the Council’s intranet. 

Corporate 
Contract and/or 
Corporate 
Framework 

Contract let by a central team in the Council (such as Procurement) 
to support the Council’s aim of achieving Value for Money by 
collectively ensuring staff use the contract/framework rather than 
individual arrangements.  

Financial 
Regulations 

The financial regulations outlining Officer responsibilities for 
financial matters issued by the Chief Finance Officer in accordance 
with the Constitution. 

Framework 
Agreement 

A formal tendered arrangement which sets out terms and conditions 
under which specific purchases can be made from the successful 
Bidders in unpredicted quantities at different times during the term 
of the Framework Agreement. 

Invitation Invitation to Tender or Quote in the form required by these Rules. 

Light Touch 
Regime 

Refers to social and other specific services covered by Part 2 
Chapter 3, Section 7 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

Local Areas within the Northamptonshire boundary. 

Page 253



 

234 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

An organisation that is not local in its address but can help Local 
economy/employment within Northamptonshire may be included in 
this definition. 

Non-Commercial 
Considerations 

Those that are listed in section 17(5) of the LGA 1988. 

Officer An officer of the Council designated by the Chief Officer to be 
responsible for undertaking the procurement exercise and for the 
administration of the contract to include ensuring compliance with its 
terms and conditions and implementation of any required variations. 

Parent Company 
Guarantee 

A Contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary company as 
follows: If the subsidiary company fails to do what it has promised 
under a Contract with the Council, they can require the parent 
company to do so instead. 

Performance 
Bond 

An agreement that if the Supplier does not do what it has promised 
under a contract with the Council, the Council can claim from the 
Bondsman the sum of money specified in the Bond (usually 10% of 
the contract sum). It is intended to protect the Council against a 
level of cost arising from the Suppliers failure to comply with the 
terms of the contract. 

Procurement 
Best Practice 
Guidance 

The relevant procurement guidance document issued by the 
Procurement Team. 

UK Procurement 
Regulations 

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and any successor public 
regulations which specify in detail the procedures by which public 
authorities shall undertake their procurements. 

Purchasing 
Gateway Group 
(PGG) 

An identified group of Officers responsible for offering collective 
advice on procurement, legal and financial issues amongst others. 

Quotation A quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without the 
formal issue of an Invitation to Tender). 

Regulation 
Threshold 

The Total Value threshold at which PCR2015 public procurement 
directives must be applied. The current procurement thresholds and 
regulations can be found at the following site 
https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx 

Request for 
Quotation 

A formal quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without 
the formal issue of an Invitation to Tender). 

Rules These Contract Procedure Rules 

Supplier Any person or organisation, including companies or other bodies of 
persons providing, or seeking to provide, goods, services or works 
to the Council, 

Tender A Bidder's proposal submitted in response to an Invitation to 
Tender. 

Total Value The whole of the value or estimated value (in terms of money or 
equivalent value) for a single purchase, whether or not the purchase 
comprises several lots or stages across the Council as a whole and 
whether or not it is to be paid or received by the Council. 
The Total Value shall be calculated as follows: 

Page 254

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/Home.aspx


 

235 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1. Where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total 
price to be paid or which might be paid during the whole of the 
proposed contract period; 

2. Where the contract is for an uncertain duration by multiplying 
the monthly payment by forty-eight (48) or the maximum 
permitted duration in months if less; 

3. For nominated Suppliers and sub-contractors, the Total Value 
shall be the value of that part of the main contract to be fulfilled 
by the nominated Supplier or sub-contractor; 

4. Where an in-house service provider is involved, by taking into 
account redundancy and similar/associated costs; and/or 

5. In the case of a Framework Agreement, the estimated call off 
during the period of the contract. 

TUPE The Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006. These regulations were introduced to ensure the 
protection of employees when, for example, a business is taken 
over by another organisation. Broadly, TUPE regulations ensure 
that employees and their rights are transferred along with the 
service. 

Value for Money 
(VfM) 

Combines goods, services and/or works that fully meet the 
Council’s needs (including in its policy objectives) as identified, with 
the level of quality required, delivered at the time required and at an 
appropriate price.  It is not necessarily the lowest possible price.   

 

Appendix 2 – Summary of Procurement Thresholds 

Value of 
Contract 

Pre-
Procurement 
Authorisation 

Advertising 
Procurement 

Process 
Contract 

Execution 

Up to £1,000 Officer. 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 

No requirement 
to advertise. 

Obtain best 
value for money 

Contract terms 
issued via 
purchase order. 

£1,000 to 
£5,000 

Officer. 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 

No requirement 
to advertise. 

Seek to obtain at 
least two (2) 
written 
Quotations 
unless exception 
is granted by line 
manager 
(wherever 
possible obtain 
at least one (1) 
from a Local 
provider). 

Contract terms 
issued via 
purchase order. 

Page 255



 

236 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Value of 
Contract 

Pre-
Procurement 
Authorisation 

Advertising 
Procurement 

Process 
Contract 

Execution 

£5,000 to 
£25,000. 

Officer. 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 

No requirement 
to advertise. 

Seek to obtain at 
least three (3) 
written 
Quotations 
(wherever 
possible obtain 
at least one (1) 
from a Local 
provider). 

Contract terms 
issued via 
purchase order. 
Contract must 
be published on 
the Contract 
Register. 

£25,000 to 
£100,000. 

Officer. 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 

No requirement 
to advertise.  

Seek to obtain at 
least three (3) 
written 
Quotations 
(wherever 
possible obtain 
at least one (1) 
from a Local 
provider). 

Written contract 
signed by one 
(1) Chief Officer 
or Officer with 
appropriate 
authority to 
enter into a 
Contract. 
Standard terms 
approved by 
Monitoring 
Officer. 
Contract must 
be published on 
the Contract 
Register and 
Contracts Finder 

£100,000 to 
Threshold 

Officer and the 
Procurement 
Team. 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 
Requirement to 
present 
requirement to 
PGG. 

Advertising on 
Contracts Finder 
is mandatory 
unless the 
Regulations 
stipulate 
otherwise. 
All procurement 
Notices must be 
issued by the 
Procurement 
Team. 
Award notice 
must also be 
published on 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Seek to obtain at 
least three (3) 
written 
Quotations. 
The 
Procurement 
Team must be 
consulted. 

Written contract 
signed/sealed. 
Standard terms 
approved by 
Director of Legal 
and Democratic. 
Contract must 
be published on 
the Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Above 
Threshold  

Officer and 
Procurement 
Team. 

Advertising on 
Contracts Finder 
is mandatory 
unless the 

Procurement 
must be run in 
accordance with 
the Regulations 

Written contract 
signed/sealed. 
Standard terms 
approved by 

Page 256



 

237 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Value of 
Contract 

Pre-
Procurement 
Authorisation 

Advertising 
Procurement 

Process 
Contract 

Execution 

If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 
Requirement to 
present 
requirement to 
PGG. 

Regulations 
stipulate 
otherwise.  
Advertising on 
Find A Tender is 
mandatory 
unless the 
Regulations 
stipulate 
otherwise.  
All procurement 
Notices must be 
issued by the 
Procurement 
Team. 
Award notice 
must also be 
published on 
Contracts Finder 
and Find A 
Tender. 

and in 
consultation with 
the Procurement 
Team. 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic.  
Contract must 
be published on 
the Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Framework 
Agreements 
or DPSs 

Officer (and 
Council’s 
Procurement 
Team if over 
£100,000). 
If “Key 
Decision”, 
relevant Officer 
and Executive 
approval. 

Not applicable Follow call-off 
procedure within 
Framework 
Agreement or 
DPS. 
The number of 
Tenders will be 
determined by 
the Framework 
or DPS. 

Written Contract 
created from 
Framework 
Agreement or 
DPS. 
Sign-off as per 
above 
thresholds. 
Contract must 
be published on 
the Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

 

  

Page 257



 

238 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Appendix 3 – Procurement Waiver Process Flowchart 

 

 
  

Value Under £25k?
Chief Officer 

Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from £25k up 
to £100k?

Chief Officer 
Approves

Head of 
Procurement 

Approves

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from £100k 
to Key Decision 

Threshold?

Chief Officer 
Approves

Head of 
Procurement 

comments

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Approves

Monitoring 
Officer 

Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from Decision 
Threshold?

Must go to 
Executive for 

approval

Page 258



 

239 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.7 Financial Procedure Rules 

Contents 

1 Introduction 

2 Financial Management 

3 Responsibilities 

4 Urgency Procedure 

5 Financial Strategies and Guidance 

6 Medium Term Financial Planning and the Annual Budget 

7 Medium Term Capital Strategy 

8 Forecasting and Monitoring 

9 Virements 

10 Carry Forward of Budget between Financial Years 

11 Maintenance of Reserves 

12 Closure of Accounts 

13 Banking  

14 Financial Accounting and Systems 

15 Procurement Arrangements 

16 Orders for Goods and Services 

17 Payment of Account 

18 Payment to Employees and councillors 

19 Income 

20 Bad Debts, Write-Offs, Loss of Income 

21 Taxation 

22 Treasury Management 

23 Internal Audit 

24 Annual Governance Statement 

25 Risk Management 

26 Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

27 Insurance 

28 Asset Management 

29 Disposal of Land, Property and Surplus Assets 

30 External Arrangements 

31 Work for Third Parties 

32 Significant Partnerships 

33 Stores and Inventories 

34 External Funding 

35 Organisations Partly or Wholly Owned by the Council 

36 Voluntary Funds and Trustees 

37 Schools 

38 Business Continuity and Emergency Planning 

 

1 Introduction 

Page 259



 

240 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

1.1 In order to conduct its business efficiently, this council recognises the need to ensure 
that it has sound financial management policies in place and that they are strictly 
adhered to.  

1.2 The Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for managing the Council’s 
financial affairs, in order to ensure that they are conducted in a sound and proper 
manner, constitute value for money and minimise the risk of legal challenge to the 
Council. They are an integral part of the Council’s Constitution and must be used in 
conjunction with those sections of the Constitution that apply generally to the 
management of the Council’s business and affairs 

1.3 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that “every local authority shall 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall 
secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs”.  The officer designated by the Council as having the statutory responsibility 
set out in Section 151 of the 1972 Act is the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

1.4 The Financial Procedure Rules apply to every councillor, officer, person acting on 
the Council’s behalf in undertaking Council business, and any employee of a 
commissioned service within any organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council. 

1.5 The term ‘officer’ in this document refers to Council employees and employees within 
a commissioned organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council.  The term 
‘Council’ in this document refers to the Council and all commissioned organisations 
partly or wholly owned by the Council. 

1.6 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their Service are aware of 
the existence, location and content of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them.  

1.7 All financial decisions and decisions with financial implications must have regard to 
proper financial control. Any doubt as to the appropriateness of a financial proposal 
or correctness of a financial action must be clarified in advance of the decision or 
action with the CFO. 

1.8 The CFO is responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the Financial 
Procedure Rules to the Chief Executive and to the Cabinet. 

1.9 The Financial Procedure Rules shall only be suspended on the resolution of the full 
Council, or as varied by any part of the Scheme of Delegation approved by the 
Council or Executive as appropriate. A written record shall be kept if this was to occur. 

1.10 The CFO is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial 
Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the full 
Council for approval.   

2 Financial Management  

2.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running 
of the council, including the Budget and Policy Framework. The process of financial 
management involves:  

Page 260



 

241 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

2.1.1 Complying with statutory requirements  

2.1.2 Development and approval of policy and management frameworks, the 
Constitution and financial plans including the revenue and capital budgets  

2.1.3 Establishing protocols and standards  

2.1.4 Implementing policies, protocols and standards  

2.1.5 Monitoring compliance  

2.1.6 Maintaining records  

2.1.7 Reporting and providing advice  

2.1.8 Specific financial techniques and functions e.g. virements, year end balances, 
statements of account.  

3 Responsibilities  

3.1 This section of the Financial Procedure Rules provides an overview of the 
responsibility and accountability of officers and councillors in respect of financial 
management, governance and the use of Council resources. 

3.2 All officers and councillors are responsible for ensuring that they use Council 
resources and assets entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful manner.  
Consideration of value for money needs to be embedded in every financial decision 
made. These responsibilities apply equally to councillors and officers when 
representing the Council on outside bodies. 

3.3 Failure to comply with these Regulations and associated policies, instructions and 
processes may constitute misconduct or gross misconduct, depending on the 
circumstances of the case in question and may well result in disciplinary action being 
taken in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedures. 

3.4 Any person charged with the use or care of the Council’s resources and assets is 
responsible for reading the requirements within the Financial Procedure Rules.  If 
anyone is unsure as to their obligations, they should seek advice from the CFO. 

3.5 The financial instructions and processes that support these Regulations, as approved 
by the Chief Financial Officer, must be followed and carry the same weight as the 
Financial Regulations. 

3.6 Any employee must report immediately to their manager, supervisor or other 
responsible officer any illegality, impropriety, serious breach of procedure or serious 
deficiency in the provision of service they suspect or become aware of. Employees 
are able to do this without fear or recrimination providing they act in good faith via 
the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy. In such circumstances managers must record 
and investigate such reports and take appropriate action.  

3.7 Compliance with any Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy, Code of Conduct for 
councillors or Employees which the council has in place is mandatory. 

Page 261



 

242 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

4 Head of Paid Service 

4.1 The Head of Paid Service is the Chief Executive. They have responsibilities set out 
s.4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989. These include providing members with 
a report about the staffing resources that are required for the delivery of the Council’s 
plans.  The Chief Executive is also responsible for the corporate and overall strategic 
management of the Council as a whole. They must report to and provide information 
for the Cabinet, the full Council, Scrutiny committees and other committees.  

4.2 They are responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, style 
and standards and for monitoring the performance of the organisation.  

5 Monitoring Officer  

5.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards 
of financial conduct. They are also responsible for reporting any actual or potential 
breaches of the law or maladministration to the full Council and/or to the Cabinet.   

5.2 They are also responsible for ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting 
key decisions are operating effectively. They must also ensure that Council Members 
are aware of decisions made by the Cabinet 

5.3 The Monitoring Officer must ensure that executive decisions and the reasons for 
them are made public. They must also ensure that Council Members are aware of 
decisions made by Officers who have delegated executive responsibility. 

5.4 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all officers and councillors 
regarding where the authority to take a particular decision resides. 

5.5 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Cabinet or full Council about 
whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the Policy Framework. 

6 Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (Section 151 Officer) 

6.1 The responsibilities of this post are described in Part 9.2 of the Constitution. It has 
specific statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of 
the council. This statutory responsibility cannot be overridden.  

6.2 The CFO is responsible for the proper administration of the council’s financial affairs 
and reports to Council and committees on the discharge of this responsibility. This 
includes: 

6.2.1 Maintaining strong financial management underpinned by effective financial 
controls 

6.2.2 Contribute to corporate management and leadership 

6.2.3 Providing financial information and advice 

6.2.4 Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards 

Page 262



 

243 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6.2.5 Advising on the corporate financial position 

6.2.6 Advising on the key financial controls necessary to secure sound financial 
management 

6.2.7 Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme 

6.2.8 Treasury management 

6.2.9 Leading and managing an effective and responsive financial service. 

6.3 The CFO has a statutory responsibility for ensuring that adequate systems and 
procedures exist to account for all income due and expenditure made on behalf of 
the council and that controls operate to protect the council’s assets from loss, waste, 
fraud or other impropriety. The CFO shall discharge that responsibility in part by the 
issue and maintenance of Financial Procedures and Operational Procedures with 
which all councillors and staff of the council shall comply. 

6.4 The CFO is the ‘responsible financial officer’ for the purposes of Sections 114 and 
114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2003. 

6.5 Section 114 requires the CFO to make a report and inform the External Auditor if it 
appears that (full) Council, a committee or officers: 

6.5.1 Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful 
expenditure; 

6.5.2 Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would 
result in a loss or deficiency to the council; or 

6.5.3 Is about to make an unlawful entry in the council’s accounts 

6.6 Section 114A makes equivalent provision in respect of actions taken by or on behalf 
of the council. Under both sections the report must be sent to every Councillor as 
well as the External Auditor. 

6.7 Section 114 also requires: 

6.7.1 The CFO to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to deputise should 
they be unable to perform the duties under Section 114 personally. 

6.7.2 The council provide the CFO with sufficient staff, accommodation and other 
resources, including legal advice where necessary, to carry out the duties 
under Section 114 and make similar arrangements for the purposes of the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006 

6.8 The CFO will have overall responsibility for the operation of internal audit throughout 
the authority.  Internal Auditors will operate as a management control by examining, 
evaluating and reporting upon the effective of internal financial and operational 
controls and the efficient use of the Authority’s resources. 

Page 263



 

244 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

6.9 The CFO and Internal Audit shall have full and unrestricted access to all council 
assets, systems, accounts, contracts, documents, information, officers, and 
councillors. 

6.10 The CFO is responsible for providing appropriate financial information to enable 
budgets to be monitored effectively. They must monitor and control the net 
expenditure of the council against budget allocations and report to the Cabinet on 
the overall position as appropriate. 

6.11 The CFO is responsible for monitoring compliance with the virement scheme to 
ensure the scheme operates effectively and in accordance with the agreed budgetary 
and Policy Framework. 

6.12 The CFO will consider and approve reports requesting virements between £10,000 
and £500,000, in accordance with the scheme of virement (see section 9). Decisions 
on virements over £50,000 will be made in consultation with the relevant portfolio 
holder. 

6.13 Reference to the CFO within the Finance Procedure Rules includes those authorised 
by them to undertake the various functions concerned. 

7.0 Chief Officers  

7.1 Chief Officers are individually responsible to ensure that all staff in their Service are 
aware of the existence of the Council’s Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules, 
and have systems of control in place to monitor compliance, with any non-compliance 
by either officers, or partners reported to the CFO. 

7.2 They are accountable for the overall financial stewardship of all Council resources 
allocated to them, and must seek approval from the Cabinet for any actions likely to 
materially affect the Council’s finances by virtue of being a key decision. In such 
instances, consultation with the CFO will also be necessary. 

7.3 They must ensure that the CFO is supplied with all information they feel is necessary 
to meet their statutory obligations. 

7.4 Chief Officers must ensure that the relevant Cabinet members are advised of the 
financial implications of all significant budget proposals and service changes, which 
have been previously agreed by the CFO and Chief Executive. 

7.5 They are responsible for ensuring the accuracy and deliverability of all budget 
estimates, which should be congruent with the strategic priorities set out in their 
annual Business Plans submitted as part of the annual budget.  These estimates are 
to be prepared in line with guidance and timelines issued by the CFO. 

7.6 With regard to the in-year financial monitoring against budget, it is the Chief Officer’s 
responsibility to ensure that there are suitably competent Budget Managers in place 
within their Service who are aware of their budget allocation, including any savings 
requirement, as defined in the annual budget.  These budget managers are also 
required to operate a robust system of control in order to monitor and report 
commitments and actuals throughout the year.  This process will also ensure value 

Page 264



 

245 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

for money decisions are made and that risk is minimised.  Any non-compliance must 
be escalated to the CFO in a timely manner. 

7.7 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the CFO is consulted about any 
information provided to councillors, external partners or members of the public which 
concerns the finances of the Council and that they are to be given adequate time to 
comment in advance of the agenda / deadline date.  

7.8 Committee reports shall only be submitted once the CFO has validated and agreed 
the financial aspects of the report. The onus is on the report sponsor to obtain the 
agreement of the CFO. 

7.9 If a Chief Officer, having regard to the CFO’s views, does not wish to amend a 
committee report, the CFO may require inclusion of their comments within the report 
before it is finalised. 

7.10 Chief Officers may delegate decision making powers relating to financial 
management to their Deputy Chief Officer or below. A record of all such delegations 
must be kept by the officers concerned.  

7.11 All Chief Officer Functions are described in the Scheme of Delegation, Part 9 of the 
Constitution. 

8 Councillors and Officers 

8.1 All officers and councillors will contribute to the general stewardship, honesty and 
integrity in the council’s financial affairs and comply with these regulations and any 
system, financial procedure or policy relating to the financial management of the 
council. 

8.2 Before making any decision or voting on any decision the person responsible shall 
consider the financial implications and the effect on the council’s financial position. 

8.3 councillors or officers shall bring to the attention of the CFO any act or omission that 
is contrary to the financial regulations and/or the financial procedures. 

8.4 councillors and officers should maintain the highest standards of financial probity and 
provide information or explanations on matters within their responsibility to the 
Monitoring Officer, the Governance and Audit Committee, the CFO, and the council’s 
internal and external auditors. 

8.5 Any Chief Officer, Head of Service or councillor who is involved in, or who has an 
interest in, a transaction between the council and a third party shall declare the nature 
and extent of this interest to the CFO. These will be reported in the council’s accounts 
in accordance with the Accountancy Standards Board (ASB) Reporting Standards 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Accounting Practice. 

8.6 A Budget Manager is an officer with the overall responsibility of managing the 
commissioning of direct service or externalised service(s) for an area.  This 
responsibility is specifically delegated to this Officer, using any document required 
by the Section 151 Officer or under the Part 9 Scheme of Delegation to Officers.  A 

Page 265



 

246 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Budget Manager cannot delegate the overall responsibility for managing budgets 
under their jurisdiction.  A Budget Manager must be an employee of the Authority. 

8.7 A Project Manager, in relation to capital, is the Budget manager responsible for 
delivering a capital project.  

9 The Full Council 

9.1 Full Council is responsible for adopting and approving the principles of financial 
governance and approving the council’s budgetary and Policy Framework within 
which committees and the Executive operate  

9.2 The full Council is also responsible for monitoring compliance with related executive 
decisions and is responsible for approving procedures for recording and reporting 
decisions taken. This includes those key decisions delegated and decisions taken by 
the Council and its committees.  

10 The Cabinet 

10.1 West Northamptonshire Council operates a Leader and Cabinet model of Executive 
arrangements. The majority of financial decisions are taken by the Executive. In 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) the Leader can take 
all Executive decisions alone or with Cabinet in accordance with the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in part 5 of the Constitution.  The Executive can take all 
decisions not specifically identified as non-executive within the Budget and Policy 
Framework as described in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

10.2 The Cabinet also: 

(a) monitors revenue and capital spending against agreed limits 
(b) agrees externally funded initiatives 
(c) approves the commencement of tender processes where the value of the 

proposed contract is in excess of £500,000 or is otherwise a key decision 
(d) approves the termination of contracts where the value is in excess of £500,000 
(e) approves the introduction of charges, or changes to charges for services 
(f) approves the acquisition, retention or disposal of assets with a value in excess 

of £500,000 
(g) approves the write-off of individual debts deemed to be uncollectable over 

£25,000 
(h) approves virements in excess of £500,000 

10.3 Executive decisions can be exercised by the Leader, by the Leader and Cabinet, 
delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet Portfolio Holder, an 
officer or joint committee. 

11 The Audit and Governance Committee  

11.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is charged with ensuring correct governance 
of the council.  

11.2 The Committee will contribute to the development of and review of the effectiveness 
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the annual budget and capital programme.  

Page 266



 

247 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

11.3 The Committee will consider reports from the internal and external auditors in respect 
of performance issues in relation to the Medium Term Financial Strategy or financial 
processes, where considered appropriate by the CFO.  

11.4 The Committee is also responsible for approving the council’s risk management 
policy statement and strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk 
management.  

11.5 The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for approving the Annual 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with the Account and Audit Regulations. 

12 Regulatory committees  

12.1 Regulatory committees include:  

12.1.1 Licensing Committee  

12.1.2 Planning Management Committee  

12.2 Regulatory committees do not have delegated to them specific financial 
management responsibilities but due consideration must be given to the 
general stewardship, integrity and confidence in the council’s financial affairs.  

12.3 Decisions made by these committees could materially affect the council’s financial 
position and/or expose the council to financial risk. The committees, and individual 
councillors, should ensure that proper consideration has been given to any exposure 
to risk in determining matters delegated to the committee. 

13 Other committees 

13.1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees has responsibility for the oversight of 
financial matters for the Council and for holding the Cabinet to account. 

13.2 The Pension Committee sets the Pension Funds objectives and determines the 
appropriate strategies, policies and procedures for funding, investment, 
administration, communication, discretions, governance and risk management.  This 
committee also has the power to manage any key matter pertaining to the Pension 
Fund. 

13.3 Pensions Investment sub-committee implements the Pension Funds investment 
strategy and monitors fund performance against target. 

13.4 West/North Northamptonshire Health and Wellbeing Board has the responsibility for 
preparing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. 

13.5 All Council, Cabinet and Committee functions and powers are described in the 
relevant section of the Constitution for the decision maker or in Scheme of Delegation 
to officers in Part 9 of the Constitution.  All delegated functions within the Scheme of 
Delegation must be exercised within approved budgetary provision and abide by the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules. 

Page 267



 

248 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

13.6 The CFO is responsible for reviewing and monitoring all financial aspects of the 
Council’s decision making. 

14 Urgency Procedure 

14.1 The Urgency Procedure is designed to deal with unexpected events which cannot be 
dealt with under the other clauses contained within Constitution, including these 
Financial Regulations and which require such urgent attention that they do not allow 
for referral to the next available committee meeting. Examples include significant 
financial expense following an accident or disaster, protecting the council against any 
legal challenge and the ability seek advantage from an opportunity which would 
otherwise disappear if immediate action is not taken. 

14.2 The urgency procedure is only designed to deal with items costing in excess of 
£100,000, which are within our existing Policy Framework but which are not covered 
by the approved budget. 

14.3 Items greater than £100,000 but less than £500,000 can be approved by the CFO 
(or Deputy CFO in their absence) after consultation with the Portfolio Member for 
Finance.  

14.4 For sums over £500,000, the Chief Executive who has wider responsibilities for 
Emergencies as set out in the scheme of delegation in Part 9 of the Constitution will 
be responsible for deciding on applying the Urgency Procedure and will do so only 
on the advice of the CFO and in consultation with the Leader of Council and Portfolio 
Member for Finance (or in their absence their deputies). Expenditure over £500,000 
outside the Budget should be reported to the next available ordinary Council meeting.   

14.5 Under the above provisions, authorisation to approve such items will require a written 
report from the Chief Executive, countersigned by the CFO. 

14.6 Reports approved under this scheme shall include not only the details under 
consideration but also the reasons why they need to be dealt with under the urgency 
procedure.  

14.7 The introduction of new systems could fundamentally change the systems of control 
in some areas.  The Council recognises that this may require a variation to the 
Regulations that cannot be achieved with Cabinet approval, due to time constraints.  
Therefore, the Chief Finance Officer may, in consultation with the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer approve temporary dispensation / amendment. 

14.8 This scheme shall not be used for expenditure on items outside the council’s existing 
Policy Framework or where, in the opinion of the CFO, the decision will result in 
significant ongoing expenditure. 

15  Financial Strategies and Guidance 

15.1 The CFO is responsible for developing/approving the Council’s financial strategies, 
issuing advice, guidance and policies to underpin the Financial Procedure Rules that 
councillors, officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow. 

Page 268



 

249 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

15.2 The Council will have a number of key financial strategies and policies some of which 
are listed below, but this is not an exhaustive list;   

15.2.1 Contract Procedure Rules 

15.2.2 Medium Term Financial Plan 

15.2.3 Medium Term Capital Plan 

15.2.4 Risk Management Policy and Strategy 

15.2.5 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

15.2.6 Whistleblowing Policy 

15.2.7 Anti Money Laundering Policy 

15.2.8 Treasury Management Strategy (including the Investment Strategy, 
Prudential Indicators and MRP Policy) 

15.2.9 Financial procedures for schools (note: this is a collection of documents). 

15.2.10Security and control of assets.   

16 Medium Term Financial Planning and the Annual Budget 

16.1 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) provides a four year overview of 
the Council’s anticipated resources, expenditure commitments, and resulting savings 
requirement.  The MTFP allows resources to be prioritised to achieve the vision set 
out in the Council Plan, which is underpinned by the Council’s priority objectives 
included within individual Service Business Plans. 

16.2 The MTFP, therefore, is the financial framework that informs the annual Budget 
setting process and is integral within the Council’s business planning. 

16.3 Various internal and external factors will influence the planning assumptions 
underpinning the MTFP and these include the following variables: 

16.3.1 corporate priorities 

16.3.2 levels of Council Tax 

16.3.3 likely impact on inflation in the current and future economic climate 

16.3.4 future Spending Reviews and funding allocations to councils  

16.4 The Medium Term Financial Plan considers the following key underlying principles; 

16.4.1 spending is aligned to the priority objectives set out in the Council Plan and 
each Service Business Plan 

16.4.2 emerging pressures are managed within existing approved resources in the 
first instance 

Page 269



 

250 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

16.4.3 future liabilities are anticipated 

16.4.4 savings proposals are supported by project plans and the impact on service 
delivery is clear 

16.4.5 funding forecasts are prudent  

16.4.6 exit plans are formulated for specific grant funded areas to ensure that funding 
withdrawal does not lead to revenue budget pressures 

16.4.7 capital and revenue planning is integrated to ensure implications are fully 
anticipated 

16.4.8 earmarked reserves are sufficient to address risks identified in future years 

16.5 The CFO will set an annual timetable to enable the development of the MTFP, 
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme for the consideration of Cabinet and 
approval by the full Council.   

16.6 The integrated process of business planning and the development of budget 
proposals shall be prepared by Chief Officers in the form required by the CFO, in 
accordance within the agreed timetable, so information can be examined and 
challenged before submission to the Cabinet.  

16.7 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring; 

16.7.1 the completion of integrated business and financial plans  

16.7.2 the development of sufficient budget proposals as instructed by the CFO, to 
ensure the Council can set a balanced Budget 

16.7.3 that all budget proposals are lawful and that the necessary consultation has 
taken place, subject to approval with the relevant Portfolio Holder  

16.7.4 that all existing services and all new budget proposals demonstrate value for 
money 

16.7.5 external funding opportunities are fully explored  

16.7.6 the availability of an annually updated list of fees and charges 

16.8 The MTFP will cover the annual budget year, plus at least three future years.  These 
documents will be developed and approved in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework set out at Part 4 (c) of the constitution. 

17 Medium Term Capital Strategy  

17.1 Investment in capital assets shapes future service delivery and creates future 
financial commitments. The Medium Term Capital Programme is laid out within the 
Council’s Capital Strategy and is at least a four-year programme of estimated capital 
expenditure and associated funding. 

Page 270



 

251 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

17.2 The Cabinet will receive proposals for inclusion in the Council’s Capital Programme 
and will submit a proposed programme (including block provisions where 
appropriate) to the full Council for approval. The programme will include all capital 
schemes including those proposed to be financed from revenue resources or 
external funding sources. 

17.3 In year, the CFO may approve new schemes estimated to cost less than £100,000, 
and the Cabinet may approve new schemes estimated to cost less than £500,000, 
which have not previously been included in the Capital Programme. New schemes 
estimated to cost more than £500,000 must be approved by full Council. 

17.4 Before a scheme in the Medium Term Capital Programme receives final approval 
from the Cabinet to proceed, Chief Officers must put forward to Cabinet their 
recommendation based on a Capital Programme Board project appraisal covering 
the following elements as a minimum requirement: 

16.13.1 Description 

16.13.2 Justification 

16.13.3 Deliverable outcomes 

16.13.4 Feasibility study/options appraisal 

16.13.5 Financial analysis including revenue implications and appropriate 
measures of investment appraisal 

16.13.6 Budget including life cycle cost 

16.13.7 Project plan 

16.13.8 Risk evaluation 

16.13.9 Source of funding 

17.5 Capital Programme Board approval must include sign off by the CFO, the Chief 
Officer for Capital and Proper, or delegated officers as directed. 

17.6 Any officer proposing to award or vary a contract for works, goods or services in 
connection with a scheme must refer to the Contract Procedure Rules. 

18 Forecasting and Monitoring 

18.1 Revenue 

18.1.1 The financial management and budgetary control of each Service budget is 
the overall responsibility of the appropriate Chief Officer.  

18.1.2 Each Chief Officer must ensure that there is a designated Budget Manager 
who is accountable to the Assistant Director for the detailed management and 
financial monitoring of all budgets. The CFO should be notified of any changes 

Page 271



 

252 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

to Budget Managers, so that all budgets continue to have a named manager 
at all times.  

18.1.3 Chief Officers need to ensure that expenditure is contained within approved 
budget allocations, there is a robust control environment and that accurate 
financial forecasting is completed on a monthly basis within the Council’s 
financial system. 

18.1.4 The CFO will take budget monitoring reports to Cabinet and the relevant 
Scrutiny Committee on a regular basis.  These reports will contain updates on 
both revenue and capital budgets as well as any management actions being 
taken where variances have been identified from these reports. 

18.2 Capital 

18.2.1 The financial management and budgetary control of each Capital Scheme is 
the overall responsibility of the appropriate Chief Officer.  

18.2.2 Each Chief Officer must ensure that there is a designated Budget Manager 
who is accountable to their Assistant Director for the detailed management 
and financial monitoring of all Capital Schemes. The CFO should be notified 
of any changes to Budget Managers, so that all capital budgets continue to 
have a named manager at all times.  

18.2.3 Budget Managers must submit regular monitoring returns in line with their 
Budget Management responsibilities and make the CFO aware of slippage in 
scheme costs between financial years at the earliest point possible, in order 
to support the Council’s Treasury Management. 

18.2.4 There is no authority for any officer to overspend their allocated budget and if 
there are variations in contract costs when compared with the provision in the 
Medium Term Capital Programme, the relevant Officer must alert the CFO.  

18.2.5 Chief Officers must seek cabinet approval, following consultation with the 
CFO, for any proposed amendment to an approved capital scheme. 

18.2.6 The CFO will report to the Cabinet on the monitoring of the Council’s approved 
Capital schemes, including projected expenditure and income. 

18.2.7 Officers must ensure that no contracts or commitments are entered into 
without project approval or scheme of delegation’s authority provided. 

18.2.8 Where the replacement of capital assets is financed by insurance monies, 
Chief Officers may authorise additional capital expenditure subject to 
subsequent report to the Cabinet and amendment to the Medium Term Capital 
Programme. 

19 Virements (Revenue & Capital) 

19.1 A virement is the balanced transfer of spending power [or budget] from one place to 
another, i.e. the overall budget does not change. Virements should support the Council’s 
policies and not result in enhanced service levels or budget commitments beyond the base 

Page 272



 

253 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

budget.  A virement should not be used for cosmetic purposes within the same budget code. 
Virements can be revenue or capital in nature. 

19.2 Virements will only apply to a current year’s revenue or capital budget, and should 
not involve: 

a. a new policy or policy change 

b. an increasing commitment in future years that cannot be contained 
within existing approved budget allocations. 

19.3 Virements will not be permitted from: 

a. Capital to revenue, capital charges and financing costs 

b. Interest earnings and income generated from investments 

c. Government grants and grant related expenditure to other payments 

d. Inter-authority payments 

e. Ring fenced grants 

19.4 Transfers from a capital project should not materially limit the approach or scope of 
the capital project, but should arise from cost reductions in progressing the scheme e.g. 
arising through the tendering process, also a capital virement may only apply to a scheme 
which has been admitted to the approved capital programme. 

19.5 Where it is intended that the virement will affect future years then this must be built 
into the base budget through the Medium Term Financial Planning process. 

19.6 Virements up to £100,000 cumulative require CFO approval.   

19.7 Virements between £100,000 to £500,000 require agreement with the CFO in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder. 

19.8 Virements in excess of £500,000 require Cabinet approval. 

20 Carry Forward of Budget between Financial Years 

20.1 Revenue budget not utilised by the end of the financial year will not normally be 
transferred to the following year, except in exceptional circumstances approved by the CFO.  

21 Maintenance of Reserves 

21.1 The Council must determine the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain when 
setting the Budget. Reserves must be sufficient to meet unexpected events and 
protect the Council from over spends should they occur. Earmarked reserves may 
also be established for specific purposes. 

21.2 The CFO will advise the Council on the levels of reserves that it is prudent to 
maintain, and will account for the Council’s reserves in accordance with the Reserves 

Page 273



 

254 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Policy and relevant Codes of Practice, ensuring the purpose and usage of reserves 
is clearly identified. 

22 Closure of Accounts 

22.1 The CFO is responsible for the timely production and publication of the Council’s final 
accounts in accordance with the relevant accounting policies, standards and statute. 

22.2 The CFO shall produce and circulate to all relevant officers of the Council a set of 
guidance notes for the production of final accounts. These notes shall detail the 
timetable for the final accounts production, the information and action required from 
Services and any other details necessary to ensure that the responsibilities under 
this paragraph are properly discharged.  Chief Officers must comply with accounting 
guidance provided, and supply information when required. 

22.3 The CFO is responsible for establishing a good professional working relationships 
with the Council’s external auditors and must satisfy any reasonable requests for 
information with regard to the Councils financial affairs.  

22.4 The Local Audit and Accountability Act grants the Council’s external auditors the right 
to inspect any document that they deem necessary for the purpose of performing 
their duties. 

22.5 The CFO shall present the Statement of Accounts for the year to the Council’s 
external auditor and Audit and Governance Committee within the agreed timescales. 

22.6 The CFO and the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee are responsible for 
signing the annual accounts to confirm that they present a true and fair view of the 
Council’s financial position. 

22.7 The CFO will hold copies of the Council’s audited Statement of Accounts, including 
the external auditors signed certificate and opinion. 

23 Banking 

23.1 The CFO will be responsible for the opening of all bank accounts in the name of, and 
on behalf of, the Council.  No employee of the Council shall open any bank (or 
equivalent) account on the Council’s behalf or in its name without the express 
agreement of the CFO. 

23.2 The CFO will ensure that sound, adequate arrangements are in place for the safe 
and efficient operation of all its bank accounts, and will effect, or cause to be effected, 
proper and timely reconciliations. 

23.3 All investments of money under its control shall be made in the name of the Authority 
unless otherwise approved by the CFO. 

23.4 All securities, being the property of, or in the name, of the Authority, or its nominees, 
and the title deeds of all property in its ownership, shall be held in the custody of the 
CFO or under arrangements agreed by them. 

23.5 All borrowings shall be effected in the name of the Authority. 

Page 274



 

255 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

24 Financial Accounting and Systems 

24.1 The Council’s financial accounting systems is required to provide data that is 
accurate and adequate for the published final accounts and for the provision of 
management information for the Council to conduct its business affairs in an efficient 
and effective manner; as such all officers are responsible for ensuring that financial 
information is accurate, consistent and delivered in a timely manner. 

24.2 The CFO is responsible for keeping the principal accounting records for all services 
of the Council. 

24.3 The CFO will; 

24.3.1 determine accounting policies, systems and procedures and the form of 
financial records and statements in accordance with statute and best practice, 
informed by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs); and 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

24.3.2 provide guidance and advice on all accounting matters 

24.3.3 monitor accounting performance to ensure an adequate standard for all 
services 

24.3.4 certify all financial returns, grant funding applications and claims and other 
periodic financial reports required of the Council 

24.3.5 be required to approve the development, acquisition and implementation of all 
financial IT systems 

24.4 Each Chief Officer is required to; 

24.4.1 implement accounting procedures and adopt the form of financial records and 
statements as determined by the Chief Financial Officer  

24.4.2 obtain the approval of the Chief Financial Officer prior to introducing or 
changing the form or method of existing accounting systems and procedures, 
financial records or statements.  

24.4.3 complete and pass to the Chief Financial Officer financial returns and other 
financial reports requiring certification in good time 

24.4.4 keep a proper segregation of duties for staff with financial responsibilities. 

24.4.5 ensuring that their staff receive relevant financial training and guidance that 
has been approved by the CFO. 

24.4.6 ensuring that systems which provide a feed into financial systems and 
reporting are maintained on an accurate and timely basis. 

24.4.7 ensuring a complete management/audit trail is maintained, to ensure financial 
transactions can be traced from the accounting records to the original 
document, and vice versa. 

Page 275



 

256 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

25 Procurement Arrangements 

25.1 All Council procurement activity and contract/supplier management must adhere to 
the Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part 9.6 of the Constitution and any 
associated guidance to officers which set out the rules and procurement thresholds 
for buying, renting, and leasing of goods, services and works for the Council. 

26 Orders for Goods and Services 

26.1 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for all orders issued from their Service for 
goods or for services rendered. Official orders must be issued for all work, goods or 
services to be supplied to the Council, except periodical payments, petty cash 
purchases, acceptable purchases under the Corporate Credit Card (GPC) policy or 
such other exceptions as may be approved.  Before orders are made the authorised 
officer must ensure: 

26.1.1 that there is adequate budget provision before committing expenditure; 

26.1.2 any necessary Chief Officer or Cabinet approvals have been obtained as set 
out in the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules or these financial procedure 
rules 

26.2 If goods are to be ordered on behalf of another Service then a written requisition must 
be received from the Chief Officer of that Directorate, authorised by them or one of 
their nominated officers. 

26.3 Official orders shall be in a form approved by the CFO and are to be approved only 
by nominated officers authorised by the Chief Officer. 

26.4 Each order shall conform to the policies of the Council with respect to procurement 
and any standardisation of supplies and materials. 

27 Payment of Account 

27.1 The Chief Officers are responsible to ensure that all payments made by the Council 
are: 

27.1.1 lawful; 

27.1.2 properly authorised by an appropriate officer 

27.1.3 within the amount provided in the Council’s budget 

27.2 All invoices shall be retained for at least 6 years. In the case of invoices relating to 
grant claims these must be kept until after the grant claim has been audited even if 
this exceeds 6 years.  

27.3 Each designated Officer shall as soon as possible after 31st March in each year 
notify the CFO of all outstanding expenditure relating to the previous financial year 
which has not been accrued for within the financial ledger. 

Page 276



 

257 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

27.4 Where grants can be claimed on expenditure incurred, Chief Officers must be aware 
of the appropriate grant conditions and ensure that payments meet these conditions 
with regard to types of expenditure, payment date, etc.  

27.5 The CFO is responsible for approving and reviewing the allocation of individual 
employee’s financial limits for GPC usage, Accounts Payable and Accounts 
Receivable transactions.   

27.6 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the list of GPC holders and 
purchase approvers is updated in a timely manner and that all users and approvers 
are aware of the GPC User Guide, which sets out the rules of usage. The GPC 
holders, their individual approval limits and the GPC approvers should be subject to 
an annual review by each Chief Officer and the CFO.   

27.7 The Accounts Payable and Receivable transactional approval limits are administered 
by the Council’s financial system (ERP Gold) which assigns a financial approval limit 
to an individual employee based on the seniority of their job role.   

27.8 Any change to these limits requires the agreement of the Chief Officer and CFO. 

27.9 The table below sets out the Council’s Accounts Payable and Receivable approval 
limits. These are distinct from the limits of financial delegation set out in Part 9 of the 
constitution and the key decision threshold set out in Part 5 of the constitution. 

Transaction 
Type 

Budget 
Support 

TIER4 

Budget 
Manager 

(Proj Mger 
for 

Capital) 

TIER4 

Head of 
Service 

TIER3 

Assistant 
Director 

TIER2 

Corporate 
Director 

TIER1 

Chief 
Executive 

TIER0 

Section 
151 

Officer 

 

Official order 
for procurement 
of goods, 
services, 
grants, benefits 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to £1m Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Sales order 
invoices 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to £1m Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Credit Note 
Approval 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to £1m Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Write Off 
Authority - Non 
Adult Social 
Care Debt 

n/a Up to £2k Up to 
£5k 

Up to £5k   Up to £5k  Up to £5k Up to 
£25k 

Write Off 
Authority - 
Adult Social 
Care Debt Only 

n/a Up to £2k Up to 
£2k 

Up to £2k Up to £5k Up to £5k Up to 
£25k 

Page 277



 

258 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

27.10 Where operational approval to manage the establishment and associated 
reimbursement of staff travel and subsistence is required at a potentially lower level 
than a Budget Manager, this will be approved using the HR position approval 
hierarchy within ERP Gold.  

27.11 All approvers are responsible to ensure they have undertaken the necessary financial 
due diligence required, before approving any transactions with a financial 
consideration. 

28 Payments to Employees and councillors 

28.1 All staff must be appointed in accordance with the Council’s recruitment policies. 

28.2 The CFO is responsible for the arrangements for salary and pension payments to all 
current, former staff and for payment of allowances to councillors.  The key areas of 
responsibility are: 

28.2.1 arranging and controlling the secure and reliable payment of salaries, 
compensation, other emoluments and allowances to existing and former 
employees.  

28.2.2 recording and making arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of 
tax, pension contributions and other deductions. 

28.2.3 ensuring there are adequate arrangements for administering pensions 
matters on a day-to-day basis. 

28.2.4 advising Chief Officers, in the light of guidance issued by appropriate bodies 
and relevant legislation, on all taxation issues that affect the Council. 

28.3 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

28.3.1 ensuring appointments are made in accordance with the Council’s 
Recruitment and Selection Policy 

28.3.2 notifying the CFO of all appointments, terminations or variations which may 
affect the pay or pension of an employee or former employee, in the form and 
to the timescale required by the CFO 

28.3.3 ensuring that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated 
to ensure that payments to staff are made accurately, timely and to bona fide 
employees 

28.3.4 ensuring that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll 
system.  Chief Officers should give careful consideration to the employment 
status of individuals employed on a self-employed consultant or subcontract 
basis. 

29 Income 

29.1 All budget managers are responsible for raising and collecting income in a timely and 
accurate manner. 

Page 278



 

259 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

29.2 Wherever possible services should be billed and paid for in advance and no service 
delivered until payment has been received. 

29.3 There are two types of income, income and un-invoiced income, the requirements of 
these income streams are set out below: 

30 Cash/Uninvoiced income 

30.1 Where monies are received for a service at the point of delivery this income should 
be treated as un-invoiced income. 

30.2 A record should be maintained of all individual payments, including the amount, time 
and date of the receipt. This should be compared to the income held, with appropriate 
segregation of duties, to ensure all income is banked and verified. Verification of 
records should be by an appropriate second officer. 

30.3 Cash handling should be kept to a minimum. Officers should only collect income as 
cash when other payment routes are not available, and must put in place additional controls 
if any income is to be collected as cash, to ensure that; 

30.3.1 officers are appropriately trained in income collection, accounting and cash 
handling arrangements 

30.3.2 sufficient separation of duties is in place, in particular between billing income, 
processing payments and banking payments 

30.3.3 official receipts are available on request for payments made in person 

30.3.4 proper records are kept 

30.3.5 all money received is banked as soon as practicable. All insurance limits on 
safes shall be adhered to and all cash/cheques shall be banked no later than 
one week after receipt 

30.3.6 VAT is properly accounted for  

30.3.7 where it is necessary for cash to be held prior to it being paid into the Council’s 
bank account, it should be recorded and kept in an appropriate secure 
environment 

30.3.8 security of staff shall be maintained when cash collections are involved 

30.4 Personal cheques must not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the Council. 

31 Invoiced Income 

31.1 Invoiced income falls into two categories, payments in advance and payments in 
arrears. Wherever possible, users of services should be billed in advance of the 
provision of the service.  

31.2 For all billed income it is the responsibility of the Budget Manager to ensure that any 
debts raised are accurate, appropriate and due to the authority.   

Page 279



 

260 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

31.3 Chief Officers have responsibility for ensuring their Service has suitable controls in 
place with regards to its income generation, and their officers are compliant with 
these rules. 

32 Bad Debts/ Write- Offs/ Loss of Income 

32.1 The Authority has a duty to maximise revenue collection. However, circumstances 
may arise in which amounts due must, for all practical purposes, be deemed 
uncollectable.  

32.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that, in such circumstances, a 
decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the authority of the CFO, whether 
exercised personally or properly delegated by them to a member of their staff. The 
amounts involved, and approval granted, should be recorded in the accounting 
records. 

32.3 No such provisions apply where debts are “cancelled” i.e. because they were 
incorrectly raised (e.g. wrong amount, wrong debtor) or “waived” i.e. because an 
authorised policy decision was taken not to charge or to reduce the charge of an 
amount otherwise properly payable by a debtor. 

32.4 The Cabinet is responsible for approving write-offs over £25,000. The delegated 
write-off limits to officers is set out in the table within paragraph 27 of these rules. 

33 Taxation 

33.1 The CFO is responsible for maintaining the Council’s Tax records, ensuring all tax 
payments are made, the receipt of all tax credits and the submission of tax returns 
by their due date as appropriate. 

33.2 The CFO, or their delegated representative will issue mandatory guidance on Value 
Added Tax (VAT) matters. 

34 Treasury Management: 

34.1 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities. 

34.2 The CFO is responsible for making all decisions on borrowing, investment or 
financing (including finance leasing) in accordance with the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities 

34.3 The Council will approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out 
the matters detailed in CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities.  The Policy Statement is proposed annually.  The CFO has delegated 
responsibility for implementing and monitoring the statement. 

34.4 This policy will be reviewed whenever legislative, regulatory or best practice changes 
materially affect the effectiveness of the current policy. The Council will approve on 
an annual basis an Annual Treasury Management Strategy, which includes a 

Page 280



 

261 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

statement on Prudential Indicators, the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and 
Investment Strategy. 

34.5 The CFO is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet a proposed treasury 
management strategy for the coming financial year at or before the start of each 
financial year and will report to the Cabinet at least quarterly on the activities of 
treasury management and the exercise of their delegated powers. One such report 
will comprise an annual report on treasury management for presentation by 30 
September of the succeeding financial year. 

34.6 All money in the hands of the authority is controlled by the CFO as the officer 
designated for the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. They 
are responsible for authorising and operating the Council’s banking arrangements 
including determining arrangements for the signing and security of cheques. All Chief 
Officers will comply with the detailed rules set for the banking of income and 
operation of bank accounts. 

35 Internal Audit 

35.1 The Council is required to maintain an adequate and effective Internal Audit Service 
in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and in line with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government and Professional 
Auditing Standards.  Consequently, it is the responsibility of Internal Audit to review, 
arrange and report upon: 

35.1.1 whether operations are being carried out as planned and objectives and goals 
are being met.  

35.1.2 the adequacy of systems established to ensure compliance with policies, 
plans, procedures, laws and regulations, i.e. rules established by the 
management of the organisation, or externally 

35.1.3 the completeness, reliability and integrity of information, both financial and 
operational 

35.1.4 the extent to which the Council’s assets, data and interests are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded from losses of all kinds, including fraud and 
corruption, waste, extravagance, abuse, ineffective management and poor 
value for money 

35.1.5 the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are employed 

35.1.6 the effectiveness of its system of internal control, and prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement 

35.2 Internal Audit has an unrestricted range of coverage of the Council’s operations and, 
therefore, has authority to: 

35.2.1 enter council premises or land at any time, subject to any statutory or 
contractual restrictions that may apply, e.g. health and safety 

Page 281



 

262 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

35.2.2 access all records, documents, correspondence, information and data relating 
to all areas of the Council regardless of how the information is held and to 
remove any such records as is necessary for the purposes of their work 
(including that of the Council’s agents and contractors) 

35.2.3 require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any 
matter under examination 

35.2.4 require any employee or agent of the Council to produce cash, stores or any 
other Council property under their control 

35.3 This access also applies to: 

35.3.1 organisations which are wholly or partly owned by the Council 

35.3.2 organisations to whom the Council has given grants; 

35.3.3 organisations with whom the Council contracts and 

35.3.4 partner organisations in any scheme for which the Council has responsibility 
as lead body. 

35.4 Internal Audit has direct access and the right of report to the Chief Executive, Chief 
Officers, Heads of Service, the Monitoring Officer, the Council’s External Auditors, 
the Cabinet, the Leader, the Cabinet member with responsibility for Audit and the 
Chair of the Audit Committee. 

36 Annual Governance Statement 

36.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 established requirements related to the 
systems of internal control and the review and reporting of those systems. CIPFA 
has issued guidance to assist authorities to establish proper practices and 
procedures to satisfy these requirements. 

36.2 The council’s objectives, its internal organisation and the environment in which it 
operates are continually evolving and, as a result, the risks faced are continually 
changing. A sound system of internal control, therefore, depends on a thorough and 
regular evaluation of the nature and extent of the risks to which the council is 
exposed. 

36.3 The CFO is responsible for ensuring that the financial management of the council is 
adequate and effective and that the council has a sound system of internal control 
which facilitates the effective exercise of the council’s functions and which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk. 

36.4 The CFO will conduct a review, at least annually, of the effectiveness of the Council’s 
system of internal control and include a statement that outlines the outcome of that 
review within the Annual Governance Statement. 

36.5 The Council’s Annual Governance Statement will be signed by the Chief Executive 
and the Executive Leader.  The Audit Committee shall oversee its production and 
recommend its adoption as part of the Annual Accounts. 

Page 282



 

263 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

37 Risk Management  

37.1 The CFO is responsible for the development, monitoring and review of the Council’s 
risk management policy, which will be approved by Cabinet, and is the Council’s 
principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator.  

37.2 Each Chief Officer is responsible for identifying, assessing, controlling and recording 
risks on a quarterly basis within their Service. 

37.3 The Head of Internal Audit, working with each Chief Officer, will review Service risks 
on an annual basis. 

38 Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

38.1 All Council officers, councillors, agents, contractors and strategic partners have 
responsibilities to protect the funds they administer on behalf of the Council. Council 
resources must be administered to the benefit of the taxpayer and not for the 
inappropriate personal benefit of any of the above. 

38.2 The CFO will be consulted by the chief internal auditor on the development and 
review of any Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy. 

38.3 Officers, councillors, agents or contractors of the Council have a responsibility to 
bring any suspected fraud, corruption or to the attention of the chief internal auditor, 
the CFO or any Chief Officer as set out in any Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy which 
the Council has in place. 

38.4 Chief Officers will notify the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer, and the CFO of 
any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of council 
property or resources.  Any suspected fraud, bribery, corruption or loss will be 
investigated in accordance with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy. 

39 Insurance 

39.1 The Council arranges and manages insurance cover for specific risks and 
determines what is the most appropriate package of internal (self-funded) and 
external insurance. This statement must be qualified by noting that School Governing 
Bodies are able to exercise choice over how they purchase insurance (subject to 
meeting minimum standards and limits of indemnity laid down by the Council) and 
are not bound to remain within the centrally arranged insurance policies or self-
funded provisions if they wish to effect separate arrangements. The Council’s rights 
and interests must be named on all insurance policies held, irrespective of who has 
made the original arrangements. 

39.2 The Council purchases insurance for the following classes of insurable risk; 

39.2.1 fire and associated risks for all buildings which the Council owns, or for which 
it has accepted legal responsibility by way of a lease or licence 

39.2.2 all public and employers' liabilities, including libel and slander, professional 
indemnity, officials' indemnity and land charges 

Page 283



 

264 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

39.2.3 personal accident cover for risk of assault on employees of the Council and 
for injury to Council Members and authorised volunteers 

39.2.4 motor vehicles – comprehensive cover on all Council vehicles, together with 
contingent liability cover for use of privately owned vehicles used on official 
business 

39.2.5 pecuniary loss (money, fidelity guarantee and cheques indemnity) 

39.2.6 costs of reinstatement and recovery of ICT infrastructure and systems 

39.3 Under the direction of the Chief Financial Officer, the Insurance Section is 
responsible for preparing specifications, obtaining quotations, procuring cover, 
negotiating claims and maintaining the necessary records in line with the insurance 
strategy and for ensuring that the contracting process is conducted in accordance 
with the prescribed requirements.  A register of all insurance policies held and a full 
record of what property and risks are covered is held within the insurance service. 

39.4 Chief Officers must ensure that prompt notification is provided to the Insurance 
Manager of all new risks, property, vehicles and other assets or contractual 
obligations which require to be insured and alterations that may affect existing 
insured risks (including closure of buildings, sale of vehicles or disposals of other 
insured assets).  

39.5 Chief Officers are responsible for reporting any event, loss, liability or damage that 
may result in an insurance claim and give full and timely assistance with the conduct 
of any investigation that may follow.  

39.6 Advice must be sought immediately from Insurance Team if there is a suspicion that 
a civil legal action is in prospect.  Civil procedure rules and protocols must be strictly 
adhered to in order to avoid cost penalties or unnecessary litigation expenses. 
Employees and other persons must not attempt to negotiate a settlement, give 
interviews, make statements or offer to pay compensation in any way that may 
prejudice any subsequent civil legal action that may be brought against the Council. 

40 Asset Management 

40.1 The responsible Chief Officer will produce a five-year Corporate Asset Management 
Plan for the purpose of the overall strategic management of the Council’s assets. 
This will be updated on an annual basis. 

40.2 The responsible Chief Officer will ensure that procedures are put in place for the 
safeguarding and security of the Council’s assets, including the keeping of asset 
registers; a terrier of land and property; inventories of furniture, fittings and 
equipment; and stores records. 

40.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring the proper use and safeguarding of assets 
owned by the Council or for which the Council has responsibility. This requirement 
applies to all assets, including stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, vehicles, cash, 
land and buildings, software and information that are owned by, or are in the 
possession of the Council and for which the Council is responsible. 

Page 284



 

265 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

40.4 The responsible Chief Officer will ensure that detailed arrangements are put in place 
for the disposal of assets. All sales or purchases of land and buildings will be 
undertaken in accordance with the scheme of delegation.  

40.5 Valuation of Assets will be in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom.  Sale of Assets will be at market value unless 
special circumstances have been agreed. 

40.6 The relevant Chief Officer must consult with the CFO before the purchase of land 
and buildings, which is then subject to relevant member approval. 

40.7 Officers with access to the Councils Assets will undertake the following: 

40.7.1 ensure no assets are subject to personal use without proper authority 

40.7.2 ensure cash holdings or valuable items on premises is kept to a minimum and 
held securely 

40.7.3 where safes or similar are in place keys should be kept on the responsible 
person and any loss reported as soon as possible 

41 Disposal of Land, Property and Surplus Assets 

41.1 All land and property except for former Council houses sold to tenants, or other 
property likely to exceed £5,000 in value, which have been declared surplus to 
requirements must be sold either by auction with a reserve price, or by competitive 
tender, unless the Council specifically determines otherwise. 

41.2 Before inviting tenders or instructing an auctioneer for the sale of land or property, a 
valuation shall be obtained from the Estates function or an independent qualified 
Valuer, and in the case of a sale by auction, this valuation shall be the reserve price. 

41.3 Competitive tender shall normally dispose of all other surplus assets unless the CFO 
determines otherwise in a particular case. 

42 External Arrangements 

42.1 Local authorities provide an important leadership role for the community and bring 
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. They must also act to promote 
and improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of their respective 
areas. 

42.2 The Cabinet is the focus for forming partnerships with other local public, private, 
voluntary and community sector organisations to address local needs. 

42.3 Cabinet functions including those related to partnerships can be delegated to officers. 
These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part of the Constitution. 
Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains accountable for them to full 
council.  

43 Work for Third Parties 

Page 285



 

266 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

43.1 The CFO or their nominee must be advised of all work for third parties opportunities 
available to the Council and of the lead officer in each circumstance. 

43.2 The lead officer must provide such information as requested by the CFO, including 
copies of proposed agreements and conditions and any financial implications 
(including match funding requirements or ongoing revenue costs). 

43.3 All work for third parties must be authorised by the CFO, or their nominee prior to 
agreement to undertake this work by the Council. Approvals for this work must be in 
accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules in Part 9.6 Constitution.   

43.4 The CFO or their nominee must be notified of the outcome of any bids to work for 
third parties at the earliest opportunity and successful bids to work for third parties 
will be reported to Cabinet as part of the normal monitoring reports. 

43.5 The CFO is responsible for ensuring that all income receivable from third parties is 
received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 

43.6 The Chief Officer responsible for the lead officer must ensure that all contractual 
conditions are met. 

44 Significant Partnerships 

44.1 A significant partnership is one that is material in terms of the amount of money 
involved and/or the level or nature of service delivery concerned and/or the level of 
control exercised. 

44.2 The purpose of this protocol is to enable the council, with its Partners, to ensure that 
the partnerships it works in are appropriate and have good governance. 

44.3 This protocol identifies: 

44.3.1 how the Council defines a partnership 

44.3.2 why the Council enters and engages in partnerships 

44.3.3 definition of a partnership and what constitutes a significant partnership 

44.3.4 tools for identifying, managing and supporting partnerships arrangements 
including good governance 

44.4 Where the Council is the lead authority for a partnership the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules will apply to operation of the 
business of that partnership. 

44.5 The CFO will ensure that: 

42.5.1 the accounting arrangements for partnerships and joint ventures are 
satisfactory, that the governance and legal issues have been satisfactorily 
addressed, and that the risks have been fully appraised 

Page 286



 

267 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

42.5.2 the Partnership Agreements contain details of how resources will be pooled 
and what controls will be operated in respect of partnership spending to avoid 
waste 

42.5.3 that the Council’s budgets contain sufficient provision for its match funding 
obligations and that all external funding due to the Council is received and 
properly recorded 

44.6 Chief Officers are responsible and accountable for the governance arrangements, 
performance and financial monitoring of each partnership and will ensure that: 

44.6.1 a record of the partnership arrangement is produced 

44.6.2 all necessary approvals have been secured before concluding any 
negotiations with external parties 

44.6.3 Any financial relationship must be documented and approved along with a risk 
assessment 

44.6.4 that conditions attached to any external funding are properly complied with, 
that such conditions have been agreed with the CFO or Cabinet as 
appropriate, and that claims are processed by the due date 

44.6.5 the CFO has access to the accounts and records, and has the right to seek 
explanations in order to monitor deployment of the Council’s funding 

44.6.6 Internal Audit has access rights to all officers, buildings, information in order 
to fulfil its role 

44.6.7 a register is maintained of all contracts entered into  

44.7 Prior to any appointments being made to any third party organisation (whether as a 
member, trustee, shareholder, director or similar position), advice should be sought 
from the Monitoring Officer and the CFO. 

45 Stores & Inventories 

45.1 Each Chief Officer or Head of Service of each department shall be responsible for 
the care and custody of stores in their department and shall have all such stores 
checked independently of the storekeeper at least on one occasion in each financial 
year. 

45.2 Stores shall not be held in excess of reasonable requirements. 

45.3 Adjustments to write-off deficiencies over £1,000 in value shall be subject to the 
approval of the CFO. Cabinet will be required to write-off sums over £25,000. 

45.4 Competitive tender shall dispose of surplus or obsolete stores unless the Chief 
Executive decides otherwise in a particular case. 

45.5 Inventories of the Council’s furniture, fittings, equipment and machinery shall be kept 
and checked on at least one occasion in each financial year by the member of the 

Page 287



 

268 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Corporate Management Team responsible for the service concerned. (Individual 
items with a value of £1,000 or less need not be included therein). 

46 External Funding 

46.1 Before committing the Council to any externally funded projects, Chief Officers must 
consult with the CFO on the anticipated financial, risk and probity implications of the 
projects and ensure adherence to any subsequent terms laid down by the CFO. 

46.2 The Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that all necessary approvals are 
obtained before external funding agreements are concluded, and that subsequent 
grant claims submitted to external funders are lawful, accurate, in accordance with 
the funders eligibility criteria and submitted with due regard to the Council’s 
continuing commitment to the project. 

46.3 Where the use of external funding for projects requires a financial commitment from 
the Council and budget provision is not available, or where the acceptance of 
external funding would lead to a financial commitment beyond the current year, the 
Chief Officer, in conjunction with the CFO, will provide a written report to the Cabinet 
giving a full appraisal of the financial implications for the Council of the scheme both 
in the current year and beyond.  This report should also set out the ways that the 
external funding sought supports the Council’s service priorities. 

46.4 Once agreed, written approval must be obtained from the funder which clearly shows 
the approved allocation, the purpose of the grant and the financial period to which it 
relates. 

46.5 Each Chief Officer will nominate a named responsible officer to be accountable for 
the performance and financial monitoring of each project. The named responsible 
officer will ensure that, prior to submission of a grant claim, all expenditure declared 
is eligible in accordance with the relevant funder’s criteria, including purposes and 
deadlines and there is sufficient time for the CFO to certify the grant claim.  

46.6 Where funding is used to support additional service provision or contributes to 
existing service provision then the Chief Officer responsible should have an exit 
strategy in place to deal with the expiry of the grant. 

46.7 Grant claim working papers should be maintained in a form agreed by the CFO. 

47 Organisations Partly or Wholly Owned by the Council (trusts, not-for-profit 
organisations, charities) 

47.1 This requirement applies to the development and ongoing business undertakings of 
an organisation which is to be partly or wholly owned by the Council, and includes 
company structures such as a Limited Liability Partnership, Private Company limited 
by Guarantee, Community Interest Company, Not-for-profit Entity and Charity.  

47.2 When developing any organisation which is partly or wholly owned by the Council, 
the relevant Chief Officer, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer will need 
to satisfy themselves that the constitution of the relevant body is adequate to 
safeguard the interests of the Council, and that councillors and officers are 

Page 288



 

269 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

constrained in their decision making powers while participating in such bodies by Part 
9 of the Constitution, or any other formal delegation.  

47.3 The relevant Chief Officer must ensure a full business case is prepared in the 
development any new organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council, which must 
consider all short term and medium term financial aspects of operation.   

47.4 Before the Business Case is submitted for approval by Cabinet, the CFO must be 
satisfied that the new organisation will be affordable, offers value for money, has 
suitable tax planning arrangements, and manages risk appropriately. 

47.5 Prior to any appointments being made to any third party organisation (whether as a 
member, trustee, shareholder, director or similar position), advice should be sought 
from the Monitoring Officer and the CFO.   

47.6 Once operational, these organisations are required to follow these key financial 
principles: 

47.6.1 compliance with the Councils Constitution and Finance Procedure Rules 

47.6.2 compliance with the Council’s MTFP, Capital Strategy and Budget setting 
process as instructed by the form and timetable set out from the Council’s 
CFO 

47.6.3 the appointment of a Finance Director reporting to the Council’s CFO. 

47.6.4 an annual agreement with the Council’s CFO on any matters relating to risk 
share, earmarked reserve policy and distribution of dividends 

47.6.5 supporting the Council through its commissioning arrangements when 
necessary to identify ways to reduce costs and become more efficient 

47.6.6 to be both aware and compliant with the Council’s statutory and financial 
duties where relevant and applicable to their various service functions and 
obligations. 

47.7 Where these organisations are separate legal entities and the Council is required to 
purchase services from these entities. Transactions should therefore be undertaken 
in the same way as with an external provider. 

47.8 The contract value and ongoing services relating to these organisations will be set 
out in service level agreements. Any services to be purchased from the Council will 
be delivered in accordance with the service level agreements.  

47.9 Additional services may be requested either by the Council or the organisation 
outside of these service agreements.  Additional services will require payments to be 
made between the Council and the organisation, and work should always reflect 
value for money and be approved by the Chief Officer and CFO and be approved by 
the relevant Chief Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Council. 

47.10 The CFO and Monitoring Officer will have unfettered access to all financial 
information requested required to fulfil their statutory obligations. 

Page 289



 

270 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

48  Voluntary Funds and Trustees 

48.1 The CFO is responsible for trust funds and ensures that funds are only drawn down 
for the purposes intended by the Trustees and that accounts are prepared and 
audited each year. 

48.2 All trust funds, funds held for third parties and other voluntary (unofficial) funds must 
be approved by the CFO. A voluntary fund is defined as any fund, other than an 
official fund for the Council, which is controlled wholly or in part by an officer by 
reason of their employment by the Council. Such funds should be separately 
identified but held, where possible, in the name of the Council. 

49 Schools 

49.1 The Financial Procedure Rules for Schools applies to maintained schools within 
West Northamptonshire and these schools should conduct their financial affairs in 
accordance with the Financial Procedures for Schools.  

50 Business Continuity & Emergency Planning 

50.1 Chief Officers through their managers are responsible for ensuring the continuity of 
their services and providing guidance on the appropriate service priorities to aid 
planning and recovery of services, if a critical incident was to occur. 

50.2 All officers should follow the council’s requirements in relation to Emergency 
Planning which set out the minimum standards required to help deliver and maintain 
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity within the Council, with the objective 
to effectively and efficiently mitigate against, prepare for, respond to, and recover 
from any critical incident. 

50.3 Nothing in these Rules or financial procedures shall prevent expenditure being 
incurred where an emergency or disaster involving destruction of, or danger to, life 
or property occurs or is imminent.  

50.4 Where the relevant Chief Officer considers, where possible following consultation 
with the relevant Portfolio Holder, Chief Executive and the CFO, the urgency of the 
situation will not permit delay, necessary expenditure may be incurred. Action under 
this paragraph shall be reported at the next available meeting of the Chief Officers, 
Cabinet, and Audit Committee.    

Page 290



 

271 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

GLOSSARY 
 

This glossary explains key terms used in the Council’s Constitution but is not part of the 

Constitution.  

Adjourned  

To suspend (i.e. a meeting) with the intention to resume it later.  

Annual Governance Statement  

A public statement which reviews how well the Council has kept to its governance rules.  

Annual Statement of Accounts  

See Statement of Accounts.  

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy  

The Council’s strategy for protecting its valuable resources which describes the 

expectations and practices to avoid their loss.  

Asset Management Strategy  

The Council’s approach to getting the best possible value and revenue from things it owns 

(assets), such as buildings, land, roads and technology.  

Approved Supplier List  

A list of suppliers which have met specific criteria to enable them to provide particular goods 

or services to the Council.  

Balance Sheet  

A statement of the Council’s assets, liabilities and capital at a particular point in time which 

details the balance of the Council’s income and expenditure over the preceding period.  

Budget  

Every year the Council puts a financial plan in place which describes how and where the 

Council will spend money to provide services and deliver the aims which it set out in its 

Corporate Plan. It also sets the level of council tax which it will charge in the next financial 

year.   The Budget sets out the money which the Council intends to spend during the year 

against the money available which has been received in council tax, income and grants.   

Cabinet  

Also known as the Executive, the Cabinet is the Council’s decision-making body responsible 

for making the majority of decisions.  The Cabinet makes decisions within a Policy 

Framework and budget set by the whole Council.  The Cabinet is made up of the Leader 

and up to nine other Members, including a Deputy Leader.  

Cabinet Member  

An elected Member appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. Some Cabinet Members are 

assigned responsibility for a specific portfolio and are sometimes referred to as Portfolio 

Page 291



 

272 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Holders. Cabinet Members can also make decisions when powers to do so are delegated 

to them by the Cabinet or Leader.  

Capital and Investment Strategy  

The Council’s medium to long term plan for investing in its asset base.  

Capital Programme  

Part of the Medium Term Financial Plan which sets out capital projects approved by full 

Council over a medium term, multi-year period.  

Chair of the Council  

The Chair of the Council is an elected Member who chairs meetings of the Council and 

carries out a variety of civic and ceremonial duties. The Chair is elected to be the Chair by 

the other Members, usually at the Council’s Annual Meeting. The Chair cannot be a Cabinet 

Member and is assisted in their work by the Vice Chair.  

Chief Executive  

The Council’s most senior Officer who is responsible for the management and direction of 

the Council’s staff. The Chief Executive is accountable to the Executive Leader, the Cabinet 

and the Council as a whole. The Chief Executive is also generally designated as the 

Council’s Head of Paid Service - a statutory role.  The postholder has powers set out in law 

as well as the powers given to them by this Constitution.  

Chief Finance Officer  

The Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is a Statutory Officer and the powers held by the CFO are 

set out in statute.  The CFO is also referred to as the Section 151 Officer – this is because 

the role is given powers by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  Every Council 

must appoint a CFO. The CFO is responsible for managing the Council’s finances and 

providing expert financial advice to the Council. The CFO must be a qualified accountant 

and must ensure that the Council does not intend to spend more money than it has to carry 

out its plans (this is called a balanced budget).    

Clear Days  

Does not include the starting or finishing day. Example: for 5 clear days’ notice: do not 

include the day when notice was given. If this was on a Tuesday, time starts to run on 

Wednesday. Notice would not be completed until 12.01am the following Wednesday. 

Saturday, Sunday or bank holidays are not counted.  

Code of Conduct (Councillor Code of Conduct / Officer Code of Conduct)  

A set of rules which elected and co-opted councillors and officers must follow.  

Commercial Agreement  

A type of contract for goods or services in exchange for something in return, usually money. 

Commissioning  

Page 292



 

273 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Within the Council, the process of buying services from outside the Council and monitoring 

and managing the purchase and carrying out of those services. 

Committee  

A Committee is a formal group of elected Members whose remit, terms of reference and 

operating rules are set out in the Council’s Constitution. There are many different 

committees. Each one makes decisions about a specific area of responsibility – for example 

planning or licensing.  

Confidential Information  

In relation to meetings and reports this is information which the Council has received from 

a Government department on terms which cannot be disclosed publicly.  

It can also be information which (i) the Council cannot disclose due to a court order or 

legislation or (ii) is not public, or (iii) is information which was given to the Council in such a 

way that made it clear it was meant to be kept confidential.  

Constitution  

This governance document, or ‘rule book’, which sets out how the Council will make 

decisions and who will make those decisions.  It also sets out how residents and others can 

participate.   

Contract  

An agreement which: may be oral, written, partly oral and partly written or implied from 

conduct between the Council and another person; gives rise to obligations which are 

enforceable or recognised by law (i.e. legally binding) and commits the Council to paying or 

doing something.  

A reference to a contract may also include a contract to which the Contract Procedure Rules 

apply and a “call off contract” means an order made or call off contract entered into under 

a Framework Agreement.  

Contractors  

See suppliers.  

Contract Management  

The process of ensuring the contract results in the benefits and outcomes envisaged and 

that the advantages secured during the tendering phase are realised and improved through 

further proactive performance management during its term.  

Contract Management System  

The IT system and associated processes used to support supplier and contract 

management, providing visibility and a single view of all Council contracts. It is also the 

Council’s contract register.  

Contract Procedure Rules  

Page 293



 

274 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The part of the Constitution that sets out the procedures to be followed when seeking to 

establish a contract with an external supplier.  

Council  

The term often used to refer to the whole organisation (i.e. councillors and officers); but see 

full Council below. West Northamptonshire Council is led by councillors who are elected by 

the public. They set the priorities and the Budget for the organisation. Staff working for the 

Council (officers) deliver the day to day operations. The word Council is used to refer both 

to the organisation as a whole and specifically to the decision-making body.  

Council Body  

May include any Committee, Board, Panel or informal working group.  

Council Tax  

The income collected from residents based on banded property values and which funds a 

significant proportion of council services.  

Councillor 

A councillor is elected and is a member of the Council. councillors stand for election normally 

every four years and are accountable to the residents of a specific area (their electoral ward) 

but are responsible for making decisions for the entire council area. councillors do not have 

to be a member of a political party, but most are. Those who are not, are known as ‘un-

grouped’ or ‘independent’ councillors.  

Councillor Call for Action  

The councillor Call for Action allows councillors to refer matters of concern within the 

community to the relevant Board or Committee. The aim is to provide councillors with 

additional powers that enable them to respond to local community concerns which have 

proved difficult to resolve.  

Debt Management Strategy  

The Council’s strategy to manage and recover the sums of money it is owed.  

Decisions  

The choices and agreements made on a particular issue. The Council’s Constitution sets 

out the rules on how formal decisions are to be taken in compliance with the law (see also 

Key Decisions). The Constitution also sets out how decisions are to be recorded and 

published.  

Development Plan  

Means the Council’s local plans and other documents that set out the policies and proposals 

for the development and use of land within the administrative area of West 

Northamptonshire Council.  

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  

Page 294



 

275 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

A disclosable interest means something which an elected Member must declare in a 

meeting relating to their role outside the Council which could impact on their decisions for 

the Council.  A pecuniary interest is a financial interest as defined in ‘The Relevant 

Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Elected Member  

See Councillor.  

Executive  

See Cabinet.  

Executive Director  

The Council’s most senior officers report directly to the Chief Executive and are accountable 

to Members and the Cabinet. These posts include the statutory Director of Adult Social 

Services (DASS) and the Director of Children’s Services (DCS).  

Exempt Information  

In relation to meetings and reports this means information which can be withheld from the 

public. It must pass one of seven tests in order for it to be exempt and it must also be in the 

public interest to do so. If an item is deemed to be exempt during a public meeting, then 

members of the public and any press have to leave the meeting while exempt information 

is being discussed. We set out the rules in the Access to Information Procedure Rules at 

Part 5 Section 4 of this Constitution.  

EU Procurement Regulations  

The Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA) entered into under the auspices of the 

World Trade Organisation, the European Community Treaty (EU Treaty)* and any relevant 

regulations, directives or decisions of the European Community*; any Acts of Parliament or 

statutory instruments implementing the above for the time being in force in the United 

Kingdom; and any relevant judgments of the European Court of Justice* or UK courts.  

*These will continue to be followed at the present time even though the United Kingdom has 

left the European Union.  

External Auditors  

An independent auditor appointed to review the Council’s financial and management 

arrangements.  

Financial Year  

The financial year for the Council is not the same as the calendar year. Our financial year 

starts on 1 April and ends on 31 March.  

Financial Procedure Rules  

The rules which set out how the Council will manage its financial affairs (in Part 9 Section 7 

of this Constitution).  

Financial Scheme of Delegation  

Page 295



 

276 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The financial limits on spend set up by service area. More details are in Part 9 Section 7.  

Follow On Decisions  

Means a decision on consequential matters following a decision to approve a Planning 

Application. These include, but are not limited to: approval or discharge of planning 

conditions, legal agreements and non-material amendments.  

Forward Plan  

A list of the ‘key decisions’ the Council will make over the next one to four months. The 

Forward Plan also includes a summary of any reports which will be presented to the Cabinet. 

You can view the Forward Plan for West Northamptonshire Council on its website.  

Framework  

A term used in different ways which refers to the way that the Council operates - for example, 

Policy Framework, commissioning framework, governance framework.  

Full Council  

The full Council is all the Members who make up West Northamptonshire Council. Full 

Council meets throughout the year with the meeting being chaired by the Chair. Full Council 

takes specific decisions, including setting the Budget. It also appoints committees to make 

decisions about specific issues such as planning and licensing.  

Function  

Within the Council, a function is a service which the Council provides or an activity which it 

undertakes; or which it is has a duty to deliver - for example housing and education.  

Head of Paid Service  

The Head of Paid Service is a Statutory Officer with overall responsibility for the employment 

of Council officers (generally the Chief Executive).  

Independent Person  

The Council has to have at least one designated independent person who is not a councillor 

or a member of staff. The independent person is consulted about complaints made against 

councillors and also about the dismissal of any of the Council’s statutory officers.  

Key Decision  

Key decisions are executive decisions (not those made by committee) and are defined in 

the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) (Regulations) 2012 and are decisions which:-  

 Result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or making savings which are, 

significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which 

the decision relates; or  

 Are deemed significant in terms of their effect on communities living or working within 

the area of the Council.  

Page 296



 

277 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

The Council has decided that other significant decisions will be treated as key decisions. 

There are rules that set out how key decisions must be taken which are in Part 5. Key 

decisions are taken by the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member under delegated authority.  

Leader (of the Council)  

Members elect a person who will be the Executive Leader. Usually this is the leader of the 

largest political group on the whole Council. The Executive Leader is also the Leader of the 

Cabinet and will appoint up to nine other Members to form the Cabinet to take Executive 

decisions on behalf of the Council. The Leader can appoint up to two Deputy Leaders from 

the Members appointed to the Cabinet.  

Legal Professional Privilege  

Confidential communications between lawyers and their clients can be withheld from a court 

or from a third party using legal professional privilege.  

Legislation  

The Law which can be made by Parliament which takes the form of an Act of Parliament (a 

Statute) or Statutory Regulations or By-laws which can be made by the Council.  

Light Touch Rules  

A more relaxed set of rules for awarding contracts for certain services in relation to health 

and social care.  

Medium Term Financial Plan  

Sets out the Council’s budget (revenue and capital) over a period of more than one year 

and is linked to the Corporate Plan and Service Plans.  

Member  

See Councillor.  

minutes  

The formal written record of a meeting. minutes of West Northamptonshire Council meetings 

are available on the Council’s website.  

Monitoring Officer  

The Monitoring Officer is a Statutory Officer responsible for the lawful and good governance 

of the Council, in particular the Constitution, decision-making and the conduct of councillors 

(including Town and Parish councillors) and officers.  

Motion  

A proposal for a discussion or debate.  

Municipal Year  

The period between annual meetings of the Council. The municipal year is not the same as 

the Council’s financial year, which starts on 1 April. The municipal year usually starts in May 

but is not a fixed date and as such the number of days in a municipal year varies slightly.  

Page 297



 

278 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

Natural Justice  

The right of all parties in proceedings to a fair hearing before an impartial tribunal.  

Officer  

Someone employed by the Council.  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Specialist committees which support and challenge the work of the Cabinet and help hold it 

to account. Overview and Scrutiny committees are made up of Members who are not part 

of the Cabinet.  

Permission in Principle (PIP)  

Means an application by a developer to the Council to determine whether a housing 

development is acceptable in principle only and does not include technical details. A 

Permission in Principle is not a grant of planning consent.  

Planning Applications  

Means planning applications for full and outline consent as well as applications for reserved 

matters approvals and, for the avoidance of doubt, excludes Permission in Principle (PIP) 

and Related Matters.  

Planning Officer  

Means an employee of the Council tasked with processing and evaluating planning 

applications.  

Policy  

A policy sets out a strategic objective for the Council and provides a framework of principles 

and guidelines which must be followed to achieve those objectives.  

Policy Framework  

Refers to the Council’s strategies and policies as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.  

Point of Order  

Where a Member considers that a breach of the Procedure Rules or legislation has occurred 

within a debate.  

Portfolio  

Within the Council, a portfolio is a specific area of responsibility - for example housing. You 

can view the portfolios and which Councillor is responsible for each area (the Portfolio 

Holders) in Part 5 of the Constitution and on the website.  

Procedure  

The means by which a strategy or policy will be implemented or a process which must be 

followed.  

Procurement  

Page 298



 

279 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

How the Council identifies, sources, selects and manages the resources it needs to buy in 

to deliver services or meet its strategic objectives.  

Proper Officer  

A term used to refer to the Council’s lead Officer for a particular function. The list of Proper 

Officers is in Part 9 of this Constitution.  

Quorum  

The minimum number of attendees who have to be present at a meeting of the Council, a 

committee or sub-committee etc to conduct its business.  

Regulation Threshold 

The Total Value threshold at which public procurement directives must be applied.  The 

current procurement thresholds and regulations are the EU thresholds available from the 

OJEC website.   

Related matters  

Means applications for permitted development, prior approvals, advertisement consent, tree 

preservation orders, high hedges and listed building consent.  

Representations  

Members of the public can give their views on any Cabinet or Cabinet Member reports or 

on any proposed decision by informing Democratic Services by the deadline outlined on the 

meeting agenda.  

Reserves  

Sums of money set aside on the Council’s balance sheet. The Council has ‘general 

reserves’, and ‘earmarked reserves’ which are set aside for a specific purpose.  

Scheme of Delegation  

The Scheme of Delegation sets out how the Council and the Cabinet have delegated 

authority to a committee or another body, or to an individual Member or officer to exercise 

their powers or perform their functions. The officer Scheme of Delegation concerns those 

powers and functions delegated to officers. The Scheme of Delegation will also specify any 

limits on the delegated authority.  

Section 151 Officer (s.151 Officer)  

See Chief Finance Officer.  

Standards Complaint  

Refers to a complaint made against an elected or co-opted councillor, or Town or Parish 

councillor, that the councillor concerned has failed to comply with the relevant Councillor 

Code of Conduct.  

Statement of Accounts  

Page 299



 

280 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

A document required by law which sets out the Council’s financial position at 31 March each 

year and includes the Council’s income and expenditure for a given financial year.  

Statute  

An Act of Parliament – the law.  

Statutory  

Required by law. Councils have statutory duties including preventing homelessness, 

managing community safety and determining planning applications.  

Statutory Officers  

The Council is required by law to appoint officers in certain key roles. The Statutory Officers 

are the Head of Paid Service; the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer. The 

Council must also appoint other officers including a Director for Children’s Services, a 

Director for Adult Social Services, a Director of Public Health and a Scrutiny Officer.  

sub-committee  

A group of elected Members from the committee in question convened to undertake a 

particular task or perform a particular function. The sub-committee then reports back and is 

accountable to the committee.  

Suppliers  

Also known as contractors, suppliers are those parties which enter into a contract with the 

Council to provide goods or services.  

Trading Account  

Services which are funded by generating income from internal and external sources.  

Treasury Management Strategy  

The way in which the Council manages its cash, borrowing, lending and investments, and 

associated risks.  

Virement  

The movement of money from one budget heading to another.  

Vires (intra vires/ultra vires)  

A Latin phrase which means ‘powers’. Within the Council, vires concerns the power or lawful 

authority to make a decision, perform a function or undertake an action. A decision made, 

function performed or action undertaken will be ‘intra vires’ if the Council has the power and 

lawful authority to do it and ‘ultra vires’ if it does not.  

Ward  

A ward is an electoral area. West Northamptonshire Council has 31 wards.  

Ward Councillor  

One of the councillors representing a specific ward.  

Page 300



 

Item no: 6 
 
 

 
 

                                   

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

30 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 

 MO   
Deputy MO 

Catherine Whitehead 
Geoff Wild 

  
8.9.21 

S151   Martin Henry  10.9.21 

 
 

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Carried Motions on notice from the predecessor councils of West Northamptonshire 
area 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The report provides details of the carried motions on notice from the predecessor councils 

of the West Northamptonshire area for the previous six years. Details of which are 
attached at Appendix A. 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 At the meeting of full Council held on 15 July 2021, the following motion on notice was 
carried: 
 
 “This council recognises:  
  

The importance of motions passed within the previous four authorities in the 
West Northamptonshire catchment area.  

  
That it is crucial to ensure any democratic decisions are retained and flow through into 
the present day thinking of WNC.  

  

Report Title 
 

CARRIED MOTIONS ON NOTICE – PREDECESSOR COUNCILS  

Report Author Tracy Tiff, Deputy Democratic Services Manager,  
tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 301

Agenda Item 6

mailto:tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

 

That adopting an exercise to preserve the above will not only efficiently capture 
all approved motions into one report, it also will reaffirm the importance of local 
democratic decision making.  

  
This council resolves:  

 
·       To instruct the Democracy & Standards Committee to collate any motions 

passed in the last six years within the previous authorities.  
·       That once collated, these motions will be forwarded to the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee to pass comment on.   
·       That once this process is completed, a report containing all legacy matters will 

be brought to the earliest possible full council, with the target of December 
2021’s meeting. The report will lay out all motions which should be voted on 
individually for acceptance or any minor modifications. Such changes must not 
seek to alter the fundamental principles previously passed.” 

 
2.2 Therefore attached at Appendix A are the collated carried motions on notice from the 

predecessor councils: 
 

Daventry District Council 
Northampton Borough Council 
Northamptonshire County Council 
South Northamptonshire Council 

 
2.3 The Democracy and Standards Committee is asked to consider the carried motions and 

forward them to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees for comment. 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 

 
a) Notes the carried motions from the previous six years from the predecessor councils: 

Daventry District Council, Northampton Borough Council, Northamptonshire County 
Council and South Northamptonshire Council. 
 

b) Forwards the collated motions, as attached at Appendix A, to the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees for comment. 

 
c) Recommends that the Council publishes motion updates annually on its website in 

future, to provide members of the public and councillors with the facility to access 
motions that have been passed at Council meetings, without having to go through the 
minutes of each meeting. 

 
3.2 Reason for Recommendations 

 
3.2.1 The recommendations are a result of the carried motion on notice as detailed in 

paragraph 2.1. 
 

4. Report Background 

 Page 302



 

 

4.1 As detailed in paragraph 2.1 above, at the meeting of full Council held on 15 July 2021, 
the following notice of motion was carried: 

 
 “This council recognises:  
  

The importance of motions passed within the previous four authorities in the 
West Northamptonshire catchment area.  

  
That it is crucial to ensure any democratic decisions are retained and flow through into 
the present day thinking of WNC.  

  
That adopting an exercise to preserve the above will not only efficiently capture 
all approved motions into one report, it also will reaffirm the importance of local 
democratic decision making.  

  
This council resolves:  

 
o To instruct the Democracy & Standards Committee to collate any motions 

passed in the last six years within the previous authorities.  
o That once collated, these motions will be forwarded to the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee to pass comment on.   
o That once this process is completed, a report containing all legacy matters will be 

brought to the earliest possible full council, with the target of December 2021’s 
meeting. The report will lay out all motions which should be voted on individually 
for acceptance or any minor modifications. Such changes must not seek to alter 
the fundamental principles previously passed.” 

 
4.2 Officers have undertaken an information gathering exercise to gather the carried 

motions since June 2015.  
 
4.3 Other local authorities have published motion updates annually on their websites, which 

provide members of the public (and councillors) with the facility to access motions that 
have been passed at Council meetings, without having to go through the minutes of 
each meeting. The date of the Council meeting at which the motion was considered is 
recorded, along with the motion and the responsible officers, in addition to an 
anticipated timeframe for the motion to be completed. 

 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1. Members are asked to note the update on carried motions and forward them to the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees for comment. 
  

6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 
 
6.1.1 There are no immediate financial implications arising from the proposals.   
 
6.2 Legal  
 Page 303



 

 

6.2.1 In accordance with the Constitution, the Council has a responsibility to debate and act 
upon carried motions on notice submitted to meetings of full Council. 
 

6.3 Risk  
 

6.3.1 There are none specifically. 
 

6.4 Consultation  
 

6.4.1 Not applicable. 
 

6.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 
 

6.5. The Democracy and Standards Committee is asked to forward the carried motions on 
notice to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 

6.6 Climate Impact 
 

6.6.1 There are no immediate climate implications arising from this report. 
 
6.7 Community Impact 

 
6.7.1 There are no immediate community implications arising from this report. 

 
7         Background Papers 

 
Full Council agenda and minutes - 15 July 2021 

 

Page 304



Daventry District Council – Approved Motions 2015-2020 
 

25th February 2016 
 

Ofcom, in their Connected Nations 2015 report said, up to 1.5 million rural households 
will have to wait two to three years before they can get a “minimum” internet speed.  
Ofcom argues that internet speeds of at least 10 megabits per second is the “minimum 
… required by the typical household” with multiple devices to get a good service to 
stream programmes and access websites. 

 
 Research backed by 121 MPs published called for a radical overhaul of the internet 

market and calls for the break-up of the “monopoly” that BT holds on the cable network. 
 

Progress on rolling out superfast broadband across Daventry District is disappointing. 
 

The latest available Superfast Northamptonshire Briefing indicates that little over 12,000 
premises out of 35,000 premises in total benefit from Superfast Broadband. 

 
 There appears to be no clear programme to roll out to the remaining premises. 
 
 Indicative programme plans show roll out to some other areas of the District either by 

December 2016 or December 2017. 
 
 Large geographical areas are shown as ‘not yet confirmed’ for Superfast Broadband 

delivery. 
 
 Business is booming with 717 new Companies launched in Daventry District last year 

as Northamptonshire sees a greater percentage of growth than London or Manchester. 
 
 We are a District that is open for business, NCC needs to support our growth, giving the 

people and new Businesses of our District confirmed dates of the remaining roll out of 
the Superfast Broadband programme. 

 
Therefore it is resolved that the Council makes strong representations to 
Northamptonshire County Council to clarify the Superfast Northamptonshire 
programme for Daventry District and make every effort for a speedy delivery, and that 
representations are also made to the Digital Economy Minister.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 
 
18th May 2016 
 
May I request that this council sends a letter to Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth the 
Second, by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland, and of her other Realms and Territories, Queen, Head of Commonwealth,  
Defender of Faith. 

 

Page 305



To congratulate her Majesty on the longevity of her reign and that in the face of this 
ever changing world she has managed not only to keep our Commonwealth of 
Nations together but has increased its membership. 
This, I will add, without any rules and regulations regarding the governance of those 
Nations and any threat to their own Sovereignty. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 
 
28th July 2016 
 
Although no increase in Hate Crime has occurred in Northamptonshire, various groups 
have expressed concerns about the rise in Hate Crime in other areas of the country 
following the referendum.   

 
We are proud to live in a tolerant and diverse Country.  Racism, Xenophobia and Hate 
Crimes have no place in our Society.  This Council condemns these unequivocally.  
We must not allow hate to become acceptable.  The Council with its partners must 
work to ensure we have the support and resources to prevent Racism, Xenophobia 
and Hate Crime.  We publically condemn any such attacks and make it clear the 
Council will take any necessary steps to tackle this.  We reassure people living in our 
area that they are valued members of our Community.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 
 
27th July 2017 

This Council resolves to write to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government asking for a revision of Part 3, Class Q of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended). 

This legislation gives permitted development rights to those wishing to convert 
agricultural buildings into residential accommodation. It allows barns and other 
agricultural buildings which may be unsuitable for modern farming methods and/or 
have fallen into disrepair to be renovated as homes. It can thus save buildings which 
add to the rural landscape from dereliction. 

However, it also gives rights to convert modern buildings, which are often still in 
legitimate agricultural use and not redundant for agricultural purposes which visually 
may add little, or even detract, from the rural character of an area when converted 
into homes.  Additionally, despite the requirement for planning permission to be 
obtained for a replacement agricultural building – this does not seem to be a 
deterrent to abuse of the system as up to three dwellings are so lucrative the 
applicant submits for a further agricultural building arguing this is (now) agriculturally 
necessary so another modern building appears in the rural landscape. 

Page 306



Recently we have become concerned by further abuse of the PD right/system 
whereby permission is obtained under Part Q, but using the “fall back” position 
concept, applicants seek to trade this up to a new dwelling in open countryside 
arguing that it would be visually less harmful so more desirable to demolish the 
existing building which would be ugly, as houses and that a new build purpose 
designed house in its place should be granted. While a local planning authority is not 
obliged to approve applications of this nature, it may feel allowing a new build in a 
rural area is a lesser evil than an ugly conversion, and in this way are being held to 
ransom. 

Consequently, this Council believes that Class Q permitted development rights 
should be restricted to agricultural buildings which are: 

·         Predominantly constructed of stone or brick; 

·         Are more than 35 years old. 

·         Demonstrably redundant for agricultural purposes and have been used for that 
 agricultural purpose for at least 10 years.  

·          It should be made clear that permissions under Part Q cannot be used as an  
 argument to allow up to 3 new build purpose designed dwellings to be built 
 instead. 

This Council asks the Secretary of State to review Class Q legislation and make the 
proposed amendments. 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 
 

---o0o--- 
 
This Council fully welcomes the proposed arrival of the "outstanding" Ofsted rated 
Sponne School into Daventry Town as we continue to play our part in supporting all 
education partners to improve the overall offer to students.  
 
It is vital that all students have a local choice of educational opportunities in order to 
achieve individually positive working lives as the District continues to attract more and 
more varying job opportunities.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 
 
22nd February 2018 

This Meeting: 

Page 307



Resolves that Daventry District Council should take all reasonable steps to alleviate 
the difficulties that TDECL tenants face as a result of DDC’s decision to sell their 
homes; 

Recognises that, although proposals made to tenants are in accordance with the 
terms of their tenancy agreements, the marketing of the TDECL scheme, with 
references to ‘Houses for Life’, the provision of “a first-class experience to all our 
tenants” and the assurance of having a landlord owned by a local authority, gave 
many tenants a false impression that their tenancies would be long-term; 

 Therefore resolves to put plans for house sales on hold to allow time for DDC to 
consider what amendments to its plans might be made to ease the difficulties faced 
by tenants. 

While this meeting may not be in a position to take decisions on possible 
amendments to DDC’s plans, believes that measures which should be considered 
should include: 

 Immediate sales only being made when tenants voluntarily decide to 
surrender their tenancies; 

 A longer period for tenants to decide whether they wish to express and 
interest in buying their homes and to consider their options, including the 
possibility of shared ownership; 

 The offer of financial incentives to tenants (e.g. equivalent to a number of 
month’s rent) who agree to surrender their tenancies over the coming two 
years; 

 Early repayments of deposits to those who agree to move to enable them to 
pay deposits on alternative accommodation; 

 For a period of a number of years: 

 A suspension of sales of homes of people who suffer from disabilities, 
serious health problems or other acute domestic difficulties until suitable 
arrangements can be made for them; 

 Sales only to be made to buyers prepared to buy to let, with amendments 
to tenancy agreements to offer tenants security of tenure for a period (say, 
six months) after the change in ownership; 

 Renewed efforts to sell the estate in whole or in part to (a) housing 
association(s), reviewing, if necessary, the asking prices for properties to 
achieve sales in the interests of DDC and tenants. 

The Meeting also notes that the TDECL properties have been an extraordinarily 
successful investment for DDC and that, with rising house prices, any delay in the 
proposed sales could result in a higher price being achieved, and consequently a 
higher revenue income on the reinvestment of proceeds.  

RESOLVED: 
 
That this meeting resolves to refer the sale of TDECL properties in Middlemore to 
Scrutiny and Improvement Committee for further investigation and report back to July 
Full Council. 
 

Page 308



Whilst awaiting the outcome of the review this meeting resolves that the sale of the 
properties is put on hold and TDECL continue to operate to protect the Council’s 
interests. 
 
26th July 2018 
 
This Council recognises the excellent and crucial work undertaken by Reach for 
Health which is the operating name of Daventry Health Rehabilitation Trust, a 
registered charity, and which provides health rehabilitation for people who have 
suffered a major health trauma or are living with long term or life long illness. This 
charity has been able to establish itself with currently some 2,400 user visits per 
month (excluding those that attend specialist classes that they operate) and has 
substantial recognition from local GPs and hospitals. This is a unique facility where 
demand for its services is growing year on year and which is now facing a situation 
that may well threaten the future continuation of the charity and all the benefits it 
provides.  
 
Their existing premises in High March, Daventry are fairly old, expensive to operate 
and rapidly becoming too small for the continuing increases in demand for their 
current services - with plans to expand their Cardio Rehab, C.O.P.D. and Stroke 
programmes which are carried out in conjunction with Northampton General 
Hospital. They have already reached agreement on the potential location of a new 
building located on the North East corner of the Daventry & District Sports Trust site 
in Western Avenue, Daventry which will provide a sustainable future for the future 
health and wellbeing for our residents.  
 
This Council therefore resolves that its Officers report back to the next Strategy 
Group on options available to the Council, conducting due diligence checks as usual, 
to help achieve the completion of this new centre by July 2020. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Motion be supported 
 
21st February 2019 
 
That this Council supports the award of a 100% grant to Staverton Parish Council in 
connection with Traffic Calming measures. 

We ask that this Council notes that Northamptonshire is in unprecedented times and 
soon local government in its current format will cease to exist and a unitary 
organisation will evolve.  As a consequence of this change, all spending by the County 
Council has been stopped by way of a section 114 order.  A casualty of this order has 
been the project Staverton PC have been working on in Partnership with NCC. 

The Staverton project: aims to provide traffic calming measures, through the 
installation of signs, vehicle activated displays, reduced speed limits and installation 
of a village gateway on the through road - A425 and will work as an extension of the 
recently approved Warwickshire policy to reduce traffic speeds up to the Warwickshire/ 
Northamptonshire border on the A425. 

Page 309



The project has been designed in collaboration with and sanctioned by NCC Highways 
department and will include legal and Section 50 licence costs. 

Confirmation has been received from NCC that in light of the section 114 order 
Warwickshire have agreed to partially fund both the Traffic Regulation Order for the 
revision of the speed limit from the county boundary to the 30mph limit in Staverton 
and that they will also fund the necessary signing works in the Northamptonshire 
section.  This project is an opportunity for Warwickshire funding to be used within 
Northamptonshire.  The grant application is for the shortfall of £16212.66 following the 
section 114 order.  

Once the project is complete the proposal is for Staverton PC to precept the village in 
order to establish some form of planting along the length of the 30mph speed limit to 
present a scheme of enclosure in a built-up area, possibly an avenue of trees. 

DDC confirmed on the 29th January that they were able to award £8,400 towards the 
project however, they could not offer the full amount of funding requested due to the 
high demand of applications. 

These unprecedented times have given rise to the exceptional circumstances whereby 
if Staverton PC are not awarded a 100% grant then these works will not go ahead and 
external funding from outside the District will be lost and a valued project that will 
improve the safety of residents who travel within and through the Parish will not go 
ahead.  The shortfall is £7,812.66 which taken as a percentage of DDC's overall 
budgets is negligible. 

At the February Strategy group, it was reported that capital receipts shown in the 
Capital Programme have been updated to reflect recent Council decisions and CIL 
funding proposals.  Of the £0.640m forecast spend below budget, as at the end of 
quarter 3, £0.187m was forecast as 'true' underspend.  If this forecast is in line with 
the final outturn at year end, this funding would be released with a corresponding 
increase in capital reserves balances.  

In light of the exceptional circumstances detailed, the small amount SPC ask for in 
comparison to DDC’s overall budgets, the available capital reserves, and more 
importantly the fact the project is a safety project, we ask that members support this 
motion. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Motion be supported. 
 
15th May 2019 
 
The Council, noting (1) that the view of the County Council is that delivery of a new 
school at Buckton Fields is, “absolutely essential in ensuring NCC can continue to 
meet its statutory obligations of providing a sufficiency of school places in this area of 
the county from September 2021 onwards”, due to a projected deficiency of primary 
school places after that date and (2) that the project is wholly developer funded, 

Page 310



profoundly regrets the decision of the Department For Education to fail to commit 
support enabling the primary school at Buckton Fields to open in September 2020. 

The Council invites the DfE to confirm that it will take the necessary steps to ensure 
opening of the school in September 2021. 

RESOLVED: 

That the motion be supported. 

---o0o--- 
 
Climate emergency  

This Council notes that: 
the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage around the 
world.  
that the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C’, published by the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change in October 2018, (a) describes the 
enormous harm that a 2°C average rise in global temperatures is likely to cause 
compared with a 1.5°C rise, and (b) confirms that limiting Global Warming to 1.5°C 
may still be possible with ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, 
civil society and the private sector. 
that all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and local 
governments that recognise this should not wait for their national governments to 
change their policies;  
that strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing and 
economic benefits; 
and that, recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities have already 
passed 'Climate Emergency' motions. 
 
This Council therefore resolves to establish a ‘Climate Emergency Working Group’ 
whose remit will be to examine how DDC, through its actions, can provide leadership 
to local communities in seeking ways of reducing harmful emissions. This Council 
envisages that the programme of the Working Group will include (but not be confined 
to): 
 
Reviewing and appraising the work that DDC is already doing to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions; 
 
Considering the case for requiring all DDC-owned buildings (where reasonably 
possible) to have solar panels; 
 
Considering the feasibility of requiring all new homes (where reasonably possible) to 
have solar panels (with the onus being on developers to provide evidence should when 
solar panels are not deemed to be feasible); 
 
Examining DDC’s investment portfolio with a view to recommending the termination of 
any investments which are in environmentally damaging commercial activities; 
 

Page 311



Spreading the message about the need for action to protect the environment. 
 
The Climate Emergency Working Group will consist of 
 
A politically-balanced group of councillors; 
 
A number of residents selected following a public invitation to join the Working Group 
(to include young people with environmental concerns); 
Any local climate-change experts whom the Working Group may wish to co-opt. 

- an amendment was proposed and seconded (P = Cllr Brown, 2 = Cllr Gilford) – 
and duly carried as the substantive motion. 

This Council notes: 

•      that the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage 
 around the world.  

•     that the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C’, published by the 
 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change in October 2018, (a) describes the 
 enormous harm that a 2°C average rise in global temperatures is likely to cause 
 compared with a 1.5°C rise, and (b) confirms that limiting Global Warming to 
 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action from national and sub-national 
 authorities, civil society and the private sector. 

•           that all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and local 
 governments that recognise this should not wait for their national governments 
 to change their policies;  

•       that strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing 
 and economic benefits; 

•          and that, recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities have 
 already passed 'Climate Emergency' motions. 

This Council therefore resolves to establish a ‘Climate Emergency Working Group’ 
urgently refer the matter to Scrutiny & Improvement for a task panel to be convened 
at the earliest available opportunity to investigate whether DDC is doing all that it can 
to minimise its impact upon the environment and whose remit will be to examine how 
DDC, through its actions, can provide leadership to local communities in seeking ways 
of reducing harmful emissions. 
 
This Council envisages that the programme of the Working Group task panel will 
include (but not be confined to): 
 
•         Reviewing and appraising the work that DDC is already doing to reduce  
 greenhouse gas emissions; 
•         Considering the case for requiring all DDC-owned buildings (where reasonably 
 possible) to have solar panels; 

Page 312



•    Considering the feasibility of requiring all new homes (where reasonably 
 possible) to have solar panels (with the onus being on developers to provide 
 evidence should when solar panels are not deemed to be feasible); 
•    Examining DDC’s investment portfolio with a view to recommending the 
 termination of any investments which are in environmentally damaging 
 commercial activities; 
•         Spreading the message about the need for action to protect the environment. 
 
 The Climate Emergency Working Group task panel will consist of 
•         A politically-balanced cross-party group of councillors; 
•         A number of residents selected following a public invitation to join the Working 
Group (to include young people with environmental concerns); 
•         Any local climate-change experts or residents whom the Working Group task 
 panel may wish to co-opt.  
There being no further amendments, it was 
 
RESOLVED:  

That the amended motion be supported. 

5th December 2019 

We   This Council understands  notes that the Evelyn Wright care home is on the 
county councils draft budget for closure due to the anticipated costs 
of approximately £800,000 to carry out immediate remedial works identified 
as well as further additional amounts for necessary modernisation works. 

We have Daventry has already lost The Grange care home and to lose another 
will have serious consequences for the residents in the care home as well as their 
families, although it is noted that NCC has indicated that it will place existing 
care home residents in other homes and that care needs will be re-assessed 
to ensure any alternative accommodation is suitable and meets their needs. 

It is further noted that Northamptonshire Adults Social Services (NASS) have 
made staff and residents aware of the scale of the work required and have 
explored options to move residents into other care homes. Some 
residents may wish to remain living in the Daventry area and there are some 
residential spaces available in another care home service close by, run by 
Shaw Healthcare, as well as other care providers. 

When the county council closed the Grange care home they said that there will be 
another built but there is nothing in their consultation stating this will happen. 

Will this council therefore agree This Council therefore resolves to liaise with the 
county council to see what provision can will be provided in Daventry town as a 
matter of urgency 

RESOLVED:  

That the amended motion be supported. 

Page 313



8th October 2020 
 
Council notes: 
The publication by Government of the White Paper, ‘Planning for the Future’ on 6 
August 2020, which sets out proposals on reforms to the planning process for the 
future. There are important points which this council wishes to note: 

1. That the vast majority of planning applications are given the go ahead by 
local authority planning committees, with permission granted to around 9 out 
of 10 applications. 

2. That research by the Local Government Association has said that there are 
existing planning permissions for more than one million homes that have not 
yet been started. 

 
In addition, Council is concerned that the proposals seek to: 

1. Reduce or remove the right of residents to have their say on applications in 
their communities. 

2. Grant automatic rights for developers to build on land identified as ‘for 
growth’. 

3. Remove section 106 payments for infrastructure and their replacement with 
a national levy. 

  

Furthermore this Council Notes: 
1. The Royal Institute for British Architects called the proposals ‘shameful and 

which will do almost nothing to guarantee delivery of affordable, well-
designed and sustainable homes’. RIBA also said that proposals could lead 
to the next generation of slum housing. 

2. The reforms are opposed by the all-party Local Government Association. 
 
We therefore ask that this council: 

1. Agree via Strategy Group a full response to the white paper consultation 
outlining specifically the negative impact that these revisions will have on 
local involvement/engagement in planning matters. 

2. The Leader of the Council writes on behalf of this council to the Minister of 
State for Housing & Planning and to our local Member of Parliament 
expressing our concerns in line with the agreed response set out above. 

3. The Council shares these responses with all Members. 
 
RESOLVED:  

That the amended motion be supported. 

18th February 2021 

Safety rail for A361 footpath 
 
This Council recognises that the footpath alongside the section of the A361 below the 
dam of Drayton Reservoir is hazardous because: 
 

 The A361 is used by much heavy traffic travelling between Daventry and the 
 M1, M6 and A14; 

Page 314



 That section of the road is relatively narrow and there have been many 
 reports of large lorries mounting the kerb to pass each other; 

 Although there is a 40 mph limit on that section of the road, traffic often travels 
 faster because of the dip in the road between the Middlemore and Northern 
 Way roundabouts; 

 The footpath is used by many school children walking to Ashby Fields School 
 and to the secondary schools in town, as well as people travelling to work or 
 for shopping. 

It also notes that, in November and December 2018, 673 people signed a petition 
asking for a safety rail alongside the footpath. 
 
This Council therefore 
 

 resolves to ask DDC Officers to continue discussions with NCC Highways as 
 a matter of urgency with the aim of securing a commitment to the erection of a 
 safety rail, or to the provision of an alternative means of improving the safety 
 of pedestrians, before the transfer of responsibilities to the new West 
 Northants Council, and  

 requests that a report on these discussions is given at the meeting of the 
 Council on 18th March 2021. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Motion be supported. 
 
18th March 2021 
 
This Council proposes a vote of thanks to recognise the hard work and achievements 
of all staff and members throughout the 47 years of Daventry District Council's 
existence.  
This Council further recognises:  

 The significant contribution of its Chairman, and leader of over 20 years, Cllr 
Chris Millar, along with his colleagues, many of whom had served not just the 
Council but their communities for a significant amount of time. This Council 
wishes him and all those who are retiring from public life the very best for the 
future.  

 The long service and achievements of the Chief Executive, Ian Vincent, and all 
those who have served with him on the Senior Management Team, helping this 
Council to deliver a legacy of thriving services and healthy finances to the new 
West Northamptonshire Council.  

We hope that all staff at Daventry District Council enjoy successful and fulfilling 
careers, whether at West Northamptonshire Council or elsewhere, and we commend 
them on their service to the residents of our district. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported, as amended. 

 
---o0o--- 

Page 315



 
This Council recognises the work of the people of Daventry District during the Covid-
19 crisis; specifically, all the key workers and volunteers of the District who have 
selflessly put the interests of serving the public and supporting our communities above 
themselves, in responding to this unprecedented pandemic. There have been 
countless reports of individuals, organisations and community groups stepping up 
across Daventry District, whether providing a vital service or job, or by joining or 
forming groups to offer help and support to a local area. You have made us all proud 
to be a part of this community and we offer our heartfelt thanks and appreciation for 
this great work. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the motion be supported. 

Page 316



Motions recorded at Northampton Borough Council 

8th June 2015 

Motion 1 

“The council applauds the excellent work of the Returning Officer and all his staff for 
conducting three elections at the same time with superb efficiency and excellent 
customer care. 
 
However we note that there remains a democratic issue in this town in three areas 
and resolve the following:- 
 
1. We need to do further work to ensure maximum numbers of our citizens are 
registered to vote, particularly with full implementation of IER. 
 
2. In our next review of polling stations we must ensure equal access for voters 
without cars, those who need wheel chair access and those not able to walk very far. 
 
3. The methodology process of consultation of the polling station review needs to be 
approved by General Purposes Committee before it is carried out.  
 
We further urge the Administration to think about Democracy Week and how we can 
use that week to further the aims of democracy in our town” 
 

Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“The council applauds the excellent work of the Returning Officer and all his staff for 
conducting three elections at the same time with superb efficiency and excellent 
customer care. 
 
However we note that there remains a democratic issue in this town in three areas 
and resolve the following:- 
 
1. We need to do further work to ensure maximum numbers of our citizens are 
registered to vote, particularly with full implementation of IER. 
 
2. In our next review of polling stations we must ensure equal access for voters 
without cars, those who need wheel chair access and those not able to walk very far. 
 
3. The methodology process of consultation of the polling station review needs to be 
approved by General Purposes Committee before it is carried out.  
 
We further urge the Administration to think about Democracy Week and how we can 
use that week to further the aims of democracy in our town” 
 

20th July 2015 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

Page 317



This Council notes that the EU Referendum Bill is currently working its way through 
the parliamentary process. 
This Council also notes that Northampton and the surrounding area have many 
businesses that operate across the European Union such as Carlsberg and 
Cosworth. 
 
This Council believes that it is time Northampton residents and the rest of the UK 
population had a vote on our European Union membership. 
This Council urges Northampton residents to vote in the forthcoming referendum and 
to ensure that they are as informed as possible about the choice they will be making 
when casting their ballot. 
 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

This Council notes that our contract with Enterprise Managed Services (EMS) comes 
to an end in 2018. 
 
Therefore this Council believes all options must be considered when this seven year 
period ends. 
 

Motion 3 

This Council notes that Northampton has taken much pride in its association with 
Walter Tull. Walter Tull was born in 1888 and was the only second player of mixed 
race to play in top division football. Walter Tull played for Northampton Town and 
appeared in 110 matches and scored many goals. 
In 1914 Walter Tull joined the British Army and fought in six major battles. He proved 
to be a brave soldier but was sadly killed in action in 1918. 
 
This Council passed a motion in December 2012 proposed by David Mackintosh, the 
then Leader of the Council, to support the campaign for Walter Tull to be 
posthumously awarded the Military Cross. 
 
This Council asks the Chief Executive to write to our three Members of Parliament 
stating this Council wishes them to continue with the campaign to have Walter Tull 
posthumously awarded the military cross”. 
 
21st September 2015 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 

This Council recognises that Northampton Borough Council has undergone 
fundamental change over the last few years, and that in order to provide confidence 
to the staff at all levels the senior leadership of the Council must work in close 
partnership with its employees and their representatives. Northampton Borough 
Council will only deliver excellent public services when staff, councillors and senior 
management work together. 
 

Page 318



So this Council believes that it is important to develop a reputation as a good 
employer and to build a relationship with staff and their representatives based on 
mutual trust. 
 
To this end the Council agrees the following:- 
 

1. To commit to undertaking a full and transparent review of the current culture 

at Northampton borough Council and work to develop a climate where people 

can excel and are trusted to deliver the range of services residents across the 

borough expect.  

2. That Trade Unions have a role to play in a democratic and accountable public 

authority”.  

Motion 3 (as amended) 

“This Council notes that Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) is a cultural practice that 
makes some young girls in our local communities very vulnerable.  It is often referred 
to as ‘cutting’ and is a form of child abuse. It happens to young girls in our county 
and in our town. 
 
This Council believes we can act together to stop it happening in our town.  
This Council will do the following:- 

 Continue to work with the Police and other agencies so that we understand 

the scale of the problem.  

 Ensure all relevant front line staff through training are aware of this issue and 

how to support victims.  

 Continue to work with groups such as the Women’s Forum and to support 

events such as International Women’s Day in order to raise awareness of 

these issues.  

 Acknowledge the work of the Scrutiny Panel into Interpersonal Violence, and 

the contribution to this work of groups such as the Women’s Forum, BME 

SRP, Northampton Women’s Aid  

 
This Council resolves to identify the groups that are campaigning against this 
practice in order to 

 Sign post vulnerable girls and their families to them  

 Support the campaigns by disseminating any appropriate literature  

 Ensure the relevant local campaign groups are aware they have the support 

of this Council”.  

Motion 4 

Page 319



“A Green Flag flying above a public open space recognises that the space meets the 
highest possible standards, is maintained beautifully and has excellent facilities. This 
Council welcomes with pride the award of Green Flag status to Abington Park and 
Delapre Park. 
This Council recognises the hard work of the staff, Friends groups and volunteers 
who have worked throughout the year to make these awards possible. 
This council recognises the wealth of green and open spaces that Northampton has 
to offer, is rightly proud of these spaces and commits to protecting them and 
maintaining them to a high standard”.  
 

2nd November 2015 (extraordinary meeting) 

Motion 1 

“This Council notes that Northampton Town Football Club owes this local authority 
£10.25 million and as yet has not repaid the debt. The club has missed three 
repayment deadlines and has been asked for the full amount to be repaid.  This has 
not been forthcoming. 
 
This Council further notes that HMRC has issued a winding up petition against 
Northampton Town Football Club for unpaid taxes. This case will be heard in the 
High Court in London on November 16th 2015. 
This Council resolves to, 
 

1.  Do whatever we can to help Northampton Town Football Club and the 
Supporters Trust. 
 

2.   Retrieve the £10.25 million of public money. 
 
3. Ask Audit committee to review our policies and procedures and make 

recommendations necessary for implementation in business arrangements of 
this nature. The Audit Committee would then present any recommendations to 
Full Council”. 

 

2nd November 2015 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

This Council notes that abandoned trollies can be a real nuisance in our 
communities. 
 
This Council resolves the following: 
 
- To note the success of the Trolleywise scheme, particularly their smartphone 

app. 
- Ask the Chief Executive to write to all local supermarkets to ensure they are part 

of the Trolleywise scheme 
- Ask the Cabinet member to consider how best the Trolleywise scheme can be 

promoted to the general public. 
 

Page 320



Motion 3 (as amended) 

This Council welcomes that Central Government has announced it is introducing a 
‘national living wage’ of £9 per hour by 2020 
 
This Council notes the government rate is based on median earnings while the 
Living Wage Foundation rate is calculated on the cost of living.  Therefore the Living 
Wage Foundation rate is at present higher, 
 
This Council resolves to: 

1) Continue to use the Living Wage Foundation rate in paying our staff 
2) Seek accreditation with the Living Wage Foundation. In order to be accredited 

we must pay all our directly employed staff the Living Wage and have a plan 
in place for contracted staff 

3) Support the introduction of Living Wage to all sub-contracted staff 
4) Use of influence as a major local employer and provider of services to urge 

other local employers to pay the Living Wage according to the Living Wage 
Foundation 

 

Motion 5 (as amended) 

The Changing Places campaign states that “People with profound and multiple 
learning disabilities, as well people with other physical disabilities such as spinal 
injuries, muscular dystrophy and multiple sclerosis often need extra facilities to allow 
them to use the toilets safely and comfortable 

 
And further, that Standard accessible toilets do not meet the needs of all people with 
a disability 

 
Council desires Northampton to be an inclusive town with a diverse and vibrant 
community, and notes that access to basic facilities are essential for this end. 
 
Council will encourage developments in which the Borough Council is directly 
involved to consider having “Changing Places” accessible toilets 
 

Motion 6 

“This Council recognises that St. Giles Street offers a unique shopping experience 
with many independent and niche market businesses that local residents are rightly 
proud of. 
 
St Giles Street is a vital part of Northampton town centre, and that is why this 
borough council is investing £3 million into improving the experience for visitors and 
businesses by widening pavements and installing additional parking bays. 
 
This council: 

 welcomes the achievement of St Giles Street in being shortlisted as a finalist 

in the 2015 Great British High Street competition;  

Page 321



 recognises the hard work of the traders and their co-operation with each other 

that helps make St. Giles Street the success that it is, and;  

 calls upon all Northampton residents and businesses to back the campaign to 

make St Giles Street the winner in the City Location category of the 2015 

Great British High Street competition”.  

Motion 7 

“This Council recognises that 78 Derngate is a tremendous asset to Northampton 
and that the volunteers and team behind it do a fantastic job.  
 
2016 is the 100th year of the refurbishment that Charles Renee Mackintosh carried 
out for W.J. Bassett Lowke. The Council re-affirms its commitment to 78 Derngate 
and to working to support plans for its 100th anniversary celebrations”.  
 

6th June 2016 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“This Council notes in April 2012 the Coalition Government increased the discounts 
available for council tenants who buy their home using Right To Buy. This 
Council notes it was also announced that receipts from RTB would be used to 
replace the housing stock. This Council believes that RTB has been beneficial to   
tenants.  We currently have plans to replace those lost under RTB. Since the 
announcement in March 2014 to build 100 new homes in Dallington we have lost at 
least 202 properties but plans are near completion to replace these in line with the 
Government requirement within 3 years. 
 

18th July 2016 

Motion 1 

“This Council recognises the excellent work that has been undertaken by our forums, 
inter-faith groups and partner organisations to help promote community cohesion 
within the Town. 

In particular Council recognises the excellent “Stamp Out Hate Crime” campaign 
previously undertaken by the Youth Forum and pledges to work with these groups to 
look at future campaigns which help promote community cohesion within the Town. 

This Council also notes the Prime Minister’s recent announcement of the work the 
Government is doing in this area and the extra funding that is being made available.  

This Council is committed to helping further this good work to ensure Northampton 
continues to be a diverse and tolerant town and one in which can be proud to live” 

Motion 4 

Page 322



“We are proud to live in a diverse and tolerant society. Racism, xenophobia and hate 
crimes have no place in our town.  We condemn racism, xenophobia and hate 
crimes unequivocally. We will not allow hate to become acceptable.   
 
Northampton Borough will work to ensure local bodies and programmes have 
support and resources needed to fight and prevent racism and xenophobia. We are 
a town of many of faiths. 
 
We reassure all people living in Northampton that they are valued members of our 
community and this will long continue.”  
 

19th September 2016 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

“This Council recognises the importance of a tidy neighbourhood. Excessive 
untidiness over a period of time in a neighbourhood reduces pride in the area and 
ultimately attracts litter and rubbish. 
  
This Council believes that tenants are responsible for keeping the gardens and 
landscaping tidy and free of rubbish. However, if issues are reported or raised during 
walkabouts, they will be forwarded and actioned. 
  
This Council will continue to challenge residents under the tenancy agreement as 
problems arise.”  
 
Motion 4 

“This Council has a great sympathy for the plight of refugees and notes the concerns 
of many local residents who may wish us to be a town that welcomes Syrian 
refugees fleeing civil war, extremism and brutality. Northampton could be a place of 
sanctuary.  Whilst we have many local organisations willing to offer assistance, NCC 
and NBC cannot provide all the support services needed to accommodate refugees 
in Northampton. 
 
This Council also recognises that there are genuine concerns from local residents 
over housing and school places. These need to be acknowledged and addressed, 
for example, we are in the process of setting up a facility for homeless people and 
are tackling pressures on housing. 
 
This Council will work with Northamptonshire County Council and other local 
organisations and review our capacity to deliver on a regular basis. In the meantime 
other areas within Northamptonshire will continue to provide places while they are 
able to accommodate the specific needs”.  
 

7th November 2016 

Motion 3 

Page 323



“This Council notes that loan sharks and aggressive pay day loan companies charge 
exorbitant interest rates. We note the difficulties this often poses to our 
disadvantaged communities who need to take out loans. 
 
We acknowledge the excellent work of the Credit Union in the One Stop Shop 
helping people who struggle to budget, save and get affordable loans. 
 
This Council agrees to work with Northamptonshire Credit Union to create locality 
access for residents who cannot afford to travel to the Guildhall. Everyone should be 
able to access this excellent scheme. 
 
This Council further agrees to promote the Credit Union in its literature when and 
wherever it is appropriate to do so”. 
 

12th December 2016 

Motion 3 

This Council notes that the Equality Act provides protections against discriminatory 
treatment based on the concept of 'Protected Characteristics.’ 
 
Currently workers with a terminal illness are not classified as having a Protected 
Characteristic and therefore have very limited legal protection against employers 
dismissing them due to illness. 
 
This Council further notes that employers are therefore free to dismiss terminally ill 
workers once they have made 'reasonable adjustments' to the employee's job to 
assist with the illness. Council agrees that the last thing a terminally ill worker would 
need is the distress at the same time as facing up to a terminal illness is to have to 
fight for the right to continue working and not to face the indignity of being sacked. 
 
In addition Council notes that the loss of death in service benefits to terminally ill 
workers sacked before death is a further distress at a time when security for a family 
for the future should be protected. 
 
Therefore this Council agrees to support the TUC's 'Dying to Work Campaign' 
currently being developed in the Midlands and to support the lobbying of MP's to 
establish new legislation, currently being drawn up by the society of Labour Lawyers 
which; 
 

* Seeks to get terminally ill workers covered by Protective Rights at Work in line 
with those covered by Pregnancy / Maternity Rights. 

* Seeks to protect death in service benefits. 
* Seeks to allow workers with terminal illness to die in dignity. 

 

Motion 4 

This Council recognizes the frustration of local residents, when pieces of play 
equipment are damaged and then removed as opposed to being repaired. Council 
therefore resolves to adopt a new policy that play equipment will be repaired and 

Page 324



replaced, as opposed to being removed when damaged and will formalize a budget 
for this as part of the 2017/18 budget setting process. 
 
Council also recognizes the valuable contribution that play equipment can make to 
local communities and resolves to continue its work with Parish Council's, Residents 
Association's and Friends of Parks Groups to continue to identify funding for 
potential new schemes to bring additional play equipment to our local areas. 
 

23rd January 2017 

Motion 1 

“This Council notes our current Environmental Services contract expires in 2018.  
 
This Council believes our re-provisioned service in 2018 should be based on three 
fundamental principles-  
 
1) Effectiveness and flexibility: the ability of an excellent service to adapt to changing 
needs and circumstances.  
 
2) A Highly Responsive Service:  deal constructively with complaints and 
suggestions from the general public such as promptly responding to fly tipping and 
graffiti.   
 
3) Partnership: Resident Associations, Park Groups, the University, Colleges and 
Parish Councils to be involved in the design of the service and to be encouraged to 
help manage the service according to their needs.  
 
This Council looks forward to the work being undertaken by the respective Scrutiny 
Group and asks them and the Cabinet to consider this motion.” 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“Northampton Borough Council remains committed to replacing the current two tier 
arrangements operating in Northamptonshire with Unitary Councils. 
  
This Council, however, rejects Northamptonshire County Council’s plan for a single 
county-wide local authority, believing that it is essential that local government 
remains local.  Making local government more remote would decrease accountability 
and public engagement. 
  
Additionally, it was noted that the Northamptonshire County Council’s draft budget 
states a plan to achieve unitary status for 2019/2020 to save £10 million per annum. 
This Council would like to make it clear that it is opposed to a County Council unitary 
authority. 
  
We strongly believe that the best solution for the town is a Northampton unitary 
authority with a limited expansion of the borough boundary to incorporate the 
Northampton Growth Area as defined in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy. 

Page 325



  
This Council will also ask our MPs to support us in this ambition.” 
 
Motion 5 
 
“Northampton Borough Council and its Community forums are delighted to work in 
partnership with many local diverse communities. We will continue to celebrate 
Diwali, Carnival, Chinese New Year and also remember Holocaust Memorial, 
Srebrenica Memorial, Black History Month, World Aids Day, International Women’s 
Day, International Men’s Day and challenge gender-phobia (International Day 
Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia)”. 
 
Motion 6 
 
“This Council welcomes the recent establishment of a Parish Council Forum within 
the Borough.  The Council recognises and supports the work of Parish Councils’ and 
what they do to support the community within their respective areas of the 
Borough.  This Council, therefore, resolves to work closely with the Parish Councils 
within the Borough, supporting them in their work for the benefit of their 
communities”. 
 
13th March 2017 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
“The public continue to express concern about the facilities provided for travellers 
using the Victoria Street Coach Terminus. 
  
This Council notes that the developer of the Greyfriars site has been fully informed 
about the need to provide a user friendly, convenient, modern coach facility and the 
Council will seek the provision of nothing less than what Northampton expects and 
deserves. 
   
The Council will carry out consultation with coach users and operators, taxi providers 
and the general public to ensure that coach facilities on offer in Northampton in the 
future are a credit to our town”. 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“Councillors from all parties have spoken recently about the crisis in social housing 
and there is a belief that we need to start building council houses again. 
  
With this in mind, a New Housing Board, which involves officers of both Northampton 
Borough Council (NBC) and Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH), is working on a 
number of projects and programmes to help increase the amount of new affordable 
housing within Northampton. 
  
NPH has progressed the regeneration of Little Cross Street with 34 units under 
construction. An application has also been submitted to build 45 flats for older people 
at Lakeview House. In the last two years the Council has acquired 15 buy-backs and 

Page 326



spot purchases and the Council is acquiring a further 6 properties on the same basis 
as part of a development by a social housing provider. 
  
Since 2011, the Administration has seen over 900 affordable homes completed. While 
some of the planned developments have had to be temporarily put on hold, the Council 
continues to work with DCLG on the possible use of Local Growth Fund borrowing to 
deliver further development of new homes over an extended period. 
  
This Council, therefore, recognises and understands the need for housing on 
Northampton and affirms its commitment to build more council houses”. 
 
Motion 3 
 
“This Council is extremely proud of the National Leather Collection (NLC) based in 
Northampton - the heart of the UK’s leather and footwear industry, and congratulates 
the NLC Trust on establishing their new home in The Grosvenor Centre. The 
Collection’s history, education and heritage is of a tremendous importance to our town, 
and we very much look forward to it becoming accessible to the public.  
 
This motion confirms this Council’s continued support for the NLC Trust in their work. 
Northampton Borough Council and Councillors will continue to work collaboratively 
with the Trust to ensure its ongoing short and long term success in town”. 
 
Motion 4 
 
“This Council notes that South Northamptonshire Council (SNC) has completed Part 
2A Issues and Options stages of its Local Plan, and is now preparing the Draft Plan 
for consultation. 
 
To address the 5 year housing land supply shortfall in the Northampton Related 
Development Area (NRDA), SNC has resolved to allocate a reserve development site 
in its Local Plan Part 2.  Two sites have been submitted to SNC’s Local Plan Call for 
Sites at the Issues and Options stages.  The two sites are: 

 East Wootton – About 1,200 houses  

 Land at South East Northampton – About 1,000 houses  
 
 
This Council strongly objects to any further development to the South and South East 
of Northampton due to the impact it will have on local services, the lack of road 
infrastructure improvements and the impact on the A45 and local road network without 
adequate mitigation.   
 
The Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits were approved as a Special Protection Area (SPA) 
in April 2011, due to the range of habitat and the varied topography of the lagoons 
providing valuable resting and feeding conditions for major concentrations of wintering 
water birds, especially ducks and waders.  The area was also designated a Ramsar 
site, as it regularly supports 20,000 or more water birds and regularly supports 1% of 
the bird individuals of Mute Swan and Gadwall.  Some species also spend time feeding 
and roosting on surrounding agricultural land outside the SPA. 
 

Page 327



 
Therefore, this Council also expresses concerns regarding the two sites being put 
forward for development as they have been identified as optimal and sub-optimal sites 
for Golden Plover and / or Lapwing activity. 
 
 
This motion calls for SNC to take fully into account the views of Natural England – a 
statutory committee – and other relevant wildlife organisations, in developing and 
preparing its Local Plan, especially with regard to sites in the NRDA”. 
 
Motion 6 (as amended) 
 
“The Northampton Borough Council (NBC) recognises the great importance of 
involving young people in current affairs in our town. We, therefore, have a very active 
and involved youth forum in Northampton and have been working with them on a large 
number of issues.  
 
Members supported Happy Day at the racecourse, gathering feedback specifically 
around mental health and well-being, which has been identified by the forum as a key 
priority for young people. They also provided support to the Guildhall with the Heritage 
Tours at capacity of 120 people, the opening event of the Hate Crime Week with more 
than 60 people attending and the Holocaust Memorial Event. The forum has been 
working on several ongoing projects, including the Oral history project encouraging 
the crucial intergenerational integration and Hate Crime work. 
Furthermore, the youth forum are holding international youth day on the 12th August 
and cake and debate for UK Parliament Week on 17th November. 
 
The NBC, therefore, believes that having a youth mayor would undermine the youth 
forum chair’s position. 
  
The Council, however, also recognises the calls for electing a youth representative to 
the UK Youth Parliament. 
  
The UK Youth parliament provides opportunities for 11-18 year olds to use their 
elected voice to bring about social change through meaningful representation and 
campaigning. 
 
The UK Youth Parliament, has chosen ‘votes for 16 and 17 year olds in all public 
elections and referenda’ as its national campaign for 2017. A ‘curriculum for life; was 
also chosen as the UK Youth Parliament’s priority campaign for England for a second 
time. 
  
In January a total of 276 Members of Youth Parliament aged 11-18 took part in the 
debates, the subjects for which were voted for by 978,216 young people across the 
UK. 
  
This Council confirms that it will work further with Northamptonshire County Council, 
who previously held the UK Youth Parliament seat, to explore the option of having 
Northampton represented in the Youth Parliament again”. 
 

Page 328



24th April 2017 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“Given the clear public interest expressed at the last council meeting regarding the 
Northgate Bus Station and the congestion caused in the Drapery this Council 
resolves to implement any recommendations from the current Scrutiny Review 
concerning Air Quality in this area of the Town Centre and receive any monitoring 
reports that Scrutiny considers should be reported. 
 
To reassure the public that this Council is taking the traffic congestion seriously this 
Council notes that the Administration is working with partners to address the abuse 
by motorists of the Traffic Regulation Orders applying to The Drapery, and are 
pursuing other measures to enable improved vehicle flows.” 
 
Motion 5 (as amended) 
 
“This Council believes it needs to be as open and as transparent to the public as 
much as possible. 
 
“This Council notes that Northamptonshire County Council does successful 
webcasting of its official meetings, including full Council and Cabinet. 
This Council resolves to introduce the webcasting of official Borough Council 
meetings, including Council, Cabinet, Committee and Scrutiny meetings that are 
open to the public, at the earliest opportunity”.  
 
19th June 2017 
 
Motion 1 
 
“This Council welcomes the 30th Anniversary of the Call Care Service which was set 
up in 1987. 
 
The Call Care system is operated 365 days a year and 24 hours a day and responds 
to hundreds of daily alarm calls from sheltered housing tenants.  It allows vulnerable 
people to live life independently but can obtain assistance when needed. 
 
This Council asks the Chief Executive to write to the Call Care staff to pass on our 
congratulations for their work and our acknowledgement of this important milestone.  
 
This Council hopes to see the Call Care System to be in place for another 30 years”.  
 
Motion 2 
 
“This Council notes Refugee Week on 19 - 25 June 2017.  
 
Refugee Week is a nationwide programme of arts, cultural and educational events 
that celebrate the contribution of refugees to the UK, and encourages a better 
understanding between communities. 
 

Page 329



This Council hopes refugee week is a great success across the UK. 
 
This Council asks the relevant Cabinet Member to look at how Northampton can play 
a part in refugee week next year”.  
 
10th July 2017 
 
Motion 1 
 
This council makes the following commitment to all tenants living in Council buildings 
To feel safe in their homes and have the right fire protections as provided by the Fire 
Service. 
 
In light of recent events, Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) have already 
instructed the installation of sprinklers in their only high-rise Council building, St 
Katherine’s Court. 
 
The Council will continue a review of the other 10 buildings in conjunction with the 
Fire Service and any further Government guidance. 
 
To ensure those in private buildings are also suitably protected, this Council resolves 
to undertake an urgent review of the planning policy with regard to residential 
developments and provisions for sprinkler systems in all new residential buildings of 
5 storeys or above. The Council will also review the possible need for two separate 
stair cases to exit tower blocks. NPH to be asked to provide tenants of tower blocks 
fire safety training”  
 
Motion 4 
 
“There are 5,000 people at any one time in the UK with Motor Neurone Disease 
(MND), it can affect any adult of any age and nearly 2,200 people die from this rare 
but fatal neurological disease each year. 
MND describes a group of diseases that affect the nerves (motor neurones) in the 
brain and spinal cord that tell your muscles what to do. With MND, messages from 
these nerves gradually stop reaching the muscles, leading them to weaken, stiffen 
and waste. 
Motor Neurone Disease is a devastating condition. Progress has been made through 
research but much more needs to be done.  
  
This motion, therefore, calls for this Council to adopt the MND Charter and thereby 
support achieving quality of life, dignity and respect for people with MND and their 
carers. 
  
The Charter: 

1) People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis and information. 
2) People with MND have the right to access quality care and treatments. 
3) People with MND have the right to be treated as individuals and with dignity 

and respect. 
4) People with MND have the right to maximise their quality of life. 

Page 330



5) Carers of people with MND have the right to be valued, respected, listened to 
and well supported.” 

 
Motion 5 
 
“This Council welcomes the development of plans for the Northern Orbital Road 
around Northampton, from the A43 at Moulton to the A4500 near Harpole.  We also 
welcome the consultation on the emerging plans. 
 
This Council confirms its support for the provision of this road for many reasons, not 
least to alleviate traffic congestion in the Kingsthorpe area, and wishes to see its 
construction as soon as possible. 
 
To provide the road at the earliest opportunity, while recognising that its provision is 
dependent on developer contributions, this Council requires that all further 
development sites, not currently included within the West Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy, but attributed to the growth of Northampton, are concentrated in the 
vicinity of the proposed road so that they can contribute to the delivery of this much 
needed infrastructure and secure its early delivery”. 
 
18th September 2017 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
“This council will mark the centenary of women gaining the right to vote by honouring 
Margaret Bondfield as the first ever Woman MP for Northampton. Afterwards she 
became the first female cabinet minister, and the first woman to be a privy counsellor 
in the UK, when she was appointed Minister of Labour. 
  
The women’s forum will be asked to consider a commemoration event in the 
Guildhall. 
  
The Council further commits to honouring Margaret Bondfield by commissioning a 
statue of her to be placed in the Courtyard of the Guildhall during the next financial 
year. 
  
This Council notes that 2018 is the centenary of the year in which women won the 
same voting rights as men. This gave propertied women aged 30 and over the right 
to vote for the very first time. Universal suffrage for both men and women followed 
10 years later.” 
 
Motion 2 
 
“This Council notes the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
made a recent speech to the Local Government Association where he recognised 
‘there is a serious shortage of decent affordable housing’ and went to talk about the 
stark inequalities in housing and said he was willing to listen to proposals from 
ambitions councils to try to address these issues. 
  

Page 331



In Northampton we have recognised for some time there is a desperate need for 
more social housing and have stated our aim to address this. We are an ambitious 
council and agree that members and officers will continue to work together to 
develop a proposal to finance and build new social housing locally. The proposal will 
be submitted to government for their support and approval.” 
 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
This Council notes that some parts of the town have increasing numbers of HIMOs. 
  
This Council further notes that in recent times it has introduced tougher restrictions 
with Article 4 directives in certain areas of town restricting the concentration of 
HIMOs to 15 per cent in a 50 metre radius. 
  
This Council believes it now needs to review the current policy, using evidence to 
assess the extent and impact of HIMOs in relation to their impact on existing 
localities and communities, including reviewing the concentration of Class C4 
(Houses In Multiple occupation), and mixed C3/C4 use or sui generis Houses in 
Multiple Occupation use (more than six people sharing) uses within the 50m radius. 
 
Motion 4 (as amended) 
 
“This Council recognises the burden of special expenses and how they impact on 
parished areas of Northampton and the residents thereof.  
 
In order to relieve the burden special expenses have on parish taxpayers, this 
Council is working closely with parishes to encourage them and afford them the 
opportunity to take on the freehold of premises and open spaces within their areas. 
This will lead to special expenses not being charged for transferred premises and 
land. 
 
We are also reviewing the designation of our parks and open spaces in order to 
ensure that in parish areas special expenses apply appropriately” 
 
Motion 6 (as amended) 
 
“This council believes that motions passed by a majority vote are important and that 
the public would expect them to be acted on. 

There should we believe be a report-back process on action taken and where 
appropriate results. 
 
To ensure that the proper process exists, it needs to be enshrined in the Constitution 
of this authority and Council resolves to address this as a part of a Constitution 
review in the very near future”. 

 
Motion 7 
 
This Council recognises the value of its parks and open spaces that are well used by 
residents and visitors. Therefore, it shares the community’s concern about illegal 

Page 332



encampments occupying our parks and open spaces as well as private areas across 
the Borough. 
 
Councillors and Officers have been in continual contact with local residents during 
the periods of many illegal encampments throughout this year, and have been 
extremely concerned by the reports of anti-social and threatening behaviour, as well 
as fly-tipping and damage to parkland around the encampments. 
 
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) subscribes to the Countywide Traveller Unit 
(CTU), a joint initiative between councils, and led by Northamptonshire County 
Council. NBC also delegates its powers under sections 77 and 78 of the Criminal 
Justice and Public Order Act 1994 to the CTU. For several years this has proven to 
be the most effective way of dealing with illegal encampments. We recognise that 
the legal process is lengthy and can cause a good deal of inconvenience and anxiety 
to the local residents. 
 
NBC seeks to achieve a balance between actively discouraging illegal encampments 
and maintaining access for residents, recognising that it is not possible to completely 
secure parks from those who are determined to set up illegal encampments without 
affecting residents’ rights of access to their local parks and open spaces. Bollards 
and posts can be an effective means of preventing unauthorised access to our parks 
and open spaces. The bollards are designed to prevent any motorised vehicles 
gaining access as they all have the potential to damage green spaces, and more 
importantly, put the people who use our parks at risk. Therefore, NBC has last month 
again started the installation of bollards and posts around our town’s green spaces. 
 
While most people respect the signage we have in place, installing bollards is one of 
the ways we can make sure that our parks can be maintained to a high standard for 
everyone to enjoy. 
 
This Council resolves to: 

 
1) Call on the police to make use of all powers at their disposal to remove as 
soon as possible any illegal encampments from our parks and open spaces, 
bearing in mind the legal duties placed on the council to assess the welfare 
needs of relevant groups 
 
2) Investigate further legal opportunities to prevent / deter illegal 
encampments; 
 
3) Continue to work closely with the CTU and the police to increase efficiency 
and identify ways of speeding up the eviction process whilst continuing to 
abide by all the legal requirements. 

 
Motion 8 
 
“The Keep Safe Scheme aims to support people with learning disabilities to keep 
safe and get help in an emergency when out and about in Northamptonshire. Keep 
Safe, together with Safe Places, works under the Safe Places Organisation, which 

Page 333



unites all the Safe Place (and Keep Safe) schemes by having all the information in 
one place so everyone can see it.  
 
Northampton Borough Council recognises the importance of the Keep Safe Scheme 
and will be training all new staff at the one stop shop during their induction. 
 
Northampton Borough Council aims to be a Keep Safe place, accessible to all”. 
 
6th November 2017 
 
Motion 3 
 
“This Council notes that Fixed Odd Betting Terminals (FOBT) are sometimes 
referred to the “crack cocaine of gambling”. 

This Council further notes that due to a relaxation in gambling regulations introduced 
by the Labour Government in 1999, FOBT gamblers are currently able to bet up to 
£100 per go on the machines, allowing players to make substantial losses very 
quickly.  People can place £100 every 20 seconds on FOBTs. 

Council welcomes the outcome of the current Government’s consultation on stake 
reduction and that it will be taking action to reduce maximum stakes on FOBT to 
between £50 and £2. 

This Council, therefore, asks the Chief Executive to write to our local MPs urging 
them to persuade the Government to reduce the stakes on FOBT to the lower end of 
the proposed spectrum, preferably £2.” 
 
Motion 4 
 
“This Council notes that at the last meeting a motion was passed calling for a review 
of our HMO policies. 
 
This Council asks the review to look at Oxford City Council as a case study and the 
benefits of adopting their approach. In Oxford the whole of the local authority area is 
covered by an Article 4 directive and  any proposal to create a new HMO, including 
the change of use of any dwelling to an HMO, will only be permitted where the 
proportion of properties within 100 metres of street length either side of the property 
does not exceed 20%. 
 
This Council looks forward to the review being completed in the near future.” 
 
Motion 5 
 
“This Council believes that hate crimes have no place in our country, whether based 
on race, religion, sexual orientation, age or disability. 
 
This Council condemns racism, xenophobia and hate crimes unequivocally. All 
Members of this Council are proud to live in a diverse and tolerant society. 

  
This Council will work to ensure that local bodies, organisations, and programmes 
have the support they need to fight and prevent racism and xenophobia and will 

Page 334



reassure all people living in this Borough that they are valued members of our 
community. 

 
This Council welcomes and acknowledges the UK Government’s announcement of 
December 11th 2016 that it will sign up to the internationally recognised International 
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) guidelines on antisemitism. 

This Council hereby resolves to: 

a) Adopt the definition of antisemitism as set out by the IHRA, and request that 
the Chief Executive ensure all relevant NBC codes of conduct are consistent 
with this; 
 

b) Work together as an entity to combat this pernicious form of racism.” 
 
11th December 2017 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
This Council notes the new contractor for Environmental Services will be announced 
in January 2018. A new contractor will take over the running of Environmental 
Services from June 2018. 
 
This Council believes that Residents, Resident Associations and Parish Councils 
understand best the environmental challenges in their area such as fly tipping hot 
spots and overgrown grass verges. They should be able to fully share their views 
with both the Contractor and Borough Council so that information can be acted on 
promptly and effectively. 
 
This Council therefore commits to positive and productive collaboration with 
Residents, Resident Associations and Parish Councils. Further to the new 
Contractor being chosen, the Cabinet will ask Overview and Scrutiny to determine 
the most effective process for the sharing of the views of members of the public and 
community groups with the Contractor and report back before June 2018.” 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 

This Council notes that the Greyfriars site remains undeveloped and notes that 
Cabinet agreed on 6th December 2017 to end the arrangement with the development 
partner in light of legal advice due to issues relating to the delivery of the housing 
elements of the scheme. 

Council welcomes the opportunity that the ending of the agreement provides, 
allowing further consideration to be given to the infrastructure requirements and 
leisure element of the development. 

Council also welcomes the work that has been going on to enable it to deliver large 
scale housing development through Northampton Partnership Homes and the 
Council’s own specialist delivery vehicle, about which a report will be presented to 
Cabinet in January 2018.  In light of this, Council also recognises and welcomes the 

Page 335



work that is now underway to deliver a mix of housing, including family and social 
housing, at an early stage on the Greyfriars site, along with a mix of other uses, such 
as retail, hotel, leisure, and coach facilities. 

This Council recognises that to develop the site, there is a need to work with the 
County Council to reconfigure the Highway infrastructure within the area to bring the 
site into the town centre and improve north south permeability through the site.  

This Council resolves to progress the delivery of a mix of housing alongside retail, 
hotel, leisure, and coach facilitates on the Greyfriars site, working with the County 
Council to improve highway infrastructure around and through the site.” 
 
22nd January 2018 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
“This council recognises the important role played by our Private Sector Housing 
Service which provides the following, 
 

 Licences houses in multiple occupation (HiMOs) 

 Enforces legislation tackling rogue landlords 

 Investigates suspected incidences of abuse whether from Landlords or 
tenants 

  
This Council notes that our town’s private rented sector is sometimes used to 
support criminal activity, including money laundering, sexual exploitation, human 
trafficking and modern slavery. Additionally, the profits that can be made from 
HiMOs, have encouraged criminal, rogue and irresponsible landlords to break the 
law.  In order to tackle these issues, our Private Sector Housing Service needs more 
resources. 
  
This council welcomes the fact that on 17th January 2018, the Administration took to 
Cabinet, and approved, a report that enables this Council to impose civil penalties of 
up to £30,000 per offence on law-breaking landlords.  A business case for utilising 
the penalty income collected to expand the Housing Enforcement team, initially by 
eight additional officers, and subject to due diligence and an updated business case, 
a further five officers, thirteen officers in total, was also approved and is welcomed 
by this Council. 
  
This Council recognises the demand for, and commits to, a robust, coordinated, 
intelligence-led response to breaches of legislation and complaints regarding it, and 
therefore calls on the Police and other agencies to do everything in their power to 
help support NBC”. 
 
12th March 2018 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“This council recognises that more can be done to encourage recycling. To this end, 
and working with our new Environmental Services Contractor, this Council resolves 

Page 336



to investigate and recommend innovative models for the recycling of cans and 
bottles that can be available in locations across the Borough.  In doing so this 
Council recognises that young people are encouraged to collect and recycle cans 
and bottles for a small remuneration. The model recommended should educate, 
entertain and encourage the process of recycling.” 
 
Motion 4 
 
“The administration has always been committed to enhancing and promoting the 
heritage of our town. 
  
Never was this more clearly demonstrated than with the opening of Delapre Abbey to 
the public next weekend for the first time in 900 years after a multi-million pound 
restoration programme. 
  
The Abbey takes its place as a jewel in the crown of our historic town, a fitting tribute 
to all those organisations and individuals who have supported the project. 
  
The administration has maintained its commitment as difficulties arose and were 
overcome, creating and working with the Delapre Abbey Preservation Trust to ensure 
that we have something to make us all proud. 
  
This Council congratulates and thanks everyone who has been involved, and wished 
the Trust and its volunteers every good wish for an exciting and successful future.” 
 
Motion 5 
 
“This Council recognises that our town has been let down by the current Environmental 
Services provider.  According to the biggest and most successful consultation that this 
Council has ever undertaken, a higher quality of cleanliness delivering cleaner streets 
and a cleaner environment, and quality grounds maintenance are top priorities for 
residents of our Borough. 
  
This Council is therefore delighted that our new contractor won the bid primarily due 
to the quality of service it was offering. This Council is making a significant additional 
investment in this contract and looks forward to working with Veolia to raise the 
standard of cleanliness and grounds maintenance right across Northampton – 
something that our town has long been crying out for. 
  
This Council also very much welcomes the new Enforcement Contract and the zero-
tolerance approach to littering and fly-tipping. We call on our enforcement provider to 
continue to strenuously enforce legislation with regard to littering and fly-tipping, 
especially through using fixed penalty notices for those people who litter our streets. 
  
With the help, hard work, and commitment of our community volunteers, this Council 
will continue to provide local communities with clean, well maintained and safe open 
spaces. Council therefore proudly commits to provide continued support to community 
groups, initiatives and projects, including Residents Associations, Parish Council’s, 
Summer Bloom, Green Flag and Friends of Parks Groups.” 
 

Page 337



23rd April 2018 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
“This Council notes the success of the night shelter in tackling rough sleeping in 
Northampton. 
We are aware that concerns remain with rough sleeping and hidden homelessness, 
and we are aware that women in this situation are particularly vulnerable.  
This Council therefore commits to: 

 Successfully implementing “TOGETHER we change lives”, the borough’s 10-point 

multi-agency strategy for ending the need for people to sleep rough in Northampton; 

 Exploring the options for establishing a permanent emergency nightshelter that has 

the capacity and facilities to provide men and women with shelter and support; 

 Persuading local groups and services to do everything they can to help and 

encourage people to engage with local services and accept the help that they need 

in order to come off the streets and rebuild their lives; 

 Considering the role that ‘Housing First’ can play in reducing rough sleeping in the 

borough; 

 Working with partners to establish the true extent of hidden homelessness in 

Northampton and the way in which people with protected characteristics, physical 

and mental disability, addiction, forensic history and immigration are affected by 

hidden homelessness; and 

 Ensuring that everyone who is homeless is provided with a personal housing plan, 

and that the homelessness service is a two-way process with service users fully 

consulted and involved with the provision of the services they use. 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

“There is national concern about keeping our communities safe and the concern is 
widespread in Northampton. We are seeing alarming rates of crime, with increases 
in violent crime, sexual crime, trafficking, vehicle thefts, burglary and drug related 
crime. We are particularly concerned that young children and young people are 
being exploited and sometimes also drawn into crime. We have a duty of care to our 
citizens and we must do all we can to keep them safe.  This Council will therefore 
take the following actions: 
 

- Continue to work with the Police to receive regular performance information 
from the Police that drives our activity, supports our multi-agency approach 
and enables this Council to have a good understanding of the crime and anti-
social behaviour issues in the town. 

 
- Actively contribute to and support the Community Safety Partnership, which 

includes the Police and Police Crime Commissioner’s Office, and the three –
year community safety strategy, including the following identified priorities:  

 Reduce Crime 

 Reduce ASB and Hate Crime 

 Support Vulnerable People 

Page 338



 Build Stronger and Resilient Communities 

 Safety in the Night-Time Economy 
  

The full strategy can be found at 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10006/ncsp-2017---2020 

 
 

- Support the Government and the Home Secretary in delivering the new 
Serious Violence Strategy, including improving policing and visible policing, to 
break the deadly cycle of violence that devastates the lives of individuals, 
families and communities. 

 

Motion 3 

Northampton Borough Council commits to the continued support of our local market 
and market traders. Consequently, this Council is proud that our market participates 
in the Love Your Local Market campaign organised by the National Association of 
British Market Authorities (NABMA). 
 
Love Your Local Market is an international initiative and the UK’s largest annual 
celebration to promote retail and wholesale markets across the country.  
 
This council congratulates the Northampton Town Centre BID, the Council in 
organising workshops, street entertainment and other activities. This Council is 
delighted to be able to contribute to celebrating our town’s history, innovation, 
experience, entrepreneurship, food and culture in a festival of market activities and 
events running from 17th to 31st May. We will publicise and encourage the public to 
support these events and our towns market offer. We commit to a longer term plan to 
develop the market square in consultation with the traders, retailers, the bid and the 
public”. 
 

Motion 4 

“Northampton Borough Council welcomes the Government’s Serious Violence 
Strategy launched this week by the Home Secretary, Amber Rudd. The strategy 
stresses the importance of early intervention to tackle the root causes of serious 
violence and steer young people away from crime in the first place, while ensuring 
the police continue to have the tools and support they need to tackle violent crime. 
 
This Council has recognised the great importance of engaging with our young people 
early to help prevent them from being drawn into crime. 
 
This motion, therefore, calls for support of this Council’s collaborative work with the 
Police, East Midlands Ambulance Service, Youth Offending Service, University and 
Free to Talk in developing a training and awareness package that will be offered to 
schools, during our school’s event in October, youth clubs and youth groups. The 
package will include a video, drama production and training, as well as educational 
awareness packs”. 
 

Page 339

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10006/ncsp-2017---2020


Motion 5 
 
“‘Cuckooing’ is where gangs travel to towns and befriend vulnerable people in order 
to take over their home and use it to deal drugs. 
 
Northampton Borough Council recognised the seriousness of this problem and has 
so far, through its Case Management Meetings for Cuckooing, arranged two training 
sessions for 40 frontline officers across NBC, Adult Social Care, Probation and the 
Police. Further two sessions have also been fully booked, which will train additional 
40 officers. 
 
This Council, working closely with the Police, calls on the public to help tackle the 
increasing problem of ‘cuckooing’ by looking for signs that their neighbours and 
friends are being abused. These can include the householder having new associates 
and increased visitors throughout the day and night, an increased number of 
vehicles outside the property including taxis or hire cars and bags of clothing or 
bedding around their property or other signs that people may be staying at the 
address. 
 
The support of the community is crucial for pursuing ‘cuckooing’ drug dealers and 
those who choose to engage themselves in the illegal supply of drugs and 
associated antisocial behaviour”. 
 
4th June 2018 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“The letter from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government regarding 
submission for unitary authorities stated that they wanted “locally led proposals for 
establishing unitary authorities across the county which will be right for communities 
and people they serve”. 
 
This Council acknowledges these requirements and will try and fulfil them on behalf 
of the residents in the Borough of Northampton.  It is essential that Residents 
participate in the formal, county-wide consultation, because this will ensure that their 
views are taken into account, and this council will encourage them to do that. 
 
To achieve this end the Council commits to undertake consultation with local 
residents to explain the changes that are being proposed and to seek resident’s 
views on the key issues and requirements of a new unitary council to serve 
Northampton residents 
 
This is the most important decision regarding local government reorganisation since 
1974 and all Councillor should make their best effort to help with the consultation so 
that the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Governments call for proposals is 
delivered”. 
 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

“Obesity in Childhood is a growing problem. There are many causes of obesity. One 
is an issue that can be addressed by planning conditions. 

Page 340



Tower Hamlets and other Local Authorities are leading the way by not allowing fast 
food outlets within a 400 metre radius of schools. Some authorities are additionally 
providing healthy food awards for local retailers to encourage healthier food choices. 
 
This council therefore commits to proposing, through the local plan process, a policy 
that there will be no new fast food outlets that fall within a 400 metre radius of 
schools.  
 
We will additionally consider creating a healthy food award for local retailers to 
encourage healthier food choices”. 
 

9th July 2018 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“Whatever the boundaries of the new Unitary Councils, for Northamptonshire, those 
councils will take on responsibility for the care of older people in our community, from 
2020. 
 
 A recent study estimated that 35% of inpatients in local hospitals were there simply 
waiting for suitable after care to be available (so called Bed Blocking). 
 
This council asks scrutiny, working with NCC scrutiny and partners, particularly 
health service partners, to carry out investigation into Adult Social Care facilities in 
the area to identify future demand patterns, in order that the new Unitary Council is 
able to better plan for the needs of older people in the future”. 
 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

“Our town is famous for the boot and shoe industry and for leather works. The 
Central Museum hosts our famous shoe collection and the town has in trust the 
National Leather Collection, currently located in the Grosvenor Centre.  
  
We note recent announcements of retail and other High Street closures and the 
Northampton Chronicle’s current Town Centre campaign. We know as a council that 
we need to support the regeneration of our town, increase footfall and to stimulate 
tourism. Leather goods manufacturers and our world renowned shoe makers can 
play a key role in this. 
  
This council therefore resolves to: 
  
Invite interest from shoe manufacturers and leather goods producers around the 
county and possibly beyond to be included in a retail shoe and leather goods outlet 
in Northampton Town Centre. This plan could see the development of one of the 
vacant sites in the middle of town become a show case for the sale of shoes and 
leather goods from our world class manufacturers. The vision being that the demand 
for our high quality shoes & leather goods, will contribute to making Northampton 
Town Centre an attraction for visitors into the town. This will aid regeneration and 
increase footfall. 
  

Page 341



To make this offer work and make it viable for the businesses concerned, this council 
will work with them and make whatever concessionary offers are within its gift for a 
defined period and play an active role in the delivery of what will be a mutual 
heritage and commercial concern. 
 
This council will seek to include the BID and the University of Northampton in playing 
an active role in this initiative”. 

 

Motion 3 (as amended) 

“There are four community libraries in the town that are under threat of closure. 
 
This council recognises the value of libraries as community hubs. This council, 
therefore, resolves to work with the friends of the libraries to facilitate the libraries 
remain open for community use.” 
 

Motion 4 (as amended) 

“This motion calls for the Council to continue to a commitment to support mental 
health awareness and support to the Government’s Prevention Concordat for Better 
Mental Health. 
The Concordat is intended to provide a focus for cross-sector action to deliver a 
tangible increase in the adoption of public mental health approaches across local 
authorities, the NHS, public, private and voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector organisations and others. 
  
This Council is proud to actively support the campaign to make Northampton a 
‘happy town’, including the launch of Northampton’s first ‘Happy Café’ in 
June.  ‘Happy Cafés’ are being set up by supporters of the Action for Happiness 
movement in local communities, as a friendly and welcoming place to meet others 
with a shared interest in promoting happiness and well-being. 
 
As well as the ‘Happy Café’ launch, there was also be a celebration of the 
publication of ‘50 Ways to Feel Happy’, a new illustrated children’s book which helps 
children build skills and develop healthy habits for their daily lives, promoting 
resilience, well-being, self-confidence and emotional stability. 
  
This motion calls on the Council to further promote a prevention-focused approach to 
improving the public’s mental health ,  including supporting community based 
initiatives, for example, community choirs and health walks, which makes a valuable 
contribution to achieving a fairer and more equitable society”.  
 

10th September 2018 

Motion 1 

This Council notes that graffiti is an unwelcome sight in most towns and cities across 
the country. A town is often judged by how it responds to graffiti, particularly that of a 

Page 342



racist or offensive nature. Council notes that there has previously been 
a robust informal policy and stance adopted regarding this, but now resolves to: 
 

a) Adopt a formal policy for the removal of graffiti in a quality manor, free of 
charge on private property where the appropriate permission has 
been provided in writing by the property owner; 

 
b) Prioritize and immediately tackle instances of racist or offensive graffiti; 
 
c) Continue the commitment to do all it can to remove graffiti in the town, including 

working closely with the police across the borough, Northampton Town Centre 
BID, Network Rail, and owners of other affected properties, to try and catch 
offenders; 

 
d) Relaunch the “name the tag” campaign and actively promote it within the Youth 

Forum and youth groups across the town; 
 
e) Urge people to report offenders and the location of graffiti on both public and 

private property when they see it, so it can be removed. 
 

Motion 5 

“This Council recognises the concerns of residents and Parish Councils in areas 
where management companies are responsible for open space and other amenities. 
Council resolves to support residents and Parish Councils in resolving their 
concerns. 
 
This Council also resolves to make it clear that, it too, has significant concerns 
regarding the establishment of management companies to manage open space and 
other facilities on new housing developments in the borough of Northampton, rather 
than them being formally adopted. 
 
While resisting management companies, this Council will encourage developers to 
consider all the alternatives available for managing the facilities on new 
developments in the borough and Northampton growth area, including seeking for 
developments to be adopted with sufficient resources to ensure that the 
maintenance of these pieces of land is fully funded”. 
 

Motion 6 

“This Council notes the Government’s aims in encouraging a modal shift of freight from 
road to rail, which is a key aspect of its transport policy, and recognise that with 
effective implementation this modal shift can result in a reduction of carbon emissions, 
shorter and more efficient journeys, and fewer road casualties. 
 
This Council further notes that the delivery of a national network of Strategic Rail 
Freight Interchanges (SRFIs) forms a key part of recognising this aim, and the criteria 
for these are set out in the National Policy Statement for National Networks (NPSNN) 
and the Strategic Rail Freight Interchange Policy Guidance documents. 
 

Page 343



This Council also notes that the NPSNN is clear that there is a need for an expanded 
network of large SRFIs across the regions to accommodate the long-term growth in 
rail freight, and that new rail freight interchanges, especially in areas poorly served by 
such facilities at present, are likely to attract substantial business, generally new to 
rail. However, the NPSNN also states that existing operational SRFIs and other 
intermodal RFIs are situated predominantly in the Midlands and the North, and that 
SRFI capacity needs to be provided at a wide range of locations, to provide the 
flexibility needed to match the changing demands of the market. 
 
This Council believes that, as there is already around 39m sq. ft of SRFI-related 
warehousing either under construction or being proposed in the East Midlands alone, 
not including the existing SRFI warehousing capacity already present nor other SRFIs 
in the wider Midlands region, it is unclear whether the proposed local developments, 
Rail Central and Northampton Gateway, are compliant with the NPSNN. 
 
This Council, therefore, resolves to write to the Secretary of State for Transport to ask 
for an urgent review of the NPSNN, and all other associated policy guidance, to ensure 
that SRFI capacity is deployed as a national network across the country, rather than 
being built in areas where developers have pre-existing land options”. 
 

5th November 2018 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“The Council recognises that in 18 months’ time that responsibility for the 
regeneration of Northampton Town Centre will pass to the newly formed Unitary 
Authority. 

The Council also recognises that delays implementing regeneration projects in 
Northampton may occur if the new authority does not have a clear understanding of 
the stakeholders’ vision for Northampton. 

Building on the good work of the Business Improvement District and its recent 
consultation, as well as the work of others, this council agrees to set up a cross party 
working group, working with a wide range of stakeholders and interested parties to 
produce a “Peoples Plan for Northampton” to enable the new Unitary Council 
to prioritise projects in its first year. This Council requests that the working group 
produces its report by September 2019”. 

 

Motion 2 

“The council notes that in spite of the fact that two firms of consultants have been 
appointed to produce a development scheme without success, the site of the 
former Greyfriars Bus Station has stood empty since March 2015 and adds to the 
sense of decline in Northampton Town Centre. 

The council notes the appointment of a new consultant to produce a development 
scheme and calls on the administration to ask this consultant to draw up options for 
the site to be brought into a temporary use as a matter of urgency for the publics 
benefit.  While accepting that this is an interim measure pending the long-term 
development of the Greyfriars site, whatever happens in the short term must not be 
to the detriment of a long term permanent development”. 

Page 344



Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
The technological advancements of recent decades have much in common with the 
effects of the Industrial Revolution in the latter part of the 18th century. Specifically, 
both movements accelerated the displacement of workers by machines that could 
perform tasks faster, more accurately and 24/7. While technology enables business 
owners to reduce overhead by downsizing their workforce, individuals whose skill 
sets are now obsolete have limited options for employment if their current jobs are 
eliminated. 

Given that Northampton has a large proportion of warehousing and transport as its 
employment base, both of which face the introduction of new technology and 
automation in the near and medium future, this equates to at least 37% of workers in 
fear of their job. 

Working in partnership with other appropriate bodies such as local colleges, the 
University of Northampton, and relevant industry training bodies and organisations, 
the council will start to prepare and identify the finances to allow for upskilling of 
workers. The partnership will assist with; 
  

 Training through employers and other agencies  

 Planning for the future to deal with the implications of new technology as it is 
introduced.  

 Organising a Symposium on the future of employment and the local economy 
with the university and employers.  

 

Motion 4 (as amended) 

We note with concern the effects of holding commercial events on our town parks 
resulting in damage to the grass and terrain.  The damage to the parkland is taking 
months to repair and meanwhile our residents are not able to enjoy the full use of 
these public open spaces. 

This Council resolves to introduce a legally binding contract with commercial hirers, 
including fairs, to ensure the full restoration of the site and land impacted upon by 
the event, at the expense of the hirer, requiring a deposit to cover the likely cost of 
this work should it be deemed necessary. 

Council also resolves to liaise through Park Management Committee’s regarding 
events in individual parks. As we move towards Unitary status parishes may wish to 
take on the responsibility of their parks and these issues need to be regularised. 
 

Motion 5 

Northampton Borough Council resolves to join with the Government in signing up to 
the internationally recognised International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance 
guidelines on antisemitism which define antisemitism thus: 
  
“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred 
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed 

Page 345



toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, towards Jewish 
Community institutions and religious facilities.” 
  
This Council resolves to: 

1) Acknowledge the importance of tackling anti-Semitism in all its forms, to 
support the growing Jewish community in our town and across the county. 

2) Restate its condemnation of all forms of racism in all its manifestations 
3) Adopt the IHRA definition of antisemitism as the working model for 

challenging and confronting incidents of this form of racism. 
4) Asks the Executive to look to adopt similarly agreed definitions to confront 

and challenge all forms of racism and discrimination that exist within our 
society. 

 

Motion 6 (as amended) 

There is an increasing number of reports received by Northampton Borough Council 
(NBC) regarding abandoned shopping trolleys. These are often abandoned in roads, 
on walkways and in parks, where they have the potential to cause accidents and are 
an eye sore within the community. 
Although many of local supermarkets try to take effective action to prevent the 
abandonment of shopping trolleys, it is too often the case that they do not act quickly 
enough on reports received.  

  
This Council, therefore, resolves to investigate whether it ought to use legal powers 
available to it to more effectively tackle the problem by charging supermarkets a fee 
for each trolley collected by NBC. This set charge would be solely to recover the cost 
of collecting a shopping trolley that is found by an NBC authorised officer on ‘any 
land in the open air’ (including watercourses), and that appears to them to be 
abandoned. The Council would have to comply with certain statutory procedures in 
order to set up such a scheme, including a requirement to consult with supermarkets 
and other shops which offer the use of shopping trolleys to the public. This Council 
notes that officers will commence the necessary preparatory work with a view to 
preparing a report for the Executive so that it may make a decision as to whether or 
not to introduce such a charge throughout the entire Borough and, if so, what 
amount that charge should be set at. 
  
Abandoned trollies are a real nuisance and NBC is hoping that if such a scheme is 
created, rather than paying fees, supermarkets will take more responsibility for 
collecting their trolleys and, consequently, help reduce the number of such incidents. 
 

Motion 7 (as amended) 

“There has been a growing understanding of the positive impact that taking part in 
the arts can have on health and wellbeing. By supplementing medicine and care, the 
arts can improve the health of people who experience mental or physical health 
problems. The arts can improve healthcare environments and benefit staff retention 
and professional development. 
 

Page 346



There are many case studies and a wealth of evidence in Creative Health report, 
conducted by the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, to support three key 
messages: 

 The arts can help keep us well, aid in our recovery and support longer lives 
better lived. 
 

 The arts can help meet major challenges facing health and social care: 
ageing, long-term conditions, loneliness and mental health. 
 

 The arts can help save money in the health service and social care.  
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) expresses its strong support for the report’s 
ten recommendations to increase awareness of how engaging in the arts can bring 
benefits to health and wellbeing.  
This Council notes the recommendation 3 of the report, which encourages all local 
authorities to designate an individual to take cross-sector responsibility for arts, 
health and wellbeing. 
 

10th December 2018 

Motion 3 

“Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse Service (formerly women’s aid) do valuable 
work to support victims of domestic abuse. They currently run 5 refuges with 21 
beds, which will not be funded from April 2019. Partner organisation Eve is at risk of 
losing 13 beds. NDAS have launched a fundraising campaign to raise £100k by 
March to keep the refuges open for 12 months. Losing these refuges will mean that 
the responsibility of helping these victims out of abusive homes will fall onto NBC.  
 
We therefore call upon this council to not only recognise NDAS for the service they 
have been providing to domestic abuse victims but to give some much needed 
financial assistance”. 
 

Motion 4 

“This Council recognises the value of openness and transparency in communicating 
with the public about air quality and the steps that it is making to monitor and to 
reduce air pollution. 

 
This Council notes that other authorities, such as Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
District Council, make effective use of corporate websites to share information about 
air quality monitoring in an accessible way, including regular monthly publication of 
raw data from air quality monitoring tubes. 

 
Northampton Borough Council resolves to review the accessibility, frequency of 
update and timeliness of the air quality data and activity published on its own website 
in order to match the openness and transparency achieved by other local authorities. 

 
This Council also notes that it is important that members of the public understand 
that the raw data can only be properly analysed and trends assessed after a 12 

Page 347



month period to take account of any seasonality or specific in-month events that 
might skew the data such as road traffic closure. 
 
Council also notes that this is a highly complex and technical area of work and 
resolves to work openly with all those with appropriate expertise in this area. 
 

14th January 2019 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“Northampton Borough council is committed to being the best employer we can be 
and to set the standard for other local employers. 
 
It can be hard to balance the demands of modern life and needs of family with those 
of an employer but it’s in everyone’s interests to get the balance right, and 
Northampton residents deserve to be served by council staff that feel valued and 
engaged with their work, and therefore provide the best service they can. 
 
We therefore continually refresh our employment procedures, and these include the 
existing policies that the council has on Parental Leave and Paternity Leave, and our 
Career Break Policy that is currently supporting staff including one employee who’s 
long-term serious illness would otherwise have meant them having reduced pay, but 
who is still receiving full pay consistent with our commitment to the TUC ‘Dying to 
Work’ charter. 
 
The council also operates family-friendly working, which (whilst never losing sight of 
the service to be provided to residents) not only allows parental leave and flexible 
working arrangements, but flexible working, part-time, job sharing, working school 
hours, and staggering time. 
 
Working from home is part of modern work patterns, and this is allowed, with a 
review currently under way to ensure that this, and flexible working, is clearly 
defined.” 
As an employer we are keen to help staff find the right work/life balance because we 
want them to be productive and focused on work, getting the best possible outcome 
for our service users, and council reaffirms its commitment to this.” 
 

Motion 3 (as amended) 

“This Council recognises the importance of retaining good members of staff over the 
next 15 months to ensure that skilled staff are available to transfer to a new Unitary 
authority to continue to provide good local government services to the residents of 
Northampton. 

The Council has HR policies and procedures in place, which of course need to be 
understood and adhered to, in order to achieve the goal of retaining good members 
of staff. 

The Council recognises that there will always be staff who choose to move on, but 
during the past 18 months, in order to make NBC an attractive place for good staff to 
work, has: 

Page 348



 Reduced the standard work hours from 40 to 37, to be competitive with other 

employers, with part-time staff reducing their by the same percentage if they 

chose to. 

 Removed the no pay for the first day of sickness 

 Improved various HR policies 

 Used the discretions policy on sick pay to honour commitments under the 

TUC ‘Dying to work’ charter 

 Anticipates a likely 2% pay award for 2019/20 

 Enhanced staff discounts and benefits arrangements 

 Maximised the use of apprenticeships and the apprenticeship levy 

 Transferred a significant proportion of the interim contract staff to more 

permanent types of fixed contract arrangements 

 Recruited a Learning and Development Manager to support personal 

development 

 Brought the HR service back in-house to be closer to the employees that it 

supports 

Council thanks its hard working staff for their dedication to supporting the town and 
serving its residents, and reaffirms its commitment to ensure that NBC is an attractive 
place for good staff to work.” 
 

Motion 4 

“Northampton has a strong and proud history of manufacturing, including its boot and 
shoe trade and heavy to medium engineering. 

 

Despite the demise of such important companies such as British Timken, Express 
lifts, Northampton Machinery Co, RHP Bearings and Plessy, we do still have centres 
of excellence with Cosworth, AMG Powertrain, Churches shoes, Trickers and many 
others.   

  
This Council is already very pleased to buy products and services from many local 
companies, and as part of continually seeking to get best value for the local 
taxpayer, is keen to work with more local companies and employers. 

  
There are now two national campaigns to promote manufacturing, the GMB Union 
“Making it” and “The Made in Britain” which is run for manufacturers. 

  
This Council therefore recognises both of these campaigns, and agrees to promote 
their membership to local companies, along with continuing to encourage potential 
manufacturers to site within the town. The Council will, wherever possible and cost 
effective, use local suppliers to support the local economy.” 
 

Motion 5 (as amended) 

“The Council is undertaking a Community Governance Review with the intention of 
establishing two tiers of local government across Northampton when the new unitary 
arrangements come into force. 
 

Page 349



This will constitute a major change to the way that services are delivered to local 
communities and the level of council tax that households are expected to pay in the 
currently unparished areas of the Borough. 
 
This Council therefore expects that in any literature provided to the public, setting out 
proposed new Parish / Town Council arrangements, will detail the options for service 
delivery by the new councils and give an indication as to the initial precept / council 
tax that will be levied, while recognising that going forward this will be a matter for 
the elected members of the new councils.” 
 

Motion 6 

“The Disability Confident scheme, run by the national government, promotes a 
disability-inclusive culture among employers across the UK. 

The scheme helps employers: 
  

 draw from the widest possible pool of talent 

 secure high quality staff who are skilled, loyal and hard working 

 improve employee morale and commitment by demonstrating that all 
employees are treated fairly 
  

Disability Confident employers are changing behaviour and cultures within 
their organisations, networks and communities. Northampton Borough Council is 
serious about equal opportunities and proud of its proven track record of being an 
Equal Opportunity employer and, as such, it already carries out numerous actions 
to make a difference for disabled people. Nevertheless, we are aware this is only a 
part of a much broader journey. 

  
Therefore, this motion calls on the Council to commit to signing up as Disability 
Confident Committed and taking the necessary steps to become a Disability Confident 
Employer, playing an active role in changing attitudes for the better. 

  
Under the Disability Confident scheme, this Council will further commit to carry on 
learning and strengthening the networks it will need to continue to improve its offer to 
existing and future disabled employees.” 
 

11th March 2019 

Motion 1 (as amended) 

“This Council believes that to maintain a connection between communities in 
Northampton and a remoter Unitary Council that the new body needs to embrace 
Neighbourhood working supported by delegated budgets. 
 
The Council calls on NBC representatives on the Shadow Authority to promote the 
concept of Neighbourhood working to enable residents and local stakeholders to work 
with service providers and drive improvements in their local area.” 
 

Motion 3 

Page 350



“In preparation for the transition to Unitary we call upon NBC to produce a Sports 
Strategy for the people of Northampton that draws on the Sports Strategy for West 
Northamptonshire of 2009. 
 
The purpose of this strategy, as well as reviewing current facilities, would be to identify 
gaps, reflect current user preferences and requirements. 
 
Only by doing this can we protect the assets in Northampton for the people of the 
town.” 
 

Motion 4 (as amended) 

“In September 2018 this Council expressed its concern about the number of housing 
developments that were failing to deliver open spaces and other amenities to adoption 
standards and transfer them to the relevant local authority but instead were 
establishing management companies to manage and maintain them with no 
democratic oversight or accountability. 
 
In order to protect residents from uncontrolled charges and poor levels of service this 
Council would like to see all open spaces and other amenities provided by developers 
built to the standard required by local authorities for adoption, and calls upon Planning 
Officers to do all that they can to achieve this in their negotiations with developers. 
 
This Council wishes to make it clear that it will aim for open space land on new 
residential developments to be transferred into the Council’s ownership. 
 
Furthermore, this Council also calls on other public bodies, when offering their land for 
sale for potential residential development to make it a condition of sale that the relevant 
public body retains ownership of the open space within the proposed development. 
 
Additionally, this Council will fully research the problems and issues that residents, 
Residents Associations, and Parish Councils have with management companies in 
Northampton and resolves to write to the Secretary of State expressing them as well 
as the views of the Council.  Furthermore, this Council will work with the Local 
Government Association to lobby the Government for legislation to address the issue 
of Management Companies with a view to protecting residents from unreasonable 
maintenance charges, giving them the right to challenge such charges, as well as 
providing communities, including Town and Parish Councils, the opportunity to take 
on the role and responsibilities of the management companies.” 
 

3rd June 2019 

Motion 2 (as amended) 

“This Council recognises the strength of public opinion recently expressed in London 
and Northampton to address the issue of climate change and the need to address 
carbon reduction to protect the health and wellbeing of future generations.  The council 
also notes that the UK parliament has declared a Climate Emergency. 
  

Page 351



The Council therefore declares “a Climate Emergency” in Northampton and commits 
to a target of making Northampton carbon neutral by 2030. 
  
The Council requests a report to the Council at the beginning of 2020 setting out the 
action that has been taken in respect to this motion and detailing how progressing this 
objective has been communicated to and integrated within the start up plans of the 
West Northamptonshire Unitary Council.” 
 

Motion 3 

“All parties within this council acknowledge the urgency of dealing with climate change. 
We need cross party agreement to develop strategies for a greener, more sustainable 
society in Northampton. A green revolution is required. 
  
Working with partners we will seek to implement the following actions, which we 
strongly believe will benefit Northampton in leading an eco-friendly Britain: 
  

 A ban on single-use plastics within school environments. Schools across 
Northampton produce a huge amount of plastic waste each week 

 Northampton schools would benefit from educating their students on eco issues 
through school schemes, where programs could be set up in order to teach 
students how to stay green in lessons, such as Personal, Social, Health and 
Economic education or by holding educational assemblies with influential 
speakers. 

 

 To help further reduce the damaging effects of plastic littering, the council 
should support and work closely with schemes operated by companies 
like TerraCycle who turn many unrecyclable plastics (such as crisp packets and 
wrappers) into outdoor furniture. 

 To explore with Local businesses and partners options for an eco-rewards 
scheme that would allow individuals and groups to gain something back from 
recycling. 

 Northampton Borough Council to commit to reducing carbon emissions, both 
as an organisation and as the local planning authority and resolve to go further 
than the UK100 Agreement. To act in line with the scientific consensus that we 
must reduce emissions to net-zero carbon by 2030, thus use the planning 
process to encourage developers to consider low carbon developments. 

Joining many councils who have already done the same, NBC declares “a Climate 
Emergency” in Northampton and commits to a target, in line with the above actions, of 
making Northampton carbon neutral by 2030. 
  
The Council requests a production of a baseline report to be submitted to the council 
in the beginning of 2020 setting out the action that has been taken in respect to this 
motion. This Council also resolves to work with other local authorities ahead of Unitary 
to use the baseline report as the basis on which to develop an action plan which could 
be adopted by the new Council.” 

Page 352



17th June 2019 
 
Motion 4 

“This Council recognises the contribution made to the town by the voluntary sector.  
They will bring local intelligence, energy, commitment and resources to our localities. 
 
We therefore agree: 

 To include the voluntary sector in our forward plans; 

 To ensure robust partnerships are in place as we go into the new Unitary 
Authority; 

 To work with Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire to provide the Northampton 
voluntary sector with sound funding and business advice; and  

 To work with VIN and CVS to develop back room services for the voluntary 
sector.” 

 

22nd July 2019 

Motion 1 

“This Council recognises that the rapid growth of Hybrid and Electric vehicles.  
  
Council welcomes the recent news that it has been awarded a grant to put 2x new 
Rapid Charging Points in its Town Centre car parks to add to the network of points we 
already have in the Borough. 
  
Council also recognizes the contribution of the private sector in ensuring that 
Northampton already has a substantially larger network of point’s available compared 
to similar towns nearby. Council welcomes the work of companies such as Nationwide 
in providing an extensive network of points in the town for its employees and welcomes 
a recent announcement by BP that it intends to deploy publically available charging 
points at many of its forecourt sites. 
  
Council agrees to work with companies seeking to deploy such technology and to work 
with Northamptonshire County Council as the Highways Authority to aim to increase 
the amount of Rapid Charging Points available to the general public in Northampton.”  
 

Motion 3 (as amended) 

“At the council meeting on the 3rd June there was unanimous cross party support for 
action to be taken to address the “climate emergency”. Making Northampton carbon 
neutral by 2030 must be accompanied by conserving and enhancing biodiversity 
across Northampton and managing its green Infrastructure.  
 
This council adopted a Biodiversity Supplementary Planning document in May 2015 
and this will influence new developments but will not affect the general conservation 
and enhancement of the existing environmental infrastructure that is vital to reducing 
Northampton’s carbon footprint.  
 

Page 353



In August 2011 under the Conservative and Liberal Democrat coalition government 
the Department for Environment and Rural Affairs issued a report entitled: - 
BIODIVERSITY 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services. The 
mission for this strategy was to halt overall biodiversity loss, support healthy well-
functioning ecosystems and establish coherent ecological networks, with more and 
better places for nature for the benefit of wildlife and people.  
 
The council requests that, and following on from the cross party meeting on 18th 
June 2019, a report be presented to the Council meeting in September setting out 
how this council has responded to the Biodiversity 2020 challenge and highlighting 
the areas that still need to be addressed that needed to be considered in the 
preparation of the 2020/21 budget. 

 

Motion 4 (as amended) 

“Air Quality Policy 2 of The Northampton Low Emissions Strategy states: 
“We will aim to reduce the vehicle emissions that have a harmful effect on air quality, 
by increasing the attractiveness of low polluting alternatives to the private car and 
encouraging modal shift.” 
 
Air Quality Policy no 6 states: 
“We will work with operators and Government to seek the introduction of buses 
fuelled by alternative fuel sources in Northamptonshire.” 
 
Other Local Authorities with similar policies have imposed target dates to ensure the 
introduction of alternative fuelled buses in their areas. Northampton does not have 
such a target and as a result we are getting older more polluting vehicles that other 
areas have banned. 
 
We therefore call on NBC to work with public transport operators, Northamptonshire 
County Council and Michael Ellis MP, (Minister of State, Department of Transport, ) 
to take urgent action to :- 
 
1: Ban all diesel buses that do not meet EURO 5 Emissions standards or higher, 
from scheduled bus and coach services, in Northampton by 1st April 2023. 
 
2: To ensure that buses and coaches that do not meet EURO 6 standards are 
withdrawn from scheduled service routes by 1st April 2025. 
 
3: Produce a public transport plan for the Northampton Travel to Work Area that will 
enable the councils and successor authorities to secure funding for a Low and Ultra-
Low Emissions Public Transport Infrastructures. With the aim of getting rid of diesel-
powered buses from Northampton and the county by 1st January 2030. 
 
4: To campaign to stop cars and buses idling, enforcing this with fixed penalties 
under the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) (Fixed Penalty) Regulations 2002 
 
5: To establish car free zones around schools wherever possible. 
 

Page 354



Motion 5 
 
“The council is currently consulting on Part 2 of the Local Plan with the view of 
submitting the draft for public inspection in 2020. 
 
The draft plan has introduced a more detailed categorisation of open space 
which differentiates between Parks and Gardens and Amenity Green Space. 
  
Many well-known parks have been categorised as Amenity Green Spaces (AGS) 
which is defined as Informal recreation and green spaces in and around housing, 
with a primary purpose of providing opportunities for informal activities close to home 
or work. 
  
The council is concerned that the public would not recognise their local park as 
complying with this definition and requests that consideration is given to all open 
spaces, with play equipment supplied and maintained by this council, be classified 
as Parks and Gardens and not as Amenity Green Spaces. 
 
Motion 6 
 
This Council recognises that poverty, as an issue in the county, has a major impact 
on the life chances of our citizens. We have 18,000 plus children living in poverty. 
We are seeing an increasing number of our elderly, vulnerable residents living in 
poverty.  
We will therefore, working with partners and services, develop an anti-poverty 
strategy that will: 

 seek to prevent people and families becoming poor; 

 support people and families with appropriate measures when they are poor, 

and; 

 support people to maximise their income to get them, and the following 

generation, out of poverty.  

This strategy will be offered to the new Unitary Authority as a working document.” 
 
Anya Willis addressed Council speaking on behalf of Restore Northampton.  She 
indicated that poverty in the town was a very real problem with people using food 
banks and being employed on zero hours contracts.  Families were having to choose 
between having a roof over their heads, food on the table and getting the essentials 
for their new baby.  The Council needed to recognise the issues in the town and work 
collaboratively with these third sector agencies. 
 
An alteration to the amendment was submitted by Councillor Birch to replace the last 
line of the motion with the following ‘We commit to setting up a six member cross 
party working group by the end of November 2019, to develop a strategy and this will 
be brought back to full Council. 
 
16th September 2019 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 

Page 355



“We are concerned that the borough council, local organisations and residents are, 
generally speaking, using non-renewable energy suppliers, incurring high bills, and 
using up precious resources. 
  
We agree that a Big Switch to a green energy company would be much better for the 
environment and help reduce bills. 
  
Noting that the value of a new contract to provide energy to this Council will be in 
excess of £0.5M per annum, Council notes that this will require a full procurement 
exercise to be undertaken, and that such an exercise will take up to 18 months, by 
which time the Council will no longer exist.  Northampton Borough Council therefore 
resolves to propose to the future Unitary Council that it makes the big switch to a green 
energy company, lead from the front and show its commitment to renewable future. 
 
While this Council can only operate within its own scope of control and influence, it 
resolves that as a key place leader, it commits to searching for best ways to encourage 
and work with local organisations, residents and businesses across the borough to 
see how they can make a difference to the environment through all relevant 
technologies, including options to switch to green energy companies. Therefore, this 
Council resolves to ask the Air Quality and Management Change Working Group to 
pursue this.” 
 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
“Council notes the excellent work of the "Save our Street Trees" Group in Far Cotton 
and the work they have done in bringing both NBC and NCC together with the 
Woodland Trust to look at a trial project for re-instating street trees in Northampton. 
  
Council notes the work of the former Mayor of London Boris Johnson in re-instating 
20,000 of street trees to our Capital during his time as the Mayor and the benefit that 
can give to the wider environment and efforts to combat climate change. He also 
delivered his pledge to create 100 rejuvenated spaces as part of his pocket parks 
programme in 26 London boroughs, with more than 25 hectares of community land 
across the capital having been converted into new enhanced green areas. 
  
Northampton Borough Council calls for a transformation of underused urban spaces 
across our town. Trees deliver huge benefits such as cleaning the air and storing 
carbon. To ensure future generations receive these benefits and Northampton grows 
sustainably, we all need to protect existing trees and plant new trees. 
 
This council agrees to: 
 

1. Develop a tree planting strategy that will replace the number of trees that are 
being felled or have died. 
 

2. To increase the number of trees in the town to create a cleaner greener 
Northampton” 

 
Motion 4 (as amended) 
 

Page 356



“This Council discussed “Declare a Climate Emergency” at its meeting on the 3rd June 
2019. 
 
Over the August Bank Holiday weekend DEFRA declared at their Northampton 
Monitoring Station the Highest Pollution figures across the country had been recorded. 
 
This Council has yet to publish “the adjusted Air Quality Readings for 2018” which the 
administration has said are the only figures that it is prepared to use to initiate correct 
action to protect the health of Northampton residents. 
 
Councillors are concerned that adhering to this approach will result in a similar delay 
in 2020 waiting for the 2019 adjusted Air Quality Figures to be verified by the DEFRA. 
 
In support of the declared Climate Emergency this Council calls upon the 
administration to publish “provisional adjusted Air Quality Readings” as soon as 
adjustments have been applied by NBC Environmental Health Department and to take 
action to address any areas of concern. 
 
The Council believes that this approach will demonstrate that it is taking action at the 
earliest possible time to protect the Health of Northampton residents.” 
 
Motion 6 (as amended) 
 
“The County Council is responsible for on street parking charges in the Town Centre 
and the Borough Council is responsible for the parking charges in the car parks that it 
operates. 
 
This Council believes that Car Parking charges are a factor in the vitality and prosperity 
of the Town Centre. 
 
The County Council has initiated consultation with the Public and Stakeholders 
regarding the increases that it is proposing but it unfortunately ends on the 5th 
September. 
 
This council believes that it should formally respond to the County Council consultation 
and request that they accept a late submission from the Borough Council.  
 
The council agrees that it wishes to express concern and opposition to the proposed 
increases as it believes that it will have a detrimental effect on the Town Centre 
economy at a time when this council is trying to address the downturn in footfall and 
look for ways of investing in the Town Centre in support of its long term prosperity.” 
 
4th November 2019 
 
Motion 1 
 
“7 in 10 young people have experienced cyberbullying. 26% of young people who 

have been cyberbullied report feeling suicidal. 

Page 357



Whether you are in the public eye or not, you cannot get away from social media and 

it is ruining a lot of people’s lives. 

Building on the excellent BBC’s documentary ‘Odd One Out’, featuring Little Mix star 

Jesy Nelson, this Council believes that there is a real need to talk more about 

cyberbullying, how this is making us feel and how to tackle it. 

NBC is proud to say that we held a primary school event on 16th October and has 

two more planned for this academic year 2019-20: 11th February and 5th June 2020, 

all focussing on various community safety messages, including online safety. 

Based on the feedback from the young people, the Council has this year also added 

the topic of cyberbullying and 540 year six’s will have attended the events and 

received this informal education. 

This Council further commits to launching its secondary school programme covering 

cyberbullying, with the first one taking place on 24th November at Weston Favell 

secondary and this being rolled out to Northampton International Academy and other 

secondary schools before the end of the academic year. 

We live in a social media obsessed world and people say things without realising the 

devastating effect on young lives and families. This Council is fully committed to 

leading the way in showing that bullying is not ok. 

Lowdown offer free counselling and advice to young people aged 12-25yrs across 

Northampton. The following link provides information and guidance for young people 

facing these issues http://thelowdown.info/issues/cyberbullying/“ 

 
Motion 2 
 
“This council notes with dismay the recent 1% increase in interest for loans from the 
Public Works Loan Board. This comes at a time when all councils, including NBC, 
were looking to increase their building of social housing in order to address the 
housing crisis. 
 
The 1% increases the risks attached to regeneration and development and creates 
the need for revision of existing plans and business cases. We note this has led to, 
for example, a delay in borrowing for the Berkley house rebuild. 
 
We therefore call on the council to join with the LGA to make representation to the 
government to have this decision reversed.” 
 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
“This council congratulates Norwich Council for winning the Stirling Architecture 
Prize for its recently developed housing estate, Goldsmith Street, comprised of 
almost 100 ‘ultra-low-energy homes’ 
 
This is the first time in the 23-year history of the Stirling prize that it has been 
awarded to social housing. 

Page 358

http://thelowdown.info/issues/cyberbullying/


 
“A modest masterpiece” is how the RIBA Stirling prize judges described the project, 
designed by London firm Mikhail Riches with Cathy Hawley, representing “high-
quality architecture in its purest most environmentally and socially conscious form”. 
The 105 creamy-brick homes are designed to stringent Passivhaus environmental 
standards, meaning energy costs are around 70% cheaper than average. The walls 
are highly insulated, and the roofs are cleverly angled at 15 degrees, to ensure each 
terrace doesn’t block sunlight from the homes behind, while letterboxes are built into 
external porches, rather than the front doors, to reduce any possibility of draughts. 
 
Immense thought has gone into every detail – from the perforated brick balconies to 
the cleverly interlocking staircases in the three-storey flats at the end of each terrace 
– to ensure that every home has its own front door on the street. The back gardens 
look on to a planted alley, dotted with communal tables and benches, while parking 
has been pushed to the edge of the site, freeing up the streets for people, not cars. 
 
This year’s choice sends a clear message that, despite government cuts, it is 
eminently possible for brave councils to take the initiative and build environmentally 
sustainable social housing. 
  
We call on NBC to be brave and develop an ambitious long-term sustainable 
housing plan.” 
 
20th January 2020 
 
Motion 2 
 
““We note that all the party manifestos promised new money for youth. 
 
This council recognises that well-resourced youth work in Northampton will deliver 
many benefits. 
It will:- 

 provide meaningful and enriching activities for young people; 

 provide jobs and career pathways for youth workers; 

 deflect young people from gangs and criminal activity; 

 enable young people to develop a voice and contribute to the regeneration of 
the town. 

 
To this end we agree to support the local campaign for a Youth Centre for 
Northampton. 
 
The centre will be multifaceted and provide a focus for developing our understanding 
of what young people in the town need, for developing youth work, and developing a 
youth voice for the town. 
 
A youth centre, particularly in the town centre, will bring new energy and commitment 
to the town.” 
 
Motion 4 
 

Page 359



“We encourage the celebration of religious, cultural, and historical occasions, of 
which fireworks can be an integral part, but we discourage public 
nuisance.  Unsocial hours, and prolonging periods over which fireworks are 
used, can cause anxiety to many people and to their pets.  We believe in 
keeping our town and its residents safe, for them to be able to enjoy a peaceful 
life, whilst ensuring that their health and wellbeing is maintained. 
 
Well promoted and supervised, public firework events are one way in which 
fireworks can be enjoyed safely and responsibly, such as the council’s bonfire 
night which 10,000 attended and enjoyed last year. 
 
 
This Council resolves: 

 
•              to request all public firework displays within the local authority 

boundaries to be advertised in advance of the event, allowing 
residents to take precautions for their animals and vulnerable people  

 
•              to actively promote a public awareness campaign about the impact 

of fireworks on animal welfare and vulnerable people – including the 
precautions that can be taken to mitigate risks  

 
•             Well-meaning celebration can become public nuisance” 

 
9th March 2020 
 
Motion 1 
 
“Over the last three months Council staff have worked hard with partners in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors to meet increased demand for services and in 
particular to give support to the vulnerable and families in most need. 
 
There will come a time when we will need to review what has gone well and what 
could have been done better but I believe now is the time for us as, elected 
representatives to say thank you to everyone at NBC and  to our contractors and 
partners, for the job they do on behalf of our community. 
 
Mr Mayor may I ask if you will lead us as we show our appreciation in the usual way. 
 
Motion 2 
 
“The recent resolution at Cabinet to pass the Homelessness Rough Sleeping and 
Action Plan 2020, represents a huge amount of collaborative work and investigation 
completed on Homeless in Northampton over the past five years.  
 
The resolution also follows a remarkable shift in the challenge of tackling entrenched 
rough sleeping during the Covid-19 pandemic.  The support made available for 
rough sleepers and NBC’s quick and robust response transformed the look and 
approach to rough sleeping in Northampton. Rough sleepers being offered good 
quality accommodation in line with the principles of Housing First, excellent 

Page 360



communication between different agencies and the placement of organisations 
where people were living created an environment in which people felt supported and 
empowered to access help allowing them to move on from rough sleeping. 
 
  
 
     As the situation with Covid-19 evolves and changes, it is vital that the excellent 
progress in the rough sleeping approach seen during it is not lost and that the new 
strategy is able to meet its full potential.  The Cabinet papers recognise that the 
continuation of this strategy in its current form requires the continued input of the 
MHCLG Rough Sleeping Initiative funding created out of the government’s 
Homelessness Reduction Scheme.  It is vital that the government continue to 
provide this funding, as its loss or reduction would have a detrimental impact on 
NBC’s ability to continue to deliver, develop and grow this strategy.  
 
Therefore:  
 
This council recognises and applauds the work completed by the NBC Housing 
Team, its partners from other agencies and the wider voluntary sector, together with 
the Overview and Scrutiny panels. progressing the new, transformative 
homelessness strategy.   
 
This council resolves to write to the West Northants MPs to ensure that the 
government continues to fund this vital body of work.” 
 
Motion 3 
 
'That this Council, under, and in pursuance of the powers conferred by virtue of 
Section 249 Local Government Act, 1972, proposes that the local National Health 
Service be recommended for admission into the Freedom of the Borough of 
Northampton, in recognition and appreciation of the outstanding services rendered to 
the residents of the town during the COVID19 Emergency.  
 
This will be done through the immediate establishment of a cross-party working 
group and a subsequent report recommending how this honour should to be granted, 
followed by a Special Meeting of the Council where it will be voted on.' 
 
20th July 2020 
 
Motion 2 
 
“Since lockdown began on 26 March, the borough of Northampton has been 
overwhelmed with illegal dumping and fly tipping, filling our streets and any available 
vacant area with evil smelling and unsightly rubbish. Our residents pay their ever-
increasing council tax and find themselves facing the most appalling situations. We 
call on the Council to set up a multi-agency team to track down perpetrators and 
ensure the appropriate action is taken: 
 

 against criminal and illegal operators who knowingly rob their customers by 
charging for the removal of rubbish, which is later dumped in our streets; 

Page 361



 against landlords who dump household waste on pavements; 

 against and being seen to impose hefty fines on social groups and partygoers 
who leave piles of used food containers and bottles on our parks; 

 to actively support tenants and residents who want to use the recycling depots 
but for whatever reason are unable to, and; 

 to work with the University to offer a collection service to student landlords.” 
 
Motion 3 
 
“This Council recognises the importance of Northampton’s arts and cultural sector as 
the ‘soul’ of Northampton and will work with our Conservative MPs and central 
government to access Northampton’s portion of the record-breaking national support 
package, the biggest ever one-off investment in UK culture. This will not only help to 
secure local jobs, but also mean that our iconic venues can weather the storm 
created by coronavirus and come back 
stronger, and continue to be there for local residents and future generations to enjoy. 
This council will work tirelessly to ensure that this sector emerges from this crisis by 
continuing to invest in the work of our Heritage, Culture and Communities team in 
order to provide the support required.” 
 
Motion 4 
 
“This Council notes the decision of the Planning Committee not to object in principle 
to the County Councils application to develop the North West Relief Road.  
(N/2019/0840). 
 
It has been the policy of this Council to support the development and delivery of the 
Northern Orbital Road as a matter of urgency. 
 
This Council notes the comments of the Planning Committee with regard to the 
provision of the Northern Orbital Road. 
 
This Council confirms its position requiring that the Norther Orbital Road be developed 
and delivered as a matter of urgency to support the North West Relief Road, and that 
this be communicated to NCC.” 
 
14th September 2020 
 
Motion 2 (as amended) 
 
“We are alarmed at the Government’s proposal to give additional development rights 
to developers. The proposal risks a will bypass of the planning system and potentially 
leading to development that is neither strategic nor of good quality. 
 
The housing crisis and the climate emergency means we need affordable, good 
quality, energy efficient homes. 
 
We therefore call on the Council to write to Government expressing our concern at 
their proposal for deregulation. 
 

Page 362



We further call on the council to take all necessary steps to ensure that where housing 
is developed on commercial sites under the new regulations, that 35% of the housing 
is affordable and all are of a quality consistent with our aspiration to provide the best 
we can. 
 
We note the cross-Party support from this Council to the substance of this motion and 
that of the detail in Motion III, and in addition, that the Local Government Association 
have also raised concerns regarding how it may restrict the decision making that local 
authorities have in future planning applications and developments.” 
 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
Council notes: 
 

1. The publication by Government of the White Paper, ‘Planning for the Future’ on 

6 August 2020, which sets out proposals on reforms to the planning process for 

the future. 

2. That the vast majority of planning applications are given the go ahead by local 

authority planning committees, with permission granted to around 9 out of 10 

applications. 

3. That research by the Local Government Association has said that there are 
existing planning permissions for more than one million homes that have not 
yet been started. 

 
Council is concerned that the proposals seek to: 
 

1. Reduce or remove the right of residents to have their say on applications in 

their communities. 

2. Grant automatic rights for developers to build on land identified as ‘for growth’. 

3. Remove section 106 payments for infrastructure and their replacement with a 

national levy. 

This Council Further notes: 
 

1. The Royal Institute for British Architects called the proposals ‘shameful and 

which will do almost nothing to guarantee delivery of affordable, well-designed 

and sustainable homes’. RIBA also said that proposals could lead to the next 

generation of slum housing. 

2. The reforms are opposed by the all-party Local Government Association. 
 
We note the cross-Party support from this Council to the substance of this motion and 
that of the detail in Motion II, and in addition, that the Local Government Association 
have also raised concerns regarding how it may restrict the decision making that local 
authorities have in future planning applications and developments. 
 
We therefore ask the Chief Executive to write to the Minister of State for Housing & 
Planning and to our local Members of Parliament expressing our concerns.” 
 
Motion 4 
 

Page 363



“This council supports the Government’s ‘Kickstarter scheme’, helping create jobs for 
young people in Northampton, putting them at the heart of the town’s economic revival 
from the Covid-19 pandemic.  We call upon local businesses to sign up to providing 
quality, 6-month, subsidised work placements for those aged 16-24 on Universal 
Credit, helping give them on the job training and experience to launch them into a 
career. We cannot allow young people to be left behind as a result of the pandemic, 
and schemes like this will be vital for creating jobs and giving young people the skills 
to access them.  We encourage local employers to sign up today.” 
 
2nd November 2020 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 

“1 in 10 children in Northamptonshire receive free school meals. For many of these 
children this is the only hot and substantial meal they receive. 

Free School meals are not customarily available during school holidays. Working 
parents incur additional childcare costs around the holidays. Families already 
struggling with low budgets find it difficult to feed their children. Children most at risk 
of hunger during the holidays may also suffer from social isolation, loneliness, and 
inactivity. These factors combined can lead to significant weight loss or gain, and 
negative impacts on physical and mental well-being.  

This is a problem highlighted further with the current pandemic and one that is likely 
to increase and definitely not go away. Covid-19 is a natural phenomenon, poverty is 
not, and the containment of the virus will not end this plight.  

During recent months, this council has supported a number of charities and groups to 
deliver food support to the most vulnerable, many of them supporting families with 
young children in particular, through grants of around £85,000, and is involved with 
the management of the £330,000 DEFRA grant which is directly supporting food 
provision and food banks, which is administered by the Hope Centre. 

This council therefore resolved to:  

 Work with Northampton MPs and the county council to support the extension 
of the of the voucher scheme to all school holiday periods and to look to embed 
the scheme all year round.   

 Urge National Government to act to ensure this gap is filled.   

 To support calls to protect pupils forced to self-isolate, who will not receive their 
free school meal and may go hungry.  

 

This council will also:  

 Work with Partners to establish Holiday Clubs where children can access social 
activities as well as food, providing financial relief for parents on very low 
incomes, so that no child goes hungry over any school holiday. 

 To scope and investigate the possibility of harnessing additional funding 
targeted to identified groups who already do or wish to offer these services.  

Page 364



 Continue to direct a portion of the community fund budget into community 
organisations, who already do, or wish to, offer these services. 

 In continuing to work with the County Council, commit to taking the points in 
this motion forward into the West Northants authority.” 

 
Motion 2 
 
“Northampton Borough Council’s Tree Policy was written in 2016, with no serious 

amendments or considerations since that time.  The policy is out of date and falls short 

of those used by other councils. 

There are no pictures to show what a good tree in Northampton looks like, and it fails 

to join up planning policy.   

There is a negative bias that over-emphasises the challenges and conflicts without 

enough content about the benefits or solutions that would lead to improvement of 

Northampton’s urban forest and community engagement around them.  

There are many more positive benefits that trees bring to urban environments. For 

example, they can increase house prices, improve health and wellbeing. They can 

also encourage more sustainable lifestyle choices. There is very little on the 

biodiversity benefit. 

We call on this Council to: 

1. Note the significant role trees play in enhancing accessible green spaces, 
improving air quality, restoring and protecting soil health, creating wildlife 
habitat, mitigating flood risk and benefiting public health;  

2. Recognise the contribution trees make to the environment in our towns 
including shading and cooling, pollution and noise mitigation, as well speeding 
up floodwater drainage and improving the quality of our street scene. 

3. Call for a review of current policies on, and attitude towards, the planting of 
trees appropriate to our urban areas with a view to introducing a more proactive 
policy, which looks to increase the number and regularity of trees planted in 
our town and residential streets and parks and other open spaces;  

4. Call for a new strategy to include providing opportunities to educate children in 
understanding the benefits of trees and to get involved in tree planting;  

5. Recommends closer partnership working with the, and landowners seeking 
sites for new tree planting  

6. Recommends a Tree Summit bringing together the Local Councils, Park 
Rangers, Landowners and partners responsible for land maintenance, the 
Woodland Trust and members of the public to work out how to plant more trees 
in our town, residential streets and in our parks and other open spaces. 

7. Culminate this action into a working Tree Policy that includes but is not 
exhaustive of the following; 

 

 To allow for ‘replacement in situ’ of valuable urban trees.  

 For a regular maintenance plan to be outlined.  

 There should be a mapping exercise. This is not just for existing trees, 
but for planting opportunities.  

Page 365



 Stronger tree policies that informs infrastructure design and prevents 
conflicts.  

 Arboricultural Officer (s) at the heart of plans 

 Parameters agreed on what residents can and can’t do to trees. 

 A clear inclusion of the responsibilities for Trees on Council owned/NPH 
run land, taking account of the tree size and maintenance requirements 

 More information on tree benefits.  

 Detail references that reflect the growing research and evidence into the 
benefits of trees. 

 Recognises an opportunity for the council to adopt CAVAT – a way of 
valuing its stock when the trees need removing for development, so they 
can get money back for replanting: 
https://www.ltoa.org.uk/resources/cavat.” 

 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
“During the 2019 General Election Campaign the Prime Minister identified the need 
for a fundamental reform of Adult Social Care and that a Green Paper on the future 
of care would be produced. 
 

No green paper has been forthcoming and so far, there have not been the All Party 
Talks designed to produce a financially sustainable long-term answer to the Social 
Care Crisis, in England and Wales.  
 
This council believes the need for government to reform social care remains a 
priority.  The future well-being of our residents poses a serious challenge and 
potential financial risks to the new West Northamptonshire Unitary and the local 
health economy.  

1. This council therefore supports  'The lives we want to lead' – the LGA green 
paper for adult social care and asks  our local MPs and the Government to 
engage with the Adult Social Care,  All Party Parliamentary Group ( APPG)    
to achieve a non-party sustainable long term answer to the future provision of 
Adult Social Care.”   

This council also notes the progress of Northamptonshire County Council’s Adult 
Social Care service to focus on improving outcomes for residents while transforming 
its services.  This has resulted in the service being nationally recognised as a high 
performing service according to the national ASCOF measures.” 
 
22nd February 2021 
 
Motion 1 
 
‘This Council recognises the work of the Northampton people during the Pandemic; 
our staff at all levels of Northampton Borough Council from the Chief Executive 
down, as well as the countless voluntary groups, the selfless emergency services 
and all those who have gone the extra mile putting others before themselves during 
this Covid-19.  We would like to come together as a Council and formally give thanks 
on the public record.’ 

Page 366

https://www.ltoa.org.uk/resources/cavat


Motions recorded at Northamptonshire County Council 
 
14 May 2015 
 
None passed 
 
18 June 2015 
 
None passed 
 
24 September 2015 
 
“Significant service improvements and cost savings can be achieved by closer 
integration of the "blue light" emergency services. Council therefore welcomes the 
progress already made in the county towards closer working between the Police and 
Fire Services.  
 
Council should continue to promote closer working and co-operation between the 
Police and Fire Services and opportunities should be sought over time to include the 
county’s Ambulance Service in this process” 
 
26 November 2015  
 
Motion 1 
 
“This Council notes that increasing numbers of people who require equipment, aids 
and adaptations made to their homes have to wait long periods of time before such 
changes happen. In certain cases it is believed that elderly people have passed away 
prior to receiving these essential services.  
 
This Council recognises that simple changes (like grab rails, ramps and installing stair 
lifts) can make a real difference between living independently and requiring carers or 
more intensive social care support. Providing these services in a timely fashion is 
essential to ensuring quality of life for some of the most vulnerable people in our 
communities and enables them to live in their own hoes, which we know the majority 
of people prefer.  
 
We therefore ask Full Council to refer this matter to relevant scrutiny committee for 
them to conduct review (seeing input from colleagues in the Borough/District Councils) 
with a view to improving the overall length of waiting times experienced for adaptation 
services in Northamptonshire”. 
 
Motion 2 
 
“This Council asks the Children, Learning & Communities Scrutiny Committee to 
consider asking those schools which currently do not have to provide school breakfast 
clubs for their pupils. In particularly, it is asked to consider the impact this would have 
on raising attainment, improving absence rates and lateness and to investigate how 
sponsorship, alongside the Pupil Premium, might fund the breakfasts. This information 
should then be provided to all schools in the county”. 

Page 367



 
Motion 3 (as amended) 
 
“This Council recognises the fundamental role that education provides in underpinning 
a strong, competitive and growing economy both locally and nationally. This Council 
further notes that accessible education provides one of the last meaningful methods 
of social mobility, ensuring that people are able to contribute to society to the reach of 
their ability, irrelevant of their social and economic background. It is for this reason this 
Council and this administration has fostered investment and growth in post-16 
education across the County and acknowledges the unfairness of the current funding 
formula which severely disadvantages Northamptonshire’s schools.  
 
This Council therefore notes that an unfair funding formula combined with reductions 
in the education budget will unduly challenge our efforts to raise education outcomes 
for our County’s Children.  
 
This Council resolves to continue to campaign with the F40 group, our MP’s and other 
relevant parties to redress the current unfair funding formula on behalf of 
Northamptonshire’s schools and write to the Minister in charge and the Prime Minister 
to seek assurances that no post 16 education establishments in Northamptonshire will 
close as a result of any reduction in funding.” 
 
29 February 2016 
 
None passed. 
 
17 March 2016 
 
Councils in Northamptonshire are under unprecedented and increasing financial 
pressures. There is also confusion amongst the public as to which Council is 
responsible for which service, and this damages democratic accountability for service 
delivery.  
 
This Council therefore agrees to commission, an independent study into the scope, 
benefits and costs of the various options for introducing unitary local government in 
Northamptonshire.  
 
The independent study shall not be limited to the consideration of unitary government 
alone but will also take account of the wider aspects of public service reform, including 
integration with Health, Regional Transport Planning, Blue Light services, LGSS and 
wider shared service opportunities, and other possible devolved powers.  
 
All the District and Borough Councils in Northamptonshire shall be invited to take part 
in, and contribute to, the study to ensure a full and open approach to the issue.  
 
Council further agrees to report the outcome of the study to the public and ensure that 
their opinions are fully taken into account whilst retaining local democracy. 
 
12 May 2016 
 

Page 368

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2472/Committee/398/Default.aspx


None passed. 
 
16 June 2016 
 
None passed. 
 
06 October 2016 
 
That this Council through the Health and Wellbeing Board requests central 
government to develop and initiative a national integrated health and care strategy, as 
a matter of urgency, removing the obstacles in the path of those moving from the NHS 
to community-based care through putting in place an effective and equitable funding 
regime.  
 
The Council understands the financial pressure place on Northamptonshire. The 
county has a proportion of elderly people in its population above the national average 
of 18.1% and this ageing population will continue to rise. Yet the county is not funded 
accordingly.  
 
Doing nothing is not an option, the county council must act now, leading by example 
and by working with partners, forge an integrated health and social care economy. 
 
24 November 2016 
 
Motion 1 (as amended) 
 
The Northamptonshire County Council recognises the value of community pharmacies 
as an important primary healthcare service and the role they play in our local 
community. Our local pharmacies offer a range of services not only dispensing 
prescriptions but promoting health and well-being providing advice such as on 
smoking cessation, flu vaccination and sexual health.  
 
Pharmacies provide help and advice from pre-natal care to support for and advice 
services to elderly care homes.  
 
Given the direction for remodelling community pharmacy services that have now been 
communicated by Government, this Council resolves to explore the potential 
implications in our county through the appropriate scrutiny committee. Then consider 
the appropriate action including any communication with Northamptonshire MPs. 
 
Motion 2 
 
This Council accepts that the mental health of our children is an important issue. 
Children and Young People need to be able to access support for their mental health 
as they need it. The work done by our young leaders demonstrated that young people 
need access to up to date and quality information about services that are available in 
their area. They also need to be able to self- refer where appropriate in addition to 
being referred by other agencies. Organisations such as Lowdown provide easy 
access for Children and Young People. They provide highly engaging services of 
excellent quality.  

Page 369

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2663/Committee/398/Default.aspx
https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2664/Committee/398/Default.aspx
https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2665/Committee/398/Default.aspx


 
This Council will work with voluntary sector organisations like the Lowdown to ensure 
their services are sustainable and that there is capacity in the County to meet the 
mental health needs of our children.” 
 
23 February 2017 
 
None passed. 
 
16 March 2017 
 
Motion 1 
 
Setting aside the issue of the sale, purchase or ownership of land in Buckton fields 
which has already been debated by this Council, this Council recognizes the current 
serious traffic issues in Kingsthorpe, which make building the North West Relief road 
and the Northern Orbital road an urgent matter. Building the North West Relief road 
significantly earlier than the Northern Orbital road would further worsen the current 
traffic problems in Kingsthorpe, by funnelling heavy traffic into the area.  
 
Therefore this council agrees that the aim should be to have as small a delay as 
possible between the openings of these two roads. 
 
Motion 2 
 
This Council notes that many new schools being built in the county do not have 
sufficient arrangements to provide safe areas for parents to drop off and pick up their 
children. Although walking to school is a preferred course of action, nevertheless some 
parents will always drop off and collect their children by car.  
 
Many older schools in the county have major traffic issues every morning and 
afternoon, and these are very difficult to resolve because of the layout of the streets 
and houses immediately around these schools.  
 
This Council resolves to work closely with developers, academies and trusts to make 
sure, where possible, schools that are being built in the county don’t build in the traffic 
problems that are such a feature of many existing schools. Also Council will promote 
some of the excellent best practice examples already established in many schools 
across the county to help alleviate issues around drop off time in both existing and 
new schools. 
 
16 May 2017 
 
None passed. 
 
15 June 2017 
 
None passed. 
 
21 September 2017 

Page 370

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2666/Committee/398/Default.aspx
https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/2948/Committee/398/Default.aspx
https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/3093/Committee/398/Default.aspx


 
None passed. 
 
23 November 2017 
 
This Council resolves to explore options that would allow it to reinstate the 
Northamptonshire Young Leaders Forum.  
 
This successful programme previously gave the Council the opportunity  

 To hear directly from young people.  

 To consult them on issues affecting them and  

 To support them in in developing their own work streams, as they did so 
effectively on the Mental Health Charter.  

 
This Council recognises the very valuable work previously undertaken by the 
Northamptonshire Young Leaders forum on the Mental Health Charter. This Council 
resolves to continue to work with representative groups of young people including 
the Shooting Stars Group, the Children in Care Council, Care Leaves forum and the 
various youth forums in the county to promote democracy and important issues like 
mental health. Mental health is a priority of the Northamptonshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board and an integral part of the Northamptonshire Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
22 February 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
28 February 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
22 March 2018  
 
(as amended) 
 
All Councillors are committed to make sure the current challenges the County 
Council are experiencing should not prevent the Council from ensuring that 
educational provision is planned effectively within Northamptonshire.  
 
Moreover, Council is aware that 76.5% of children are given a place at their parents’ 
first preference secondary school, which is a reduction from 82% in 2017. However, 
93.6% of applicants have still been allocated one of their preferred schools which is 
down slightly from 96% in 2017. This still represents a significant achievement given 
the demand on school places in the county.” 
 
We call upon Council: 

 To publish an up-to-date School Places Strategy which seeks to improve 
meeting parental preferences for schools and ensures that there is a place for 
every child within reasonable travelling distance of their home; 

Page 371

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/MeetingsCalendar/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/3130/Committee/398/Default.aspx


 Similarly to publish a School Improvement Strategy, explaining the actions 
which are required and will be taken to improve both educational aspirations 
and attainment within the County; and 

 To provide quarterly progress reports, demonstrating the extent of progress in 
delivering these strategies and achieving their associated desired outcomes.” 

 
12 April 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
17 May 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
21 June 2018 
 
Council notes that:  
 
Stage 2 of the process of expressing an interest in managing a library independently 
has a deadline which has been extended from 31st May to 25th June 2018.  
 
Applicants regarding all 21 Libraries threatened with closure have progressed to 
stage 2.  
 
Concerns have been raised that communications from the county council regarding 
this process are not signed by a named person.  
 
Two Judicial Reviews regarding Libraries are set to be heard at the Royal Courts of 
Justice in London on 19th and 20th June, with no ruling expected until sometime 
during the following month.  
 
Council expresses its concerns that:  
 
The council originally told applicants that “we will not take any further questions 
regarding this process after Thursday 17th May 2018” but notes that this date has 
been extended to 20th June 2018.  
 
Applicants have been told in Heads of Terms documents “Please note that the terms 
proposed above are to be confidential between the parties and should not be shared 
with any third parties without the prior authority of Northamptonshire County 
Council.”  
 
It has been reported that Northamptonshire County Council is attempting to sell back 
to a parish council a 100-year-old Carnegie library that it acquired from it without 
payment more than 50 years ago for £195,000.  
 
And that it has also been reported that the future of Higham Ferrers Library is in the 
balance after town councillors voted against buying the town’s library building....The 
town council held their emergency meeting to decide whether they would purchase 

Page 372



the building, the former parish rooms in Midland Road, for £367,500 or lease it for 
£33,000pa.  
 
In extending the deadline for stage 2 to 25th June the council asked applicants to 
provide further information which had not previously been requested and are now 
being asked to provide detailed information regarding their application under 40 
separate headings.  
 
Council believes that given the Judicial Reviews currently under way and the 
uncertainty around the status of Carnegie Libraries more time should be allowed for 
this process. The budget scrutiny process concluded that a much longer period for 
this process than that currently proposed was required. For example, when 
Leicestershire established Community managed Libraries it allowed two years for the 
process.  
 
Council believes that in the light of changing circumstances it is right to review the 
position the council has taken on a particular matter and to make appropriate 
adjustments.  
 
Council asks officers to explore the disposal of libraries with community 
organisations where there is an intention and the will to form an independent Library. 
Efforts should be made to streamline this process to allow this to happen as soon as 
possible. Furthermore, Council recommends that the Director of Public Health does 
not proceed with the permanent closure of the remaining libraries until the outcome 
of the Judicial Review hearing, to be heard on July 26th and 27th, is known. 
 
19 July 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
01 August 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
09 August 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
28 August 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
20 September 2018 
 
Motion 1 
 
“This Council notes that:  
 
In the UK today, there are significant numbers of children who do not currently have 
British citizenship but have rights to register as British citizens. Many of these 

Page 373



children were born in the UK, and others have lived here from a young age, been 
raised here, educated here, and have never known any other home.  
 
Without access to their citizenship rights, children may find themselves denied 
opportunities extended to their peers, such as the chance to participate in a school 
trip or to be eligible for funding so they can undertake higher education.  
 
There are a number of barriers to children registering their citizenship. Registration 
can be a complex process of prohibitive cost.  
 
Children are charged £1,012 for a process whose administrative cost is published at 
£372, meaning government is making a profit of £640 from every child who claims 
their rights.  
 
This Council asserts that: 
 
No child should be denied their citizenship rights by reason of a fee. There is no 
substitute for citizenship, which is vital to future security and sense of belonging.  
 
This Council therefore recognises: 

 That the profit-making element of the fee to register citizenship discourages 
the best outcomes for many of the UK's children 

 Because of their duties as corporate parents, the fee for children to register 
will fall on Councils in the many cases where looked after children qualify for 
citizenship 

 The fee puts Councils in the unacceptable position of having to weigh the 
benefits of citizenship to a child in their care against the cost to the Council of 
assisting a child in claiming that right.  

 
This Council therefore resolves: 

 To write to the Minister of State for Immigration demanding that the fee for 
children to register as British citizens is reduced to the administrative cost and 
demanding that looked after children are exempted from the fee in its entirety 

 To identify children in their care who are entitled to citizenship and make sure 
they are aware of their rights and supported to claim them. 

 
Motion 2 
 
This council expresses alarm at the rise in anti-Semitism in recent years across the 
UK including incidents when criticism of Israel has been expressed using anti-
Semitic tropes. Criticism of Israel can be legitimate, but not if it employs the tropes 
and imagery of anti-Semitism.  
 
This Council therefore resolves to do the following: 

 Acknowledge the importance of tackling anti-Semitism in all its forms, to 
support the growing Jewish community in our County. 

 Challenge bigoted stereotypes about Jewish people, and those who hold 
these views in order to foster a culture of understanding and mutual respect. 

 Welcome cross-party support within the Council for combating anti-Semitism 
in all its manifestations 

Page 374



 Adopt the below definition of anti-Semitism as set out by the International 
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance and pledge to combat this pernicious form 
of racism:  

 
“Anti-Semitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred 
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of anti-Semitism are directed 
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish 
community institutions and religious facilities.” 
 
22 November 2018 
 
None passed. 
 
21 February 2019 
 
None passed. 
 
28 February 2019 
 
None passed. 
 
21 March 2019 
 
Motion 1 
 
This council is concerned that there is a widening gap in performance, as judged by 
OFSTED assessment, in Northamptonshire secondary schools and academies.  
 
The council recognizes that, whilst there are exceptions, too many of our secondary 
schools and academies are inadequate or require improvement and that there 
should be a concerted effort to improve the quality of educational provision for all 
children and young people in Northamptonshire.  
 
Whilst the council has limited influence over academies, there remains a duty to 
ensure pupils make good and sustainable progress in their education.  
 
The Council asks the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Children to 
take action to: 

 Narrow the gap in achievement, making it a council priority; 

 Improve educational progress, attainment and skills at all key stages; 

 Intervene to ensure a trust acts more swiftly when it identifies that an 
academy is at risk of underachieving; 

 To write to the Regional Schools Commissioner, Martin Post, to request his 
intervention, as a matter of urgency, when a school requires improvement or 
is inadequate. 

 
Motion 2 
 
This Council recognises the importance of making our community a better place to 
live for everyone.  

Page 375



 
While Government policy requires the need for more housing and new homes to be 
built, it is also important to understand that Northamptonshire residents should 
receive value for money services. Quite often residents are penalised and paying a 
second tax in newly built areas through developers establishing and allocating 
Managed Agencies on new developments.  
 
It is important to recognise the issue of Managed Agencies allocated by developers 
at a national level and the need for them to be regulated. Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC), have passed a motion expressing residents’ views and concerns and 
are actively looking at ways to regulate Managed Agencies locally, including 
encouraging developers to consider all the alternatives available. This issue affects 
all seven Districts and Boroughs across Northamptonshire.  
 
Northamptonshire County Council (NCC), as the local authority responsible for 
adoptions, therefore, resolves to make it clear that there are significant concerns 
regarding the establishment of Managed Agencies.  
 
Furthermore, this Council urges our MPs raise this matter with the Secretary of State 
for Housing Communities and Local Government to work towards regulating 
Managed Agencies.” 
 
23 May 2019 
 
None passed. 
 
20 June 2019 
 
This Council recognises the strength of public opinion recently expressed in London 
and Northamptonshire on the issue of climate change and the need to address 
carbon reduction to protect the health and wellbeing of future generations. This 
council also notes that the UK parliament has declared a Climate Emergency.  
 
This Council believes that all levels of government have a duty to limit the impacts of 
Climate Breakdown.  
 
This Council therefore declares a Climate Emergency in Northamptonshire and 
commits to a target of making Northamptonshire carbon neutral by 2030. This 
Council further commits to work with partners to deliver that goal.  
 
This Council calls upon its successor councils to continue this work once they come 
into existence.  
 
Where appropriate, this Council will place climate change on the agenda of meetings 
with partners and will encourage joint working across all sectors of local governance.  
 
This Council requests a report to be submitted to a meeting of full council before the 
end of March 2020 detailing the actions that have been taken to address and action 
this resolution. This Council also requests an updated report to a meeting of full 
council not more than 12 months thereafter setting out the further actions that have 

Page 376



been taken and detailing how progressing this target has been communicated to and 
integrated within the start up plans of its successor councils. 
 
19 September 2019 
 
Motion 1 
 
This Council notes that the Equality Act provides protections against discriminatory 
treatment based on the concept of “Protected Characteristics. 
 
Currently workers with a terminal illness are not classified as having a protected 
characteristic and therefore have very limited legal protection against employers 
dismissing them due to illness.  
 
This Council notes that employers are therefore free to dismiss terminally ill workers 
once they have made “reasonable adjustments” to the employee’s job to assist with 
the illness.  
 
Council agrees that the last thing a terminally ill worker would need is the distress at 
the same time as facing up to a terminal illness is to have to fight for the right to 
continue working and not face the indignity of being sacked.  
 
In addition, Council notes that the loss of death in service benefits to terminally ill 
workers sacked before death is a further distress at a time when security for a family 
for the future should be protected.  
 
Therefore, Council agrees to support the TUC’s “Dying to work Campaign” currently 
being developed in the Midlands and to support the lobbying of MPs to establish new 
legislation, currently being drawn up by the society of Labour Lawyers which; 

 Seeks to get terminally ill workers covered by Protective Rights at Work in line 
with those covered by Pregnancy/Maternity Rights. 

 Seeks to protect death in service benefits. 

 Seeks to allow workers with terminal illnesses to die in dignity. 
 
Motion 2 
 
Northamptonshire County Council notes the outstanding work of the "Save our Street 
Trees" Group in Far Cotton and the work they have done in bringing both 
Northampton Borough Council and Northamptonshire County Council together with 
the Woodland Trust to look at an experimental project for re-instating street trees in 
Northamptonshire.  
 
Northamptonshire County Council also notes the work of the former Mayor of 
London Boris Johnson recently newly elected as our Prime Minister in re-instating 
20,000 street trees to our Capital during his tenure as the Mayor of London. Not only 
has this transformed streets in and around the capital, but it has also brought about 
huge benefits to the wider environment in efforts to combat climate change.  
 

Page 377



He also delivered on his pledge to create 100 rejuvenated spaces as part of a pocket 
parks program in 26 London boroughs, with more than 25 hectares of community 
land across the capital being transformed into new enhanced green areas.  
 
Northamptonshire County Council calls for a transformation of underused urban 
spaces across our county, to be planted with new trees to help the future 
generations enjoy what many of us have taken for granted.  
 
Trees deliver huge benefits such as cleansing the air and storing carbon and 
generally enhancing the wellbeing of our communities.  
 
To ensure future generations receive these benefits and Northamptonshire grows 
sustainably, we all need to protect existing trees as well as embarking upon a bold 
program of planting new trees. Therefore, this Council requests the initial work to 
form a joint plan for wider scale reinstatement of street trees as part of the move to 
Unitary.” 
 
21 November 2019 
 
This council recognises:  

1. The value of Northamptonshire’s Voluntary and Community sector and the 
contribution it has made to support county council services.  

2. The immense preventative work undertaken across the county that have a 
direct impact on the not only county council service users but county council 
services and their stated outcomes.  

 
The council notes:  

1. The current 3 year social wellbeing contract to eleven voluntary and 
community organisations working under the Commsortia contract is set to 
complete on 31 March 2020.  

2. The proposals for transition funding in 2020/21 and the procurement of a new 
contract for 2021/2022. The organisations are across the County.  

3. The ability of the organisations involved to lever in substantial other funding 
and support, from volunteer time to other voluntary and charitable donations 
in cash and in kind to the services.  

4. The money the organisations receive from the county council ensures that 
they can provide these services viably and can raise the match funding 
required to continue with their services.  

5. The organisations that currently benefit are located across the County and 
include Northamptonshire Age UK, The Autumn Centre, Catch 22, Dostiyo, 
Glamis Hall, Marlow House Welcomes, Mayday Trust, Midland Heart, 
NAASH, Serve and ACA. 

 
This council resolves to continue to work with the Director of Public health, 
Commsortia and the providers to deliver value for money, specific outcomes relevant 
to the priorities for public health spending and meet the public health criteria of the 
spending of public health funds. 
 
20 February 2020 
 

Page 378



None passed. 
 
19 March 2020 
 
None passed. 
 
17 September 2020 
 
Motion 1 
 
That this COUNCIL recognises the invaluable contribution made by the voluntary 
sector across the county and further recognises that like other sectors, the voluntary 
sector is not immune to the impact of an economic downturn.  
 
We recognise that many of the services offered by voluntary organisations are often 
called upon in times of an economic downturn and especially during these difficult 
times with Covid19 still impacting many of our residents.  
 
There are huge pressures on our Voluntary sector to meet an increased demand for 
their services and support and we recognise further the ability of voluntary 
organisations to successfully engage with the most disadvantaged in times o crisis 
and need; I am sure we all believe that voluntary organisations are absolutely crucial 
to the delivery of social policy and our plans such as ending child poverty and 
supporting hard working families and Supporting the elderly, particularly during this 
period of Covid19 and economic downturn.  
 
We all recognise that many voluntary organisations countywide are making 
adjustments to reflect the current environment in which they work.  
 
This motion calls on the council to introduce the necessary measures to help 
voluntary organisations, both small and large, cope with the challenges they face. 
We further believe that local government has a crucial role to play and calls on 
Northamptonshire county council to increase its efforts and do everything possible to 
support the work of voluntary organisations in their area.  
 
This Council, mindful of the need to maintain financial probity, therefore requires the 
Cabinet to evaluate options to lengthen the period of grants to the voluntary sector 
and to do so by examining possible savings from the existing budgets of each 
directorate, assessing the likely impacts, while at no time depleting the Council’s 
reserves. The Cabinet should report back to the next meeting of Full Council with its 
findings and recommendations. 
 
Motion 2 
 
This council recognises that well-resourced youth work in Northamptonshire will 
deliver many benefits. It will: 

 provide meaningful and enriching activities for young people 

 provide jobs and career pathways for youth workers • deflect young people 
from gangs and criminal activity 

 support the mental health and well-being of our youth 

Page 379



 enable young people to develop a voice and contribute to our future prosperity  
 
In our work on transitions and transformation we need to also have a focus on youth, 
to develop our understanding of what young people need, to work with them to 
identify gaps in provision, to work in partnership with the voluntary sector, to make 
sure those needs are met.  
 
To this end we agree to support the campaigns for more youth services across the 
county, a Youth Centre for Northampton, and youth forums for each of the two new 
unitary councils. 
 
18 February 2021 
 
Motion 1 
 
This Council notes: 

1. the release of the Government report, Understanding the Impact of COVID-19 
in BAME Groups (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-
understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities) which details: 

- the disproportionate number of deaths amongst BAME communities; 
- barriers to healthcare experienced by BAME communities; 
- increased discrimination experienced by BAME communities  
2. on the rise of Black Lives Matter (BLM) in response to police brutality, sparked 

by the killing of George Floyd in Minnesota, USA; 
3. the passion of people locally and their involvement in BLM protests in Corby, 

Kettering, Northampton, Wellingborough, Daventry and Higham Ferrers; 
4. the work of council staff in continuing to deliver services to all local 

communities; 
5. the work of the voluntary community sector and local mutual aid groups in 

supporting local people in self isolating and shielding where necessary; 
 

This Council resolves: 
1. to call for improved access, experiences and outcomes of local government 

and integrated care services by BAME communities; 
2. to call for the accelerated development of culturally-competent occupational 

risk assessment tools that can be employed in a variety of occupational 
settings to identify and reduce the risk of exposure to and acquisition of 
COVID19, especially for keyworkers working with a large cross-section of the 
general public or in contact with those infected with COVID-19. 

3. to promote racial equality and encourage successor councils to combat racial 
prejudice, racism - including islamophobia and anti-Semitism, and white 
supremacist ideologies and behaviours; 

4. to encourage successor councils to adopt new policies to advance racial 
equality – with SMART action plans to address any racial inequalities which 
exist across all service areas and to incorporate strategic funding and support 
to promote Black, Asian, Jewish and minority ethnic history, arts and culture;’   

 
Motion 2 
 

Page 380



This Council believes that the last few years whilst being very tough have also 
shown us that the way we operate is crucial to bettering the outcomes for all our 
communities and their people. We look forward to the people of Northamptonshire 
receiving the best services from open transparent Unitary Councils. We wish our 
successor Councils all the best in their future endeavours. 
 
Motion 3 
 
Members of this Council wish to recognise the outstanding commitment, hard work, 
dedication, loyalty and resilience of the staff of Northamptonshire County Council in 
dealing with the immense challenges the Council has faced over recent years. Staff 
of the Council have been central in recovering the financial situation, delivering the 
Northamptonshire children’s trust, improving and transforming services, working on 
disaggregating the Council services and the creation of two new local authorities, 
and leading the response to the Covid pandemic. All while delivering the day job, 
which has been a truly monumental task. All members of this Council would like to 
thank every member of staff for their service and wish them well for the future. 
 
Motion 4 
 
‘This Council would like to all the key workers and volunteers of Northamptonshire 
who have selflessly put the interests of serving the public and supporting our 
communities above themselves, in the responding to this unprecedented pandemic. 
There have been countless reports of individuals, organisations and community 
groups stepping up across Northamptonshire, whether providing a vital service or 
job, or by joining or forming groups to offer help and support to a local area. You 
have made us all proud to be a part of the Northamptonshire community and we 
offer our heartfelt thanks and appreciation for this great work.’     
 
 

Page 381



This page is intentionally left blank



Motions recorded at Council – South Northants Council 

2020/21 None 

2020/2019 

24.07.2019  

The Chairman advised Council that two motions had been submitted and were published with 
the agenda. The motions would be dealt with in the order submitted. 
 
Climate Change 
It was proposed by Councillor Lofts and seconded by Councillor Johns that the following 
motion be adopted:  
 
“South Northamptonshire Council has a good record of tackling environmental issues and as 
the new Unitary Council approaches, it is important that we continue to champion our 
approach. There have been several national and local expressions of the strength of public 
opinion in London and Northamptonshire on the issue of climate change and the need to 
address carbon reduction to protect the health and wellbeing of future generations. It should 
be noted that in response to these concerns, the UK parliament has declared a Climate 
Emergency. 
 
Action on Climate Change must be shared across all levels of government and we have a duty 
to limit the impacts of Climate Breakdown. It is proposed, therefore: 
 

 That this Council confirms the national Climate Emergency as it applies in West 
Northamptonshire and commits to a target of making West Northamptonshire carbon 
neutral by 2030.  

 

 This Council further commits to work with partners to deliver that goal. Where 
appropriate, this Council will place climate change on the agenda of meetings with 
partners and will encourage joint working across all sectors of local governance. 

 

 Council also calls upon its successor West Northamptonshire Unitary Council to 
continue this work once it comes into existence. 

 

 This Council requests a report to be submitted to a meeting of full council before the 
end of March 2020 detailing the actions that have been taken to address this motion.  

 

 Council also requests an updated report to a meeting of full council not more than 12 
months thereafter setting out the further actions that have been taken and detailing 
how progressing this target has been communicated to and integrated within the start 
up plans of its successor council. 

 
Members should note that Daventry, Northampton and Northamptonshire Councils have all 
supported a similar approach.” 
 

Page 383



Councillor Bambridge proposed the following amendment to insert the underlined text and 
delete the crossed through text, which was seconded by Councillor Bignell.  
“South Northamptonshire Council has a good record of tackling environmental issues and as 
the new Unitary Council approaches, it is important that we continue to champion our 
approach. There have been several national and local expressions of the strength of public 
opinion in London and Northamptonshire on the issue of climate change and the need to 
address carbon reduction to protect the health and wellbeing of future generations. It should 
be noted that in response to these concerns, the UK parliament has declared a Climate 
Emergency. and set a new target in law to be net carbon zero by 2050.  
Action on Climate Change must be shared across all levels of government and we have a duty 
to limit the impacts of Climate Breakdown. It is proposed, therefore: 

• That this Council confirms the national Climate Emergency as it applies in West 
Northamptonshire and commits to a target of making West Northamptonshire carbon 
neutral by 2030.  

• This Council further commits to work with partners to deliver that goal. Where 
appropriate, this Council will place climate change on the agenda of meetings with 
partners and will encourage joint working across all sectors of local governance. 

• This Council notes that the impacts of climate change are already causing serious 
damage around the world 

• This Council will establish a Working Group under the auspices of the Scrutiny 
Committee to assess the existing carbon footprint of the district and review potential 
actions and associated cost estimates this Council could take to limit the effects of 
Climate Change in South Northamptonshire 

• The Working Group (of up to 10 members) will be cross party, not politically 
balanced and not limited to current members of the Scrutiny Committee 

• A budget of £25,000 will be made available from reserves for any expenses 
related to the investigation 

• This Council requests the Scrutiny Committee to report back to Council before the end 
of December 2019, with their findings along with recommendations for actions and 
budgets. 

• Council also calls upon its successor West Northamptonshire Unitary Council to 
continue this work once it comes into existence. 

• This Council requests a report to be submitted to a meeting of full council before the 
end of March 2020 detailing the actions that have been taken to address this motion.  

• Council also requests an updated report to a meeting of full council not more than 12 
months thereafter setting out the further actions that have been taken and detailing 
how progressing this target has been communicated to and integrated within the start 
up plans of its successor council.” 

 
On being put to the vote, the amendment was approved. The motion as amended was 
debated and on being put to the vote, was supported. 
 
‘Refill’ 
It was proposed by Councillor Tarbun and seconded by Councillor Lofts that the following 
motion be adopted:   
 

Page 384



“South Northamptonshire Council has a good record on environmental issues including 
recycling and as we move forward into our new Unitary Council, it is important we continue 
this approach. 
  
In the UK we have some of the highest quality drinking water in the world – from our taps. 
Despite this the consumption of bottled water has doubled over the last 15 years, an estimated 
7 billion plastic water bottles are used in the UK each year. Millions of bottles are estimated 
to be littered, landfilled or incinerated every day producing dangerous levels of CO2 emissions 
every year. Once plastics enter our oceans they break into micro-plastics, and these are found 
throughout our oceans and the impact on our wildlife has become catastrophic.   
 
So how can our council help in reducing this? 
  
By Introducing ‘Refill’ -  a free tap water initiative. It is designed to reduce plastic pollution, 
making refilling your water bottle easy, attractive and rewarding. If all the refill stations are 
used just TWICE a week we would save more than 14 million bottles a year, making carrying 
a refillable bottle a social norm. 340 million plastic bottles would be saved every year if just 
one in 10 Brits refilled every week.  
 
I propose that our council head a campaign in our towns of Brackley and Towcester to 
encourage local businesses to register as a refill station, they will also have a sticker in the 
window to alert passers by that they are welcome to go in and fill up their bottle for FREE.” 
 
 Councillor Bambridge proposed the following amendment to insert the underlined text and 
delete the crossed through text, which was seconded by Councillor Bignell:  
 
“South Northamptonshire Council has a good record on environmental issues including 
recycling and as we move forward into our new Unitary Council, it is important we continue 
this approach. 
 
In the UK we have some of the highest quality drinking water in the world – from our taps. 
Despite this the consumption of bottled water has doubled over the last 15 years, an estimated 
7 billion plastic water bottles are used in the UK each year. Millions of bottles are estimated to 
be littered, landfilled or incinerated every day producing dangerous levels of CO2 emissions 
every year. Once plastics enter our oceans they break into micro-plastics, and these are found 
throughout our oceans and the impact on our wildlife has become catastrophic.  So how can 
our council help in reducing this? 
 
 By Introducing ‘Refill’ -  a free tap water initiative. It is designed to reduce plastic pollution, 
making refilling your water bottle easy, attractive and rewarding. If all the refill stations are 
used just TWICE a week we would save more than 14 million bottles a year, making carrying a 
refillable bottle a social norm. 340 million plastic bottles would be saved every year if just one 
in 10 Brits refilled every week. I propose that our council head a campaign in our towns of 
Brackley and Towcester to encourage local businesses to register as a refill station, they will 
also have a sticker in the window to alert passers by that they are welcome to go in and fill up 
their bottle for FREE. 
 

Page 385



This council pledges to continue playing a leading role in participating in and promoting the 
Refill Scheme in the district by supplying free tap water to visitors to the Forum building and 
being actively involved in encouraging local businesses to participate in the scheme including 
advertising the fact.  This will be achieved through visits by its Environmental Health team and 
by talking to business groups and publicity.  Refill estimates that if all the Refill stations are 
used twice a week more than 14 million plastic bottles a year can be saved and if one in 10 
people in Britain refilled every week 340 million bottles could be saved.” 
 
On being put to the vote, the amendment was approved. The motion as amended was 
debated and on being put to the vote, was supported. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion, as amended, be adopted:  

 
South Northamptonshire Council has a good record of tackling environmental issues 
and as the new Unitary Council approaches, it is important that we continue to 
champion our approach. There have been several national and local expressions of 
the strength of public opinion in London and Northamptonshire on the issue of climate 
change and the need to address carbon reduction to protect the health and wellbeing 
of future generations. It should be noted that in response to these concerns, the UK 
parliament has declared a Climate Emergency and set a new target in law to be net 
carbon zero by 2050.  
 
Action on Climate Change must be shared across all levels of government and we have 
a duty to limit the impacts of Climate Breakdown. It is proposed, therefore: 
 
• This Council notes that the impacts of climate change are already causing serious 

damage around the world 
• This Council will establish a Working Group under the auspices of the Scrutiny 

Committee to assess the existing carbon footprint of the district and review 
potential actions and associated cost estimates this Council could take to limit the 
effects of Climate Change in South Northamptonshire 

• The Working Group (of up to 10 members) will be cross party, not 
politically balanced and not limited to current members of the Scrutiny 
Committee 

• A budget of £25,000 will be made available from reserves for any expenses 
related to the investigation 

• This Council requests the Scrutiny Committee to report back to Council before the 
end of December 2019, with their findings along with recommendations for 
actions and budgets. 

• Council also calls upon its successor West Northamptonshire Unitary Council to 
continue this work once it comes into existence. 

 
(2) That the following motion, as amended, be adopted: 

 

Page 386



South Northamptonshire Council has a good record on environmental issues including 
recycling and as we move forward into our new Unitary Council, it is important we 
continue this approach. 
 
In the UK we have some of the highest quality drinking water in the world – from our 
taps. Despite this the consumption of bottled water has doubled over the last 15 years, 
an estimated 7 billion plastic water bottles are used in the UK each year. Millions of 
bottles are estimated to be littered, landfilled or incinerated every day producing 
dangerous levels of CO2 emissions every year. Once plastics enter our oceans they 
break into micro-plastics, and these are found throughout our oceans and the impact 
on our wildlife has become catastrophic. 
 
This council pledges to continue playing a leading role in participating in and 
promoting the Refill Scheme in the district by supplying free tap water to visitors to 
the Forum building and being actively involved in encouraging local businesses to 
participate in the scheme including advertising the fact. This will be achieved through 
visits by its Environmental Health team and by talking to business groups and publicity.  
Refill estimates that if all the Refill stations are used twice a week more than 14 million 
plastic bottles a year can be saved and if one in 10 people in Britain refilled every week 
340 million bottles could be saved. 

 

2018/2019 

27.02.2019  

It was proposed by Councillor Johns and seconded by Councillor Samiotis that the following 
motion be adopted:  
 
Towcester ‘relief road’ 
“Council recognises the efforts of officers, members and others to bring forward the 
completion date for the Towcester ‘relief road’, well in advance of 1,016 houses being 
occupied. However, council also now recognises unless the specification for the ‘relief road’ 
meets the requirements for adoption by Highways England and is adopted, the ‘relief road’ 
will not take HGVs out of Towcester town centre or improve air quality. Such a ‘relief road’ 
would thereby have no effect on improving air quality, acting simply as an estate access road. 
 
Council therefore resolves to renew and increase its effort to ensure planning permission for 
the ‘relief road’ meets Highways England’s standard for adoption and lobby’s government to 
ensure Towcester gets an adopted bypass, with the A5 de-trunked through the town.” 
 
Councillor Roger Clarke proposed the following amendment to add in italics and delete words, 
which was duly seconded by Councillor McCord.   
 
“Council recognises the efforts of officers, members and others to bring forward the 
completion date for the Towcester ‘relief road’, well in advance of 1,016 houses being 
occupied.   
 

Page 387



However, council also now recognises unless the specification for the ‘relief road’ meets the 
requirements for adoption by Highways England and is adopted, the ‘relief road’ will not take 
HGVs out of Towcester town centre or improve air quality. Such a ‘relief road’ would thereby 
have no effect on improving air quality, acting simply as an estate access road. 
 
Council therefore resolves to continue renew and increase its effort to ensure planning 
permission for the ‘relief road’ meets Highways England’s standard for adoption and lobby’s 
government to ensure Towcester gets an adopted bypass, and lobby government to have with 
the A5 detrunked through the town at the earliest possible date.” 
 
On being put to the vote, the amendment was approved. The motion as amended was 
debated and on being put to the vote, was supported. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion, as amended, be adopted: 

 
“Council recognises the efforts of officers, members and others to bring forward the 
completion date for the Towcester ‘relief road’, well in advance of 1,016 houses being 
occupied.   

 
However, council also now recognises unless the specification for the ‘relief road’ 
meets the requirements for adoption by Highways England and is adopted, the ‘relief 
road’ will not take HGVs out of Towcester town centre or improve air quality. Such a 
‘relief road’ would thereby have no effect on improving air quality, acting simply as an 
estate access road. 

 
Council therefore resolves to continue renew and increase its effort to ensure 
planning permission for the ‘relief road’ meets Highways England’s standard for 
adoption and lobby’s government to ensure Towcester gets an adopted bypass, and 
lobby government to have with the A5 detrunked through the town at the earliest 
possible date.” 

 

31.10.2018  

HS2 
It was proposed by Councillor Riley and seconded by Councillor Bignell that the following 
motion be adopted:  
 
“This council notes that the latest costs for the construction of HS2 is now £60.7 billion.  
 
Given the impact this project will have on the South Northamptonshire District, this council 
reaffirms its opposition to HS2 and asks the Interim Chief Executive and Leader to write to the 
Secretary of State for Transport, Rt Hon Chris Grayling, MP, requesting that he conducts an 
urgent cost review of HS2 to assess if this remains both financially viable and value for 
money.” 
 

Page 388



Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion be adopted:  
 

“This council notes that the latest costs for the construction of HS2 is now £60.7 
billion.  

 
Given the impact this project will have on the South Northamptonshire District, this 
council reaffirms its opposition to HS2 and asks the Interim Chief Executive and Leader 
to write to the Secretary of State for Transport, Rt Hon Chris Grayling, MP, requesting 
that he conducts an urgent cost review of HS2 to assess if this remains both financially 
viable and value for money.” 

 

18.07.2018  

Change to Constitution 

It was proposed by Councillor Lofts and seconded by Councillor Billingham that the following 
motion be adopted:  
 
“Proposals for a change or changes to the Council’s adopted Constitution must be considered 
by Full Council following receipt of a written report published five clear days in advance of the 
relevant meeting. If urgent changes are required these should be dealt with under the 
Council’s adopted emergency procedures and reported with justification of the urgency, to the 
next scheduled Full Council meeting.” 
 
Councillor McCord proposed the following amendment to insert the text at the end of the 
submitted motion, which was duly seconded by Councillor Bignell.  
 
“And that in Part 10, Section 6 of the constitution delete the words ‘Six to nine members – not 
politically balanced’ and insert the words ‘ Number of members determined by the Leader and 
notified to Council up to the legally permitted maximum – not politically balanced’ 

 
And that the Monitoring Officer be asked to amend the Constitution appropriately to reflect 
this amendment. 
 
On being put to the vote, the amendment was approved. The motion as amended was 
debated and on being put to the vote, was supported. 
 
Tree Top Walk at Salcey Forest 
It was proposed by Councillor Budden and seconded by Councillor Cooper that the following motion 
be adopted.  
 
“This council notes that the Tree Top Walk at Salcey Forrest has been closed to the public 
because of the neglect and inaction of the Forestry Commission. 
  

Page 389



This council recognises the many benefits that Salcey Forest brings, educational, wellbeing 
and economic and calls upon the Forestry Commission to undertake, without delay the 
necessary repairs, to bring this walk back into service. 
  
This council requests that the Chief Executive contact the Chief Executive at the Forestry 
Commission, Simon Hodgson,  and the Leader contacts Thérèse Coffey MP, Parliamentary 
Under Secretary of State at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, who has 
responsibility for forestry, to advise them of the dissatisfaction of the council and inform them 
that the council has a grants programme and providing details as to how they could apply for 
grant help toward the necessary repairs.” 
  
The motion was debated and on being put to the vote, was supported. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion, as amended, be adopted: 

 
Proposals for a change or changes to the Council’s adopted Constitution must be 
considered by Full Council following receipt of a written report published five clear 
days in advance of the relevant meeting. If urgent changes are required these should 
be dealt with under the Council’s adopted emergency procedures and reported with 
justification of the urgency, to the next scheduled Full Council meeting. 
 
And that in Part 10, Section 6 of the constitution delete the words ‘Six to nine 
members – not politically balanced’ and insert the words ‘ Number of members 
determined by the Leader and notified to Council up to the legally permitted 
maximum – not politically balanced’ 
 
And that the Monitoring Officer be asked to amend the Constitution appropriately to 
reflect this amendment. 
 

(2) That the following motion be adopted: 
 
This council notes that the Tree Top Walk at Salcey Forest has been closed to the public 
because of the neglect and inaction of the Forestry Commission. 
  
This council recognises the many benefits that Salcey Forest brings, educational, 
wellbeing and economic and calls upon the Forestry Commission to undertake, 
without delay the necessary repairs, to bring this walk back into service. 
  
This council requests that the Chief Executive contact the Chief Executive at the 
Forestry Commission, Simon Hodgson,  and the Leader contacts Thérèse Coffey MP, 
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State at the Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs, who has responsibility for forestry, to advise them of the dissatisfaction 
of the council and inform them that the council has a grants programme and providing 
details as to how they could apply for grant help toward the necessary repairs. 

 

Page 390



11.04.2018  

It was moved by Councillor Billingham, and seconded by Councillor Baker, that the following 
motion be adopted: 
 
Brackley Town Football Club 
That this council congratulates Brackley Town Football Club on the wonderful achievement of 
reaching the final of the FA Trophy to be played at Wembley on 20 May 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion be adopted: 
 

That this council congratulates Brackley Town Football Club on the wonderful 
achievement of reaching the final of the FA Trophy to be played at Wembley on 20 
May. 

 

2017/2018 

18.10.2017  

It was moved by Councillor McCord, and seconded by Councillor Johns, that the following 
motion be adopted: 
 
Working Definition of Anti-Semitism 
That the letter from the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government advising 
that in December 2016 the Government formally adopted the International Holocaust 
Remembrance Alliance the following working definition of anti-Semitism be noted and that 
South Northamptonshire Council also adopt the working definition: 
 
“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred toward Jews. 
Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-
Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious 
facilities.”  
 
The motion was debated and subsequently agreed. 
 
Resolved 
 
(2) That the following motion be adopted: 

 
Working Definition of Anti-Semitism 
That the letter from the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
advising that in December 2016 the Government formally adopted the International 
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance the following working definition of anti-Semitism be 
noted and that South Northamptonshire Council also adopt the working definition: 

  

Page 391



“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred 
toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed 
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish 
community institutions and religious facilities.”  

  

2016/2017 

19.10.2016  

Funding to Community Pharmacies 
It was moved by Councillor Lofts and seconded by Councillor Johns that the following motion 
be adopted: 
 
“That this Council writes to the Secretary of State for Health and our local MP urging that 
when the Government reviews funding to community pharmacies, the number of these 
pharmacies across South Northamptonshire should be retained in full, as they provide a vital 
service to rural communities, which would be disproportionately penalised by any reduction.” 
 
The motion was debated and on being put to the vote, the motion was supported.  
 
Middleton Cheney GP Surgery 
It was moved by Councillor Herring and seconded by Councillor Furniss that the following 
motion be adopted: 
 
“I move that this council urges the NHS and the Oxfordshire CCG to negotiate a delay in any 
disposal of the property and to include this as part of the new partnership arrangement to 
reinstate the Middleton Cheney surgery. I also move that this council offers its support, if 
required, in securing the property as a Middleton Cheney GP surgery.” 
 
On the advice of the Head of Law and Governance, Councillor Herring agreed that the motion 
be considered as two motions as follows: 
 
Middleton Cheney GP Surgery Motion One 
“I move that this council urges the NHS and the Oxfordshire CCG to negotiate a delay in any 
disposal of the property and to include this as part of the new partnership arrangement to 
reinstate the Middleton Cheney surgery.” 
 
Middleton Cheney GP Surgery Motion Two 
“I move that this council offers its support, if required, in securing the property as a Middleton 
Cheney GP surgery.” 
 
The first motion was debated and on being put to the vote, the motion was supported.  
 
In the course of the debate on the second motion, Councillor Billingham proposed the 
following amendment to the motion, which was duly seconded by Councillor Dallyn.  
 
“That officers be requested to look into options regarding Middleton Cheney GP Surgery and 
report back at the earliest opportunity.”  

Page 392



 
The motion as amended was debated and on being put to the vote, was supported.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion be adopted: 

 
Funding to Community Pharmacies 
That this Council writes to the Secretary of State for Health and our local MP urging 
that when the Government reviews funding to community pharmacies, the number 
of these pharmacies across South Northamptonshire should be retained in full, as they 
provide a vital service to rural communities, which would be disproportionately 
penalised by any reduction. 

 
(2) That the following motion be adopted: 
 

Middleton Cheney GP Surgery 
That this council urges the NHS and the Oxfordshire CCG to negotiate a delay in any 
disposal of the property and to include this as part of the new partnership 
arrangement to reinstate the Middleton Cheney surgery. 

 
(3) That the following motion, as amended, be adopted: 
 

Middleton Cheney GP Surgery 
That officers be requested to look into options regarding Middleton Cheney GP 
Surgery and report back at the earliest opportunity.  
 

13.04.2016  

a) Rail Central 
It was moved by Councillor Addison, and seconded by Councillor Hywel Davies, that the 
following motion be adopted: 
 
“This Council notes the proposal for Rail Central, and believes that such a proposal could cause 
harm to the environment, blight the lives of residents and damage the quality of life in the 
area. 
  
This Council notes that it already has strong employment site proposals and renews its 
commitment to these major employment sites identified within the Joint Core Strategy, being 
Junction 16 M1, Silverstone Business Park, and smaller allocations within the Sustainable 
Urban Extensions at Towcester and Brackley. 
  
This Council pledges itself to protect the interests of residents and communities with regard 
to Rail Central, and allocates a sum of £100, 000 from unallocated reserves to be used for the 
preparation of reports, technical assessments, expert evidence, legal and professional fees to 
support the Council's position in safeguarding our residents and communities. 
  

Page 393



This Council calls upon the developer to urgently establish a fund to provide blight 
compensation for those residents affected by this proposal now, along similar lines to that 
which has been established and agreed for HS2.” 
 
Councillor Addison requested that a recorded vote on the motion be taken. The motion was 
debated and a recorded voted duly taken. Members voted as follows: 
 
Councillor Addison  For 
Councillor Atkinson   For 
Councillor Bagot-Webb For 
Councillor Baker   For 
Councillor Bambridge  For 
Councillor Barnes   Abstain 
Councillor Baxter   For 
Councillor Bignell   For 
Councillor Billingham  For 
Councillor Bowen   For 
Councillor Breese   For 
Councillor Budden   For 
Councillor Carole Clarke  For 
Councillor Roger Clarke  For 
Councillor Clifford   For 
Councillor Cooper   For 
Councillor Dallyn   Abstain 
Councillor Hywel Davies  For 
Councillor Peter Davies For 
Councillor Furniss   Abstain 
Councillor Harries   For 
Councillor Herring   For 
Councillor Hollowell  Abstain 
Councillor Johns   Against 
Councillor Lofts   Against 
Councillor Loveland  For 
Councillor Manners   For 
Councillor Marinker  For 
Councillor McCord   For 
Councillor Mold   For 
Councillor Morris   For 
Councillor Ord   For 
Councillor Rawlinson  Abstain 
Councillor Walker   For 
Councillor Wiltshire   For 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion be adopted: 
 

Page 394



This Council notes the proposal for Rail Central, and believes that such a proposal could cause 
harm to the environment, blight the lives of residents and damage the quality of life in the 
area. 
  
This Council notes that it already has strong employment site proposals and renews its 
commitment to these major employment sites identified within the Joint Core Strategy, being 
Junction 16 M1, Silverstone Business Park, and smaller allocations within the Sustainable 
Urban Extensions at Towcester and Brackley. 
  
This Council pledges itself to protect the interests of residents and communities with regard 
to Rail Central, and allocates a sum of £100,000 from unallocated reserves to be used for the 
preparation of reports, technical assessments, expert evidence, legal and professional fees to 
support the Council's position in safeguarding our residents and communities. 
  
This Council calls upon the developer to urgently establish a fund to provide blight 
compensation for those residents affected by this proposal now, along similar lines to that 
which has been established and agreed for HS2. 
 

2015/2016 

22.07.2015  

a) Towcester Relief Road 
It was moved by Councillor Johns and seconded by Councillor Lofts that the following motion 
be adopted: 
 
“Council resolves to open discussions immediately with Northamptonshire County Council 
and developers, with the intention of providing funding to enable bringing forward an early 
start and completion of a relief road for Towcester. This would follow a similar financial model 
agreed between Daventry District Council, Northamptonshire County Council and developers 
that will deliver an A45 bypass for the villages of Flore and Weedon.” 
 
In the course of the debate, Councillor McCord proposed the following amendments to the 
motion, which were duly seconded by Councillor Johns.  
 
• Replace words “resolves to open”, with “notes the” 
• Replace word “immediately” with “that have taken place to date and resolves to continue 

dialogue with” 
• Insert words “Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), national government bodies” after 

words “Northamptonshire County Council” 
• Delete all words in the sentence commencing “ This would follow a similar financial 

model….” 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the following motion be adopted: 
 

Page 395



Towcester Relief Road 
Council notes the discussions that have taken place to date and resolves to continue 
dialogue with Northamptonshire County Council, Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), 
national government bodies and developers, with the intention of providing funding 
to enable bringing forward an early start and completion of a relief road for Towcester.  

Page 396



 

 

Item no: 7 
 
 
 

 
 

                                   

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

30 September 2021 
 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 

 MO   
Deputy MO 

Catherine Whitehead 
Geoff Wild 

 16.09.21 
  

S151   Martin Henry  17.09.21 

 
List of Appendices 
 
 None 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The report sets out the statistics regarding the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 

respect of the Code of Member Conduct for the Committee’s information. 
 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The West Northamptonshire Council (WNC) Constitution specifies that one of the purposes of 

the Democracy and Standards Committee is to oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct 
and the overall standards of conduct for Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and 
Town Councillors of West Northamptonshire. 
 

2.2 This is an opportunity for the Committee to be appraised of completed complaints and any 
outstanding complaints of alleged breaches against the Code of Conduct. This is in accordance 
with the functions of the Committee and its duty to discharge functions in relation to the 
promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct within West Northamptonshire Council 
and Town and Parish Councils within the area of West Northamptonshire. 

Report Title 
 

 STATISTICS – CODE OF CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS  

Report Author Tracy Tiff, Deputy Democratic Services Manager,  
tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 397

Agenda Item 7

mailto:tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

 

 

2.3 The Committee, at its meeting in July 2021 asked that more information is provided regarding 
each complaint,  particularly in relation to the different sections of the Code.  Further details have 
therefore been included within this report. 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 

 
a) Notes the statistics in relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 

respect of the Code of Member Conduct; 
 

b) Receives statistical data in relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 
respect of the Code of Member Conduct, twice a year.  
 

3.2 Reason for Recommendations 
 

3.2.1 The recommendations are intended to enable the Committee to receive statistical data in 
relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with in respect of the Code of Member 
Conduct and thereby enable it to carry out its Standards responsibilities effectively. 
 

4. Report Background 

 
4.1 As detailed in paragraph 2.1 above, “The Standards responsibilities of the Committee are to 

oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct and the overall standards of conduct for 
Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and Town Councillors of West 
Northamptonshire.”   Therefore, statistical data in relation to complaints received and dealt with 
will be provided to inform this role of the Committee. 
 

4.2 Details of alleged complaints in relation to the Code of Conduct are set out below. 

 
4.2 The adopted arrangements for dealing with allegations of breach of the code of conduct 

for councillors provides for an initial filtering process by the Monitoring officer and in 
consultation with one of the Independent Persons to decide whether:-  
 

o There is no breach of the Code and no further action should be taken; or  
o There is a potential breach of the Code and informal resolution is appropriate, to 

include for example mediation, training, apology, advice; or  
o There is a potential breach of the Code and the Monitoring Officer should 

undertake or commission an investigation into the complaint with a view to a 
report then being considered by the Standards Committee.  

 
4.3 The analysis provides details of the nature of the complaint, the initial filtering decision 

of the Monitoring Officer any informal resolutions agreed (where applicable), and the 
status of the complaint. It is highlighted that complaints against councillors of the 
predecessor councils who did not stand for re-election and therefore not investigated 
have not been included, this does relate to one of the complaints.  

Page 398



 

 

 

4.4 Certain specific detailed information regarding pending complaints has not been 
provided as this may be prejudicial to the conduct of the ongoing complaints process. 
Personal details have also not been included to protect both the identity of councillors 
and the complainant. 

 
 

Date 
received 

Council Assessment of the 
Monitoring Officer 

Status 

08/06/21 (on 
the 
prescribed 
form) 

West Northamptonshire Council 
Complaint under Part 2 – Paragraph 8 
of the Members Code of Conduct   - 
failure to disclose a pecuniary interest     
and  
 
Complaint under Part 1   - Paragraph 3 
– acting in a manner that brings the 
Council into disrepute 
 

The Monitoring Officer 
consulted the 
Independent Person 
and assessed that there 
had been a potential 
breach of the Code - 
Referred for 
Investigation 

Live 

06/07/21 Parish Council 
Complaint under Part 2 – Paragraph 
3.2 (b) of the Members Code of 
Conduct 
 

The complaint is 
currently on hold whilst 
the results of another 
matter are awaited 

Live but on 
hold 

06/07/21 Parish Council 
Complaint regarding withholding 
information - Outside the Scope of the 
Code of Conduct 

No further action – 
Outside the scope of 
the Code of Conduct 

Closed 

19/07/21 Parish Council 
Complaint regarding comments made 
by the subject Member - Outside the 
Scope of the Code of Conduct 

No further action.  The 
Councillor was not 
acting in the capacity as 
Councillor 

Closed 

20/07/21 Parish Council 
Complaint regarding comments made 
by the subject Member - Outside the 
Scope of the Code of Conduct 

No further action.   
Outside the scope of 
the Code of Conduct 

Closed 

27/7/21 West Northamptonshire Council 
Complaint regarding comments made 
by the Subject Member - Outside the 
Scope of the Code of Conduct 

No further action – 
Outside the Scope of 
the Code of Conduct 

Closed 

02/08/21 West Northamptonshire Council 
Seven complaints submitted 
Complaint under Part 2 – Paragraph 8 
of the Members Code of Conduct   - 
failure to disclose a pecuniary interest   

The Monitoring Officer 
had discussions. with 
the subject Members 
and the issues are 
resolved. 

Closed 

 

Page 399



 

 

 

4.5 In addition to the information provided in the table at paragraph 4.4; two complainants were 
asked to complete the prescribed form in relation to their complaints and these have not as yet 
been received. 
 
 

5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1. Members are asked to note the information provided. 

  
6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 There are no immediate financial implications arising from the proposals.   

 
6.1.2 There are no direct manpower implications arising from this report, however, the Committee will 

be aware that the handling and processing of complaints is resource intensive. A high volume of 
complaints could have an impact upon resources. It is therefore important that the  Committee 
promotes and maintain high standards of conduct by all councillors to help limit the number of 
complaints. 

 
6.2 Legal  
 
6.2.1 Complaints are received in accordance with the arrangements for dealing will allegations of 

breaches of the West Northamptonshire Members’ Code of Conduct and of codes adopted by 
Parish Councils within West Northamptonshire.  The Council has a legal duty to respond to 
complaints made against councillors of allegations of a breach of the Code of Conduct.   

 
 
 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There are none specifically. 

 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1  Not applicable. 

 
6.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
6.5. Not applicable 

 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1  There are no immediate climate implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 400



 

 

 

6.7 Community Impact 
 

6.7.1 There are no immediate community implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 

7 Background Papers 

 
Complaints received in respect of the arrangements for dealing with allegations of breaches of the West 
Northamptonshire Members’ Code of Conduct and of Codes of Conduct adopted by Parish Councils 
within West Northamptonshire.  These records contain exempt information (Categories 1 (Information 
relating to any individual) and 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual)) 

Page 401



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Review of the Constitution
	Appendix 2 - Draft Constitution

	6 Carried Motions on Notice – Predecessor Councils
	Appendix - DDC Motions 2015-2020
	Appendix - NBC Motions 2015-21
	Appendix - NCC Motions 2015-21
	Appendix - SNC Motions 2015-21

	7 Statistics - Code of Conduct Arrangements

